
Agenda 
CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH 

Regular City Commission Meeting 
City Hall Commission Chamber 

Tuesday, March 03, 2020 - 6:00 PM 
 

ROLL CALL: 

INVOCATION OR MOMENT OF SILENCE: led by Mayor Pam Triolo 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: led by Commissioner Omari Hardy 

AGENDA - Additions / Deletions / Reordering: 

PRESENTATIONS: (there is no public comment on Presentation items) 

A. Lake Worth Middle School update by Principal Mike Williams 

B. Neighborhood Planning Program Presentation  

COMMISSION LIAISON REPORTS AND COMMENTS: 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION OF NON-AGENDAED ITEMS AND CONSENT AGENDA: 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

A. Electric Utility Meeting - January 28, 2020 

B. Regular Meeting - February 4, 2020 

CONSENT AGENDA: (public comment allowed during Public Participation of Non-Agendaed 
items) 

A. Award of continuing services contract to Anchors Emergency Board-Up Service, Inc. for 
board and secure services 

B. Resolution No. 07-2020 – approving Amendment 001 to the CDBG Agreement for the 
development of the Royal Poinciana neighborhood park 

C. Proclamation declaring March 14, 2020, as Arbor Day 

D. Proclamation declaring April 19-25, 2020, as National Volunteer Week 

E. Proclamation declaring March 2020 as Palm Beach Pride Month 

F. Payments of Fiscal Year 2019 Invoices 

G. Amendment #2 to the agreement with GT Supplies, Inc. for Fleet Services  

H. Ratification of the Second Amendment to Economic Development Incentive Agreement with 
The Mid 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 



 

A. Ordinance No. 2020-02 - second reading and public hearing - amending Chapter 23 Entitled 
“Land Development Regulations” of the Code of Ordinances by amending article I “General 
provisions” relating to “Definitions” and Article 3 “Zoning Districts” by creating a Cultural Arts 
District Overlay zone 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 

NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Ordinance 2020-03 - adopting the official City seal and setting the second reading and 
public hearing for April 7, 2020 

LAKE WORTH ELECTRIC UTILITY: 

CONSENT AGENDA: (public comment allowed during Public Participation of Non-Agendaed 
items) 

1) FMPA Solar Project Power Sales Contract Amendment 

2) First Addendum Cost Increase and Second Addendum to the Master Services 
Agreement with Level One LLC  

CITY ATTORNEY'S REPORT: 

CITY MANAGER'S REPORT: 

ADJOURNMENT: 
 

 
If a person decides to appeal any decision made by the board, agency or commission with respect 
to any matter considered at such meeting or hearing, he or she will need a record of the 
proceedings, and that, for such purpose, he or she may need to ensure that a verbatim record of 
the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the 
appeal is to be based.  (F.S. 286.0105)  
  



EXECUTIVE BRIEF 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

 
AGENDA DATE: March 3, 2020                                DEPARTMENT: Community Sustainability 

 

TITLE: 

Neighborhood Planning Program Presentation  

 
SUMMARY: 

Presentation from the Community Sustainability Department regarding a Neighborhood 
Planning Program including its purpose, deliverables and time frames.  

 

BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 

The City’s Comprehensive Plan states that the City of Lake Worth Beach shall establish a 
Neighborhood Planning program and incorporate neighborhood plans as part of the strategies 
to become a city of diverse, distinct, and well-structured neighborhoods that meet the 
community’s needs for complete, sustainable, and high-quality living environments with a strong 
sense of place and identity. The city affectionately is known as the “Community of 
Neighborhoods”.  The program is designed to build capacity in neighborhoods and to assess 
and prioritize strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and challenges as well as threats and 
needs.  Plans will focus on how neighborhoods can assist themselves with City guidance as 
well as the variety of resources and programming that the City can offer at this time. 

The presentation outlines the purpose of the neighborhood plans, the work that has been 
completed thus far, how each neighborhood will be approached, deliverables and anticipated 
timeframes.  

 

MOTION: 

N/A 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

Presentation 

Neighborhood Plan Template 
 

 





What is a Neighborhood Plan?

• A plan that establishes the existing conditions and needs of a 
neighborhood, and provides guidance for future improvement 
projects and redevelopment  

• Lake Worth Beach is often referred to as “A community of neighborhoods” 

• The City’s Comprehensive Plan states that “The City of Lake Worth shall establish a 
Neighborhood Planning program and incorporate neighborhood plans as part of the 
strategies to become a city of diverse, distinct, and well-structured neighborhoods that meet 
the community’s needs for complete, sustainable, and high-quality living environments with 
a strong sense of place and identity.”



Purpose

• To build mutual collaboration between a neighborhood’s residents, 
business community, and the City, to create a sense of place, foster 
safer neighborhoods, encourage community pride, and build a vibrant 
and diverse economy

• To produce a plan, specialized for each neighborhood, highlighting its 
strengths, areas for improvement, and community needs 

• To promote more City-neighborhood coordination, and work towards 
lining up the City’s goals with the neighborhood’s goals 

• To identify potential funding opportunities for neighborhood 
improvement projects and business assistance programs 



Lake Worth Beach’s 
Neighborhoods

• Vernon Heights 

• Lake Cove

• Sunset Ridge

• College Park

• Eden Place

• Commerce Park 
Village

• Tropical Ridge

• Mango Groves 

• Parrot Cove

• Bryant Park

• Downtown Jewel

• Royal Poinciana 

• Residents of Lake 
Osborne (ROLO)

• Murry Hills

• Memorial Park

• Whispering Pines

• Pineapple Beach

• South Palm Park



Data and Analysis

• Current data gathered:
⁻ Total number of Code Cases per 

Neighborhood from 2016-2018

⁻ Top 10 Code Cases per Neighborhood

⁻ Code Case data by Neighborhood 
from 2016-2018

⁻ School boundaries 

⁻ Demographic data by Neighborhood 

⁻ Neighborhood Bylaws

⁻ Types of uses by Neighborhood 

Sample Neighborhood Data



Sample Neighborhood Data



Sample Neighborhood Data



Next Steps

• Hold two workshops with City Commission 
• First, go over blank Neighborhood Template 
• Second, finalize Neighborhood Template 

• Conduct public outreach meetings by end of May
• Have four regional district meetings with Commissioners and Neighborhood 

representatives 

• Neighborhood survey
• Work on finalizing a Neighborhood survey to send out to residents and business 

owners via water bill, electronic link, etc.

• Timeline 
• Once the formal neighborhood planning begins, it will take about two to three years 

to draft a plan for each neighborhood 





 

0 | P a g e  

 

      

N E I G H B O R H O O D  N A M E  
N E I G H B O R H O O D  P L A N  

NEIGHBORHOOD 

LOGO 



 

1 | P a g e  

 

NEIGHBORHOOD MAP 

(To be provided by DCS Staff) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

2 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

PAM TRIOLO, MAYOR 

ANDY AMOROSO, VICE MAYOR – DIST. 3 

SCOTT MAXWELL, VICE MAYOR PRO TERM – DIST. 1 

OMARI HARDY- DIST. 2 

HERMAN ROBINSON – DIST. 4 

MICHAEL BORNSTEIN – CITY MANAGER 

JUAN RUIZ- ASSIST. CITY MANAGER 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
This document was developed in collaboration 

between the 

CITIZENS OF THE NEIGHHBORHOOD 

And the City of Lake Worth Beach 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY 

DEPARTMENT 

And assistance of the following: 

Leisure Services 

Public Works 

Water & Sewer Utility 

Electric Utility 

Finance 

Information Technology 

Code Compliance 

Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA) 

Palm Beach County Sheriff Office 

Public Information 

And the Consultants: 

 

 

 Date:_________ 



 

3 | P a g e  

 

 

 

Table of Contents 
Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 7 

Goal of the Neighborhood Plan Program ....................................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Neighborhood Plan Process .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 8 

Action Plan Implementation and Development of Strategic Partnerships .............................................................................................................. 9 

Existing Conditions and Assessment of Opportunities and Constraints .............................................................................................................. 10 

Focus and Components of a Neighborhood Action Plan ......................................................................................................................................... 10 

A Vision for the Future .......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Neighborhood Improvement Action Plan ............................................................................................................................................................................. 12 

Neighborhood Meetings, Conclusions and Recommendations ................................................................................................................................... 13 

Neighborhood-Driven Action Plan ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 14 

Existing Conditions and Assessment ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 18 

Neighborhood Description .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 19 

Demographics .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

Existing Uses ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 23 

Future Land Use ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 24 

Zoning Map ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 25 

Code Compliance: Zones, Cases and Issues .................................................................................................................................................................... 26 

Neighborhood Cases and Issues ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 27 

Recreation and Open Space (Leisure Services Department) ....................................................................................................................................... 28 

Neighborhood Park Facilities ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 29 



 

4 | P a g e  

 

Public Services .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 30 

Status of the Neighborhood Road Program in the Neighborhood ........................................................................................................................ 30 

Garbage Collection and Recycling .................................................................................................................................................................................. 31 

Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA)..................................................................................................................................................................... 32 

CRA Projects in NEIGHBORHOOD ............................................................................................................................................................................ 33 

Water Utilities ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 34 

Existing Conditions and Improvements to the City’s Water System .................................................................................................................... 34 

Electric Service ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 35 

Capital Improvement Plan ................................................................................................................................................................................................ 35 

Renewable and Carbon-Free Energy Sources ............................................................................................................................................................. 35 

Blue Ocean Energy ............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 35 

Palm Beach County Sheriff Office (PBSO) ........................................................................................................................................................................ 36 

Crime Situation ................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 36 

Community-Based Crime Reduction (CBCR) Program............................................................................................................................................ 36 

Other PBSO programs to combat crime ..................................................................................................................................................................... 36 

Palm Beach County Fire Rescue Department .................................................................................................................................................................. 37 

Information and Communications ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 38 

Identified Opportunities and Constraints ......................................................................................................................................................................... 39 

Impact of City and Other Agency Actions ................................................................................................................................................................... 39 

Main Neighborhood Issues Are Opportunities for Future Improvement ............................................................................................................ 39 

 

  



 

5 | P a g e  

 

ILLUSTRATION OR PICTURE OF THE NEIGHBORHOOD 

 

  



 

6 | P a g e  

 

Executive Summary  
 

THIS IS AN EXAMPLE / THE ACTUAL EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR EACH 

NEIGHBORHOOD DOCUMENT WILL BE WRITEN AFTER A NEIGHBORHOOD PLAN 

HAS BEEN DEVELOPED WITH THE RESIDENTS   

(Excerpts from each of the chapters) 

The purpose of the neighborhood plan is to build mutual collaboration between a neighborhood’s residents, business community 

and the City, to create a sense of place, foster safer neighborhoods, encourage community pride, and build a vibrant and diverse 

economy. 

The steps utilized to develop each Neighborhood Action Plan are (summarize). The neighborhood plan is the catalyst to build mutual 

collaboration between the City and each neighborhood to create a sense of place by promoting awareness, training and organization.  

Action Plan Implementation and Development of Strategic Partnerships –  

 The Strategic Plan and Comp Plan inform and guide neighborhood planning program 

 Twelve areas of review with neighborhood residents 

 Neighborhoods need to tap existing resources and associate with entities providing services and assistance, including 

(LIST) (City, County, State, Federal, Other entities and NGOs 

Summary of Existing Conditions and Assessment 

Includes topics such as, Location within the City, history of the neighborhood and its association, demographic and structure use 

data, future land use and zoning analysis, Code compliance issues, Infrastructure (Public Works, Water and Sewer, Electric, Leisure 

Services) and other agencies services (PBSO, Fire Rescue and the CRA) 

Summary of Opportunities and Constraints 

Presents an assessment of opportunities and challenges for neighborhood improvement organized in two topic areas: 

 Impact of the City and other agencies initiatives on neighborhood improvement and 

 Main neighborhood issues as opportunities for future improvement 

Summary of Action Plan 



 

7 | P a g e  

 

Introduction 

 

Goal of the Neighborhood Plan Program  

The purpose of the neighborhood plan is to build mutual collaboration between a neighborhood’s residents, business community 

and the City, to create a sense of place, foster safer neighborhoods, encourage community pride, and build a vibrant and diverse 

economy. 

The City of Lake Worth Beach strategies express the desire to “position Lake Worth Beach to be a competitive viable location 

of choice” to bring economic development to the City, while “strengthening Lake Worth Beach as a Community of 

Neighborhoods”. The Neighborhood Planning Program is focused on improving the character and lifestyle of the neighborhoods.1  

Therefore, the Neighborhood Planning Program would be “part of the strategies to become a city of diverse, distinct, and well-

structured neighborhoods that meet the community’s needs for complete, sustainable, and high-quality living environments with 

strong sense of place and identity.” 2 

 Renovated Single-Family Homes. Source       New Publix on Dixie Highway. Source 

                                                
1 Lake Worth Beach Strategic Plan 
2 Lake Worth Beach Comprehensive Plan 



 

8 | P a g e  

 

Neighborhood Plan Process 
The neighborhood plan is the catalyst to build mutual collaboration between the City and each neighborhood to create a sense 

of place by promoting awareness, training and organization. The steps utilized to develop each Neighborhood Action Plan are 

described below: 

1. Neighborhood identification: Determine and confirm the boundaries of each neighborhood. Determine 

whether there is an established neighborhood association and their legal status.   

2. Meeting with City Departments and other entities: Learn what are the programs, projects and 

resources available to residents for neighborhood improvement.   

3. Determination of Existing Conditions: Data Collection and Analysis to provide a more in-depth 

identification of issues and opportunities to improve conditions in the neighborhood. 

4. Neighborhood Assessment: Summarize each neighborhood’s conditions and determine the main issues, 

challenges and opportunities for change.  

5. Neighborhood Meetings:  Meet with each neighborhood association and other stakeholders to elicit 

feedback, ideas and suggestions to prepare a draft action plan, and to evaluate priorities and responsibilities for 

the implementation of the neighborhood plan.  

6. Draft Action Plan: Initial blueprint for neighborhood improvement to be discussed with each neighborhood 

and its representatives, in order to receive additional comments and fine tune the action plan. 

7. Final Plan of Action: Final Action Plan for Neighborhood Improvement. 

8. Presentation to City Commission and neighborhood: For official acceptance and adoption.  

                                                     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                  NZC Photo Archive. Source                      Multifamily Homes, South Federal Avenue. Source   



 

9 | P a g e  

 

Action Plan Implementation and Development of Strategic Partnerships 
Building collaboration between neighborhoods, the City and other entities includes education, training on organization and 

management, and skills to identify and work with these “strategic partners”. Neighborhoods need to tap existing resources and 

associate with entities providing services and assistance, including the City and all of its departments, the Neighborhood 

Association Presidents Council (NAPC), the Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA), the Sheriff’s Office (PBSO), Non-

Government Agencies (NGOs), as well as State and Federal Agencies (STATE & FED) and Regional Agencies and resources, such 

as, the Treasure Coast Regional Planning Council TCRPC), the School District of Palm Beach County (SDPBC), and the Palm 

Beach Transportation Planning Agency (TPA). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City Strategic Plan Comprehensive Plan & 

Support Documents 

Neighborhood Action Plan  

Neighborhood-Driven 

Initiatives 

City/CRA/PBSO/Other 

Entities 

Strategic Partnerships 

CITY CRA NAPC PBSO STATE/

FED 
NGO

s 

REGION 



 

10 | P a g e  

 

Existing Conditions and Assessment of Opportunities and Constraints 
Includes topics such as, Location within the City, history of the neighborhood and its association, demographic and structure use 

data, future land use and zoning analysis, Code compliance issues, Infrastructure (Public Works, Water and Sewer, Electric, Leisure 

Services) and other agencies services (PBSO, Fire Rescue and the CRA) Also Presents an assessment of opportunities and 

challenges for neighborhood improvement organized in two topic areas: 

 Impact of the City and other agencies initiatives on neighborhood improvement and 

 Main neighborhood issues as opportunities for future improvement 

Focus and Components of a Neighborhood Action Plan 
After an assessment of the neighborhood is completed, City staff, the consulting firm, and other entities will work with 

neighborhood and business representatives to develop recommendations for Neighborhood-Driven initiatives.  

Twelve areas of review for neighborhood improvement have been identified. Initiatives to address concerns affecting each specific 

neighborhood would be ranked and prioritized by neighborhood representatives. Strategic partners would be identified, and 

specific Action Plans would be finalized for presentation, acceptance and adoption by the City Commission. The areas of review 

for neighborhood planning include: 

 Neighborhood Association Organization and Training 

 Crime Reduction and Prevention 

 Neighborhood Beautification 

 Mobility 

 Neighborhood Identification 

 Code Compliance (Top Ten issues by neighborhood) 

 Education and Empowerment 

 Fundraising and Special Events 

 Neighborhood Welcoming Courtesy Package 

 Internal and External Communication 

 Recycling Education 

 Infrastructure 

Each Introduction would have a summary of the recommendations for action in the areas of focus for the neighborhood, their ranking and 

priorities, and the list of strategic partners the neighborhood would need to implement the Action Plan. 

EXAMPLES of the Neighborhood Improvement Action Plan are presented in the Neighborhood Improvement Action Plan Section 



 

11 | P a g e  

 

 

A Vision for the Future 
 

THIS IS A VISION EXAMPLE / THE ACTUAL VISION WILL BE DEVELOPED IN 

COLLABORATION WITH THE NEIGHBORHOODS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Main Corridor Vision Example, Source              Home Vision Example, Source 

The Neighborhood Planning Program’s goal is to promote neighborhood preservation, revitalization and 

stabilization with the purpose of enhancing the quality of life throughout the City.   

The Neighborhood is expected to become a vibrant mixed-use community along its 

main corridors while achieving a safe environment and prosperous community in its 

residential core, after implementation of the neighborhood plan of action. 

 



 

12 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

Neighborhood 

Improvement Action Plan   

 



 

13 | P a g e  

 

Neighborhood Meetings, Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

THIS SECTION WILL BE COMPLETED IN COLLABORATION WITH THE 

NEIGHBORHOODS AFTER CONDUCTING MEETINGS WITH RESIDENTS 

 

 

 

  

 

NZC Neighborhood Meeting Photo Archive 

 

  



 

14 | P a g e  

 

Neighborhood-Driven Action Plan 
 

 

This section describes the proposed Neighborhood Improvement Action Plan (Action Plan) for the neighborhood. 

The Action Plan is based on the analysis of existing conditions and the identification of the most important issues facing this 

neighborhood. It is also based on an assessment of programs and initiatives the City and its partner agencies are implementing, or 

will be implementing in the upcoming years, to address some of those key issues.  

The assessment will be discussed with the neighborhood group to seek their feedback, comments and suggestions, and work 

together in the preparation of an initial plan for neighborhood improvement, and the role residents, business owners, city agencies 

and other strategic partners will have in the implementation of the Action Plan. For instance, by implementing neighborhood watch 

programs, promoting special neighborhood or city-wide fundraising events, or implementing a façade and frontage improvement 

program. 

The resulting Action Plan provides a guide for neighborhood improvement with a set of actions that will be carried out in 

coordination with neighborhood groups. The tables in the next pages provide EXAMPLES of current and future actions for 

neighborhood improvement in the neighborhood. 

 

 

  

Neighborhood-driven initiatives include a description of the issue, the action or actions 

recommended for neighborhood improvement, suggested strategic partners, and implementation 

timeframes.  

 



 

15 | P a g e  

 

INITIATIVES WILL BE RANKED AND PRIORITIZED BY THE NEIGHBORHOOD 

NEIGHBORHOOD-DRIVEN SAMPLE INITIATIVES 

SAMPLE INITIATIVES STRATEGIC PARTER (S) / TIMEFRAMES 

EXAMPLE 

CHECK 

 BOX 

Neighborhood Association Organization/ 

Training 

  

Establish a neighborhood association if not already  

established.  

Neighborhood Association Presidents Council (NAPC), Lake  

Worth Beach Department of Community Sustainability 

 

Obtain training on management, funding and working 

with strategic partners. 

Community Partners of the Palm Beaches  

Define tasks for neighborhood improvement and  

establish priorities. 

Lake Worth Beach Department of Community Sustainability  

Increase membership and neighborhood participation NACP, Neighborhood Association  

Establish and follow up funding strategy for 

Implementation of action plan 

Neighborhood Association, NACP, Department of Community 

Sustainability. 

 

Crime Reduction and Prevention 

 

  

Establish and maintain operations for a  

Neighborhood Watch Program. 

The PBSO assists neighborhood groups basic set up, data and  

logistics of for the establishment of a watch program and 

provides funding for neighborhood watch signs. Initial  

assistance requires a group of at least 10 people that meets 

at least 4 times a year.  

Contact: PBSO- District 14, Community Outreach Coordinator 

 

Participate in the Community-Based Crime Reduction  

(CBCR) Program and take advantage of its resources. 

The PBSO is conducting this program in Lake Worth between 

2019-2021to address critical crime areas in the City. 

 

Neighborhood Beautification Nonprofits: Faith-Based; Paint Your Heart; Community  

Partners – CRA, Code Compliance Department 

 

Front Yard Maintenance, Tree Planting, Landscaping 1-3 Years  

Painting of Houses in Need As needed on select homes  

Trash & Recycling Clean Ups As needed  

Mobility 

 

  

Bike Lanes Public Works, Engineering, TPA, TCRPC  

Traffic Calming Public Works, Engineering, TPA, TCRPC  

Pedestrian Trails Public Works, Engineering, TPA, TCRPC  

Utilization of Alleys and Truncated Streets Public Works, Engineering, TPA, TCRPC   

 



 

16 | P a g e  

 

NEIGHBORHOOD-DRIVEN SAMPLE INITIATIVES (CONTINUED) 

 

SAMPLE INITIATIVES STRATEGIC PARTER (S) / TIMEFRAMES 

EXAMPLE 

CHECK 

 BOX 

Neighborhood Identification 

 

  

Strategic Location of Neighborhood Signs Public Works, Public Information, CRA  

Design and Construction of Identification Signs (Monument) Public Works, CRA  

Street tree (s) “trademark” by neighborhood Public Works, Leisure Services, Community Greening  

Neighborhood Logo on Sidewalks Public Works, Public Information, CRA  

    

Code Compliance (Top Ten by Neighborhood) 

 

  

General Requirements Code Compliance  

Areas Free of Garbage/Trash Code Compliance, NAPC, Public Works  

Landscape Regulations Code Compliance, NAPC  

Abandoned Property Code Compliance, NAPC  

Lot and Lands Nuisances Code Compliance, NAPC  

Fences, Walls and Gates Code Compliance, NAPC  

Building Permit Code Compliance, Business Association / Group, Building Dpt.  

Business Use/Occupation/BTR License Required Code Compliance, Business Association / Group, City, County  

Business Use/Occupancy Certificate Code Compliance, Business Association / Group, City  

Business License Required/Utility Service Code Compliance, Business Association / Group, Utilities Dpt.  

Education & Empowerment NGOs Faith-Based; Community Partners –  

 

 

School Activism for better schools School District of Palm Beach County, Charter Schools.  

Pre and After Care Programs Faith-based group.  School District of Palm Beach County, Charter  

Schools. 

 

Parenting Resources Children’s Service Council  

Public Education Public Information Officer  

Special Events Fundraising Support - Block  

Parties, Community Events 

Leisure Services (LS) Department, Public Information, NGOs  

Fundraising The LS Department provides booth space at city events  

to the NACP and offers free special permits up to 4 times/year for 

individual neighborhoods. 

 

Block Parties  LS Department, NGOs, Public Works, Public Information  

Community Events at neighborhoods  LS Department, NGOs, Public Works, Public Information  



 

17 | P a g e  

 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD-DRIVEN SAMPLE INITIATIVES (CONTINUED) 

SAMPLE INITIATIVES STRATEGIC PARTER (S) / TIMEFRAMES 

EXAMPLE 

CHECK 

 BOX 

Neighborhood Welcoming & Courtesy 

 

Parrot Cove Style  

Monthly Get Together NAPC, Neighborhood Associations  

Block Parties NAPC, Neighborhood Association   

Welcoming Package Residential / Business NAPC, Neighborhood Association, Chamber of Commerce  

Publicize Neighborhood Association NAPC, Neighborhood Association   

    

Communications with City, Neighborhood and the 

Community 

  

Bulletin Board Exchange Online Sources  

Social Media Online Sources  

Newsletter Public Information Officer  

Kiosks City of Lake Worth Beach  

Emergency Management City, Palm Beach County, PBSO, Fire Rescue  

   

Recycling Education   

Promote Recycling Education through Neighborhood  

Association 

Solid Waste Authority, Public Works Department  

Infrastructure 

 

  

Roads & Sidewalks Public Works  

Street, Alley, Walk Trail Lighting Electric Utility  

Waterworks Water and Sewer Utility  

Public Art Leisure Services, Public Works, Developer Contribution  

Parks and Open Space Leisure Services  

 

  



 

18 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Existing Conditions and 

Assessment 



 

19 | P a g e  

 

 

Neighborhood Description   
 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Location within the City. Physical Boundaries. History of the neighborhood and the neighborhood association (to be provided by 

City staff) 



 

20 | P a g e  

 

General description, land uses / existing uses (single-family, two-family, multifamily, commercial, industrial, new trends (multifamily, 

townhomes, mixed use, etc.) Geographic distribution of those uses. Schools, Parks, Open Space, Churches, Banks.  

 

 Single-Family Location Aerial, Source      Multifamily Location, Source               

 

     Single-Family, Location, Source                                            New Multifamily, Location, Source 

 



 

21 | P a g e  

 

Main Corridor land uses / existing uses, trends, Geographic distribution, character 

  

Name, Location, Source         Name, Location, Source 

Narrative description, characteristics 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Name, Location, Source        Name, Location, Source 



 

22 | P a g e  

 

 

Demographics 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Population by 

Ethnicity 
Population by Race 

Population by 

gender 

Hispanic 3,128   

Non-Hispanic 2,356   

Asian  27  

White  2,784  

Black  1,071  

Native American  563  

Hawaiian or Pacific 

Islander 
 9  

Other  701  

Female   2,469 

Male   3,015 

 

EXAMPLE DEMOGRAPHIC NARRATIVE: Based on Census data from 2010 the population in the NAME Neighborhood is 

predominately of Hispanic Ethnicity with a population of 3,128 followed closely by a White population of 2,784 and a Black 

population of 1.071.  This neighborhood is composed of 3,015 males and 2,469 females, a difference of 546 more males than 

females, for a total population of 5,484 people. 

 

0
1,000
2,000
3,000
4,000 3,128

2,356

27

2,784

1,071
563

9
701

2,469
3,015

Total Population: 5,484

Population by Ethnicity Population by Race Population by gender



 

23 | P a g e  

 

Existing Uses  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXAMPLE STRUCTURE USES NARRATIVE: The primary use composition of this neighborhood is residential with a reported 

1,732 of such structures.  Other significant uses include 247 Institutional, 147 Industrial and 100 Commercial structures.  There is 

also identified, 69 structures as vacant and 21 as Other. 

  

Residential, 

1,732

Commercial, 

100

Industrial, 147

Institutional, 247
Other, 21 Vacant, 69

Land Uses

Residential

Commercial

Industrial

Institutional

Other

Vacant



 

24 | P a g e  

 

Future Land Use  
 

  SAMPLE MAP 

 

 

     SAMPLE MAP LEGEND 

 

 

 

 

 

NARRATIVE: Description and Analysis 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

25 | P a g e  

 

 

Zoning Map 
 

  

  SAMPLE MAP  

     LEGEND 

 

      SAMPLE MAP LEGEND 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     NARRATIVE: Description and Analysis 

 

 

 

NARRATIVE: Description and Analysis 

  



 

26 | P a g e  

 

Code Compliance: Zones, Cases and Issues 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NARRATIVE: Description and Analysis 

  



 

27 | P a g e  

 

Neighborhood Cases and Issues 
TOP TEN NARRATIVE 

The Top ten include: General requirements/Condition of structures, Yard maintenance standards, disposal of trash and waste, 

fences and walls, signs, recreational vehicles and boats, abandoned vehicles, shopping carts, work without permit, and business tax 

receipts. 

Neighborhood SALIENT cases 

The Top Ten violations for SAMPLE FROM ACTUAL NEIGHBORHOOD (College Park 2016-2018): 

o Use/Occupation & BTR License Req'd 58 

o Landscape Regulations  51 

o General Requirements  41 

o Park/Keep/Store MV, RV  24 

o Building Permit  17 

o Foreclosure Registration  12 

o Areas Free of Garbage /Trash  09 

o Use and Occupancy Certificate  09 

o Adm. Amend. to Florida Building Code 08 

o Lots and Lands Nuisances  08 

 

NARRATIVE 

 

  



 

28 | P a g e  

 

Recreation and Open Space (Leisure Services Department)  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NARRATIVE: Description, parks location, amenities, events 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

29 | P a g e  

 

 

Neighborhood Park Facilities: Narrative, Description, Source, etc. 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

         

 

 

 

  

  



 

30 | P a g e  

 

Public Services 
 

Status of the Neighborhood Road Program in the Neighborhood 
 

 

The City’s Public Services Department has been implementing 

this 40-million-dollar program in coordination with other City 

Departments with distinct funding sources, such as the Utilities 

Enterprise Zone for Lake Worth. Road improvements have 

been done in tandem with water main replacement and 

upgrades, bringing sidewalks in compliance with ADA 

requirements, and a complete replacement of street lighting 

with LED components has also been part of this effort, as part 

of the Siemens Performance Contract. The Public Services 

Department has an interactive Map in the City’s web page 

indicating the status of the program, either completed (green), 

in process (orange) or in design (black), spanning for a period 

of 4 years, as shown in the map below for the neighborhood. 

The neighborhood roads are shown in the map to the right. 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

31 | P a g e  

 

Garbage Collection and Recycling  
 

The City switched in October 2018 from single stream recycling (all items in one container) to dual stream recycling which 

separates glasses, aluminum cans and plastics (blue container), from paper and cardboard material (yellow container). IN the first 

three months of the new program residents recycled 423 tons of material. The material delivered to the recycling facility was low 

in contamination and non-recyclable material, indicative that residents and businesses are actually following the recycling guidelines 

for this new program. 

The City is divided in four refusal zones, each one including one collection day for recycling and vegetation and two collection 

days for household garbage. 

 

Along with all cities in Palm Beach County, refusal 

and recycling materials are send to the Solid Waste 

Authority (SWA) facilities in central-western Palm 

Beach County, which include a unified landfill for 

the entire County and municipalities. There are 

several transfer stations throughout the County for 

the transfer of all materials from smaller trucks to 

the larger SWA trucks. The closer transfer station 

to the City of Lake Worth Beach is the Lantana 

Central Station on Lantana Road west of I-95. 

  



 

32 | P a g e  

 

Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA) 

 

EXAMPLE NARRATIVE: The Lake Worth CRA’s mission statements is “investing in our community to revitalize and rebuild 

our neighborhoods and commercial corridors. We are dedicated to maintaining the character of the City, responding to the 

community needs and encouraging sustainable economic growth to improve the quality of life for our residents and the future 

health of our City3”.  

                                                
3 Source: Lake Worth CRA  



 

33 | P a g e  

 

EXAMPLE NARRATIVE: Development of the City’s commercial corridors continues to be a priority for the CRA. Our main 

thoroughfare, Dixie Highway, has seen limited development over the years. The CRA played a role in several successful 

developments including the first Publix in the City, with the Art Deco style of the original 1950’s stores; 1101-1113 N. Dixie and 

the Shops at Downtown, with Starbucks, and other stores and services. In addition, the CRA invested in numerous properties, in 

the form of façade and tenant improvement grants. Despite CRA initiatives, large-scale, mixed-use, developments did not make it 

past the conceptual phase until now.   
     

ADDITIONAL NARRATIVE 

Example Picture, Location, Source 

CRA Projects in NEIGHBORHOOD 
 

EXAMPLE NARRATIVE: The CRA purchased in early 2019 44 stainless steel 

receptacles to replace the old square shaped maroon cans that have been in the 

city for more than 11 years. Funding to purchase the new receptacles was obtained 

through the Palm Beach County’s Solid Waste Authority’s (SWA) Blighted & 

Distressed Grant Program. This is the second that the CRA received grant funding 

from the SWA. The new receptacles were installed by the City’s Public Works 

Department. 

 

Over the next few years, the CRA and the City will be working to replace all 

public trash receptacles and benches throughout the downtown business core. 

 

New receptacles & Bench, Location, Source 



 

34 | P a g e  

 

 

Water Utilities  
 

The City of Lake Worth beach provides potable water and wastewater services on a City-wide basis, and includes areas west of 

the city boundaries, including the Village of Palms Springs and portions of unincorporated Palm Beach County. Therefore, benefits 

deriving from continued improvements to these systems benefit the city residents as a whole and its neighborhoods in particular. 

The City’s Water System (“System”) includes: the raw water supply, the water treatment plant (“WTP”), water storage facilities, 

and the water distribution system. The City’s Utilities Department oversees the City’s water, local wastewater, and sub-regional 

wastewater. 

        Lake Worth Beach Water Treatment Plant. Source: Google 

NARRATIVE PROVIDED BY DEPARTMENT:  

 

 

 

 

 

. 

 

 

Existing Conditions and Improvements to the City’s Water System 
NARRATIVE PROVIDED BY DEPARTMENT: 

 

 

  



 

35 | P a g e  

 

Electric Service 
 

The Electric utility service operates, as many other services in the 

City of Lake Worth Beach, on a city-wide basis, which means, its 

programs and operations benefit the entire City, including all of its 

neighborhoods.  

NARRATIVES PROVIDED BY DEPARTMENT: 

 

Capital Improvement Plan 
 

Renewable and Carbon-Free Energy Sources 
 

Blue Ocean Energy    

 

NARRATIVES PROVIDED BY DEPARTMENT 

 

  



 

36 | P a g e  

 

Palm Beach County Sheriff Office (PBSO) 
The Lake Worth Police Department merged with PBSO in 2008, I have a good understanding of the priorities and values held by 

the residents of Lake Worth. Police service in the City of Lake Worth Beach is provided through a contract with Palm Beach 

County’s Sherriff Office. The city corresponds with PBSO ‘s District 14.   

NARRATIVES PROVIDED BY DEPARTMENT 

Crime Situation 
   

Community-Based Crime Reduction (CBCR) Program 
 

Other PBSO programs to combat crime 
 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Place-based Strategy: To better integrate crime control efforts with revitalization strategies, targeting 

distressed areas and “hot spots” and tackling “crime drivers” 

2. Community-Oriented: Values community stakeholders as the change agents, where the residents are active 

participants, along with business owners, service providers, resource centers, faith-based organizations, schools, 

etc. 

3. Data Driven: To improve the use of data and research to problem solve and guide program strategy. And 

4. Capacity Building and Partnerships: To promote sustainable collaboration with Cross-Sector partners and 

address problems from multiple angles. 

 

 



 

37 | P a g e  

 

 

 

Palm Beach County Fire Rescue Department 
 

Palm Beach County Fire Rescue provides fire rescue 

services to the City of Lake Worth, through a station 

located at 1020 Lucerne Avenue, just south of the PBC 
Sheriff’s District 14 (Lake Worth) Building. 

 

NARRATIVE PROVIDED BY DEPARTMENT  



 

38 | P a g e  

 

Information and Communications 
 

The Public Information Office of the City of Lake Worth Beach is in charge of most of the communications with the public, media 

communications, internet presence, etc. Advertising and disseminating public events, City government activities, programs and 

actions. This includes production of banners and posters, creation of brochures and promotional fliers. As a result, the office 

manages most of graphic works for the city, video production, etc. 

The office conducts its activities on a citywide basis, for the benefit of all its residents, businesses and visitors. The Public 

Information Officer is in charge of producing the City’s monthly newsletter “NewsWorthy – The Art of Florida Living”. The 

newsletter brings information on up-coming events, art exhibits and cultural activities, City programs updates on issues such as, 

recycling, refusal schedule, PBSO Citizen Observer program, and much more. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City Hall Annex. Google 

Image  



 

39 | P a g e  

 

Identified Opportunities and Constraints 
 

Impact of City and Other Agency Actions 
SAMPLE NEIGHBORHOOD NARRATIVE, which is one of the neighborhoods at the heart of the City, has been the focus 

of actions by the City and other agencies during the last several years. A series of mixed-use districts have been created through 

amendments to the future land use and zoning districts maps, which benefit areas along the main commercial corridors, namely 

Lucerne Avenue, Dixie Highway, 10th Avenue North, and the areas around the FEC Railway and Dixie Highway. This has effectively:   

1. Consolidated diverse kind of mixed-uses along these corridors, including transit-oriented uses into the downtown area, 

which have the very potential for more intense residential and non-residential uses at the edges of the neighborhood.  

2. The residential section of the neighborhood has been effectively concentrated at the geographic center of the 

neighborhood, with new multifamily opportunities in the western limits of the neighborhood near Interstate 95. 

These are examples of the potential positive impact these land use and zoning changes could bring about in the 

future, benefitting not only this neighborhood but the City a whole. 

Main Neighborhood Issues Are Opportunities for Future Improvement 
SAMPLE NEIGHBORHOOD NARRATIVE, this also brings the opportunity to consolidate the remaining residential area, 

improve its quality of life and make it a more integral part of the fabric of the City. This residential area is characterized by its 

large migrant population, mostly from Central America, which has brought diversity to the City. This residential area is however, 

impacted by the poverty and slow insertion process of its residents into the mainstream way of life. Hence the high incidence of 

code violations and criminal activity in this section of town. Also, to blame are the absentee landlords, which neglect their 

properties and contribute to the deteriorated appearance of portions of the residential area.  

 

 

Therefore, the main issues where the City, residents and other agencies and organizations need to focus for 

this neighborhood are safety, addressed in partnership with the PBSO; and the physical improvement of the 

neighborhood, in coordination with the neighborhood-driven initiatives and strategic partners. 

 

 



 

MINUTES 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH 

ELECTRIC UTILITY CITY COMMISSION MEETING 

TUESDAY, JANUARY 28, 2020 – 6:00 PM 

 

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Pam Triolo on the above date at 6:00 PM in the 

City Commission Chamber located at City Hall, 7 North Dixie Highway, Lake Worth Beach, 

Florida. 

 

ROLL CALL:  Present were; Mayor Pam Triolo; Vice Mayor Andy Amoroso; and 

Commissioners Omari Hardy and Herman Robinson.  Also present were City Manager Michael 

Bornstein, City Attorney Christy L. Goddeau and City Clerk Deborah Andrea.  Commissioner 

Scott Maxwell was absent. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  led by Vice Mayor Andy Amoroso. 

AGENDA - Additions / Deletions / Reordering: 

PRESENTATIONS: (there is no public comment on Presentation items) 

A. FY2019 Results and Scorecard 

 

Ed Liberty, Electric Utility Director, gave a summary of the financial activity for FY 2019, 

comparing where the Electric Utility (EU) was to where it was currently.  He reported that 

the plant was operating in good condition, working well and that the compensation for the 

workers had been increased to be close to the private sector; the staff had improved and 

they continued to recruit and bring people in.  He compared the budgeted operating totals 

with the actual numbers for revenue and expenses, residential and commercial sales, and 

the balanced scorecard for financial and customer service quadrants.  He said that although 

the actual revenue was a little less than budgeted, the actual expenses were $2.6 million 

under budget, resulting in higher operating income.  He went into detail about the profit 

and loss statement for operating revenues and expenses and showed how salaries had 

decreased due to the reduction in overtime costs.  He explained how the actual residential 

sales had been .74% under the budgeted number and that actual commercial sales were 

4.258% under budget.  He talked about the various payment methods that customers used 

and the outstanding balance due on the additional billed deposits. 

Comments/requests summary: 

1. Vice Mayor Amoroso asked about the $2.00 convenience fee and if it would end in 2020. 

 

Mr. Liberty explained that the convenience fee would be zero after the first quarter of 2020.  

He said that customers had to go off site to make cash payments and the City did not have 

to pay for the service. 

 

Mr. Liberty said that the pole attachments numbers were with Comcast and did not show 

AT&T; the numbers reflected the catch up for prior years and there had been an audit.  He 

stated that AT&T was working on a pole count and there had been a difference in opinion 

about who owned which pole. 

 

Vice Mayor Amoroso requested to see the numbers with Comcast and AT&T. 

 



Pg. 2, Electric Utility Meeting, January 28, 2020 

 

 

Mr. Liberty said they had been trying to stop the lashing where people tied on to the existing 

pole attachments.  He iterated that there should a process when a pole was replaced because of 

an emergency, the City could charge a certain amount. 

 

2. Vice Mayor Amoroso asked about the increase in investment revenue shown on the 

monthly portfolio. 

 

Clyde Johnson, Budget Manager, stated that the investment revenue flowed from the 

investment portfolio. 

 

3. Commissioner Hardy asked about the investment portfolio, for an explanation of the CAIC 

and if there would be negotiations with any other companies for pole attachment 

agreements. 

 

Mr. Liberty replied that he did not manage the investment account and would need to ask 

the Finance Director.  He stated that the CAIC was to cover the costs of installing a larger 

transformer or service wire and that one other company, Crown Castle, would be added to 

the pole attachment agreements, which would increase the revenue. 

 

4. Vice Mayor Amoroso asked if the CAIC would be larger with the Mid and other 

development coming online next year.  He asked if Crown Castle was the company that 

represented all the small cell companies. 

 

Mr. Liberty responded that yes, it would increase the revenues next year. 

 

City Attorney Goddeau said yes, that Crown Castle was the company for all the small cell 

companies. 

 

Mr. Liberty said Crown Castle was a company that came into a city to make sure everyone 

had cell service. 

 

5. Commissioner Robinson asked what comprised other revenues.  

 

Mr. Liberty replied that it could be fees or sale of equipment, but not a power sale or other 

ordinary sales issue. 

 

6. Commissioner Hardy asked what the maintenance what was the difference and Mr. Liberty 

said he would get back to them.  He also asked about union people who were asking about 

overtime vs. contractual services. 

 

Mr. Liberty said that the EU did contract out work because there were only about a dozen 

linemen, and if they were called out for an emergency and the overtime was for eight hours, 

they could not work for the next eight hours.  He stated that EU staff did minor work but 

could not be committed for larger projects.  He reported that the vegetation management 

was contracted out, but the EU did not hire a contractor to do the line work and EU staff 

would maintain the work after construction.  He stated that he made the decision to stop 

the unnecessary work and stopped paying overtime for the rodeo and for riding in parades, 

but they people were brought in when needed. 

  



Pg. 3, Electric Utility Meeting, January 28, 2020 

 

 

7. Mayor Triolo asked about preparation before major storms. 

 

Mr. Liberty responded that EU crews got ready for the storms, but mutual aid crews came 

from other states before the storm hit and remained until the storm was cleared, which cost 

between $2.5 and $2.9 million dollars in the insurance fund. 

 

Mr. Liberty spoke about the declining costs for power and gas prices and said that benefits 

from the solar projects would felt in early 2024.  He explained that there could be a spike 

because of an outage or a spike in power prices per month, which increase amounts up. 

 

8. Commissioner Hardy inquired if the City was hedged in case of natural gas spikes. 

 

Mr. Liberty replied that the City did not hedge, except in our portfolio where about 50% 

was in natural gas, and would drop about 15 percentage points when solar began. 

 

Mr. Liberty discussed the budget for salaries which had gone up, and overtime which had been 

cut significantly.  He stated that staff had been very responsive and were doing great work; the 

expenses were being controlled.  He spoke about the residential sales and showed the track 

they use to create the new budget and they still do not had all the numbers and they were trying 

to improve the forecasting of the sales. 

 

9. Commissioner Robinson asked about the commercial rates. 

 

Mr. Liberty answered that the commercial rates were a little higher but did not know if 

commercial sales would increase if rates were lower. 

 

10. Mayor Triolo said what she had heard from people in the community that big business 

owner’s bills came down while small business owners were paying more and inquired if 

anything could be done. 

 

Mr. Liberty said that there would be a cost of service study presented in the near future. 

 

Mayor Triolo requested information about businesses for a comparison study. 

 

Mr. Liberty spoke about the electric charging stations that would be installed. 

 

11. Commissioner Robinson asked about putting stations at the Park of Commerce. 

 

Mr. Liberty replied that various locations were being considered and the placement would 

have to be strategic because they were expensive to install.  He stated that the chosen 

locations were near transformers and would require minimal construction; the City would 

offer a value-added service in the hope of bringing more traffic to the commercial 

community. 

 

City Manager Bornstein relayed that there had been discussions about how to get 

homeowners interested in having electric car chargers and charging stations around the 

City would be a good first foray into the market. 

 

Mr. Liberty said that the EU would look at the cost of providing chargers to residents. 

 



Pg. 4, Electric Utility Meeting, January 28, 2020 

 

 

12. Commissioner Hardy asked what the impact of a high demand for electric cars would have 

on electric demand and the revenue profile. 

 

Mr. Liberty replied that it would help the City with revenue but could create a problem if 

the cars would charge immediately when they were plugged in rather than setting the 

charging for overnight. 

 

Vice Mayor Amoroso left the meeting at 7:10 PM and returned at 7:12 PM. 

 

Mr. Liberty spoke about the balanced scorecard, which was done on a monthly basis, and 

showed growth in residential but stayed the same in commercial.  He said that more data was 

being analyzed than ever before and explained that more degree days and rainfall that cooled 

a house, resulted in the electric power costs decreasing.  He reported that streetlights were 

monitored, there was less demand for conservation audits, meter tampering had decreased and 

customer disconnections had increased. 

 

13. Commissioner Hardy stated that the City was doing well at getting streetlight outages 

repaired. 

 

Mr. Liberty said that there was a night crew to look for streetlights that were out.  He 

announced that people could call in or check the website and someone would fix the light. 

 

Mr. Liberty said that there had been between 4,000 to 4,700 customers coming in to pay their 

bills each month and stated that the focus would be better spent working with customers with 

real issues.  He mentioned that office staff could help download the payment code and set up 

the payment app on customers’ phones so they could pay their bills 24 hours a day, seven days 

a week.  

 

14. Vice Mayor Amoroso asked if he needed to wait at utility customer service to obtain a bar 

code and if he could take his utility bill to one of the pay by me locations. 

 

Mr. Liberty replied that there would be bar codes printed on the utility bills for each 

payment vendor. 

 

Franco Bellitto, Customer Service Manager, answered that the bar codes would be on the 

utility bills in three to six months.  He stated that there was a bilingual customer service 

representative to help with the codes the representatives or explaining new payment 

service. 

 

15. Commissioner Robinson gave kudos to Mr. Bellitto and the customer service staff because 

of the increase the workload. 

 

Mr. Liberty ended the presentation with the yearly reliability data, which exhibited the 

improvement in reliability in each category and the net metering data, which showed that there 

were 107 customers up and running, 19 of the interconnection packages were incomplete, 28 

had not responded and there were 14 new applications in process. 

 

16. Vice Mayor Amoroso asked if the non-responders were commercial or residential, how 

they had been notified and what would be the next step. 

 



Pg. 5, Electric Utility Meeting, January 28, 2020 

 

 

Mr. Liberty replied that it was a combination of commercial and residential.  He stated that 

the residents and business owners would see an increase in their bills because they were no 

longer in the program. 

 

Joel Rutsky, Revenue Protection Manager, responded that customers in the program had 

been sent certified mail but some never picked up the package.  He iterated that a regular 

mail delivery was sent followed by emails and numerous attempts by certified and regular 

mail to their billing and services addresses.  He reported that he had gone to the largest 

commercial location twice but had not heard back.  He said that perhaps non-responders 

would contact the EU when they no longer received the solar credits on their bills. 

 

City Attorney Goddeau said that the non-responders were no longer in the program nor 

grandfathered in and would be subject to the new rules. 

 

17. Commissioner Hardy asked if people could use the Bert Harris Act. 

 

City Attorney Goddeau answered that usually the Bert Harris Act was tied to property 

rights. 

 

City Manager Bornstein complimented Mr. Liberty on his leadership and praised his capable 

and amazing team.  He stated that the refurbishment of the system as well as pursuing the 

system hardening and a second tie line would have to continue.  He announced that there would 

be significant investments made to the citizen-owned electric utility; its revenues did a lot of 

good in the City.  He said that the EU was competitive in the marketplace and they were 

working to be a progressive energy leader with the carbon footprint and the ocean current 

energy.  He stated that the EU had gone from a liability to a valuable asset and would be come 

a desirable brand. 

 

18. Mayor Triolo expressed pride in the EU team. 

 

The meeting recessed at 7:52 PM and reconvened at 8:04 PM. 

 

B. Lake Worth Beach (LWB) Electric Utility (EU) Web Page and News Page 

 

Mr. Liberty said that the City had revamped its web presence and he would speak about the 

added EU section of the website, which would provide information about its vision and 

message regarding the future.  He announced that the wording Citizen Owned Energy now 

belonged to Lake Worth Beach.  He introduced Michael Taylor, Owner of Simple Mind 

Corporation, who had been contracted to set up and launch the EU website landing page and 

provide outreach strategy services. 

 

He said that the EU page would be the reflection of a strategy for people to understand the 

concepts and educate residents about what would be planned for the future.  He stated that 

communication was a tool and would be used to position LWB as an active and innovative city 

regarding sustainability and the exciting partnerships being fostered through the ocean current 

technology.  He explained that the page would have a monthly feature with important 

information as well as issues that affected the system’s reliability, how to pay your bill, what 

to do after a storm plus topics such as major solar events and electric cars with a calculator to 



Pg. 6, Electric Utility Meeting, January 28, 2020 

 

show what could be saved by driving one.  He said that there could be email campaigns to 

disseminate information. 

Comments/requests summary: 

1. Mayor Triolo asked what Mr. Taylor’s services would entail and if there would be a 

database of those who logged in. 

Mr. Taylor responded that he would be doing newsletters and search engine optimization 

as well as creating a wider audience for our content.  He said that a database would be very 

important for getting information out. 

 

Mr. Liberty said that the FMPA would come to film the solar field and the footage would 

be used in an FMPA ad campaign. 

 

Mr. Taylor said that items would continue to be added to the archived section. 

 

2. Vice Mayor Amoroso asked if they were working with the City’s social media team. 

 

Mr. Taylor replied affirmatively. 

 

Mr. Liberty said that he met with Mr. Taylor to discuss what was happening in the City to 

make sure the information was marketed.  He stated that Simple Mind would build on the 

Strategic Plan, the vision and what the electrical utility had accomplished. 

 

3. Commissioner Hardy opined that the website looked great, and suggested having a 

summary of the annual report. 

 

Mr. Taylor said there would be a type of annual report, maybe in letter format, with some 

data and graphics. 

 

4. Mayor Triolo said that this was a content driven web page and the information was only as 

good as the information you got to the web master because communication could have 

influence. 

 

Mr. Liberty said the EU was trying to control the message to those who needed to hear it. 

 

5. Commissioner Robinson asked if residential solar was being addressed and promoted. 

 

Mr. Liberty replied that it would be addressed as it was part of the energy mix, but the City 

was not in the habit of promoting something that would reduce its business. 

 

Commissioner Robinson asked how the City could get a grant from the Volkswagen 

settlement. 

 

Mr. Liberty said that the City did not have the resources to go after this but perhaps it could 

be discussed with the City’s lobbyist. 

 

6. Mayor Triolo inquired about having a place for realtors to be able to give current 

information to new buyers and business owners. 

 

Mr. Liberty said they would work on that and give people a sense of pride in ownership of 

the utility. 



Pg. 7, Electric Utility Meeting, January 28, 2020 

 

 

Vice Mayor Amoroso asked about a “did you know” for realtors where they could get the 

information they about the electric utility. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION OF NON-AGENDAED ITEMS AND CONSENT AGENDA: 

No one from the public spoke. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 

Action:  Motion made by Vice Mayor Amoroso and seconded by Commissioner Hardy to approve the 

following minutes: 

A.  October 29, 2019 meeting 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed:  AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Amoroso and Commissioners Hardy 

and Robinson.  NAYS:  None.  ABSENT:  Commissioner Maxwell. 

 

ADJOURNMENT: 
 

Action:  Motion made by Vice Mayor Amoroso and seconded by Commissioner Hardy to adjourn the 

meeting at 8:45 PM. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed:  AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Amoroso and Commissioners Hardy 

and Robinson.  NAYS:  None.  ABSENT:  Commissioner Maxwell. 

 

 

____________________________ 

Pam Triolo, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Deborah M. Andrea, CMC, City Clerk 

 

Minutes Approved: February 25, 2020 

 

A digital audio recording of this meeting will be available in the Office of the City Clerk. 

 



 

MINUTES 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY  

TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 4, 2020 - 6:00 PM 

 

ROLL CALL:  Present were Mayor Pam Triolo; Vice Mayor Andy Amoroso; and 

Commissioners Scott Maxwell, Omari Hardy and Herman Robinson.  Also present were City 

Manager Michael Bornstein, City Attorney Christy L. Goddeau and City Clerk Deborah M. 

Andrea. 

 

INVOCATION OR MOMENT OF SILENCE: on behalf of Commissioner Scott Maxwell. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  led by Commissioner Herman Robinson. 

 

AGENDA - Additions/Deletions/Reordering: 

 

New Business Item B, Second Amendment to the Incentive Agreement with The Mid, was 

added to the agenda. Vice Mayor Amoroso asked to reorder The Mid Dixie Highway Corridor 

items. 

 

Action: Motion made by Vice Mayor Amoroso and seconded by Commissioner Maxwell to change 

the order of New Business. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed:  AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Amoroso and Commissioners Maxwell 

and Robinson.  NAYS:  Commissioner Hardy. 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner Maxwell and seconded by Commissioner Robinson to approve 

the agenda as amended. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed:  AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Amoroso and Commissioners Maxwell 

and Robinson.  NAYS:  Commissioner Hardy. 

 

PRESENTATIONS: (there is no public comment on Presentation items) 

 

A. Nicole Patterson, Principal of North Grade Elementary School, gave an overview of the 

Title One School, including its history, demographics, extracurricular activities, 

partnerships and grants.  She said that there was an additional teacher in each room for one 

hour a day to help prepare the kids to advance to the next grade and that the staff had 

worked hard to get the parents involved by having curriculum nights.  She reported that the 

school was dual language and they anticipated that their grade would be a B+ by the 

summer.  She spoke about the keys to her success like participation in motivating academic 

programs, parent training and extracurricular opportunities/clubs and some of the 

challenges such as demographics, attendance, math/writing/science proficiency, parent 

participation, teacher retention and having a transient population.  

 

B. Commissioner Maxwell read the Proclamation declaring February 11-17, 2020 as 2-1-1 

Awareness Week and presented it to Patrice Schroeder, Community Relations Specialist at 

211 Palm Beach/Treasure Coast.  Ms. Schroeder relayed that 2-1-1 had received 

approximately 2,300 calls from the City’s residents including elderly facing financial 

crises, parents concerned about a child’s development, veterans with PTSD and people 

contemplating suicide.  She reported that the call volume would double or triple during a 



Pg. 2, Regular Meeting, February 4, 2020 

storm and that many volunteers who called seniors would be the only call the elderly 

resident received all day.  She stated that more mental health facilities and affordable 

housing were needed. 

 

Commissioner Maxwell thanked 2-1-1 for all they did and mentioned the need for 

volunteers. 

 

Vice Mayor Amoroso asked why no shelters had been open in Palm Beach County during 

the cold snap and said that the policy should be rewritten so people could get help before 

the temperature hit 30 degrees. 

 

COMMISSION LIAISON REPORTS AND COMMENTS: 

 

Commissioner Maxwell:  said that abandoned shopping carts were still a problem and that 

there was an uptick in graffiti; he asked if the sheriff’s office could help. 

 

Commissioner Hardy:  said the CDBG application cycle was beginning and urged the 

Commission to consider funds for the For the Children building, which was City-owned. 

 

Vice Mayor Amoroso:  stated that he attended the Sober Home Task Force and that there would 

be funding to assist veterans. He spoke about the importance of getting involved and being 

counted in the 2020 Census and gave a shout out to Yolanda Robinson, Community Code 

Manager, for responding to a bonfire and solving the problem on Dixie Highway on a Saturday. 

 

Commissioner Robinson:  thanked all City employees for their efforts to make Lake Worth 

Beach a better place to live.  He said that the public should participate in the upcoming CDBG 

meeting and sent condolences to the two PBSO deputies who had passed. 

 

Mayor Triolo:  asked Captain Baer to notify the City of any important events related to the 

City’s district.  She described the incredible Mayor’s Crime Walk, which had passed through 

some of the hot spots in the district to highlight and address the problems.  She stated that new 

nuisance laws had recently been passed to give the City the ability to go after chronic offenders.  

She said that the chili cook-off and the Daddy-Daughter/Mother-Son event were great.  She 

reported about the Pension Board meeting saying that the numbers were way up and the 

pensions were safe and secure. 

 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION OF NON-AGENDAED ITEMS AND CONSENT 

AGENDA: 

 

Cheryl Rashkin, President of the South Palm Park Neighborhood Association, thanked Mayor 

Triolo and Commissioner Robinson for getting the crime walk in her neighborhood, which was 

the start of something new and great for Lake Worth Beach and good for morale in the 

neighborhood. 

 

Todd Townsend said that William Waters was working to get a hotel built on the beach. 

 

Rachel Shapiro asked if a property sold on East Coast Drive had to be demolished within six 

months of purchase. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 



Pg. 3, Regular Meeting, February 4, 2020 

 

Action: Motion made by Vice Mayor Amoroso and seconded by Commissioner Robinson to approve 

the following minutes: 

 

A. Regular Meeting - January 7, 2020 

B. Regular Meeting - January 21, 2020 

C. Work Session - January 27, 2020 

 
Vote: Voice vote showed:  AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Amoroso and Commissioners 

Maxwell, Hardy and Robinson.  NAYS:  None. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA: (public comment allowed during Public Participation of Non-

Agendaed items) 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner Maxwell and seconded by Vice Mayor Amoroso to approve 

the Consent Agenda. 

 

A. Work Order #7 with JW Cheatham for the District 3, Year 4 Pushbutton Neighborhood 

Road Program Project 

 

B. Task Order #12 with Baxter Woodman, Inc. for the Construction Engineering and 

Inspection Services (CEI) for the District 3, Year 4 Neighborhood Road Program 

 

C. Agreement with Environmental Services, Inc. for Historic Resources Survey Update, 

Phase IV 

 

D. Resolution No 04-2020 – Amending the fees and charges schedule 

 

E. Purchase authorization for Quicklime from LHoist North America of Alabama, LLC for 

the Water Treatment Plant 

 

F. Authorize Amendment 3 to Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan Agreement 

DW501710 for the 2-inch watermain phases 1A and 2 replacement projects 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed:  AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Amoroso and Commissioners 

Maxwell, Hardy and Robinson.  NAYS:  None. 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

 

A. Appeal by Daniel Hiatt and Frederick Schmidt of PZB case # 19-00500004: approval by 

the Planning and Zoning Board (PZB) of a Conditional Use Permit at 1812 Aragon Avenue, 

Unit A 

 

Mayor Triolo read the title of the case into the record, that this was an appeal by Daniel 

Hiatt and Frederick Schmidt of PZB case number 19-00500004: approval by the Planning 

and Zoning Board of a Conditional Use Permit at 1812 Aragon Avenue, Unit A.  She 

announced that the meeting was a quasi-judicial hearing to hear an appeal pursuant to 

section 23.2-17 of the City’s Code of Ordinances.  She said that, as we had stated in other 

cases, because this was an appeal, no new evidence would be taken. The City and the 

appellants would be given ten minutes to make a presentation and thereafter, public 

comment would be allowed. 



Pg. 4, Regular Meeting, February 4, 2020 

Mayor Triolo asked if the Commissioners had had any ex parte communications, personal 

investigations or campaign contributions to disclose. 

 

Commissioner Robinson stated that he visited the site with Dan Hiatt. 

 

Vice Mayor Amoroso said that he had been to the site. 

 

Commissioner Hardy stated that he had been on the site and spoken with the appellant after 

the first meeting.  He said that he received campaign contributions from the appellant. 

 

Commissioner Maxwell reported that he had been on the site and spoken with Mr. Hiatt.  

He said that he received campaign contributions from the appellant. 

 

Mayor Triolo said that she drove by the site and had received campaign contributions from 

the appellant. 

 

Mayor Triolo told all those giving testimony, presenting or speaking under public comment 

to stand, raise their right hands, face City Clerk Deborah Andrea, and be sworn-in.  City 

Clerk Andrea swore in all those giving testimony and announced that those testifying 

should state their names and addresses for the record and whom they represented, if 

applicable. 

 

Mayor Triolo told Community Sustainability staff to give their ten-minute presentation. 

 

Mark Stivers, Community Sustainability Deputy Director, gave the background regarding 

the original request to the PZB for a conditional use permit to operate a 4400 square foot 

fabrication service excluding retail display and sales for fabricating stone countertops, 

which was approved on October 2, 2019.  Mr. Stivers presented the timeline of the 

business, the site and floor plans and the lengthy conditions of approval.  He reported that 

the City had received a notice of appeal from Mr. Hiatt and Mr. Schmidt on November 21, 

2019 and the Basis of Appeal on December 5.  He stated that the business was consistent 

with the Comp and Strategic Plans as well as specific standards for all conditional uses and 

industrial/manufacturing facilities design and performance standards. 

 

Mayor Triolo stated that the applicant could make its presentation, which could be no 

longer than ten minutes. 

 

Jason Bono spoke on the owners’ behalf.  He said that the appeal letter stated that the 

requirements were not met, but they were; the application was complete and had met all 

requirements.  He stated that there were no residential neighborhoods within 400 feet of 

the location and if they had to keep their bay doors closed, then all other owners in the 

industrial park should do so.  He iterated that wet saws were used to keep the dust down 

and they had met every demand, except for the fence and the business license, which were 

on hold pending the outcome of the hearing. 

 

Mayor Triolo stated that the appellants could now make their presentation, which could be no 

longer than ten minutes.  All other persons would be heard under public comment. 

 

Frederick Schmidt said that he was a resident of Lake Worth Beach, the owner and broker 

of Cornerstone Realty and an industrial expert with knowledge of the impact of different 

industrial tenants on neighboring properties, especially granite shops.   He opined that the 



Pg. 5, Regular Meeting, February 4, 2020 

 

good volunteers of PZB did not understand granite shops issues.  He stated that the 

fabrication shop was within several feet of their building and that the Conditional Use 

process was to assure the appropriateness and compatibility of the use and the standards 

that it must meet.  He requested that the Commission overturn the approval of the 

conditional use permit for the granite shop. 

 

Daniel Hiatt said that the site inspections had not been accurate; no one had studied the 

permit history so the owner had built out the site without one and that the mess making had 

been going on for four years.  He stated that the owner had a token tenant to turn the electric 

on through the back door and the representative was not a zoning lawyer and had only been 

hired to get the project approved.  He reported that the owner still had not complied with 

the ten items on the list from the last hearing and that the Applicant still did not had a 

license. 

 

Mayor Triolo asked if any member of the public wished to make a public comment, which 

would be limited to two minutes per current policy. 

 

Sherrie Schmidt said that she was associated with the affected party and that the tenants of 

the building had been compatible with the regulations and zoning of the City, but the 

granite business was not compatible. 

 

Archie Kleopfer said that the business was not compatible with the area and was 

concerning for health reasons. 

 

Christopher Bild said that he had an automobile business and stated that there was constant 

dust on the vehicles, which was affecting his business. 

 

Michael Glaser reported that he was a commercial real estate broker serving on the 

Planning and Zoning Board and expressed great concern about the health issue arising from 

the dust from the granite. 

 

Dennis Bucell stated that he had been in the location for 22 years working on high-end 

cars, the granite dust was causing damage, and health effects were a concern. 

 

Joe Sciouti spoke on behalf of the owner, saying that he had done everything asked of him 

and if the Commission closed him down, they should close down every other granite shop 

in that area. 

 

Mayor Triolo asked if the Commissioners had questions for staff, the applicant or the 

appellants. 

 

1. Vice Mayor Amoroso asked how long the owner had worked without a license, who 

owned the building, whose name was on the utilities and how did they get power 

without a license. 

 

Mr. Stivers said that there had not been a license since 2015, Kadassa was the owner 

and the power was in Kadassa’s name and had been turned on before the “no lights, no 

power” law went into effect. 

 



Pg. 6, Regular Meeting, February 4, 2020 

Vice Mayor Amoroso asked where the water run-off went, where it was held, how 

seepage might happen and if the EPA had been called.  He expressed concern about 

health and safety regarding the water run-off and the silt. 

 

Mr. Stivers responded that he did not have information about the water and that he had 

not called the EPA. 

 

Mr. Bono explained that the water and silt went into a water catchment basin where the 

silt settled to the bottom and the water was recycled, then the debris was emptied by 

hand into a roll-off dumpster, which was disposed of at a construction waste site. 

 

Mr. Stivers said that the dumpster had to be on site and was currently in the right of 

way. 

 

2. Commissioner Hardy stated that the “no greater harm” policy in the Code included a 

standard that a building had to be in harmony with existing property.  He asked about 

the dust created by the granite cutting. 

 

Mr. Bono replied that the dust might not be from his area but could not say with 

certainty that it was not all his dust. 

 

Commissioner Hardy asked about having the site pressure cleaned. 

 

Mr. Bono responded that the inside was cleaned daily and mopped two or three times 

a week.  He stated that there was only dust during polishing, and the wet screens were 

to contain the dust. 

 

Commissioner Hardy asked Mr. Bono if they had complied with the condition of 

outdoor storage and that all parking was supposed to be on site.  

 

Mr. Bono said that some employees parked on the street.  He stated that they were 

waiting until the appeal was decided to comply with the dumpster issue. 

 

3. Commissioner Robinson asked if the shop on Barnett had required a conditional use 

permit.  

 

Mr. Bono replied that there were no conditional use requirements nor regulations 

requiring an inspection because the space was smaller. 

 

Commissioner Robinson asked if the City could give the owner 60 days to get into 

compliance as a viable business in an industrial area. 

 

City Attorney Goddeau said that there were three options; grant the appeal, deny the 

appeal or remand it back to PZB with directions of what should be addressed.  She 

stated that the Commission was looking at the criteria for granting this type of 

conditional use permit. 

 

Commissioner Robinson asked if the owner would be fined if there was no license after 

the 21st and opined that the City should enforce the existing “no license” requirements.  

 

4. Commissioner Maxwell asked Mr. Bono what capacity he worked in at the site.  



Pg. 7, Regular Meeting, February 4, 2020 

 

Mr. Bono stated that he worked for Integrity First, which had a business license; he had 

just moved in and got a license for the construction company for the office area. 

 

Commissioner Maxwell went over the timeline for the business and asked why a license 

was not issued in 2015.  

 

Mr. Stivers responded that he did not know why the license was not issued. 

 

Commissioner Maxwell asked the Applicant why he had waited for two years to get a 

license. 

 

Mr. Sciouti translated for Mr. Arias who said that it had been an ongoing process but 

some inspections had been delayed.  He said that there was a language barrier; Mr. 

Arias’ intention was to get a license. 

 

Commissioner Maxwell asked if there had been a permit for the fence being in the right 

of way. 

 

Mr. Sciouti replied that the City approved the permit for the fence based on a drawing 

from the owner. 

 

Mr. Stivers stated that staff relied on the site plan and approved the permit, which 

turned out to inaccurate as the dumpster was in the right of way. 

 

Mr. Sciouti said that it would be easy to move the fence. 

 

Commissioner Maxwell asked if there were any code violations. 

 

Mr. Stivers replied that the fence was not in compliance and the business was not 

permitted. 

 

Commissioner Maxwell opined that the owner had not played by the rules nor done 

enough.  He expressed concern about the gate not being closed all the time, which was 

a condition, and that the impact should not be greater than that made by the neighbors. 

 

5. Mayor Triolo asked if wet saws had always been used or were purchased after 

complaints about the dust, about the installation of the drainage system and if the wet 

curtain system was used all the time. 

 

Mr. Sciouti replied that the smaller wet saws were purchased after the complaints.  He 

stated that someone from the sewer department came out to inspect and said the 

drainage system was in compliance.  He said that the wet system was always used, as 

the employees did not want to breathe in the dust either. 

 

Mayor Triolo said that there were several granite shops on the other side of 10th Avenue 

but they were not near other types of businesses.  She asked staff if the spray booths 

had to be completely sealed and if there were any DEP regulations. 

 

Mr. Stivers responded that the DEP stipulated any type of business that created dust 

must maintain a healthy environment. 



Pg. 8, Regular Meeting, February 4, 2020 

Mayor Triolo asked the Appellant if they had noted a difference since the wet system 

was installed. 

 

Mr. Hiatt said no, it had not gotten better. 

 

6. Commissioner Hardy asked the applicant who was engaged in business activity on the 

site. 

 

Mr. Bono stated that the applicant was Kadassa and all the employees worked for 

Kadassa.  He said that he had been asked to get involved to help with licensing. 

 

Commissioner Hardy asked if there a permit for the fence. 

 

Mr. Bono stated that he filled out the application and Felipe Lofaso, Public Works 

Assistant Director, came out and looked at the dumpster location. 

 

Discussion ensued regarding the documentation that was submitted regarding the 

placement of the fence. 

 

7. Commissioner Maxwell inquired what happened when the slurry dried and if the slurry 

would create a problem if it got into the storm system. 

 

Mr. Sciouti replied that slurry was dried dust that became a hard clay-like substance 

and there was run-off every place in the county due to construction. 

 

Mayor Triolo asked for a motion, stating that the considerations substantiating the decision 

shall be documented. 

 

The meeting recessed at 8:39 PM and reconvened at 8:49 PM. 

 

Action: Motion made by Commissioner Hardy and seconded by Commissioner Maxwell to grant the 

appeal on the grounds that: the conditional use exactly as proposed will result in greater harm 

than would result from use of the property from some use permitted by right or some other 

conditional use permitted on the property.  I have to provide reasons according to our Code 

and the law.  Basically, they have to show evidence that their use, exactly as proposed, won’t 

cause greater harm and I didn’t find that in the record, I found evidence to the contrary and in 

the record there was a bit of a back and forth between Mr. Hiatt, who’s the Appellant, and  the 

Applicant and this was at the August 7th meeting.  Mr. Hiatt said screening won’t dissipate the 

dust and that there’s dust outside on the road near the drain. Staff showed us pictures of dust 

on the road and the drain.  That’s greater harm than would exist from any use permitted by 

right, dust running out into the street, dust running out into the drain. The Applicant himself 

said that despite his best efforts, and I’m just quoting him from the minutes, he said it’s 

impossible to contain all the dust.  Just on those grounds alone, I am going to move to grant 

the appeal. 

 

Commissioner Maxwell seconded the motion because he agreed with Commissioner 

Hardy.  He stated his observations when he was out at the site; there was a lot of dust 

everywhere he turned, a trail of slurry ran from their driveway to the storm drain and the 

drain was filled with white slurry.  He stated that the conditions had not been met fully. 

 

Commissioner Robinson agreed with the other Commissioners and said that the 



Pg. 9, Regular Meeting, February 4, 2020 

 

involvement with the City was flawed and that the dumpster issued should be rectified. 

 

Mayor Triolo stated that there were issues in communication between the Applicant and 

the City and the regulations should be tightened on these types of facilities.  She said that 

she appreciated that the Applicant did take steps to make improvements, but she agreed 

with her fellow Commissioners and the law. 

 

Commissioner Hardy said that there had been some breakdown of communication between 

the Applicant and the general contractor and the City following its procedures.  He reported 

that he had observed several issues not in compliance, including the gate being open, the 

three bays had curtains that were not wet and the ground was covered with dust. He stated 

that there was a complete disregard for City rules and regulations. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed:  AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Amoroso and Commissioners 

Maxwell, Hardy and Robinson.  NAYS:  none. 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 

There were no Unfinished Business items on the agenda. 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

A. (added and reordered) Second Amendment to the Incentive Agreement with The Mid 

 

Action:  Motion made by Commissioner Hardy and seconded by Vice Mayor Amoroso to approve the 

Second Amendment to the Economic Development Incentive Agreement with The Mid and 

authorize Mayor Triolo to sign the same. 

 

Mayor Triolo announced that this was the time for public comment.  No one from the 

public spoke. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed:  AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Amoroso and Commissioners 

Maxwell, Hardy and Robinson.  NAYS:  none. 

 

B. (reordered) US-1 Multimodal Corridor Study 
 

Action:  This item was moved to the February 18, 2020, meeting. 

 

CITY ATTORNEY'S REPORT:  

 

City Attorney Goddeau did not provide a report. 

 

CITY MANAGER'S REPORT: 

 

Commissioner Maxwell asked the City Manager to give a report on shopping carts, graffiti and 

piles of garbage and said that citizens should have pride in the environment. 

 

City Manager Bornstein reported that: 

 

 The graffiti was being handled by the Sheriff’s office and the man who had tagged 

many buildings had been arrested but was now out on the streets again. 



Pg. 10, Regular Meeting, February 4, 2020 

 City employees were looking out for shopping carts and the issue of piles of garbage 

would be brought back soon. 

 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 

Action:  Motion made by Commissioner Hardy and seconded by Vice Mayor Amoroso to adjourn the 

meeting at 9:10 PM. 

 

Vote: Voice vote showed:  AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Amoroso and Commissioners 

Maxwell, Hardy and Robinson.  NAYS:  None. 

 

 

____________________________ 

Pam Triolo, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Deborah M. Andrea, CMC, City Clerk 

 

Minutes Approved: March 3, 2020 

 

A digital audio recording of this meeting will be available in the Office of the City Clerk. 

 



EXECUTIVE BRIEF 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

 
AGENDA DATE: March 3, 2020 DEPARTMENT: Community Sustainability 

 

TITLE: 

Award of continuing services contract to Anchors Emergency Board-Up Service, Inc. for board 
and secure services 

 
SUMMARY: 

Following a competitive selection process by West Palm Beach (ITB No. 18-19-136), West Palm 
Beach awarded a board and secure contract to Contractor valid through October 22, 2024 
unless extended. This is an award of continuing services which will expire October 22, 2024 
 

BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 

Boarding and securing of vacant structures within the City limits is a priority for the City’s Code 
Compliance and Building Division as well as the Palm Beach Sheriff’s Office (PBSO).  Many 
abandoned, foreclosed structures present a life safely hazard and attract community nuisances.  
Code Compliance efforts have not resulted in the private undertaking of boarding and securing 
properties and the City is forced to undertake action at the public’s expense. 
 

MOTION: 

Move to approve/disapprove a continuing services professional contract with Anchors Board-
Up Service, Inc for board and secure services. 
 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

Fiscal Impact Analysis  
Agreement  

 
 

  



 

 

FISCAL IMPACT ANALYSIS 

 

A. Five Year Summary of Fiscal Impact: 

 
Fiscal Years 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 
 
Capital Expenditures 0 0 0 0 0 
Operating Expenditures 30,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 
External Revenues 0 0 0 0 0 
Program Income 0 0 0 0 0 
In-kind Match  0 0 0 0 0 
 
Net Fiscal Impact 0 0 0 0 0 
 
No. of Addn’l Full-Time 
Employee Positions 0 0 0 0 0 

 

B. Recommended Sources of Funds/Summary of Fiscal Impact: 

 

 
 

C. Department Fiscal Review:_________ 

Account Number Account 
Description 

Project 
Number 

FY20 
Budget 

Current 
Balance 

Agenda 
Expenditure 

Balance 
 

       

160-2040-515.31-
86 

Professional 
Services/Boardups 

N/A 30,000 15,390   



_______ _____________

AGREEMENT FOR BOARD AND SECURE SERVICES
(Utilizing the City of West Palm Beach Contract)

THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement” hereafter) is made as of the day of
2020, by and between the CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, 7 N. Dixie Highway, Lake Worth, FL
33460, a municipal corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida, (“CITY”
hereafter), and ANCHORS EMERGENCY BOARD-UP SERVICES, INC., 401 SE 3rd Terrace, Dania
Beach, FL 34004, a Florida corporation (“CONTRACTOR” hereafter).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the CITY desires to hire the CONTRACTOR to perform boarding and securing services
for vacant structures throughout the City of Lake Worth Beach; and,

WHEREAS, on October 23, 2019, the City of West Palm Beach awarded a contract for board and
secure services under Invitation to Bid (ITB) #18-19-136 to the CONTRACTOR (the “City of West Palm
Beach Contract”); and,

WHEREAS, the CITY has requested and the CONTRACTOR (along with the City of West Palm
Beach) has agreed to extend the terms and conditions of the City of West Palm Beach Contract to the CITY
for board and secure services ; and,

WHEREAS, the CITY has reviewed the schedule of bid items from the City of West Palm Beach
Contract (attached as Exhibit A) and determined that the City of West Palm Beach Contract and fee rate
schedule prices are competitive and will result in the best value to the CITY.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises set forth herein, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Recitals. The parties agree that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are fully
incorporated herein by reference.

2. City of West Palm Beach Contract. The City of West Palm Beach Contract (which includes the
amendments executed by the City of West Palm Beach and the CONTRACTOR) and the City of West
Palm Beach ITB are hereby incorporated by reference into and expressly made a part of this Agreement as
if set forth at length herein. The term of this Agreement shall be consistent with the term of the City of
West Palm Beach Contract valid until October 22, 2024 unless extended.

3. Purchase Orders. The CITY’s ordering mechanism for the work under this Agreement shall be a
CITY issued Purchase Order; however, in the event of a conflict, all contractual terms and conditions
stated herein and as stated in the City of West Palm Beach Contract shall take precedence over the
terms and conditions stated in the CtTY issued Purchase Order. The CONTRACTOR shall not provide
any work under this Agreement without a CITY issued Purchase Order specifically for the purpose
stated in the Purchase Order, which shall include the applicable statement of work. The
CONTRACTOR shall not perform work which is outside the scope of an issued Purchase Order and
the CONTRACTOR shalt not exceed the expressed amounts stated in the Purchase Order to be paid to
the CONTRACTOR. The pricing in each Purchase Order shall be consistent with the pricing set forth
in the City of West Palm Beach Contract. Each issued Purchase Order shall be incorporated into this
Agreement and made a part hereof.

Page 1 of 7



4. Conflict of Terms and Conditions. Conflicts between documents that make up this Agreement shall be
resolved in the following order of precedence:

a. This Agreement;
b. The City of West Palm Beach Contract; and,
c. The City issued Purchase Order.

5. Compensation to CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall submit invoices to the CITY for review and
approval by the CITY’s representative, indicating that all goods and services have been provided and
rendered in conformity with this Agreement and then will be sent to the Finance Department for payment.
Invoices will normally be paid within thirty (30) days following the CITY representative’s approval.
CONTRACTOR waives consequential or incidental damages for claims, disputes or other matters in
question arising out of or relating to this Agreement. In order for both parties herein to close their books
and records, CONTRACTOR will clearly state “final invoice” on the CONTRACTOR’s final/last billing
to the CITY. This certifies that all services have been properly performed and all charges have been invoiced
to the CITY. Since this account will thereupon be closed, any and other further charges if not properly
included in this final invoice are waived by the CONTRACTOR. The CITY will not be liable for any
invoice from the CONTRACTOR submitted thirty (30) days after the provision of all services.

A. The CITY agrees to compensate the CONTRACTOR in accordance with the schedule of BID Items set
forth in Exhibit “A” provided that, the maximum amount not to exceed under this Agreement shall
be Thirty-Five Thousand Dollars (S35,000.OO) annually. The CITY shall not reimburse the
CONTRACTOR for any additional costs incurred as a direct or indirect result of the CONTRACTOR
providing services to the CITY under this Agreement and not set forth in Exhibit “A”.

6. Miscellaneous Provisions.

A. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida. Any and all legal action necessary
to enforce this Agreement will be held in Palm Beach County. No remedy herein conferred upon any
party is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, and each and every such remedy shall be
cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing
at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise. No single or partial exercise by any party of any right,
power, or remedy hereunder shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof.

B. Except for any obligation of the CONTRACTOR to indemnify the CITY, if any legal action or other
proceeding is brought for the enforcement of this Agreement, or because of an alleged dispute, breach,
default or misrepresentation in connection with any provisions of this Agreement, each party shall be
liable and responsible for their own attorney’s fees incurred in that enforcement action, dispute, breach,
default or misrepresentation. FURTHER, TO ENCOURAGE PROMPT AND EQUITABLE
RESOLUTION Of ANY LITIGATION, EACH PARTY HEREBY WAIVES ITS RIGHTS TO A
TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LITIGATION RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT.

C. If any term or provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person or circumstances
shall, to any extent, be held invalid or unenforceable, to remainder of this Agreement, or the application
of such terms or provision, to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid
or unenforceable, shall not be affected, and every other term and provision of this Agreement shall be
deemed valid and enforceable to the extent permitted by law.

D. All notices required in this Agreement shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested or by
nationalLy recognized overnight courier, and sent to the addresses appearing on the first page of this
Agreement.

Page 2 of 7



E. The CITY and the CONTRACTOR agree that this Agreement (and the other documents described
herein) sets forth the entire agreement between the parties, and that there are no promises or
understandings other than those stated herein. None of the provisions, terms and conditions contained
in this Agreement may be added to, modified, superseded or otherwise altered, except by written
instrument executed by the parties hereto. Any provision of this Agreement which is of a continuing
nature or imposes an obligation which extends beyond the term of this Agreement shall survive its
expiration or earlier termination.

F. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an
original, and will become effective and binding upon the parties as of the effective date at such
time as all the signatories hereto have signed a counterpart of this Agreement.

G. If any term or provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof to any person or circumstances
shall, to any extent, be held invalid or unenforceable, to remainder of this Agreement, or the
application of such terms or provision, to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it
is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected, and every other term and provision of this
Agreement shall be deemed valid and enforceable to the extent permitted by law.

H. This Agreement shall not be construed more strongly against either party regardless of who was
more responsible for its preparation.

In accordance with Palm Beach County ordinance number 2011-009, the CONTRACTOR
acknowledges that this Agreement may be subject to investigation and/or audit by the Palm Beach
County Inspector General. The CONTRACTOR has reviewed Palm Beach County ordinance
number 201 1-009 and is aware of its rights and/or obligations under such ordinance.

J. PUBLIC RECORDS. The Contractor shall comply with Florida’s Public Records Act, Chapter
119, Florida Statutes, and, if determined to be acting on behalf of the City as provided under section
119.011(2), Florida Statutes, specifically agrees to:

1. Keep and maintain public records required by the City to perform the service.

2. Upon request from the City’s custodian of public records or designee, provide the City with
a copy of the requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a reasonable
time at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, or as otherwise
provided by law.

3. Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records
disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law for the duration of this
Agreement and following completion of this Agreement if the Contractor does not transfer the
records to the City.

4. Upon completion of this Agreement, transfer, at no cost, to the City all public records in
possession of the Contractor or keep and maintain public records required by the City to perform
the service. If the Contractor transfers all public records to the City upon completion of the
Agreement, the Contractor shall destroy any duplicate public records that are exempt or
confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements. If the Contractor keeps and
maintains public records upon completion of the Agreement, the Contractor shall meet all
applicable requirements for retaining public records. All records stored electronically must be

Page 3 of 7



provided to the City, upon request from the City’s custodian of public records or designee, in a
format that is compatible with the information technology systems of the City.

IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE
CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, PLEASE CONTACT THE
CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS OR DESIGNEE AT THE CITY
OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, ATTN: DEBBIE ANDREA, AT (561) 586-
1662, DANDREA@LAKEWORTHBEACHFL.GOV, 7 N. DIXIE
HIGHWAY, LAKE WORTH, FL 33460.

K. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES.

1. Contractor certifies that it and its subcontractors are not on the Scrutinized Companies that
Boycott Israel List and are not engaged in the boycott of Israel. Pursuant to section 287.135, Florida
Statutes, the City may immediately terminate this Agreement at its sole option if the Contractor or
any of its subcontractors are found to have submitted a false certification; or if the Contractor or
any of its subcontractors, are placed on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List or is
engaged in the boycott of Israel during the term of this Agreement.

2. If this Agreement is for one million dollars or more, the Contractor certifies that it and its
subcontractors are also not on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List, Scrutinized
Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or engaged in business
operations in Cuba or Syria as identified in Section 287.135, Florida Statutes. Pursuant to Section
287.135, the City may immediately terminate this Agreement at its sole option if the Contractor, or
any of its subcontractors are found to have submitted a false certification; or if the Contractor or
any of its subcontractors are placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List, or
Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or are or have
been engaged with business operations in Cuba or Syria during the term of this Agreement.

3. The Contractor agrees to observe the above requirements for applicable subcontracts
entered into for the performance of work under this Agreement.

4. The Contractor agrees that the certifications in this section shall be effective and relied
upon by the City for the term of this Agreement, including any and all renewals.

5. The Contractor agrees that if it or any of its subcontractors’ status changes in regards to
any certification herein, the Contractor shall immediately notify the City of the same.

6. As provided in Subsection 287.135(8), Florida Statutes, if federal law ceases to authorize
the above-stated contracting prohibitions then they shall become inoperative.

Page 4 of 7



________________________ ____________________________________________________ __________________________________________ ____________________________________

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have made and executed this Agreement for
Board and Secure Services on the day and year first above written.

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, FLORIDA
ATTEST:

By: By:
Deborah M. Andrea, City Clerk Pam Triolo, Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND APPROVED FOR FINANCIAL
LEGAL SUFFICIENCY: SUFFICIENCY

By: By:
Glen J. Torcivia, City Attorney Bruce T. Miller, financial Services Director
/mpa

CONTRACTOR: ANCHORS EMERGENCY BOARD-UP
SERVIC

By:

[Corporate Seal] Print Name:1(cAJ 4. 4V(//y?I

Title: 2’4xT

STATE OF
COUNTY Of

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this day of ZY , 2020,
by (v L F L-’,c-5 , who was physically present, as &-_xz\ (title), of
Anchors Emergency Board-Up Services, Inc., which is authorized to do business in the State of
Florida, and who is personally kiown tqme or who has produced the following

Notary Public

as

Print Name:
My commission expires:___________________

ONS
tery public - Stdte of Florida

Commission GG 333139
My Comm. Expires Jul 13, 2023

oreC throi.jh ationaI Notary Assn.

Page 5 of 7



EXHIBIT A

Vt ‘.7 IA1 1.t itt *1. II

(B3)
ITB 18-19-136, Muter Contract for Board & Secure Services

SCHEDULE OF BID ITEMS

1115 the intent of the City to enter Into a single or multiple sgr,ements) with one or multiple contractor(s) to provide
board and secure eskee, as is determIned to best serve the interests of the City.

There is no obligation on the pert of the City to award the bid to me lowest priced bidder, and the City reserves the
tight to award the contract to the bidder subnitong the best ovetal responsive bid which is most advantageous end
In the bestinterest of the City In acheving the board and secure servicaL and towaive any giarityortecflnic.Ity
in the bids received The City aliaS b. the sole judge of the bids and the resultIng agreement that Is in its beet
interest and hi decIsion shalt be itnal

The Contractor shall Mitish all Iniplementa, machinery, equipment. meispottsbon, tools, materials supp5es, abc?
and incidentals necessary for the peilormance and comebon of the wa& The contract ahaS be for a period five
(5) year wit!, a firm pnce for the anti. tm of ma contract for the services.

Unit ofNo Description Fixed Cost
M.asur.m.nt

1 Window opening, size 36’W x 48”h per opening

Window opening, smaller than ——

per opening2

36’ x 48’ H ,3 ——__________

Window opening, larger than
36” x 48’ H - 7, Ôô opening

4 Exterior door opening per opening

5 Garage opening. 9W x T H (single) per opening

6
Garage opening, 16 Wx 7’ H

I (double) QiJ per penng

7 Single awning type window per opening

8 Window NC cutout per opening

1 Double picture window per opening

10 Sliding glass door, standard opening per opening

Frame OU fly windoW. door, sic
per linear foot‘

opening. etc. 3, )
Over size opening

per square footnot specified above
—______________

Re-board service
wtiere plywood still good /10’ C)J

per hour, labor only

AAcH’w.. M€6”7

BldderCompanyuanw: R’iit’.i- iP SRiS,TAlnht1aI: /A

Page 6 of 7



WF5I PAtM 6F.A(l-t

(B3)
ITB 16-19.136, Master Contract for Board 8 S.cur. ServiCes

SCHEDULE OF BID ITEMS

Oth.r Related Costs

Bidder shaH list at other cast related to securing services which may not be outlined above. or be outside
the listed services (is. oversized apertures, special conditions, dc) and the method at pricing

A.4JY t) 4 t) iTh ‘ LctjfZc ci

fMCJ!7 Sf2itfce Cit’t tS44,l,z ,‘) t

FME!Jcvcr <1LJke ,4’/ C Prxf Akr) 4

EMtiay fRiltci c,,u ,

LcUIPCcA)Cz?- iL1’ CA’L. I ,*,1rn4,w) ‘

7O aPF,j &/JfJCS F 7A.’3,€71bJ i fCO,O Moc.e

2 MoLt Ml.*JrAa4 7Nf 77M/ jt..tc MiIE pcAWo/ 7.
7T$E WE RITP.’J. j f*.AttF - i.e.

Bidder Company Name: AAkst. EMEP.t- ‘A1O -t s’ALL r%

Authorized Signature: .1 Date 7tf.. 1? ‘q

Print Name: K(W/’ I-. AAfI,S Title: f_Qjr9fA11

Bid Proposal must be signed in ink by an agent of the company having authority to bid the
contractor. FaIlure to sign the bid proposal shah be cause for rejection.

Page 7 of 7



EXECUTIVE BRIEF 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

 
AGENDA DATE: March 3, 2020  DEPARTMENT: Leisure Services  

 

TITLE: 

Resolution No. 07-2020 – approving Amendment 001 to the CDBG Agreement for the 
development of the Royal Poinciana neighborhood park 

 
SUMMARY: 

The resolution approves Amendment 001 to the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 
Agreement R2019-1764 between Palm Beach County and the City for the development of the 
Royal Poinciana neighborhood park.  The amendment increases the allocation of CDBG funds 
for the project by $54,678.89 to $290,678.89.  The amendment also modifies the monthly 
performance requirements for specific task benchmarks associated with the project. 

 

BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 

On October 1, 2019, Palm Beach County and the City entered into an Agreement R2019-1764 
for the provision of $235,870 in FY 2019-2020 CDBG funds for the acquisition of land and 
construction of improvement to create a park in the Royal Poinciana neighborhood.  Accordingly, 
the City intends to acquire vacant land from Our Savior Evangelical Lutheran Church on South 
B Street for this purpose.  In addition, the City has purchased a vacant lot adjacent to the Church 
property from the County’s Lands Available inventory. 

Resolution No. 07-2020 approves Amendment 001 to the CDBG Project Agreement to 
reallocate $54,678.89 in FY 2018-2019 CDBG funds not utilized for the previous year’s CDBG 
Agreement R2018-1580 for the City’s code compliance activity.  The amendment also modifies 
the monthly performance requirements for the development of the park to more accurately 
reflect the current status of the project. 

 

MOTION: 

Move to approve/disapprove Resolution No. 07-2020 to approve Amendment 001 to the CDBG 
Agreement R2019-1764 for the development of the Royal Poinciana neighborhood park 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

Fiscal Impact Analysis 
Resolution 07-2020 
Amendment 001 
 

  



 

 

FISCAL IMPACT ANALYSIS 

 

A. Five Year Summary of Fiscal Impact: 

 
Fiscal Years 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 
 
Capital Expenditures 54,678.89 0 0 0 0 
Operating Expenditures 0 0 0 0 0 
External Revenues 54,678.89 0 0 0 0 
Program Income 0 0 0 0 0 
In-kind Match  0 0 0 0 0 
 
Net Fiscal Impact 0 0 0 0 0 
 
No. of Addn’l Full-Time 
Employee Positions 0 0 0 0 0 

 

B. Recommended Sources of Funds/Summary of Fiscal Impact: 

 
Account 
Number 

Account 
Description 

Project 
Number 

FY20 Budget Current 
Balance 

Agenda 
Expenditure 

Balance 
 

180-0000-
331.70-00 

Fed Grant 
Culture/Rec 

FG 2002 $235,870 $235,870 $54,678.89 $290,548.89 

180-9700-
539.63-15 

Infrastructure FG2002 $235,870 $235,870 $54,678.89 $290,549.89 

 

 

C. Department Fiscal Review:_________ 



07-2020 1 
 2 
RESOLUTION NO. 07-2020 OF THE CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, FLORIDA, 3 

APPROVING AMENDMENT 001 TO THE AGREEMENT R2019-1764 BETWEEN PALM 4 
BEACH COUNTY AND THE CITY INCREASING THE AMOUNT OF COMMUNITY 5 
DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT FUNDS BY $54,678.89 TO $290,678.89 FOR THE 6 
ACQUISITION OF REAL PROPERTY AND CONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVEMENTS 7 
FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE ROYAL POINCIANA NEIGHBORHOOD PARK; 8 

MODIFYING PROJECT TASK BENCHMARK DATES SET FORTH IN THE 9 
AGREEMENT; AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT AND 10 
ALL RELATED DOCUMENTS; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR 11 
OTHER PURPOSES. 12 

 13 

 WHEREAS, the City desires to acquire vacant real property on South B Street 14 

between Lake Avenue and 1st Avenue South for the development of a park in the Royal 15 

Poinciana neighborhood; and 16 
 17 
 WHEREAS, Palm Beach County and the City entered into Agreement R2019-1764 18 

to provide $235,870 in Fiscal Year 2019-2020 Fiscal Year Community Development Block 19 
Grant (CDBG) funds that have been made available to the City for this purpose; and 20 

 21 
 WHEREAS, the City has requested the reallocation of $54,678.89 in FY 2018-22 
2019 not used under the previous year’s Agreement R2018-1580 for code enforcement 23 

activities; and 24 
 25 

 WHEREAS, Amendment 001 to the Agreement R2019-1764 reallocates this 26 
funding to the development of the Royal Poinciana neighborhood park and modifies 27 

project task benchmark dates that more accurately reflect the current status of the project 28 
; and 29 
 30 

 WHEREAS, the Palm Beach County has prepared Amendment 001 to the 31 
Agreement R2019-1764 that sets forth the terms and conditions for the use of these 32 

CDBG funds for this project; and 33 
 34 
 WHEREAS, the City desires to enter into Amendment 001 to Agreement R2019-35 

1764 with Palm Beach County for the purpose of the development of a park in the Royal 36 

Poinciana neighborhood. 37 
 38 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF LAKE 39 

WORTH, FLORIDA, that: 40 
 41 
SECTION 1:  The City Commission of the City of Lake Worth Beach, Florida, hereby 42 
approves Amendment 001 to Agreement R2019-1764 between Palm Beach County and 43 
the City to increase the amount of CDBG funds for the acquisition of vacant land and 44 
construction of improvements for the development of the Royal Poinciana neighborhood 45 



Pg. 2, Reso. 07-2020 

park by $54,678.89 and to modify project task benchmark dates to more accurately reflect 46 
the current status of the project. 47 
 48 

SECTION 2: The City Commission of the City of Lake Worth Beach, Florida, hereby 49 
authorizes the Mayor to execute three originals of Amendment 001 to Agreement R2019-50 
1764 between Palm Beach County and the City and all related documents for this stated 51 
purpose.  52 
 53 

SECTION 3:  Upon execution of the resolution, one copy shall be forwarded to the Leisure 54 
Services Department Director.  The fully executed original shall be maintained by the City 55 
Clerk as a public record of the City. 56 
 57 

SECTION 4: This resolution shall become effective upon adoption. 58 
 59 

The passage of this resolution was moved by Commissioner _______________, 60 

seconded by Commissioner _________________, and upon being put to a vote, the 61 

vote was as follows: 62 

Mayor Pam Triolo  63 
Vice Mayor Andy Amoroso  64 
Commissioner Scott Maxwell  65 

Commissioner Omari Hardy  66 
Commissioner Herman Robinson  67 

 68 

The Mayor thereupon declared this resolution duly passed and adopted on the 3rd 69 

day of March, 2020.  70 

LAKE WORTH BEACH CITY COMMISSION 71 
 72 

 73 
By: __________________________ 74 

 Pam Triolo, Mayor 75 
 76 

ATTEST: 77 
 78 
 79 

________________________________ 80 
Deborah M. Andrea, CMC, City Clerk 81 







 

 

 

CITY OF Lake Worth Beach 

 

PROCLAMATION 
 

ARBOR DAY 

 
 

WHEREAS, In 1872, J. Sterling Morton proposed to the Nebraska Board of 

Agriculture that a special day be set aside for the planting of trees; 

and 
 

WHEREAS, The holiday, called Arbor Day, was first observed with the 

planting of more than a million trees in Nebraska; and  
 

WHEREAS,  Arbor Day is now observed throughout the nation and the world; 

and 
 

WHEREAS, Trees can reduce the erosion of our precious topsoil by wind and 

water, lower our heating and cooling costs, moderate the 

temperature, clean the air, produce oxygen and provide habitat for 

wildlife; and  
 

WHEREAS, Trees are a renewable resource, giving us paper, wood for our 

homes, fuel for our fires and countless other wood products; and  
 

WHEREAS, Trees in our city increase property values, enhance the economic 

vitality of business areas, and beautify our community; and  
 

WHEREAS, Trees, wherever they are planted, are a source of joy and spiritual 

renewal.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Pam Triolo, Mayor or the City of Lake Worth Beach, 

Florida, by virtue of the authority vested in me, do hereby proclaim: 
 

MARCH 14, 2020 

as 

ARBOR DAY 
 

and urge all citizens to celebrate Arbor Day and to support efforts to protect our 

trees and woodlands and to plant and care for trees to gladden the heart and promote 

the well-being of this and future generations. 
  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal of 

the City of Lake Worth,  Florida, to be affixed this 14th day of March, 2020. 

 
 ______________________________ 

 Pam Triolo, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Deborah M. Andrea, City Clerk 



CITY OF Lake Worth Beach 

 
 

PROCLAMATION 

 
 

WHEREAS,  The  City  of Lake Worth Beach recognizes the enormous 

contribution that volunteers and voluntary, 

community-based organizations make to the social, 

cultural and economic development of our City; and 

 

WHEREAS,  It has been recognized that the contributions made by 

volunteer hours result in a significant and positive impact 

on the quality of life of the residents of the City of Lake 

Worth Beach; and 

 

WHEREAS,  The City of Lake Worth Beach recognizes and shows its 

appreciation to all volunteers and encourage the 

continuation of volunteerism. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, I, Pam Triolo, Mayor of the City of Lake Worth 

Beach, Florida, by virtue of the authority vested in me,  

do hereby proclaim: 

 

APRIL 19-25, 2020 

as 

NATIONAL VOLUNTEER WEEK 

 

and  urge  all  residents  to  lend  their  time  and  skills to this 

worthwhile activity. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused 

the Seal of the City of Lake Worth Beach,  Florida, to be affixed this 

14th day of March, 2020. 

 

 
_____________________________ 

Pam Triolo, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________________ 

Deborah M. Andrea, City Clerk 

 



 

CITY OF Lake Worth Beach 

 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 

 

WHEREAS,  The lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender community is 

comprised of people from  all  walks  of  life  who  are  active  

participants  in  our  community; and 

 

WHEREAS,  Members of the lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender 

community are engaged in endeavors of economic growth, retail, 

education, hospitality, community,  professional and service 

industries; and  

 

WHEREAS,  The City of Lake Worth Beach has a proud history of striving for 

equal opportunity for all of its residents and employees; and in 

2007, the City entered into a groundbreaking public-private 

partnership with Compass, the LGBTQ Community Center of 

the Palm Beaches, to provide social support and health and 

wellness services, and a state-of-the-art community center for all 

residents by renovating a city-owned surplus building; and 

 

WHEREAS,  People seeking to limit any rights of the lesbian, gay, bi-sexual, 

transgender and queer community are in conflict with the City’s 

policies and anti-discrimination ordinances.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Andy Amoroso, Vice Mayor of the City of Lake Worth 

Beach, Florida, by virtue of the authority vested in me, do hereby proclaim 

 

MARCH 2020 

as 

PALM BEACH PRIDE MONTH 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal of 

the City of Lake Worth, Florida, to be affixed this 3rd day of March 2020. 

 
 __________________________________ 

 Andy Amoroso, Vice Mayor 

 

 
ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Deborah M. Andrea, City Clerk 



EXECUTIVE BRIEF 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
AGENDA DATE: March 3, 2020 DEPARTMENT: Financial Services  

 

TITLE:  

Payments of Fiscal Year 2019 Invoices 

 
SUMMARY: 

Authorization for payment of multiple outstanding invoices for goods and services provided in 
Fiscal Year 2019 not paid prior to the closure of the accounts for the fiscal year.  

 

BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 

Financial Services Division received multiple invoices for goods and services provided to City 
Departments during Fiscal Year 2019. Though the goods and services were approved and 
provided for in Fiscal Year 2019, the invoices for said goods and services provided by multiple 
Vendors were not paid prior to the Fiscal Year 2019’s books being closed.  As such, the payment 
for the services requires authorization of the use of Fiscal Year 2020 funds to cover the 
expenditures. 

The item provides for the necessary authorization by the City Commission to utilize Fiscal Year 
2020 funds in the amount of $30,530.44 to cover the expenses incurred and goods and services 
received in Fiscal Year 2019.  

 

MOTION: 

Move to approve/disapprove – Authorization of the use of Fiscal Year 2020 funds to pay for 
expenditures and services incurred in Fiscal Year 2019. 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

Fiscal Impact Analysis 
List of outstanding Invoices with accounts 

 
  



 
FISCAL IMPACT ANALYSIS 

 

A. Five Year Summary of Fiscal Impact: 

 
Fiscal Years 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 
 
Capital Expenditures 0 0 0 0 0 
Operating Expenditures $30,530.44 0 0 0 0 
External Revenues 0 0 0 0 0 
Program Income 0 0 0 0 0 
In-kind Match  0 0 0 0 0 
 
Net Fiscal Impact $ 0 0 0 0 
 
No. of Addn’l Full-Time 
Employee Positions 0 0 0 0 0 

 

B. Recommended Sources of Funds/Summary of Fiscal Impact: 

 
Account Number Account Description Project 

Number 
FY20 
Budget 

Current 
Balance 

Agenda 
Expenditure 

Balance 
 

       

       

 

C. Department Fiscal Review:_________ 



Company Name Invoice Number PO # GL Account Amount 

Canon Financial Services 20958456 177736 001-8061-572-47-00 $3,784.94
Phase Design Print Web 7611 Special Events 001-8063-572-48-00 $540.00

Advanced Alarm Services 78081 162383 001-5062-519-34-50 $180.00
Advanced Alarm Services 80598 162383 001-5062-519-34-50 $180.00
Advanced Alarm Services 76245 162383 001-5062-519-34-50 $90.00

The Davey Tree Expert Company 912776851 179899 401-6034-531-34-10 $15,277.12
Canon 20281454 177736 001-8062-572-44-20 $873.85
Canon 20057850 177736 001-8062-572-44-20 $186.23
Canon 19946923 177736 001-8062-572-44-20 $707.10
Canon 19614571 177736 001-8062-572-44-20 $710.30
Canon 19284078 177736 001-8062-572-44-20 $654.87
Canon 19284079 177736 001-8062-572-44-20 $458.91
Canon 19614572 177736 001-8062-572-44-20 $458.91
Canon 19946924 177736 001-8062-572-44-20 $458.91

Advanced Alarm Services 77279 178376 401-1240-513-4690 $105.00
Advanced Alarm Services 77190 178376 401-1240-513-4690 $870.00

QuatreD 54619 181624 401-6034-531-46-91 $306.24
Xerox Corporation 96142126 175248 401-6010-531-44-20 $265.12
Xerox Corporation 95848761 175248 401-6010-531-44-20 $265.12
Xerox Corporation 97914583 179601 401-6010-531-44-20 $185.62
Xerox Corporation 91706437 175286 401-1240-513-46-21 $229.04
Xerox Corporation 92041631 175286 401-1240-513-46-21 $229.04
Xerox Corporation 91372855 175286 401-1240-513-46-21 $229.04

Fastenal FLBOY34619 xx 401-6034-531-52-20 $576.08
Southern Awning Inc 1221 180978 001-5040-519-52-90 $2,469.00

PyeBarker Fire & Safety Inc. PSI112182 179447 402-7022-533-46-21 $80.00
PyeBarker Fire & Safety Inc. PSI128694 179447 402-7022-533-46-21 $80.00
PyeBarker Fire & Safety Inc. PSI143122 179447 402-7022-533-46-21 $80.00

$30,530.44



EXECUTIVE BRIEF 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

 
AGENDA DATE: March 3, 2020  DEPARTMENT: Public Works  

 

TITLE: 

Amendment #2 to the agreement with GT Supplies, Inc. for Fleet Services  

 
SUMMARY: 

Amendment #2 to the Agreement with GT Supplies authorizes the final contract renewal for the 
Fleet Services agreement 

 

BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 

The City entered into an agreement with GT Supplies, Inc. on March 29, 2016 for Fleet Services 
for the Solid Waste Division’s heavy equipment repairs and servicing.  On March 19, 2019 the 
City Commission authorized Amendment #1 which renewed the agreement for one year expiring 
on March 29, 2020.  The Second Amendment authorizes the final contract extension which will 
expire on March 29, 2021 at which time the contract will expire in its entirety.  The agreement 
for Fleet Services for GT Supplies, Inc. has a cost limit of not to exceed $80,000.00. 

 

MOTION: 

Move to approve/disapprove Amendment #2 to GT Supplies for the Fleet Services contract 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

Fiscal Impact Analysis 
Amendment #2 

  



 

 

FISCAL IMPACT ANALYSIS 

 

A. Five Year Summary of Fiscal Impact: 

 
Fiscal Years 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 
 
Capital Expenditures 0 0 0 0 0 
Operating Expenditures 80,000 40,000 0 0 0 
External Revenues 0 0 0 0 0 
Program Income 0 0 0 0 0 
In-kind Match  0 0 0 0 0 
 
Net Fiscal Impact 80,000 40,000 0 0 0 
 
No. of Addn’l Full-Time 
Employee Positions 0 0 0 0 0 

 

B. Recommended Sources of Funds/Summary of Fiscal Impact: 

 
Account 
Number 

Account 
Description 

Project 
Number 

FY20 Budget Current 
Balance 

Agenda 
Expenditure 

Balance 
 

       

410-5081-
534-46-27 

Heavy Equip 
External 
Repairs 

N/A 110,000 81,245 40,000 41,245 

410-5082-
534-46-27 

Heavy Equip 
External 
Repairs 

N/A 100,000 70,496 40,000 30,496 

 

 

C. Department Fiscal Review:_________ 



 

Page 1 of 3 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CONTRACT 

(FLEET SERVICES) 
 

 THIS SECOND AMENDMENT (“Amendment”) to the Fleet Services Contract is made 

as of the _____day of _______________, 2020, by and between the City of Lake Worth, Florida, 

a municipal corporation of the State of Florida (“CITY”) and GT Supplies, Inc., a Florida 

corporation, (“CONTRACTOR”). 

 

WHEREAS, the CITY issued a Request for Qualifications RFQ NO. 16-300 (hereinafter 

“RFQ”) to provide general automotive and heavy equipment services for the CITY’s fleet stock, 

(hereinafter the “Services”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the CONTRACTOR submitted a response to perform the Services described 

and set out in the RFQ and the CITY and CONTRACTOR entered into a contract for services on 

March 29, 2016 (the “Contract”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Contract has an initial three (3) year term and the option to renew for up 

to two (2) additional one (1) year renewals; and 

 

WHEREAS, the CITY and the CONTRACTOR wish to amend the Contract to renew the 

Contract for one additional year with all other terms, conditions and pricing remaining the same. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, the 

sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged by each party hereto, the CITY and the 

CONTRACTOR agree to amend the Contract, as follows: 

 

1. Recitals. The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by 

reference. 

 

2. Term of Contract. The parties agree that the term of the Contract is hereby 

amended to March 29, 2021.   

 

3.   Amount Not to Exceed.  The amount not to exceed for this renewal shall be 

$80,000.00.   

 

4. Entire Contract. The CITY and the CONTRACTOR agree that the Contract and 

this Amendment set forth the entire Contract between the parties, and that there are no promises 

or understandings other than those stated herein. None of the provisions, terms and conditions 

contained in this Amendment may be added to, modified, superseded or otherwise altered, except 

by written instrument executed by the parties hereto. All other terms and conditions of the Contract 

remain in full force and effect. 

 

5. Counterparts. This Amendment may be simultaneously executed in several 

counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the 

same instrument. Either or both parties may sign this Amendment via facsimile or email and such 

signature is as valid as the original signature of such party. 



 

Page 2 of 3 
 

6. Scrutinized Companies.  

 

6.1 CONTRACTOR certifies that it and its subcontractors are not on the Scrutinized 

Companies that Boycott Israel List and are not engaged in the boycott of Israel.  Pursuant to section 

287.135, Florida Statutes, the City may immediately terminate this Amendment at its sole option 

if the CONTRACTOR or any of its subcontractors are found to have submitted a false certification; 

or if the CONTRACTOR or any of its subcontractors, are placed on the Scrutinized Companies 

that Boycott Israel List or is engaged in the boycott of Israel during the term of this Amendment. 

 

6.2 If this Amendment is for one million dollars or more, the CONTRACTOR certifies 

that it and its subcontractors are also not on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan 

List, Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or engaged 

in business operations in Cuba or Syria as identified in Section 287.135, Florida Statutes.  Pursuant 

to Section 287.135, the City may immediately terminate this Agreement at its sole option if the 

CONTRACTOR, or any of its subcontractors  are found to have submitted a false certification; or 

if the CONTRACTOR or any of its subcontractors are placed on the Scrutinized Companies with 

Activities in Sudan List, or Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy 

Sector List, or are or have been engaged with business operations in Cuba or Syria during the term 

of this Agreement. 

 

6.3 The CONTRACTOR agrees to observe the above requirements for applicable 

subcontracts entered into for the performance of work under this Amendment. 

 

6.4 The CONTRACTOR agrees that the certifications in this section shall be effective 

and relied upon by the City for the term of this Agreement, including any and all renewals.  

 

6.5 The CONTRACTOR agrees that if it or any of its subcontractors ’ status changes 

in regards to any certification herein, the CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify the City of the 

same. 

 

6.6 As provided in Subsection 287.135(8), Florida Statutes, if federal law ceases to 

authorize the above stated contracting prohibitions then they shall become inoperative. 

 

 

REST OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW 

 



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Amendment 

to the Fleet Services Contract on the day and year first above written.   

      

 

 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH, FLORIDA 

 

 

      By:  _________________________________ 

               Pam Triolo, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________ 

Deborah M. Andrea, City Clerk 

 

Approved as to form and legal sufficiency: 

 

 

______________________________ 

Glen J. Torcivia, City Attorney 

/mpa   

GT SUPPLIES, INC. 

 

      By:  __________________________________ 

[Corporate Seal]       

      Print Name:  ___________________________ 

       

      Title:  _________________________________ 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA         ) 

COUNTY OF PALM BEACH) 

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of _________________, 

2020, by _________________________, as ____________________ (title) of ______________  

_______________________, a Florida corporation, and who is personally known to me or who 

has produced the following _______________________ as identification. 

 

      By:  ____________________________________ 

        Notary Public 

       

      Print Name: ______________________________ 

 

      My commission expires:  ____________________ 



EXECUTIVE BRIEF 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
AGENDA DATE: March 3, 2020  DEPARTMENT: City Attorney 

 

TITLE: 

Ratification of the Second Amendment to Economic Development Incentive Agreement with 
The Mid 

 
SUMMARY: 

The purpose of the Second Amendment is to ensure payments made by the City for 
infrastructure improvements are received by The Mid’s construction contractor and the City’s 
rights as a dual oblige under the public construction bond remain in effect for the duration of the 
bond. This item ratifies the finalized Second Amendment as executed by the City Manager. 

 

BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 

In May 2018, the City entered the Economic Development Incentive Agreement with The Mid to 
provide financial incentives for The Mid’s proposed 200+ apartment community at 1601 N. Dixie 
Highway in the City of Lake Worth Beach. Under the Agreement, the City agreed to pay 
$1,035,000 to The Mid to construct infrastructure improvements adjacent to the property, which 
the City had budgeted to accomplish under its 5-year CIP. The Mid is required under the 
Agreement to provide a public construction bond (or letter of credit) to secure its obligation to 
the City to construct the improvements. In order to address The Mid’s request to have the bond 
provided by its construction contractor, the Second Amendment is necessary to ensure the bond 
remains in effect for the duration of the bond and the City’s payments are properly made to The 
Mid’s construction contractor.  

 

On February 4, 2020, the City Commission considered the Second Amendment. At that time, 
the City Attorney’s Office requested that the Second Amendment be approved subject to City 
staff confirming a scope issue with the included construction contract. Thereafter, The Mid 
requested further changes to the Second Amendment. In order to keep The Mid project 
moving forward, the Manager signed the finalized Second Amendment as approved by the 
City Attorney’s Office. The attached version of the Second Amendment is the final version that 
has been executed by The Mid and the City Manager. 

 

MOTION: 

Move to ratify / not ratify the Second Amendment to Economic Development Incentive 
Agreement with The Mid. 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

Fiscal Impact – N/A 
Second Amendment 



SECOND AMENDMENTTO
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE AGREEMENT

TH|S SECOND AMENDMENT TO ECONOMTC DEVELOPMENTiNCENTTVE AGREEMENT

(this "second Amendment") is made and entered into as of this il-$ day ol Feh,<uea^ ,

2020, by and between the CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, FLORIDA, a Florida munic'ipal

corporation ("City"), 1501 DlXlE, LLC, a Florida limited liability company ("Owner")

WHEREAS, City (formerly known as the City of Lake Worth) and Owner entered into that
certain Economic Development lncentive Agreement with Effective Date of May 1, 2018 as

modified by that Amendment dated December 13,2019 (the "Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, City and Owner acknowledge that Owner has entered into a separate

contract with Moss & Associates, LLC ("Moss") for the construction of the lnfrastructure
lmprovements (the "lnfrastructure Contract"), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A-
L"; and

WHEREAS, Owner has applied for and City has issued the building permits for Owner to
commence the Project; and

WHEREAS, Owner has proposed to have Moss provide a public construction bond for
the lnfrastructure lmprovements; and

WHEREAS, the public construction bond to be provided includes the bond and dual

obligee rider ("Bond"), which are attached hereto as Exhibit "A-2"; and

WHEREAS, the parties have agreed to enter into this Second Amendment to modify
certain terms and conditions of the Agreement in order to address the savings clause in the
Bond's dual obligee rider and ensure the bond remains in effect until all conditions of the bond

are satisfied in full; and

WHEREAS, this Second Amendment is necessary to further the objectives of the
Agreement, and do not change the substance of the Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual covenants

contained herein in the sum of Ten and no/00 Dollars (S10.00) and other good and valuable

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, City and Owner

agree as follows:

1. ln the event of any conflict between the terms of this Second Amendment and

the terms of the Agreement, then the terms of this Second Amendment shall control. The

foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by reference.

Page 1 of 9



2. Unless otherwise defined herein all capitalized but undefined terms used herein

shall have the same meanings assigned to the same in the Agreement.

3. Section 3(g) is hereby added as follows:

(g) City and Owner acknowledge that Owner has entered into the
lnfrastructure Contract directly with Moss. The lnfrastructure Contract provides

that City is a third party beneficiary thereof; however, City shall have no

obligation and shall not be liable for any costs, claims, fees or expenses under

the I nfrastructu re Contract.

4. Section 5(bX1) is hereby replaced with the following:

(1) Pavment of lnfrastructure lmprovements Fund.

Within three (3) business days of the date the Second Amendment to this

Agreement is approved by City's City Commission, Owner shall cause the Bond

to be executed and recorded, and shall execute, the escrow agreement

attached hereto as Exhibit'A-3" (the "Escrow Agreement") with the escrow

agent provided therein ("Escrow Agent"). Within two (2) business days of the
City's receipt of a copy of the recorded Bond and a copy of the executed

Escrow Agreement, City shall execute the Escrow Agreement and deposit with

the Escrow Agent fifty percent (50%) of the lnfrastructure lmprovements Fund

(the "lnfrastructure Deposit"). Except as provided in this Second Amendment,

such funds while placed with Escrow Agent shall be subject to all terms and

conditions of this Agreement.

ln the event of a default by Owner under the lnfrastructure Contract which is

continuing for more than fifteen (L5) business days after notice from Moss to
Owner, Moss shall deliver a copy of such written notice of default to City and

to Escow Agent, which shall identified reason for default and all amounts

demanded to be paid to Moss under the lnfrastructure Contract (a "Default

Notice"). ln the event that City receives a Default Notice from Moss then,

within ten (L0) business days, City shall in its sole discretion have the right, but

not the obligation and in addition to any other remedy City may have, to direct

Escrow Agent in writing to release the portion of the lnfrastructure Deposit as

is demanded in the Default Notice to Moss pursuant to the terms of the
lnfrastructure Contract. lf Escrow Agent receives such written direction from
City, Escrow Agent shall promptly (within three (3) business days of receipt of
City's written direction) release the identified Infrastructure Deposit amount to
Moss. Such payment shall constitute a cure of Owner's default evidenced by

the Default Notice and Moss shall continue to perform under the
lnfrastructure Contract as stated therein.

Page 2 of 9



lf Escrow Agent has released all of lnfrastructure Deposit to Moss pursuant to
City's written direction (or the Escrow Agent released the lnfrastructure
Deposit to Owner as authorized herein) and City receives an additional Default

Notice(s) from Moss, City shall in its sole discretion have the right, but not the
obligation and in addition to any other remedy City may have, to pay the
portion of the remaining lnfrastructure lmprovement Fund as is demanded in

the additional Default Notice(s) to the Escrow Agent within ten (10) business

days of receipt of the Default Notice(s). City may then direct Escrow Agent to
pay the idenified portion of the remaining lnfrastructure lmprovement Fund as

demanded in the additonal Default Notice(s) to Moss pursuant to the terms of
the lnfrastructure Contract. lf Escrow Agent receives such funds and written
direction from City, Escrow Agent shall promptly (within three (3) business

days) release the identified lnfrastructure lmprovement Fund amount to Moss.

Such payment shall constitute a cure of Owner's default evidenced by the
Default Notice and Moss shall continue to perform under the lnfrastructure
Contract as stated therein.

lf City directs Escrow Agent to make payments to Moss as provided above,

Owner shall be responsible for all costs and expense to City including without
limitation City's reasonable attorney's fees for reviewing the Default Notice

and any related documents and all related legal services. Said costs may be

deducted by City from the lnfrastructure lmprovement Fund amount
remaining to be paid.

The City's City Manager is authorized to execute the Escrow Agreement for the
City and to provide written direction to the Escrow Agent as set forth herein.

Once Moss has been paid an amount equal to the lnfrastructure Deposit for
work under the lnfrastructure Contract (whether by the Owner, Lender or by

the Escrow Agent), the Owner shall cause Moss to send a written notarized

statement to the City, Lender, Owner and Escrow Agent of its receipt of an

amount equal to the lnfrastructure Deposit for work under the lnfrastructure
Contract, which shall include a statement that there is no pending default
under the lnfrastructure Contract and that the Bond remains in full force and

effect ("Receipt Notice"). Upon delivery of the Receipt Notice, the
lnfrastructure Deposit (or the remaining lnfrastructure Deposit amount) shall

be released by the Escrow Agent to Owner (or, at Owner's election to a Lender

controlled account).

Upon receipt of a certificate(s) of completion for the lnfrastructure
lmprovements or other confirmation of completion of the lnfrastructure
lmprovements as agreed to by City, Owner (or Lender on Owner's behalf) may

submit a payment disbursement request to City for the balance of the
lnfrastructure lmprovements Fund (less any payment previously paid by City to

Page 3 of 9



the Escrow Agent and less any amount retained by City for City's costs). Within

thirty (30) days following City's receipt of the Owner's (or Lender's) payment

disbursement request, City shall verify that the lnfrastructure lmprovements

have been completed, and if verified, pay to the Owner (or, at Owner's

election, to a Lender controlled account) the balance of the lnfrastructure

lmprovement Fund (less any payment previously paid by City to the Escrow

Agent and less any amount retained by City for City's costs).

5. City shall have the right to audit all payments made by the Escrow Agent

including, but not limited to, all documentation submitted to the Escrow Agent for

disbursement of funds to Moss.

6. All costs, fees and expenses of the Escrow Agreement and Escrow Agent shall be

paid by Owner.

7. This Second Amendment shall not become effective until signed by Owner and

approved by City's City Commission and executed by the Mayor (or designee) and City Clerk.

g. This Second Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of

which shall constitute an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same

instrument. A copy of this Second Amendment and any signatures hereon shall be considered

for all purposes as originals, Except as otherwise amended and modified hereby, the

Agreement shall remain unmodified and in fullforce and effect and shall be deemed effective.

ISTGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGESI

Page 4 of 9



IN WITNESS

Second Amendment

igned in the presence of:

Print N

Print Name c{

ATTEST

By:

arties have caused their representatives to execute this
f:eb<L) A ,4L, ,2020

CITY

CITY OF LAKE W H FLORIDA

By

Aichatl Borns+c t^) C,Fy Aavgec
Date Febe-u*a^t "21, Jt:2<>

Approved as to form and legal sufficiency:

By F?(L
Glen J. Torcivia, City AttorneyDebora M. Andrea, City

Approved as to Financial Suffi

By: 9^'A
Bruce T. Miller, Financial Services Director

lowNER StGNATURE ON FOLLOWING PAGEI

E

po(., I I

4 L t{

o

Page 5 of 9



OWNER

1601 DlXlE, LLC, a Flo limited liability
company

By:

Print Na e

nt Name

STATE OF

COUNTY OF

The foregoing instrume
2O2O .bV

in the State of Florida, and who i

Notary Public:

As

\
ICorporate Seal]

Date ill- - lq -LlU

before me

as the
a this day of

of
a limited liability company authorized to do business

me or who has produced the following
as identifi n

Print Name:
My commission expires tt-t3-Ae)t

rsona

=,ffi
MICHE LLE A RICE

Expi
202

of Flor (vido-NotaStat6
1 8G# 1G 595r9mm s onCo

Issmi ionomc
131OV mbe

My
N

Page 6 of 9



EXHIBIT "A-L"

I nfrastructu re Contract

(attached hereto)

Page 7 of 9



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586FS.EF364404-8ASC-30E04A8188Fs

o

BETWEEN the Owner:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

160l DixieLLC
414 N Andrews Avenue, Fort Lauderdale, Fl 33301

t and the Conhactor:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

Moss & Assooiates, LLC
2l0l N. An&ews Avenue
Fort Lauderdals, FL 3331 I

for the following Project:
(Name, location and detailed descriplion)

The Mid
1601 North Dixie Highway
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33460

The Architect:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

AIA Document A102-' 2007
Standard Form of Agreement Betwean Owner and Contract
where the basis of payment js the Cost of the Work Pl-
Fee with a Guaranteed Maximum Price

AGREEMENT made as of the 30th day of January in the year 2020
(ln words, indicate day, month and year.)

notwithstanding
the watermark
draft, the
agreement is
being signed as

jEand both
Danres aoree rt

tl$intinatiorm.

Glidden Spina & Partners Architecture Interior Design Inc.
207 Sixth Street
West Palm Beach, FL 33401

The Owner and Contractor agree as follows.

ADDITIOT{S AND DELEEIONS T

The author of thls document
has added information
needed fo! its completion,
The author nay also have
revised Ehe text of the
original AIA standard forn.
An Additions and Deletions
Report that notes added
information as grel] as
revisions to the standard
form text, is avallable flom
the author and should be
revLewed.

This document has impoxtant
legal consequences.
Consultat,lon with an
attorney J-s encouraged with
respect to its campletion
or modi.fication.
Thl.s document is not
intended for use in
competitive biddinq,
AIA Document A201il-2007,
ceneral Conditions of the
Coneract for Construction,
is adopted in this document
by reference. Do not use
with other general
conditions unless this
document is modified.

ELECTRoNIC COPIING of any
porE.ion of this AIAO Document
to another electronic file is
prohibited and cons!itutes a
violation of copyright laws
as set forth in the footer of
this document

al
os

Jh
AIt Doqqng 4102! - 2007 (fotDrLy ElF - 1t9?l , copyrtght o 1920, 1925' 1951, 1958, 1951, 1963, 1967, 1914. L979,
by The ,heEican In3tltuc6 of Archltects. EI Er-gbt! !.r.d.d. nlNtNCr fhi.. At.t' Dc@nt lt ptot.ct.d by U,A. Copyrlght. L.r ed
taganatloul Tr.rtr.at. Onruthorlttd:aploductl,on or dLat.rLbutlon ot tbla tU' Doc@ot, ct ey tb*lo6 ol tb. uy 8aaul! ln aavara qlvl,I
6(l clrdnal l|naltlat' 3d till ba ploradtad tc tho aut@ attanb tba.lbla sdaa tba t.r. ThIg draft was produc€d by AIA loftpar€ at
08:15:21 on 03/2112013 under Order No.94992?5601-1 whlch explre! o OLl25lZ0l4, rnd t5 not for r€5rle.
Ut.r llot..: (20501243591

L



Docusign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-BA5C-30E04A81 88F5

TABLE OF ARTICLES

I THECONTRACTDOCUMENTS

2 THE WORK OF THIS CONTRACT

3 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

4 DATE OF COMMENCEMENT AND SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION

5 CONTRACTSUM

6 CHANGES IN THE WORK

7 COSTSTO BEREIMBURSED

8 COSTS NOTTO BEREIMBURSED

9 DISCOUNTS, REBATESAND REFUNDS

10 SUBCONTRACTS AND OTHER AGREEMENTS

11 ACCOUNTINGRECORDS

12 PAYMENTS

13 DISPUTE RESOLUIION

14 TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION

I5 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

16 ENUMERATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

17 INSURANCEANDBONDS

ARTICLE I THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS
The Contract Documents consist of this Agreement, Conditions of the General Contract (the A20l General
Conditions of the Connact for Construction, as modified in writing by the parties), Drawings, Specifications,
Addenda issued prior to execution of this Agreement, other documents listed in this Agreement and Modifications
issued after execution of this Agreement, all of which form the Contract, and are as fully a part of the Contract as if
attached to this Agreement or repeat€d herein. The Contract represents the entire and integrated agreement between
the parties hereto and supersedes prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either written or oral. If anything
in the other Contract Documents, other than a Modification, is inconsistent with this Agreement, this Agreement
shall govem.

In the event of any conflict among the Contract Documents, the Contract Documents shall be construed according to
the following priorities:

Highest Priority: Change Orders and Construction Change Directives
Second Priority: Amendments and Addenda issued after the date of the Agreement with later date having

greater priority
Third Priority: Contractor's Qualifications and Assumptions attached hereto
FourthPriority: Agreement
Fifth Priorityl General Conditions, as modified by the parties
Sixth Priority: Drawings, with detailed drawings taking precedence ov€r large scale a/

DS

Jh
l!l Docqnt 1102r - 200t (f,oall.y AltF - r99?t . Copyrlght O 1920, 1925, I
by lhe IherLcan Inslllute of Archle€cts. lJlI !19bt. !.t.t€d. f nlflNc: Thl.

951,u. 1958, 1961, r963, 1967, 19?4, 1978,
DccrDnl l. plot.ot.d by U.g, Copyslgbt Lrr 6d

tntainrgloml ftartlar. Onauthollaad Eaproduetlon o! dlatrlbutl,on o! thla lll' Dc@nt, gr Ey lbrttctr cl ig, qy Frult ,.n ravala ctvll
6d oll6Lnat Fn.ltlaa. ud rIU b. proat@tad to tb. 

'ul!r 
artant tb.rLb!'a sdas tba lrr. ?his d!af! sas produced by AIA 9o(tw!rr at

08:16r21 on 03121/20lt under order No.9,[99276601-1 ehlch explrea on Oll25/2AL4' .nd I! not fo! resrlq.
O..r lfot..: (2050124359)

2



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8ASC-30E04A81 88Fs

Seventh Priority: Specifications

ARTICLE 2 THE WORK OF THIS CONTRACT
The Contractor shall fully execute the Work described in the Contract Documents, except as specifically indicated in
the Contract Documents to be the responsibility of others.

The Contractor may provide incidental services involving construction consulting, including preconstruction
consultation and value engineering. The Owner acknowledges that, notwithstanding any other provision of the
Agreement, such services are advisory and are not to be considered professional design services. Owner will refer
such matters to its own design professional for professional guidance, and accordingly, the Contractor shall have no
liability to the Owner with respect to any such professional design services. Contractor is responsible for its own
means and methods to perform hereunder.
ARTICLE 3 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARIIES
The Conhactor accepts the relationship of trust and confidence established by this Agreement and covenants with
the O*ner to cooperate with the Architect and exercise the Contractor's skill and judgment in furthering the interests
of the Owner; to fumish efficient business administration and supervision; to furnish at all times an adequate supply
of workers and materials; and to perform the Work in an expeditious and economical manner consistent with the
Owner's interests as made known to the Conhactor. The Owner agrees to furnish and approve, in a timely manner,
information required by the Contractor and to make payments to the Contractor in accordance with the requirements
of the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 4 DATE OF COMMENCEMENT AND SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION

$ 4.1 The date of commencement of the Work shall be the latter of the date of this Agreement, the date to be fixed in
a notice to proceed issued by the Owner or when all the below conditions are met:

l) Governmental approvals and./or permits
have been issued for the applicable stage of the Work to commence.
2) Proper evidence of financing in accordance with the General Conditions
3) Filing of Notice of Commencement by Owner
4) ExecutedOwner-ContractorAgreement
5) Evidence of Builder's Risk Insurance (if to be provided by Owner)

(Insert the date of commencement, if it differs from the date of this Agreement or, if applicable, state that the date
will befixed in a nottce to proceed.)

$ 4.2 The Contract Time shall be measured from the date of commencement.

$ 4.3 The Contractor shall achieve Substantial Completion of the entirc Work not later than Maroh 17, 2021.119
or as follows:

(Insert number of calendar days, Alternalively, a calendar date may be used when coordinated with the date of
commencement. If appropriate, insert requirements for earlier Substantial Completion of certain portions of the
Work.)

See+a*ibi+A--SehC$lo

Porlion of Work Substaniial Gompletlon date
$il7n02r

, subject to adjustments of this Conhact Time as provided in the Conhact Documents.

(Insert provisions, if any, for liquidated damages relating to failure to achieve Substantial Completion on time, or
for bonus payments for early completion of the Work.)

If Contractor fails to Substantially Complete the Work within the Contract Time, then Contractor shall
Owner, as liquidated damages ftut not as a penalty) the following:

DS

al Jb
tll Docqnt 1102r - 2007 (fo!o!1y A1lF - 1t9tr. Copyrlght O 1920, 1925, 1911, 1958, 1961, 1963, 195?, 19?4, 19?8,
by Th€ Anerlcan Instltuts ol Alchltects, lll iltbt. t...w.C. lnstfo: !hl. lt.t' DocrDnt t'. prot.st.d by O,A. Cofryrtgh! !.r sd
tntahatloul lraltla.. Onluthorllad r.psoductlon o! 4lltrl.but.tah o! tbta At' Ooc@nt, o! sy tprtton ot lt, ay raul! ln raeaia oivj'l
ud cthlnal tf,n.Itlaa, Dd r!.lt ba prcaaotad !o tha ubr artant tFaal,bla sda! tba hr, ThLs draft yas produc€d by AIA roCrrare at
08:16:21 o^ O3l2ll20l3 undor Ordo! No,949927560I-l rhlch 6xplro! on 0Ll2a/2o14, .nd 19 not for r.sals.
Itr.t Not..! (2osot2{3s9)

3



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8ASC-30E04A81 88F5

p€r
imq

Tho liquidaled damege rete shall 'nerease b ene Hundred ard 00/100 Dellars ($100,00) per Unit, -er
ealerdar Cay fer eash and every ealendar da)' aftor the first rinery (90\) ealendar days end thereafter until

tettewing th€ sxpiratio

evrner will p*y €entraeter a benus efere Theusand Cellars ($l;000) per day eerrmeneing,or the deto ef
e

€empletien-nate, Any benus peyment wilt be in rdditielte the Gentraet Sum and GN4P,
ARTICLEs CONTRACTSUM

! 5.'l The Owner shall pay the Contractor ths Contract Sum in current funds for the Contraotor's performance of the
Contract. The Contract Sum is the Cost of the Work as defined in Article 7 plus the Conhactor's Fee.

$ 5.1.1 The Contractor's Fee:
(State a lump sum, percentage of Cost of the l(ork or other provisionfor determining the Contractor's Fee.)

This ameunt rvill be paid p'epertienatery en a menthly basis in an *neunt equcl te the pereentate ef Wer'e in plaee
iy€

€du€e it by
the unused arneunti the feervill be redueed by OTcofthe unused eentirgeney,
$ 5.1.2 The method of adjustment of the Contractor's Fee for changes in the Work:

$ 5.1.3 Limitations, if any, on a Subcontractor's overhead and profit for increases in the cost of its portion of the
Work:

NA

$ 5,1.4 Rental rates for Conhactor-owned equipment shall not exceed One Hundred percent (100%) of the standard
rate paid at the place ofthe Project.

$ 5,1.5 Unit price s, if any:
(Identifi and state the unit price; state the quantity limitations, if any, to which the unit price will be applicable.)

Item Units and Limitations Price Per Unlt ($0.00)
NA

s 5.2 GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PR|CE

$5.2.lTheConhactSumisguaranteedbytheContractornottoexceed$l,035,000.00'ffi
subjecttoadditionsanddeductionsbyChangeorderasprovidedinthe

Contract Documents. Costs which would cause the Guaranteed Maximum Price to be exceeded shall be paid by the
Contractor without reimbursement by the Owner.

S5,2.1,1 Upon Final Completion of the Work, if the total Cost of the Work plus the Contractor's Fee is less than the
Guaranteed Maximum Price, as adjusted in accordance with this Agreement, then the diffsrence shall be "savings".
The savings shall be allocated as follows:

a/ Jh
AI Doct4trt 4102r - 2007 (fodlly l'rl'ln - lt9tr. Copyright O 1920, 1925,
by The Morlcan In.tl,tute gf Archlt.cts. .llJ' rl.gbt. r.r.w.d. f n}{lHC: lhtr

195 t,
At.

1950, 1.961, 1963, 196?, t974, t919.
Do@nt ,'r prot.ct.d by U.g. Copyrltht t r ed

tbt. llf,'lntaratloul &.atlar. Onrutholkad raptoductlon o. d.latrl,-butl,on cg
md crl,Elnrl FnaltL.r, ed rlll b. pto..ot.d tg tb. ryls .rC.at
08:15:21 on 03/21/2A13 under Order No,9499276601-1 uhlch €xptres on
Ot.r llot.a:

Do@nt, or ey tpr.tlon ot l't. By larul.t ln aayara clvll
sdaa tba l.r, Thls draft ras produced by AIA softsare atle..Ibla

oL lz5/2014, and Is not for r63a1e
(205012{3591

4



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8ASC-30E04A8188F5

(a) (50%) to Owner and (b) (50%) to Conhactor. Owner shall pay Contractor's share of savings as additional
compensation as part ofCon$actor's Final Payment; provided, however, that savings shall not include any deletions
frorn the scope of the Work to be performed under this Agreement.

(Insert specific provisions if the Contractor is to participate in any savings)

$ 5.2.2 The Guaranteed Maximum Price is based on the following alternates, if any, which are described in the
Conffact Documents and are hereby accepted by the Owner:
(State the numbers or other identifcation of accepted alternates. If bidding or proposal documents permit the
Owner to accept olher alternates subsequent to the execution ofthis Agreement, attqch a schedule ofsuch other
alternates showing the amountfor each and the date when lhe amount expires.)

Described within the GMP Qualifications

$ 5.2.3 Allowances included in the Guaranteed Maximum Price, if any:
(ldentify allowance and stale exclusions, if any,from the allowance price.)

Item

ffiNA
Price

! 5.2.4 Assumptions, if any, on which the Guaranteed Maximum Price is based:

See Exhibit A - Qualifications and Assumptions

$ 5.2.5 To the extent that the Drawings and Specifications are anticipated to require fi,uther development by the
Architect, the Contractor has provided in the Guaranteed Maximum Price for such fi,rther development consistent
with the Conffact Documents and reasonably inferable therefrom. Such further development does not include such
things as changes in scope, systems, kinds and quality of materials, finishes or equipment, all of which, if required,
shall be incorporated by Change Order.

s 5.3 CONTRACTOR'S CONTROLLED CONTTNGENCY

The "Contractor's Controlled Contingency" shall be $0.00, The "Contractor's Controlled Contingency" is for the
exclusive use ofthe Contractor to address unexpected circumstances and to defray unanticipated charges and
additional expenses incurred by the Contractor due to errors in estimating both time and money and for the
Contractor's costs and expenses incurred to correot subconhact scope and other deficiencies and subcontractor field
errors and omissions, to the extent not paid for by Subcontractor, that are not otherwise reimbursable and do not
oonstitute a change in the Work as defined in the General Conditions to this Agreement. No Owner approval is
necessary in order for the Contactor to be able to access and utilize the Contractor's Controlled Contingency.
However, such utilization shall be related to the Work and charges against the Contractor's Conholled Contingency
will be tabulated and reported by the Contractor as part of the Conhactor's Monthly Progress Report to the Owner.
Contractor will also provide a tracking system for the measurement and transfers of contingenoy accounts. The full
amount of any remaining Confractor's Controlled Contingency shall be considered to be within the GMP for
purposes of the calculation of any "Shared Savings" at the Final Completion of the Work.

ARTICTE 6 CHANGES IN THE WORK

$ 6.1 Adjustments to the Guaranteed Maximum Price on account of changes in the Work may be determined by any
of the methods listed in Section 7.3,3 of AIA Document M0l-2007, General Conditions of the Confract for
Construction.

$ 6.2 In calculating adjustments to subcontracts (except those awarded with the Owner's prior consent on the basis of
cost plus a fee), the terms "sost" and "f€e" as used in Section 7.3.3.3 of AIA Document /.2Al-2007 and the term
"costs" as used in Section 7.3.7 of AIA Document A201-2007 shall have the meanings assigned to them in AIA
Document A20l-2007 and shall not be modified by Articles 5, 7 and 8 of this Agreement. Adjustments

ll,l Doc@nt 1102! - 200? (lotarly 1111r - !99?,. copyrtghr G 1920, 1925, 1951. r958, 195!,. 1963, 196?, l9?4, l9?8,
by The Afierlcan Instttute of lrchltscts. llt llghl. 8...F.d, nsINC; tbt. ltt' Dcc@n! l. prot.d.d by U.a. Copyllgbt rd dd
fatatnltloill l!t.rt:I.t- otauthorr,tad laproductlon or Cltttl.butt.on ot tbtt l.I.. Do@nt, cE 6y portlon of tt, uy ntult ln tavara clvtt
sd ctlilnrl- l|naltlaa, ud rlll ba Floaadtad !o tha ub@ artant tFaaLbla B&s tba lar. Thl,g drdft rae produced by AIA loft*are at
08!16:21 o^ O3l2ll20L3 undor Ordor No.9il992?6501*f whlch explrc. o^ 01125/20L1, 6nd lr not for r€t.l€.
Ur.r xct..r (2050124359)

os

Jba/

5



DocuSign Envelope lO: 1 83586F5-EF36-{404-8A5C-30E04A8188F5

subcontracts awarded with the Owner's prior consent on the basis of cost plus a fee shall be calculated in accordance
with the terms of those subcontracts.

$ 6,3 In calculating adjustments to the Guaranteed Maximum Price, the terms "cost" and "costs" as used in the
above-referenced provisions of AIA Document y'c0l-2007 shall mean the Cost of the Work as defined in Article 7
of this Agreemont and the term "fee" shall mean the Contractor's Fee as defined in Section 5.1.1 of this Agreement.

$ 6.4 If no specific provision is made in Article 5 for adjustment of the Conffactor's Fee in the case of changes in the
Work, or if the extent of such changes is such, in the aggregate, that application of the adjustment provisions of
Article 5 will cause substantial inequity to the Owner or Conhactor, the Contractor's Fee shall be equitably adjusted
on the same basis that was used to establish the Fee for the original Work, and the Guaranteed Maximum Price shall
be adjusted accordingly.

ARTICLE 7 COSTS TO BE REIMBURSEO

$ 7.,l cosT oF THE WORK

$ 7.1.1 The term Cost of the Work shall mean costs necessarily incurred by the Contractor in the proper performance
of the Work. Such costs shall be at rates not higher than the standard paid at the place of the Project except with
prior written consent of the Owner. The Cost of the Work shall include only the items set forth in this Article 7.
Owner's written approval or consent as required hereunder shall not be unreasonably withheld.

$ 7.1.2 Where any cost is subject to the Owner's prior written approval, the Conhactor shall obtain this approval
prior to incurring the cost. The parties shall endeavor to identiff any such costs prior to executing this Agreement.

$ 7.2 LABoR COSTS

$ 7.2.1 Wages of construction workers directly employed by the Contractor to perform the construction of the Work
at the site and personnel in the main or branch offices of Contractor who perform activities directly related to the
Project, including Conhactor's project management staff and safety engineer at the home office when engaged in
performance of the Work under this Agreement, and usual vacation pay, incentive bonuses and profit sharing made
by Contractor to its superintendents, foremen and managers on the Project with all such sums being included within
thc GMP.

$ 7.2.2 Wages or salaries of the Contractor's supervisory and administrative personnel when stationed at the site with
the Owner's prior written approval.
(Ifit is intended that the wages or salaries ofcertain personnel stationed at the Contractor's principal or other
ofiices shall be included in the Cost of the Work, identify in Article I 5, the personnel to be included, whether for all
or only part of their time, and the rates at which their time will be charged to the l/ork.)

$ 7,2.3 Wages and salaries of the Conhactor's supervisory or administrative personnel engaged at factories,
workshops or on the road, in expediting the production or transportation of materials or equipment required for the
Work, but only for that portion of their time required for the Work.

$ 7.2.4 Costs paid or incurred by the Contractor for taxes, insurance, contributions, assessments and benefits required
by law or as part ofemployees' salary package and, forpersonnel not covered by such agreements, customary
benefits such as sick leave, medical and health benefits, holidays, vacations and retirement, provided such costs are
based on wages and salaries included in the Cost of the Work under Seotions 7.2.1 through 7.2.3 and will be cost at
the fixed rate of 69 .43 _Yo of wages and, 69 .43 _Yo of salaries.

$ 7.2.5 Bonuses, profit sharing, incentive compensation and any other discretionary payments paid to anyone hired
by the Contractor or paid to any Subconhactor or vendor, with the Owner's prior approval.

$ 7.3 SUBCONTRACT GOSTS

Payments made by or due from the Contractor to Subcontractors in accordance with the requircments of the
subcontracts.

$ 7.4 COSTS OF MATERTALS AND EQUTPMENT TNCoRPoRATED rN THE CoMPLETED CONSTRUCTToN

$ 7.4.1 Costs, including transportation and storage, of materials and equipment incorporated or to be
the completed construction.

ln
al Jh

llil Do@nC 4102' - 2007 (fotolly 1111! - 19911 . Copyltght O 1920, 1925, 1951, 195E, 1961, 1953, 196?, 19?il, 1978,
by Tho An6r.tcan tn.Cleut€ of Archltocts. lj,t sltlrt. t...t€d. l.tilltxo: lbL. ltJl' Doc@nt' t. psot.ct'.d by O.A, Copytlght t r sd
Intanattoul fraatlaa. Ohautbolkad raproductlon ot dlatrl.bullon ol tblr lllr Dc@nt, or sy portlon cl tg. uy tatutt ln aavara clvll
ud clbln.:. tu.ltl.., Ed rtll b. plot.dtrC to tb. Eulrs a*.nb po..Lbl. sC.a tba lar. tht3 draft ras producsd by AIA laflware !t
08:16:21 on O3l2L/2013 und€r Order No.94992?5601-1 vhlch sxplres an 0ll25l2|l4, and ls not for !6sale,
ut.r Not.r: 12050124359)

6



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36-4404-8A5C-30804A81 88F5

$ 7.4.2 Costs of materials described in the preceding Section 7.4.1 n excess of those actually installed to allow for
reasonable waste and spoilage. Unused excess materials, if any, shall become the Owner's properly at the
completion of the Work or, at the Owner's option, shall be sold by the Contractor. Any amounts realized fiom such
sales shall be credited to the Owner as a deduction from the Cost of the Work.

O 7.5 COSTS OF OTHER MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT, TEMPORARY FACILITIES AND RELATED ITEMS
$ 7'5.1 Costs of transportation, storage, installation, maintenance, storage taxes, insurance, iepairs, unloading,
dismantling and removal of materials, supplies, temporary facilities, machinery, equipment and hand tools not
customarily owned by construction workers that are provided by the Conhactor at the site and fully consumed in the
performance of the Work. Costs of materials, supplies, temporary facilities, machinery, equipment and tools that are
not fully consumed shall be based on the cost or value of the item at the time it is first used on the Project site less
the value of the item when it is no longer used at the Project site. Costs for items not fully consumed by the
Contractor shall mean fair market value.

$ 7.5.2 Rental charges for temporary facilities, machinery, equipment and hand tools not customarily owned by
construction workers that are provided by the Conhactor at the site and costs of transportation, installation, minor
repairs, dismantling and removal. The total rental cost of any Contractor-owned item may not exceed the purchase
price of any comparable it€m. Rates of Conhactor-owned equipment and quantities of equipment shall be subject to
the Owner's prior approval. Rental and/or leasing of automobiles (including leased automobiles and vehicle
allowances paid by Contractor to employees providing services in connection with the Work).

$ 7.5.3 Costs of removal of waste and debris from the site of the Work and its proper and legal disposal.

$ 7.5.4 Costs incuned in the Contractor's home office or field in connection with the project for document
reproductions, facsimile transmissions and long-distance telephone calls, postage and parcel delivery charges,
telephone service at the site, cell phones used by site porsonnel, reasonable petty cash expenses of the site;ffice,
and charges for electronic document management system, charges for on- site power consumption, water, sanitary
facilities, frst aid, elevator services and hoisting.

$ 7.5.5 Costs of materials and equipment suitably stored off the site at a mutually acceptable location, subject to the
Owner's prior approval.

$ 7.6 MISCEL|jNEoUS COSTS

$ 7.6.1 Contractor shall provide the Owner with complete copies of all insurance certificates required by the
Contract Documents within ten (10) days of date of execution of this Contract by the Owner and Conhactor. Costs
of premiums for all bonds and insurance, including Builder's Risk if to be provided by Conhactor and Conffactor's
General Liability (general liability will cost a fixed rate of one half of one percent (0.50%) of the final Contract
amount and the Conkactor" Bond pursuant to Florida Statue 7 I 3.245 will cost a fixed rate of N/A for this phase),
which Contractor is required by the Contract Documents to purchase and maintain and/or Contactor requires,
including cost of Performance & Payment bonds for subcontractor and/or suppliers. If SDI is used on tliis project,
the amount shall be at a fixed rate of one and one-quarter percent (l .25o/o) of the total subcontract and purchasi
orderamounts.@AFloridastatute255.05bondshallbefumishedandwillbebilled
to the owner at eight tenths of one percent (0.8olo). Builder's Risk insurance and deductibles thereunder will be paid
for by Owner outside of the GMP. Conhactor shall cooperate with Owner in administering the OCIP policy, provide
all necessary information as may be reasonably requested and assist in obtaining refunds from all subiontactors.

$ 7.6.2 Sales, use or similar taxes imposed by a govemmental authority that are related to the Work and for which the
Contractor is liable.

$ 7'6.3 Fees and assessments for the building permit and for other permits, licenses and inspections for which the
Contractor is required by the Conhact Documents to pay.

$ 7.6'4 Fees of laboratories for tests required by the Contract Documents, except those related to defective or
nonconforming Work for which reimbursement is excluded by Section 13.5.3 of AIA Document by
other provisions of the Conhact Documents, and which do not fall within the scope of SectionT.7,3, al
All, Dootent A102t - 200? (loully lllli - l99tl. Copyrlghr O 1920, 1925, 1951, 1959, 1961, 1963, 1 961, t914,1978,
by The Anarican Inst llute of ArchLCqcts. 

^lt 
rLght. h..sd, x,ln|ft8c: tbl. Atl. Do@nt tt plot.ct.d by U,g Lar Edlntanatlon.l rraatla!. onruthoti.lad !.trroducglon or dr.rtll,but.r,on c! tbLr NA. Do@nt, o! sy tDrtloD ol lt, uy aarult ln ,avara cl.vlled crhlnal tf,r.Itlar, 6C rl1l ba ploaafltad to tbr ryl@.rtant tralllrla sdaa tb. ttr

08r15:21 o^ 03127/2013 under OEder No.94992?5601_1 {h!,ch 6xplres on OtlZSl2Ol4, and ls noE
Uaar llotaa !

ThI! draft eai produced by AIA softs.sa at

Jb

foE r€sale.
{205012{359)

7



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36-4404-8ASC-30E04A81 88Fs

$ 7.6.5 Royalties and license fees paid for the use ofa particular design, process or product required by the Contract
Documents; the cost of defending suits or claims for infringement of patent rights arising from such requirement of
the Conffact Documents; and payments made in accordance with legal judgments against the Conhactor resulting
from such suits or claims and payments of settlements made with the Owner's cons€nt. However, such costs of legal
defenses, judgments and settlements shall not be included in the calculation ofthe Contractor's Fee or subject to the
Guaranteed Maximum Price. If such royalties, fees and costs are excluded by the last senteuce of Section 3.17 of
AIA Document 420l-2007 or other provisions of the Contract Documents, then they shall not be included in the
Cost of the Work.

?,BS The Gonkoe Sunrte s€t frfh in BxHbit "rr-' €onl*ina r GsneC €€ndiliens linp ilem ef $ lr(50t000,00 'Ihrt dollor

Gentseeter sherl previde evidenee rea-enobly oatisfaoiery b errner eFthe nppl:eatier ef tho Gererel €enditiens
r shott bc{or de€€t

$ 7.6.7 Deposits lost for causes other than the Conhactor's negligence or failure to fulfill a qpecific responsibility in
the Contract Documents.

$ 7.6.8 Legal, and accounting support, including attorneys' fees and experts, other than those arising from disputes
between the Owner and Contractor, reasonably incurred by the Contractor after the execution of this Agreement in
the performance of the Work and with the Owner's prior written approval, which shall not be unreasonably
withheld.

$ 7.6.9 Subject to the Owner's prior written approval, expenses incuned in accordance with the Contractor's standard
written personnel policy for relocation and temporary living allowances of the Contractor's personnel required for
the Work.

S 7.6.10 That portion ofthe reasonable expenses ofthe Contractor's supervisory or adminishative personnel incurred
while traveling in discharge of duties connected with the Work with Owner's written approval if expenditure is
anticipated to be above $5,000.

s 7.6.1r . N/A

$ 7.7 OTHER CoSTS AND EMERGENCTES

$ 7.7.1 Any cost not specifically and expressly excluded by Section 8 which the Contractor reasonably and
necessarily incurs in the performance of the Work or in the fiutherance of the Project, with such sums being
included within the GMP, provided, however that any such cost in excess of ten thousand dollars ($10,000) per item
shall not be included as a Cost of Work, unless such cost is approved in writing in advance by the Owner, whose
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

$ 7.7.2 Costs incurred in taking action to prevent threatened damage, injury or loss in case of an emergency affecting
the safety of persons and property, as provided in Section 10.4 of AIA Document A20l-2007.

$ 7.7.3 Costs of repairing or correcting damaged or nonconforming Work executed by the Conhactor, Subcontractors
or suppliers, provided that such damaged or nonconforming Work was not caused by negligence or failure to fulfill a
specific responsibility ofthe Contractor and only to the extent that the cost ofrepair or correction is not recovered
by the Conhactor from insurance, sureties, Subconfiactors, suppliers, or others. The parties will work together to
recover such costs from available insurances, subcontractors or others.

determining Contractor's Fee nor shall such sums be included within the GMP. If, however, such loss

ll,l Do.@nt 1102! - 200? (loiltty rltl' - 1991). CopyEtght O 1920, 1925, 1951, 1958, 1951, 1953, 1967, 19?{, 1979,
by ?h€ Anorlcan Itrstitute ol Archlt€ct!. lll Rtgb!. rt..w.d. mRlltUC: Tblr ltf,. Do@nt ta prot.ct.d by O.8. Copyrl,ght br sd
tnlahrtloul !!!aaElaa. trnrutbolkad raprcduct!,on or d.latlLbut'lon o! tbl. t!l. Dc@nt, or By !re.llcn ot tt, [y raault ln.avat. clvll
ud cridna:, Irnaltla., sd rl,ll ba Frora4taC to tha Etffi artant tEaaLbta sd.r tba :,.r, Thls draf! ,ac produced by AIA sofLyate at
08:16r21 o^ 03/2112013 undet Ordor No.94992?6501-f rblch oxpfres on O1/2512QL4, and ts n6! foE E.r.Is,
Or.r lfot..: (205012{359}

Jb

8



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8A5C-30E04A81 88Fs

reconstruction, and Contractor is placed in charge thereof, it shall be paid for this service a fee proportionate to that
stated in Article 5.1.2.

$ 7.7,5 Not Used

$ 7.7.6 Costs associated with third party quality assurance programs.

s 7.8 RELATED PARWTRANSACTTONS

$ 7.8.1 For purposes of Section 7.8, the term "related parf" shall mean a parent, subsidiary, affiliate or other entity
having common ownership or managcment with the Conhactor; any entity in which any stockholder in, or
management employee of, the Contractor owns any interest in excess of ten percent in the aggregate; or any person
or entity which has the right to control the business or affairs of the Contractor. The term "related party" includes
any member of the immediate family of any person identified above.

$ 7.8.2 If any of the costs to be reimbrused arise from a transaction between the Contractor and a related party, the
Contractor shall notiff the Owner of the specific natue of the contemplated hansaction, including the identity of the
related party and the anticipated cost to be incurred, before any such transaction is consummated or cost incuned. If
the Owner, after such notification, authorizes the proposed transaction, then the cost incurred shatl be included as a
cost to be reimbursed, and the Contractor shall procure the Work, equipment, goods or service from the related
party, as a Subcontractor, according to the terms of Article 10. If the Owner fails to authorize the transaction, the
Conhactor shall procure the Work, equipment, goods or service from some person or entity other than a related
party according to the terms of Article 10.

ARTICLES COSTS NOTTO BE REIMBURSED

$ 8.1 The Cost of the Work shall not include the items listed below:
.l Salaries and other compensation of the Contractor's personnel stationed at the Contractor's principal

office or offices other than the site office, except as specifically provided in Section 7.2. or as may be
provided in Article l5;

,2 Expenses of the Contractor's principal office and offices other than the site office;
.3 Overhead and general expenses, except as may be expressly included in Article 7;
.4 The Contractor's capital expenses, including interest on the Contractor's capital employed for the

Work;
.5 Except as provided in Section 7 of this Agreement, costs due to the negligence or failure of the

Contractor, Subcontractors and suppliers or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any ofthem or
for whose acts any of them may be liable to fulfill a specific responsibility of the Conhact;

.6 Any cost not specifically and expressly described in Article 7, or the GMP; and

.7 Costs, other than costs included in Change Orders approved by the Owner, that would cause the
Guaranteed Maximum Price to be exceeded.

ARTICLE9 DISCOUNTS, REBATESANDREFUNDS

$ 9.1 Cash discounts obtained on payments made by the Contractor shall accrue to the Contractor Conholled
Contingency if (l) before making the payment, the Contractor included them in an Application for Payment and
received payment from the Owner, or (2) the Owner has deposited funds with the Contractor with which to make
payments; otherwise, cash discounts shall accrue to the Contractor, Trade discounts, rebates, refunds and amounts
received from sales of surplus materials and equipment shall accrue to the Contractor Controlled Contingency, and
the Conhactor shall make provisions so that they can be obtained.

$ 9.2 Amounts that accrue to the Contractor Controlled Contingency in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.1
shall be shared between the Owner and Contractor as provided for in Article 5.2.1.1.

ARTICLE 1(l SUBCONTRACTS AND OTHER AGREEMENTS

$ 10,1 Those portions of the Work that the Contractor does not customarily perform with the Contractor's own
personnel shall be performed under subconffacts or by other appropriate agreements with the Conhactor. The Owner
may designate specific persons from whom, or entities from which, the Contractor shall obtain bids. The Contractor
shall obtain bids from Subcontractors and from suppliers of materials or equipment fabricated especially for the
Work and shall deliver such bids to the Owner. The Owner shall then determine, with the advice of the Contractor,
which bids will be accepted. The Contractor shall not be required to conffact with anyone to whom the
0wner has reasonable objection. al Jb
rll Doagnt r102i - 200? (lotEtly r1Ilr - lt9?). copyrlghr o 1920, 1925, 1951, 195S, 1951, 1953, 195?, 19?4. t9?8,
by The kGrlcan Instltute of Alchltects. lll lIgbl. !...sd. Llnxlllor tht. AIA' Do@rt l. psot.ct.d by U.8. Copyrr.gbt L.r ud
tatalnltloul lt.rtl.r. onrulholllad raptoductlon o! dlatrlbutLon o! thla ll^' Dc@nt, cr Flr lFrtlon of lt, uy laault tn rov.ra clvlt
ud ctldnll lNnrltlar, sd rItI ba plo..dlad to tba .ulsr.rtant tpaatb!'a wdar lb. lar. Th19 dratt ras produced by AIA 3oftpars at
08:16:21 o^ 03121/2011 under Older }lo,94992?6601-1 whlch €xplr€s on 0L125/20I1, .nd ls not for !6s.Ie.
Ur.r llot..: (2050f24359)

9



DocuSlgn Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-8F364404-8ASC-30E04A8188F5

$'10.2 When a specific bidder (l) is recommended to the Owner by the Contractor; (2) is qualified to perform that
portion of the Work; and (3) has submitted a bid that conforms to the requirements of the Contract Documents
without reservations or exceptions, but the Owner requires that another bid be accepted, then the Contractor may
require that a Change Order be issued to adjust the Guaranteed Maximum Price by the difference between the bid of
the person or entity recommended to the Owner by the Contractor and the amount of the subcontract or other
agreement actually signed with the person or entity designated by the Owner.

$ 10,3 Subcontracts or other agreements shall conform to the applicable payment provisions of this Agreement, and
shall not be awarded on the basis of cost plus a fee without the prior consent of the Owner. If the Subcontract is
awarded on a cost-plus a fee basis, the Conhactor shall provide in the Subcontract for the Owner to receive the same
audit rights with regard to the Subcontractor as the Owner receives with regard to the Confractor in Article I l,
below.

ARTICLE II ACCOUNTING RECORDS
The Contractor shall keep full and detailed records and accounts related to the cost of the Work and exercise such
controls as may be neoessary for proper financial management under this Contract and to substantiate all costs
incurred. The accounting and conhol systems shall be satisfactory to the Owner. The Owner and the Owner's
auditors shall, during regular business hours and upon reasonable notice, be afforded access to, and shall be
permitted to audit and copy, the Conhactor's records and accounts, including complete documentation supporting
accounting entries, books, conespondence, instructions, drawings, receipts, subcontracts, Subcontractor's proposals,
purchase orders, vouchers, memoranda and other data relating to this Contract. The Contractor shall preserve these
records for a period of three years after final payment, or for such longer period as may be required by law.

ARTICLE 12 PAYMENTS (The time frames included in Article 12 are subject to reasonable adjustment by the parties
hereto as may be required by Owner's lender)

s 12.1 PRoGRESS PAYMENTS

$ 12.1.1 Based upon Applications for Payment submitted to the Architect and Owner by the Contractor, the Owner
shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Sum to the Contractor as provided below and elsewhere in
the Conhact Documents.

$ 12.1.2 The period covered by each Application for Payment shall be one calendar month ending on the last day of
the month, or as follows:

Ending the Last Day of each Month

S 
.l2.1.3 Provided that a proper Application for Payment is received by the Owner and Architect not later than the last

day of a month, the Owner shall make payment of the certified amount to the Contractor not later than the 20th day
of the month. If an Application for Payment is received by the Architect and Owner after the application date fixed
above, payment shall be made by the Owner not later than twenty (20) days after the Architect and Owner receive
the Application for Payment.
(Federal, state or local laws may require payment within a certain period of tine.)

$ 12.1.4 With each Application for Payment, the Contractor shall submit petty cash accounts, receipted invoices or
invoices with check vouchers attached, and any other evidence required by the Owner or Architect to demonstrate
that cash disbursements already made by th€ Contactor on account of the Cost of the Work equal or exceed (l)
progress payments already received by the Conhactor; less (2) that portion of those payments attributable to the
Contractor's Fee and General Conditions Contractor will provide partial lien releases in accordance with Florida
Statute 713 through and to the extent of the prior month's disbursement from Conffactor and lower tier
subconfiactors who filed and served a proper Notice to Owner.

S 12.1.5 Each Application for Payment shall be based on the most recent schedule of values submitted by the
Contractor in accordance with the Contract Documents. The schedule of values shall allocate the entire Guaranteed
Maximum Price among the various portions of the Work, except that the Contractor's Fee slall be shown as a single
separate item. The schedule ofvalues shall be prepared in such form and supported by sucil data to substantiate iti
accuracy as the Architect may require. This schedule, unless objected to by the Architect, shall be used
reviewing the Contractor's Applications for Payment. al Jh
tl'l Doc@t I''OZE - :a00t (torrl.y Arll' - 199?t. Copyrlght O 1920, 1925, 1951,
by The lnerlc.n Instltut. of Archltects. tI1 t,'gbt. r.t.rtd. llnlft}lo: lbl. LU.

1959, 1t61, 196a, 1961, 19?{, 19?8,
Dc@nt lr plot.ct.d by D.9. Copyatgbt L.r ed

lntamatlo[I laaatlaa. Urruthortrad raploductlon ot dl.atrtbutl,on cl tbb l.tl. Dgcrgnt, or 6y portlon o! t!, uy 8a.ult lo.avara or,vl,l
Ed ctltlnll tf,naLtLal, sd rltl b. ploaadtad tc tba EgtlE artant tFarlSla sda! tba lrr. Thl.r drafc f,as produced by AtA gofE"sr€ ai
08r16:21 o^ 0tl2l/2t13 und€r Ord€r No,t,l992?6501-1, whlch qxplres o^ 0ll25l20l4t and is not fgr r63ale.
lr..r Not..: (205012{359)

10



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36.4404-8A5C-30804A8188F5

S 12.,l.6 Applications for Payment shall show the percentage of completion of eachportion of the Work as of the end
of the period covered by the Application for Payment. The percentage of completion shall be the lesser of (l) the
percentage of that portion of the Work which has actually been completed; or (2) the percentage obtained by
dividing (a) the expense that has actually be en incurred by the Contractor on account of that portion of the Work for
which the Conhactor has made or intends to make actual payment prior to the next Application for Payment by (b)
the share of ths Guaranteed Maximum Price allocated to thatportion of the Work in the schedule of values.

$ 12.1.7 Subjeot to other provisions of the Contract Documents, the amount of each progress payment shall be
computed as follows:

.l Take that portion of the Guaranteed Maximum Price properly allocable to completed Work as
determined by multiplying the percentage of completion of each portion of the Work by the share of
the Guaranteed Maximum Price allocated to that portion of the Work in the schedule of values.
Pending final determination of cost to the Owner of changes in the Work, amounts not in dispute
shall be included as provided in Section 7,3.9 of AIA Document A20l-2007;

.2 Add that portion of the Guaranteed Maximum Price properly allocable to materials and equipment
delivered and suitably stored at the site for subsequent incorporation in the Work, or if approved in
advance by the Owner, suitably stored off the site at a location agreed upon in writing;

,3 Subtract retainage of ten percent (10%) until Project is at fiffy percent (50%) completion. Upon fifty
percent (50%) completion, Conhactor shall invoice and Owner shall release fifty percent (5070) of the
withheld retainage (thereby reducing withheld retention to five percent (5%)). Thereafter, retention
will continue at the rate of five percent (5%) until Substantial Completion. Notwithstanding the
above, no retainage shall be held on Contractor's Fee, General Condition / General Requirements,
insurance costs, Bond Costs or costs on material purchased directly by Contractor &om a supplier.

.3 (a) Add the Contractor's Fee, The Contractor's Fee shall be computed upon the Cost of the Work at the
rate stated in Section 5.1.1 or, ifthe Contractor's Fee is stated as a fixed sum in that Section, shall be
an amount that bears the same ratio to that fxed-sum fee as the Cost of the Work bears to a
reasonable estimate of the probable Cost of the Work upon its completion;

,4 Subtract retainage of <0 >> percent ( (0 D %) from that portion of the Work that the Conffactor self-
performs;

.5 Subtract the aggregate of previous payments made by the Owner;

.6 Subtract the shortfall, if any, indicated by the Contractor in the documentation required by Section
12.1.4 to substantiate prior Applications for Payment, or resulting from errors subsequently
discovered by the Owner's auditors in such documentation; and

.7 Subtract amounts, if any, for which the Owner has withhold or nullified a Certificate for Payment as
provided in Section 9.5 of AIA Document A20l-2007,provided, however, that no amoutrts shall be
subtracted from General Conditions Contractor's Fee, General Requirements, insurance costs, bond
Costs or costs on material purchased directly by Contractor from a supplier.

S 12.1.8 The Owner and the Conhactor shall agree upon a (1) mutually acceptable procedure for review and approval
ofpayments to Subcontractors and (2) the percentage ofretainage held on Subconhacts, and the Contractor shall
execute subconhacts in accordance with those agreements.

S 12.,l.9 In taking action on the Conkactor's Applications for Payment, the Architect and Owner shall be entitled to
rely on the accuracy and completeness of the information furnished by the Conhactor and shall not be deemed to
represent that the Architect has made a detailed examination, audit or arithmetic verification of the documentation
submitted in accordance with Section 12. 1.4 or other supporting data; that the Architect has made exhaustive or
continuous on-site inspections; or that the Architect has made examinations to ascortain how or for what purposes
the Contractor has used amounts previously paid on account of the Contract. Such examinations, audits and
verifications, if required by the Owner, will be performed by the Owner's auditors acting in the sole interest of the
Owner,

$ 
,l2.2 

FTNAL PAYMENT

$ 12.2,1 Final payment, constituting the entire unpaid balance of the Conhaot Sum, shall be made by the Owner to
the Contractor when

l:l Docqnt A1O2! - 2007 {fotqlly Alll' - 19t7t . Copyrtghr o t92O. I92St L 951,
ua

r958, 1961. 1963. 196?. 197{. r978,
DoMDt l. plot.ct.d by O.A. Ccpyll,gbt t-r ed

Jh8/
by th€ ,tnerlcan Instltute ol Archlt6cgr. lll tlghtr
lntlmrtLoul ft aat'la!, On.utbglllaal lapioductioi or

!araFad, NTNNING llhl.r
dl.ttl,.butlon ot thl.. AtA'

md cllDl'nrl tf,naltLar, ud rl.U ba plotadtad to tb. !ul!@ artot
0E:l6r2l o^ 03/2112013 under Oldet llo.9{992?6601_1 rhlch explr.s odglat Xotaa:

Do@nt, c! 6y po*lcn ct tg, sy rault Ln aavasa cr,vllqdar tba lar. Thls dratt was produc€d by AIA softeare atlDrrlbla
ot/25/ 20t4 , and Is not for resals

(20501243591

11



DocuSign Envelope lD:'l 83586F5-EF36{404-8A5C.30E04A81 88F5

.1 the Contractor has fully performed the Contract except for the Contractor's responsibility to correct
Work as provided in Section 12.2,2 of NA Document A20l-2007, and to satisff other reguirements,
if any, which extend beyond f,inal payment;

,2 the Contractor has submitted a final accounting for the Cost of the Work and a final Application for
Payment; and

.3 Contractor has provided a final Contractor's affidavit and conditional final lien releases from lower
tier subcontractors who filed and served a proper Notice to Owner in accordance with Florida Statute
7t3 .

.4 The certihcate of occupancy or its equivalent (CO) has been obtained from the applicable government
agency, unless the same is delayed or not available due to causes beyond Contractor's fault, in which
case the CO shall not be required for Final Cornpletion.

912,2'2 The Owner's auditors will review and report in writing on the Contractor's final accounting within 30 days
after delivery of the final accounting to the Owner by the Conhactor. Based upon such Cost of the Work as the
Owner's auditors report to be substantiated by the Contractor's final accounting, and provided the other conditions
of Section 12.2.1 have been met, the Owner will, within seven days after receipt of the written report of the Owner's
auditors, notiry the Contractor and Owner in writing of the Owner's reasons for withholding a certificate as provided
in Section 9.5.1 of the AIA Document A2A1-2007. The time periods stated in this Section 12.2.2 supersede those
stated in Section 9.4.1 of the AIA Document A20l-2007. The Architect is not responsible for verifting the accuracy
of the Contractor's final accounting.

$ 12.2.3 If the Owner's auditors report the Cost of the Work as substantiated by the Contractor's final accounting to
be less than claimed by the Conhactor, the Contractor shall be entitled to request mediation by an independent third
party of the disputed amount without seeking an initial decision pursuant to Section 15.2 of A20l-2007. A request
for mediation shall be made by the Contractor within 30 days after the Conhactor's receipt of a copy of the
Architect's final Certificate for Payment. Failure to request mediation within this 30-day period shall not result in
the substantiated amount reported by the Owner's auditors becoming binding on the Conhactor. Pending a final
resolution of the disputed amount, the Owner shall pay the Conhactor the amount certified in the Architect's fural
Certificate for Payment.

S 12.2'4 The Owner's final payment to the Contractor shall be made no later than 30 days after Final Completion of
the Work, receipt of Final Contractor's Affidavit, Confractor's Final Conditional Release of Lien and Contractor's
final Application for Payment.

(D

S 12.2.5 If, subsequent to final payment, the Contractor incurs costs described in Article 7 and not excluded by
Article 8 to correct defective or nonconforming Work, the Owner shall reimburse the Contractor such costs and the
Contractor's Fee applicable thereto on the same basis as if such costs had been incurred prior to final payment, but
not in excess of the Guaranteed Maximum Price. If the Contractor has participated in savings as provided in Section
5.2, the amount of such savings shall be recalculated and appropriate credit given to the Owner in determining the
net amount to be paid by the Owner to the Contractor.

ARTICLE I3 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

s 13.1 tNrTrAL DECTS|ON MAKER NA
NA

s r3.2 BTNDTNG 0|SPUTE RESOLUTION
For any Claim subject to, but not resolved by mediation pursuant to Section 15.3 of AIA Ddcument 420l-2007, the
method of binding dispute resolution shall be as follows:
(Check the appropriate box. If the Owner and Conffactor do not select a method of binding dispute resolution
below, or do not subsequently agree in witing to a binding diryute resolution method other than litigation, Claims
will be resolved by litigation in a court of competentjurisdiction.)

I e I I Arbitration pursuant to Section 15.4 of AIA Document A2Al-2007

Atl Doc@nt 4102r - 200? (fotutl'y 1111n - lt97t. Copyrtqhr O 1920, 1925. 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1,96? 19?4.1978,
by Th€ Anerlcan lnstltute ol Archlt.cts. All .tgbtr !...sd. IlllNtllo: tht. ltt Do@nt t. plot.ct.d by U.A. gopylltht Lr ud

Jha/

tntarnrtl,oul lraatlat
sd csbl'nrl trnaltlaa
00:16r21 o^ 01/2L/2013
gra! Notaa I

gnauthorltad rapaoductlon o! dl'.tllbutlon ol thta ttl. Do@at, os uy portl,on ol lt, qy sttslt Ln aav.Ea clvl.l L2
, ed rul
under Orde

ba pror.qtad to tb. ulls artanl tEa.lbla 6dar tba lar. Thls dlatt was produc€d by AtA
r No.9499276601 I ehlch axplres o^ 0ll25l20l4, and l! not lor resal6.

softga!e at

(2050124 359'



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404"8A5C-30E04A81 88F5

I cX n ] Litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction located in Broward County, Florida. This contract is
govemed by Florida law. DUE TO THE SPECIALIZED NATURE OF CONSTRUCTION
LITIGATION, EACH PARTY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO TRTAL BY ruRY.

Ie rl Other(Specify)

(( ))

ARTICLE I4 TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION

$ 
,l4.1 Subject to the provisions of Section 14.2 below, the Contract may be terminated by the Owner or the

Contractor as provided in Article 14 of AIA Document A20l-2007.

$ 14.2 If the Owner terminates the Contract for cause as provided in Article 14 of AIA Document A2AF2007,the
amount, if any, to be paid to the Conhactor under Section 14.2.4 of AIA Document A2A1*2007 shall not cause the
Guaranteed Maximum Price to be exceeded, nor shall it exceed an amount calculated as follows;

.l Take the Cost of the Work incurred by the Contractor to the date of termination;
. .2 Add the Contractor's Fee and General Conditions computed upon the Cost of the Work to the date of

termination at the rate stated in Section 5.1 .l or, if the Conhactor's Fee is stated as a fixed sum in that
Section, an amount that bears the same ratio to that fixed-sum Fee as the Cost of the Work at the time
of termination bears to a rsasonable estimate of the probable Cost of the Work upon its completion;
and

.3 Subtract the aggregate of previous payments made by the Owner.

$ 14.3 The Owner shall also pay the Contractor fair compensation, either by purchase or rental at the election of the
Owner, for any equipment owned by the Contractor that the Owner elects to retain and that is not otherwise included
in the Cost of the Work under Section l4,2.l.To the extent that the Owner elects to take legal assignment of
subcontracts and purchase orders (including rental agreements), the Conhactor shall, as a condition of receiving the
payments referred to in this Article 14, execute and deliver all such papers and take all such steps, including the
legal assignment of such subcontracts and other contractual rights of the Confractor, as the Owner may require for
the purpose of fully vesting in the Owner the rights and benefits of the Contractor under such subconhacts or
purchase orders.

$ 14.4 The Work may be suspended by the Owner as provided in Article 14 of AIA Document A201J;0071- in such
case, the Guaranteed Maximum Price and Contract Time shall be increased as provided in Section 14.3.2 of AIA
Document A20l-2007, except that the term "profit" shall be understood to mean the Contractor's Fee as described
in Sections 5.1.1 and Section 6.4 of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 15 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

! 15.1 Where reference is made in this Agreement to a provision of AIA Document A20l-2007 or another Contract
Document, the reference refers to that provision as amended or supplemented by other provisions of the Contract
Documents.

$ 15.2 Payments due and unpaid under the Contract shall bear interest from the date payment is due at the rate stated
below, or in the absence thereof, at the legal rate prevailing from time to time at the place where the Project is
located.
(Insert rate of interest agreed upon, tf any)

Prime plus two percent (2W<< ,, Yo K >>

$ 15.3 The Owner's representative:
(Name, address and other information)

1601DixieLLC
414 N Andrews Ave.
Fod Lauderdale, Fl 33301

l!l Docqng 1102r - 2007 lforqElt tlll! - 19t7t . Copyright O 1920, 1925,
by Ths Arnerlcan lnrtltuce of Archr.cects. [l llgbt. r...tt.l. n.Rlltxc: tbl't

19 51,
lna

1958, 1961, 1963, 196?, t9?4r l9?8,
Do@nt lr plot.ot.d by O.a, Copyllght !., Md

lntanatlgEl ft.tt,lat, Uraughorltad laptoducttoD o! dlatll-bution ot thLa At:l' Do@nt, o! sy tDsttcn ot tt, str taaut! ltr aavala clvll
ud calelnrt' Fn.ltl.t, ud rtll b. p!or.4t.d to tba r&lN.rt.ne tDr.!tl. sd.r lh. l.r, Thtd drafr e.s produced by AfA softrare at
0B:15!21 o^ 03/2712013 und€r Ord€r No.94992?6501_1 ehich o*plEes on 0l/2512014, ahd ls not for resalc.
Ur.t f,ot..r (205012{359)

D9

Jhal

13



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586Fs-EF36-4404-8ASC-30E04A8188Fs

Attn: JeffBurns
CC Nick Rojo and Mchelle Rice

$ 15.4 The Conhactor's representative:
(Name, address and other information)

()
<< Moss & Associates, LLCr>
( 2l0l N. Andrews Avenue>
< Fort Lauderdalc, FL 33311>
<cAth: Randy Spicer Jr. >
< CC: Brett Atkinson and Bruce Moldowr>

$ 'l5.5 Neither the Owner's nor the Contractor's representative shall be changed without ten days' written notice to
the other party.

$ 15.6 Other provisions:
l. The City of Lake Worth Beach ("City") is a third-party beneficiary of the contract, however, City shall

have no obligation and shall not be liable for any costs, claims, fees or expenses hereunder.
2. In the event of a default by Owner which is continuing for more than fifteen (15) business days after

notice from Contractor to Owner, Contractor shall deliver a copy of such wri$en notice of default to
City and to First American Title Insurance Company, as Escrow Agent, which shall identifi
for default and all amounts demanded to be paid to Conhactor. If the default is cured within

the reason
te('PYlifteen (1 S)business

days thereafter, Moss shall continue to perform pursuant to this agreement.
3. Escrow Agent's notice address is First American Title lnsurance Company, 2121 Ponce de Leon Blvd, Suite 710

Coral Gables, FL 33134, ATTN: Yessie A. Gonzalez, Senior Commercial Escrow Officer (lcraMord@firstam.com)
( ,) 4. City's notice address is City of Lake Worth Beach, 7 N Dixie Highway, Lake Worth Beach, FL 33460, ATTN: Michael

Bornstein, City Manager (mbornstein@lakeworthbeachfl .gov);**

ARTICLE 16 ENUMERATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

$ 16.1 The Contract Documents, except for Modifications issued after execution of this Agreement, are enumerated
in the sections below.

$ 16.'l.l The Agreement is this executed AIA Document A102J007, Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner
and Contractor as modified herein.

S 16,1,2 The General Conditions are AIA Document .A20l-2007, General Conditions of the Contract for
Construction as modified.

$ 16.1.3 The Supplementary and other Conditions of the Confact:

Documenl TitlE Date Pages

$ 16.1.4 The Specifications:
(Either list the Speci/ications here or refer to an exhibit attached to this Agreement)
Title of Specifications exhibit:

S 16.,l.5 The Drawings:
(Either list the Drawings here or refer to an exhibit attached to this Agreement.)
Title of Drawings exhibit:

See Exhibit B - Contract Documents

$ 
,16.1.6 The Addenda, if any:

al Jh
AI,l Doc@nt 1102! - 200? (lc@rly .f,ll1r - ltt?]. Copyrlqht A L920, L925, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 196?, 19?{, 1976,
by The Aisrtcan Instltqcs of Archlt.cts, [! tltht. s.!.p.d. W$!NO! !hl. llt' Docqn! 1. ptot.ct.d btr O.3, CopyElght !.r rnd
rntoln.tloul l!r.rtl.r. on.utbort,t.d rrproduottin ct 4l.tllbubton cg tblr A:At Doc@t, oE Ny tD*lon or rt, uy Kiuit ln lrvrrr clvtl 1{
ed crltlDrl tE.rltlar, ed rl,1l b. prcr.dt.d tc gho ryllr.rt.nt, Ipa.tbla ud.r th. l.r. th13 dlatt yas produced by AIA solrrare at
08r16!21 on 0312L12013 und€r older No.9499275601-1 BhLch .xplre! on 01125120L4. and ,.s not for resale.
!..a No!.r: (2050f24359)

** with a copy to Torcivia, Donlon, Goddeau & Ansay, P.A., 701 Northpoint Parkway, Suite 209, Wbst Palm Beach, FL 33407
ATTN: Christy l. Goddeau, Esq. (chris$@torcivialaw.com)



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36-4404-8A5C-30E04A8188F5

Number Date Pages

Portions of Addenda relating to bidding requirements are not part of the Conhact Documents unless the bidding
requirements are also enumerated in this Article 16.

S 16.1.7 Additional documents, if any, forming part of the Contract Docurnents: NA
.1 AIA Document E20lrltr-2007, Digital Data Protocol Exhibit, if completed by the parties, or the

following:

(( ))

.2 Other documents, if any, listed below:
(List here any additional documents that are intended to form part of the Contract Documents. AIA
Document A20l-2007 provides that bidding requirements such as advertisement or invilation to bid,
Instructions to Bidders, sampleforms and lhe Contractor's bid are not part of the Contracl
Documents unless enumerated in this Agreement. They should be listed here only if intended to be
part of the Contract Documents.)

(D

ARTICLE 17 INSURANCE AND BONDS
The Contractor shall purchase and maintain inswance and provide bonds as set forth in Article I I of AIA Document
A20l-2007 . Contractor shall not be obligated to provide a bond until the conditions in Article 4.1 are satisfied.
(State bonding requiremenls, if any, and limi* of liabilityfor insurance required in Article I I of AIA Document
A20 r -2007.)

Type of insurance or bond Limit of liability or bond amount ($0.00)

This Agreement is entered into as of the day and year frst written above and is executed in at least three original
copies, of which one is to be delivered to the Contractor, one to the Architect for use in the administration of the
Contract, and the remaining copy to the Owner.

OocuSlgned by:

fums -Docusloned 
by:

I g,*Att:*"t 
^

Cb*TeffifiOF(fignature)
Moss & Associates, LLC

Jeff Burns - Owuer's authorized representative Breft Aftinson - Executiye Vice President
(Printed name and title) (Pinted name and title)

Jh
El Docwnt 4102' - 2007 (fo@Ely Alltr - 1t9t). Copyrlght O 1920, 1925, I
by The AneElcan ln3tieute of Archltects. .l1l llgbg. t.r.!6d. nlRNlNCr !b1.

951,
Ia.

1958, 1961, 1963. 195?, r97il, 19?8,
Do@nt l. paot.d.d by U.g. Copyrl.ght L.r sd

htatnrtlonrl ltartlaa, Uatutbolltad saproductton ot dltttlbutton of tblt m' Do@nt, or 6y tE*ton o! t!, uy ralult ln rayr-a clvll
ud cslalnrl tf,nalt!,a., ud rllL ba ploaadt.d t'o tha Eul@ ad.nt lbarlbl. udaa tba l.r, Thlg dEaft tas produced by AIA software at
08:16:21 on 03l2ll2013 under Order No.94992?5601-1 shtch explres o^ 0tl25l2il4, and Io not for Eesale.
[t..r Not..: (205012{359)

DS

al

15



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36-4404-8A5C-30E04A8188Fs

o

THE OWNER;
(Name, legal status and address)
1601 Dixie LLC
414 N Andrews Ave
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

THE ARCHITECT:
(Name, legal status and address)
GliddenSpina & Partners Architecture Interior Design Inc.
207 Sixth Street
West Palm Beach, FL 33401

TABLE OF ARTICLES

1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

2 OWNER

3 CONTRACTOR

4 ARCHITECT

5 SUBCOI,ITRACTORS

6 CONSTRUCTION BY OWNER OR BY SEPARATE CONTRACTORS

7 CHANGES IN THE WORK

8 TIME

9 PAYMENTSANDCOMPLETION

10 PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERW

11 INSURANCEANDBONDS

12 UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK

13 M]SCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

14 TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT

15 CLAIMS AND DISPUTES

AIA Document A201* 2007
General Conditions of the Contract for Construction

for the following PROJEGT:
(Name and location or address)
TheMid
160l North Dixie Highway
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33460 NDDIIIONS ATD DETJETIONS ;

?he aut.hor of this document
has added informatlon
needed for lt.s completlon.
The author may also have
revised the texe of the
original AIA standard form.
An AddiCjons and DefeLioes
Report that notes added
information as well as
revisions to the sEandard
form text is avaiLable from
the author and should be
revleered.

This document has important
legal conseguences.
ConsulLation with an
attorney ls encouraged with
respect to lts completion
or modification.

ELECTRONIC COPYINC of any
portion of this AIAo Documen!
to another electronic fl1e ls
prohibited and constitutes a
vioJ-at.lon of copyright laws
as set forth In th€ footer of
this document

notwithstanding
the watermark
draft, the
agreement is
being signed as
is and both
parties agree it
is in final form.

al
DS

Jh
llil Dooqnt r201r - 2007. Copyright O 1911, 1915, 1918, :,925, 193?, 1951, 1958, I961, 1953. r966, 19?0, 1926, tgd?,
AnsElcan Inst-Ltutq of
t!..tLaa. Ur.utborllad
lf,naltl,.rr eC rlll ba
02/08/2tLL undeE OEder

Archlt€cts. Al! rltht. !...s.d. l.An$Ill6: ttl. llA. Do@ng l. psot.clad by O,t, Copysr,gbt t-r sd tnt.htLlon.I
taPioductlon cr dlattiltutlon o! t,hlt ttAt DogrEnt. or uy lFrt!,on o! lC, utr r.ault tn ravara cl,vll ual c!.LEln.I
Ploaaotad to tba rrt&E arlant tFa.tblt sd.s tb. Ltr. Thls draft ua! prgduc€d by AIA softyare at 13tZ?t2I on
No.252?39?75?_1 tshlch 6xplres o^ 0l/3112OL2. and l3 not foE rEs.Ie,

Ut.! Notil: (r290810iI3'tl

1



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36{404-8ASC-30E04A8188F5

INDEX
(Topics and numbers in bold are section headings.)

Acceptance of Nonconforming VYork
9.6.6,9.9.3,12.3
Acceptance of Work
9.6.6, 9.8.2, 9.9.3, 9. 10. l, 9.1 0.3, 12.3
Access to Work
3.16,6.2.1, l2.l
Accident Prevention
10

Acts and Omissions
3.2, 3.3.2, 3. I 2.8, 3. I 8, 4.2.3, 8.3.1, 9.5. l, I 0.2.5,
10.2.8, 13.4.2, 13.7, 14.1, 15.2
Addenda
l.l,l,3.t1.l
Additional Costs, Claims for
3.7.4, 3,7.5, 6.1.1, 7.3,7.5, 10.3, I 5.1.4
Additional Inspections and Testing
9.4.2, 9.8.3, 12.2.1, 13.3
Additional Insured
I 1.1.4
Additional Time, Claims for
3.2.4, 3.7 .4, 3.7.5, 3.10.2, 8.3.2, 15.1,5
Administration of the Contract
3.1.3,4.2,9.4,9.5
Advertisement or Invitation to Bid
l.l.l
Aesthetic Effect
4.2.13
Allowances
3.8, 7.3.8
All-risk Insurance
I 1.3.1, I l.3.l.l
Applications for Payment
4.2.5, 7 .3.9, 9.2, 9.3, 9.4, 9.5. l, 9.6.3, 9.7, 9.10,
l l.l .3

Approvals
2.1.1, 2.2.2, 2.4, 3 .1 .3, 3,1 0.2, 3.12.8, 3.12.9, 3.12. 10,
4.2.7,9.3.2,13.5.1
Arbitration
8.3.1, 11.3.10, l3.l.l, 15.3.2, 15.4
ARCHITECT
4
Archltect, Definition of
4.1.1
Architect, Extent of Authority
2.4.1, 3.12.7, 4.1, 4.2, 5.2, 6.3, 7 .1.2, 7 .3.7, 7 .4, 9.2,
9.3.1, 9.4, 9.5, 9.6.3, 9.8, 9. I 0. l, 9.lA 3, 12,1, 12.2.1,
1 3.5. I, I 3.5.2, 14.2.2, I 4.2.4, I 5. 1.3, I 5.2. I
Architect, Limitations of Authority and
Responsibility
2.1.1, 3.12.4, 3. I 2.8, 3. I 2. I 0, 4.1.2, 4.2.1, 4.2.2,
4.2.3, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 4.2.10, 4.2.12, 4.2.13, 5.2.1, 7 .4,
9.4.2, 9.5.3, 9.6.4, 15.1.3, 15.2

Architect's Additional Services and Expenses
2.4, l, I 1.3. l. l, 12.2.1, 13.5.2, 13.5.3, 14.2.4
Architect's Administration of the Contract
3,1.3, 4.2, 3.7,4, 15.2, 9.4. l, 9.5
Architect's Approvals
2.4.1, 3.1.3, 3.5, 3.10,2, 4,2.7
Architect's Authority to Reject Work
3.5, 4.2.6, 12.1.2, 12.2.1
Architect's Copyright
1.1,7, 1.5

Architect's Decisions
3.7 .4, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 4.2,1 l, 4.2,12, 4.2.13, 4.2.1 4, 6.3,
'l .3.7, 7.3.9, 8. 1.3, 8.3. l, 9,2, 9.4.1, 9.5, 9.8.4, g.g. l,
13.5.2,15.2,15.3
Architect's Inspections
3.7 .4, 4.2.2, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9.9.3, 9.9.2, g. I 0. l, I 3.5
Architect's Instructions
3.2.4, 3.3.1, 4.2,6, 4.2.7, 13.5.2
Architect's Interpretations
4.2.11,4.2.12
Architect's Project Representative
4.2.t0
Architect's Relationship with Contractor
l. | .2, 1 .5, 3.1 .3, 3 .2.2, 3.2.3, 3.2.4, 3,3.1, 3 .4.2, 3.5,
3.7 .4, 3.7 .5, 3.9.2, 3.9.3, 3. I 0, 3. I l, 3. 12, 3.1 6, 3.19,
4.1.2, 4.1.3, 4.2, 5.2, 6.2.2, 7, 9.3. l, 9.2, 9.3, 9.4, 9.5,
9.7,9.8,9.9,10.2.6, 10.3, I1,3,7, 12, 13.4.2, 13,5,
t5.2
Architect's Relationship with Subconhactors
| .1.2, 4.2.3, 4.2.4, 4.2.6, 9 .6.3, 9 .6.4, | 1 .3.7
Architect's Representations
9.4.2,9.5.1,9.10.1
Architect's Site Visits
3.7 .4, 4.2.2, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9.5.1, 9.9.2, g. I 0. l, I 3.5
Asbestos
10.3.1
Attomeys'Fees
3.18.1,9.10.2, 10.3.3
Award of Separate Contracts
6.1.1,6,1,2

^A,ward of Subcontracts and Other Contracts for
Portions of the Work
5.2
Basic Definitions
1.1

Bidding Requirements
l.l.l, 5.2.1, I1.4.1
Binding Dispute Resolution
9.7, 11.3.9, I 1.3. 10, 13. L l, 15.2.5, I 5.2.6. l, 15.3.1,
15.3.2,15.4.1
Boiler and Machinery Insurance
rt.3.2
Bonds, Lien
7.3.7.4, 9. 10.2, g. 10.3
Bonds, Performance, and Payment
7.3.7.4, 9.6.7, 9.10.3, I 1.3.9, ll.4

al Jb
AIf, Do@nt 1201! - 200?. copyrlght O 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1956, 19?0. 19?6, 1987,
Amcrican lnscltul. ot Archllects. lll !!ghl. i..aw.d. tllitllIlO: tlht. A:4. Oooqnl L. prot.ct.d by p.S. Coptrlght L.r sd Intah.t1oMl
tE..tl.a. UnauthoElraC laptoductr.on c! Clatrlbutlon ol tbla AIl. Do@nt, ot 6!r FrtJ.on o! lt, sy r.tult Ln tava!. clv{l sd crlrlnrl
Fnrltl.r, sd tl,U b. pEe..4t.d to thr ul,6q ut.nt l&..lbl. ud.E tba lrr. thls draft cas producqd by AIA softHare ar 13:27:21 on
02lOAl2OIl vnd6r Older No,252?39??57-1 Hhlch 6rplre3 on 0l/11120L2, and ls not lor resrIE.
Ut.r Not.ri (129881043?)

2



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8ASC-30E04A81 88Fs

Building Permit
3.7.l
Capitalization
1.3

Certificate of Substantial Completion
9.8.3, 9.8.4, 9.8.5
Certilicates for Payment
4.2.1, 4.2.5, 4.2,9, 9.3.3, 9.4, 9.5, 9.6.1, 9.6.6, g .7,
9.10.1, 9.10.3, 14.1.1.3, 14.2.4, t5.1.3
Certificates of Inspeotion, Testing or Approval
13.5.4
Certificates of Insurance
9. 10.2, I I .l .3
Change Orders
l. l. l, 2.4.1, 3.4.2, 3.7.4, 3.8.2.3, 3. I L l, 3.12.9, 4.2.9,
5.2.3, 7 .1.2, 7 .7.3, 7,2, 7 .3.2, 7 .3.6, 7 .3.9, 7 .3.1 0,
8.3. 1, 9.3.1. 1, 9. 10.3, 10.3.2, 11.3.1.2, 1 1.3.4, I 1.3.9,
12.1.2,15.1.3
Change Orders, Definition of
7.2.1
CHANGES IN THE WORK
2.2.1, 3.1 l, 4.2.8, 7, 7 .2.1, 7 .3,1, 7 .4, 8.3,1, 9.3. L l,
I 1.3.9
Clalms, Definition of
15.1.1
CLAIMS AND DISPUTES
3.2,4, 6.1.1, 6.3, 7 .3.9, 9.3.3, g. I 0.4, 10.3.3, 1 5, 1 5.4
Claims and Timely Assertion of Claims
15.4.1
Claims for Additional Cost
3.2.4, 3.7 .4, 6.1.1, 7,3,9, 10.3.2, 15.1.4
Claims for Additional Time
3.2.4, 3.7 .46.1.1, 8.3.2, I 0.3.2, 15.1.5
Concealed or Unknown Conditions, Claims for
3.7.4
Claims for Damages
3.2.4, 3.18, 6. 1. l, 8.3.3, 9.5.1, 9.6.7, 10.3.3, I l. l. l,
I 1.3.5, I 1.3.7, 14.1.3, 14.2.4, 15.1.6
Claims Subject to Arbitration
15.3.1,15.4.1
Cleaning Up
3.15, 6.3
Commencement of the Work, Conditions Relating to
2.2.1, 3.2.2, 3.4.1, 3.7 .1, 3. I 0. l, 3.12.6, 5.2,1, 5.2.3,
5.2.2, 8.1.2, 8,2.2, 8,3.1, I l.l, I 1.3.1, I 1,3.6, I 1.4. l,
15.1.4
Commencement of the Work, Definition of
8.1.2
Communications Facilitating Contract
Administration
3.9.1,4.2.4
Completion, Conditions Relating to
3.4. l, 3. I l, 3.15, 4.2.2, 4.2.9, 8.2, 9.4.2, 9.8, 9.9.1,
9.10, 12.2, 13.7 , 14.1,2
CoMPLETION, PAYMENTS AND
9

Completion, Substantial
4.2.9, 8.1.1, 8. 1.3, 9.2.3, 9.4.2, g.g, g.g. l, g. 10.3,
12.2,13.7
Compliance with Laws
I .6.1, 3,2,3, 3.6, 3.7, 3,12.10, 3 .13, 4.1.1, 9.6.4,
10.2.2, 11.1, 11.3, 13.1, 13.4, 13.5.1, 13.5.2, 13.6,
14.l.l, 14.2.1.3, 15.2.9, 15.4.2, 15.4.3
Concealed or Unknown Conditions
3.7.4, 4.2.8, 8.3. l, lo.3
Conditions of the Contract
Ll,l, 6.1.1, 6.1.4
Consent, Written
3.4,2, 3,7 .4, 3.12.9, 3 .1 4.2, 4.1.2, 9.3.2, g. g, 5, g. g. l,
9. I 0.2, 9. I 0.3, I 1.3. l, 13.2, 13.4.2, 15.4.4.2
Consolidation or Joinder
ts.4.4
CONSTRUCTION BY OWNEROR BY
SEPARATE CONTRACTORS
L1.4,6
Construction Change Directive, Definition of
7.3.1
Construction Change Directives
l.l.l, 3.4.2, 3.12.9, 4.2.9, 7 .1.1, 7,1,2, 7 .1.3, 7.3,
9.3.1.1
Conskuction Schedules, Contractor's
3.10, 3. 12. 1, 3.12.2, 6.1.3, 15. 1.5.2
Contingent Asslgnment of Subcontracts
5.4,14.2.2.2
Continuing Contract Performauce
15.1.3
Contract, Definition of
1.1.2
CONTRACT, TERMINATION OR
SUSPENSION OFTHE
5.4.1.1, 11.3.9,14
Contract Administration
3.1.3,4,9.4,9.5
Contract Award and Execution, Conditions Relating
to
3.7.1, 3,10, 5.2, 6.1, I 1.1.3, I 1.3.6, I 1.4.1

Conhact Documents, Copies Furnished and Use of
1.5.2,2.2.5,5.3
Contract Documents, Definition of
1.1.1
Contract Sum
3.7 .4, 3.8, 5.2.3, 7 .2, 7 .3, 7 .4, g.l, 9.4.2, 9.5.1.4,
9.6.7, 9.7, I 0.3.2, I 1.3. l, I 4.2.4, 14.3,2, 15.1.4,
15.2.5

Contract Sum, Definition of
9.1

Conhact Time
3.7 .4, 3.7 .5, 3.10.2, 5.2.3, 7 .2.1 .3, 7 .3.1, 7 .3.5, 7 .4,
8.1.1, 8.2.l, 8.3.1, 9.5.1, 9.7,10.3.2, l2.l.l,14.3.2,
15.1.5.t,15.2.5
Contract Time, Definition of
8.1.r
CONTRACTOR
3 al Jh

l.tA Dcciqnt t20li - 2007. Copyrtght O 1911, :,915, 1918, 1925, 1r3?, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1965, l9?0, 19?6, 19d?,
AmoElcao fnatl,tute of Archltecl.. f,tl tlghtr !...w.d. BRI|INO: !tl. llA. Doclqnt,
lE..tlaa. ODrutlroll!.d laproductlcn or dlatttbutlon ol tbla All. Do@nC, or oy

l. prot.sl.d by E.g. Copy.tgbt trr ud lnt.hrtlon.l
tprtlotr ol Ib, qy !..ul-t {n tava!. cl.vl,!, ud crlllnal

trn.lt!.., ud rlll b. Plo..st.d to tb. ut@.rt.nt, t'or.lbl. ud.s tb. l.r. Thls dr.ft eas prgduced by AfA softear. ar 13!2?:21 on
02/OAl201l under Ordo! tJo.2521391767-l whl.ch oxplEes o^ 01/3L/20L2, and ls not for resils.
Or.r Not..: (f2908104371

3



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36-4404-8A5C-30E04A8188Fs

Contractor, Definition of
3,1,6.1.2
Contrector's Construction Schedules
3.10, 3.1 2. l, 3.12.2, 6.1.3, 15.1.5.2
Contractor's Employees
3,3.2, 3.4.3, 3. 8. l, 3. 9, 3. 18.2, 4.2.3, 4.2.6, 10.2, I 0.3,
I 1. 1.1, I 1.3.7, 14.1, 14.2.1.1
Contrrctor's Liability Insurance
11.1

Contractor's Relationship with Separate Contractors
and Owner's Forces
3.12,5, 3.1 4.2, 4.2.4, 6, I 1.3.7, 12.1.2, 12.2.4
Contractor's Relationship with Subconhactors
t,2,2, 3.3.2, 3. I 8. l, 3. I 8,2, 5, 9.6.2, 9.6,7, 9.t0.2,
11.3.1.2, 11.3.7, 11.3.8
Contractor's Relationship with the Architect
l. 1.2, 1.5, 3.1.3, 3.2.2, 3.2.3, 3.2.4, 3.3.1, 3.4.2, 3.5,
3.7.4, 3.10, 3. I l, 3. 12, 3. 16, 3.1 g, 4,1.3, 4.2, 5.2,
6.2.2, 7, 8.3.1, 9.2, 9.3, 9.4, 9.5, 9.7, 9.8, g.g, 10.2.6,
10.3, I 1.3.7, 12, 13.5, 15.1.2, 15.2,1
Conhactor's Representations
3.2.1, 3.2.2, 3.5, 3.12,6, 6.2.2, 9.2.1, 9.3.3, 9.9.2
Conhactor's Responsibility for Those Performing the
Work
3.3,2, 3.18, 5.3.1, 6.1.3, 6.2,9.5.1, 10.2.9
Contractor's Review of Contract Documents
3.2
Contractor's Right to Stop the Work
9.7
Contractor's Right to Terminate the Contract
14.1,15.1.6
Contractor's Submittals
3, I 0, 3. I l, 3.12.4, 4.2.7, 5,2.1, 5.2.3, 9.2, 9.3, 9.9.2,
9.8.3, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 9.10.3, I1.1.3, I1.4.2
Contractor's Superintendent
3.9,10.2.6
Contractor's Supervision and Construction
Procedures
1.2.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3,12.10, 4.2.2, 4.2.7, 6,1.3, 6.2.4,
7.1,3, 7.3,5, 7.3.7, 8.2, 10, 12, 14, 15.1.3
Contractual Liability Insurance
11.1.1.8,ll.2
Coordination and Correlation
1.2, 3.2.1, 3.3. l, 3.10, 3.12.6, 6.1.3, 6.2.1
Copies Fumished of Drawings and Specifications
1.5,2.2.5,3.11
Copyrights
1.5,3.17
Conection of Work
2,3, 2.4, 3.7 .3, 9.4.2, 9,9.2, 9.9.3, g.g.l, 12.1.2, 12.2
Correlation and Intent of the Contract Documents
1,2
Cost, Definition of
7.3,7
Costs
2.4.1, 3.2.4, 3.7 .3, 3,8,2, 3.1 5.2, 5 .4.2, 6,1 .1, 6.2.3,
7 .3.3.3, 7 .7.7, 7 .3.8, 7 .3.9, 9.10.2, I 0.3.2, I 0.3.6,
11.3, 12.1.2, 12.2.1, 12.2.4, 13.5, l4

Afrellcan Initltute of Archltccts. lll rt.lht. r.r.Md. flltllxc: ttlr AtA.
ltaatlar. Un.ulbctls.d laproductloD c! d.lrtrlbulloo c! thla Atl. Docqnt,
tf,6rltl.., sd rIlI b. p!o..@t.d tc th.8L8s d.nt, IF..lbI. sd.a tb.
02108/201L under Ordsr Ne.252'1397161-l Hhlch explrBs on 01/31/2012, and t!

Cutting and Patching
3.14,6.2.5
Damage to Construction of Owner or Separate
Contractors
3.14.2, 6.2.4, 10.2.1.2, 10.2.5, 10.4, I Ll.l, I 1.3,
12.2.4
Damage to the Work
3.14.2, g.g.l, 10.2.1.2, I 0.2.5, I 0.4. l, I 1.3.1, 12.2.4
Damages, Claims for
3.2.4, 3.19, 6. l. l, 9.3,3, 9.5.7, 9.6.7, 10.3.3, I l. l. l,
1 1.3.5, I 1.3.7, 14.1,3,14.2,4, 15.1.6
Damages for Delay
6. l.l, 8.3.3, 9.5.1.6, 9.7, 10.3.2
Date of Commencement of the Work, Definition of
E.1.2
Date of Substantial Completion, Definition of
E.1.3
Day, Definition of
E.1.4
Decisions of the Architect
3.7 .4, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 4.2.1 l, 4.2.12, 4.2.13, 15.2, 6.3,
7,3.7, 7,3,9, 8. 1.3, 8.3. 1, 9.2, 9.4, 9.5.1, 9.9.4, g.g.l,
13.5.2, 14.2.2, 14.2.4, 15.1,15.2
Decisions to Withhold Certification
9.4.1, 9.5, 9.7, I 4.1.1.3
Defective or Nonconforming Work, Acceptance,
Rejection and Correction of
2.3, l, 2.4.1, 3 .5, 4.2.6, 6.2.5, 9.5.1, 9.5.2, 9.6.6, g .9.2,
9.9.3,9.10.4,12.2.1
Defuritions
l. l, 2. l. l, 3. l. l, 3.5, 3.12.1, 3.12.2, 3,12.3, 4.1.1,
l5.l.l, 5.1, 6.1.2,7.2.7,7,3.1, g.l, g.l, g.g.l
Delays and Extensions of Time
3.2, 3.7 .4, 5.2,3, 7 .2.1, 7,3.1, 7 .4, 9.3, 9.5.1, 9.7,
10.3.2, 10.4.1, 14.3.2, 15.1.5, 15.2.5
Disputes
6.3,7.3.9,15.1, 15.2
Documents and Samples at the Site
3.11
Drawings, Definition of
1.1.5
Drawings and Specifications, Use and Ownership of
3.1 I
Effective Date of Insurance
8.2.2,n.l,2
Emergencles
10.4, 14.1.1.2, 15.1.4
Employees, Conhactor's
3.3.2, 3.4.3, 3.9. l, 3.9, 3.19,2, 4.2.3, 4.2.6, 10.2,
10.3.3, I l. l. I, 11.3.7, 14.1, 14.2.1.1
Equipment, Labor, Materials or
1.1,3, l. 1.6, 3.4, 3.5, 3,9.2, 3.9.3, 3. 12, 3. 13.1, 3.15.1,
4.2.6, 4.2.7, 5.2,1, 6.2.1, 7,3,7, 9.3.2, g. 3.3, g. 5. 1 .3,
9. 10.2, 10,2. l, 10.2.4, 14.2.1.1, 14.2.1.2
Execution and Progress of the Work
l. 1.3, 1.2. l, 1.2.2, 2.2.3, 2.2.5, 3.1, 3.3. l, 3.4. l, 3.5,
3.7. l, 3. 10. l, 3.12, 3,14, 4.2, 6,2.2, 7.1.3,
9.5.1, 9.9.1, 10.2, 10.3, 12.2,14.2,14.3.1, s.w Jh

Doc@nt l. prot.ct.d by U.g. Cotyrlgb! t r ed fnt.n.tld.l
o! oy porlton ol i.t, qy rttutt ln ravara c,.ell ud crlElnrl
lrr. lhls dralC xas prodUced by AIA softeare at 13:2?:21 On
not for resalE.

ltl Do@nc 1201! - 2007. Copyrlght O 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 193?, 1951, 1958, 1951, 1963, 1966, 19?0, 1975, t9E?,

C!.! f,6t.r: (1298810{37'

I



DocuSign Env€lope lD: 1 83586FS-EF36-4404.8A5C-30E04A8188Fs

Extensions of Time
3.2.4, 3,7 .4, 5.2.3, 7 .2,7, 7 .3, 7 .4, 9.5.1, 9.7, 10.3.2,
10.4.1, 14.3, 15. 1.5, 15.2.5
Failure of Payment
9,5. 1.3, 9.7, 9.10.2, I 3.6, 14. l. 1.3, I 4.2.1.2
Faulty Work
(See Defective or Nonconforming Work)
Final Completion and Final Payment
4.2.1, 4.2.9, 9.8.2, 9.10, I 1.1.2, I 1.1.3, I 1.3.1, I 1.3.5,
12.3.1,14.2.4,14.4.3
Financial Arrangements, Owner's
2.2.r, 13.2.2, 14.1.1.4
Fire and Extended Coverage Insurance
l r .3. l.l
GENERAL PROVISIONS
I
Governing Law
r3.1
Guarantees (See Warranty)
Hazardous Materials
10.2.4,10.3
Identification of Subcontractors and Suppliers
5.2.1
Indemnification
3.17, 3.18,9.10,2, 10.3.3, 10.3.5, 10.3,6, I 1.3.1.2,
11.3.7
Information and Seryices Required of the Owner
2.1 .2, 2,2, 3.2.2, 3.12.4, 3. I 2. I 0, 6.1 .3, 6.1.4, 6.2.5,
9,6.1, 9.6.4, 9.9.2, 9.10.3, 10.3.3, I 1.2, I 1.4, I 3.5. l,
13.5.2, t4.t.t.4, | 4.t.4, 1 5.1.3
Initiat Decision
15.2
Initial Decision Makerr Definition of
1.1.8

Initial Decision Maker, Decisions
t4.2.2, t 4.2.4, 1 5.2.1, t 5.2.2, t 5.2.3, 1 5.2.4, t 5.2.5
Initial Decision Maker, Extent of Authority
14.2.2, 14.2.4, I 5. 1.3, | 5.2.1, 1 5.2.2, | 5.2.3, I 5.2.4,
t5.2.s
Injury or Damage to Person or Property
10.2.8, 10.4.1
Inspections
3. I .3, 3,3.3, 3.7 .1, 4.2.2, 4.2.6, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9.9.3,
9.9.2, 9,10.1, 12.2.1, 13.5
Inskuctions to Bidders
Ll.l
Instructions to the Conhactor
3.2.4, 3.3.1, 3.8. l, 5.2. l, 7, 8.2.2, 12, 13.5.2
lnstruments of Service, Definition of
1.1.7
Insurance
3.1 8. l, 6. l. l, 7,3.7, 9.3.2, 9.8.4, 9.9. l, 9. 10.2, 1I
Insurance, Boiler and Machinery
lt.3.2
Insurance, Contractorts Liability
lr.1
Insurance, Effective Date of
8.2.2,11.1.2

Insurance, Loss of Use
1r.3.3
Insurance, Ownerts Liability
tl.2
Insurance, Property
10.2.5,11.3
Insurance, Stored Materials
9.3.2
INSURANCE AND BONDS
11

Insurance Companies, Consent to Partial Occupancy
9.9.1
Intent of the Conhact Documents
l -2.1, 4.2.7, 4.2.12, 4.2.13,',|.4
Interest
13.6
Interpretation
1.2.3, 1.4,4.1.1, 5.1, 6. 1.2, l5.l.l
Interpretations, Written
4.2.11,4,2.12, 15.1.4
Judgment on Final Award
ts.4.2
Labor and Materials, Equlpment
1.1.3, 1.1.6, 3.4, 3.5, 3.8.2, 3.9.3, 3.12, 3.13, 3.1 5.1,
4.2.6, 4.2.7, 5.2.1, 6.2.1, 7 .3.7, 9.3.2, 9.3.3, 9.5. I .3,

9.10.2, 10.2.1, 10.2.4, 14.2.1.1, I 4.2.1.2
Labor Disputes
8,3.1
Laws and Regulations
1.5, 3.2.3, 3.6, 3.7, 3,12.1 0, 3. I 3. l, 4. l. l, 9.6.4, g.g.l,
10.2.2, ll.l.l, I 1.3, 13. L l, 13.4, 13.5.1, 13.5.2,
13.6.1, 14, 15.2.8, 15.4
Liens
2.1.2, 9.3.3, 9, 10.2, g.l 0.4, 15.2.9
Limitations, Stahrtes of
12.2.5,13.7,15.4.1.1
Limitations of Liability
2.3.1, 3.2.2, 3.5, 3.12. I 0, 3. I 7, 3. I g. 1, 4.2.6, 4.2.7,
4,2,1 2, 6.2.2, 9.4.2, 9.6.4, 9.6.7, I 0. 2. 5, I 0. 3. 3,
I l. L2, I 1,2, 11.3.7, 12.2.5, 13.4.2
Limitations of Time
2.1.2, 2.2, 2.4, 3.2.2, 3. I 0, 3. I l, 3.12.5, 3,15.1, 4.2.7,
5.2, 5,3,1, 5.4.1, 6.2.4, 7 .3, 7 .4, 9.2, 9.2, 9.3. l, 9.3.3,
9.4. l, 9.5, 9.6, 9.7, g.g, g.g, 9.10, I 1.1.3, I 1.3. 1.5,
11.3.6, 1 1.3.10, 12.2, 13.5, 13,7, 14, l5
Loss of Use Insurance
11.3.3
Material Suppliers
1.5, 3. 12. l, 4,2.4, 4.2.6, 5.2. l, 9.3, 9,4,2, 9.6, 9.10.5
Materials, Hazardous
10.2.4, 10.3
Materials, Labor, Equipment and
L 1.3, l. 1.6, 1.5.1, 3.4. l, 3.5, 3.9.2, 3.9.3, 3.12,
3. 1 3. 1, 3. 1 5. l, 4.2.6, 4.2.1, 5.2.1, 6.2.1, 7 .3.7, 9.3.2,
9.3.3, 9.5. 1.3, 9.10,2, 10.2.1.2, 10.2.4, 14,2.1.1,
14.2.1.2

al Jb
A!^ Do@6t 1201! - 200?. Copyrlght o 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 193?' 1951' 1958, r961, 1963, 1966, 19?0, 19?6, 198?,
Anerican In3tltute of Archltects. ll:. rttbgr t...w.d. tLRlllllo: lbl. lll. Do@nt lr prct.daC by g,t. Copyrlght br sd tnt.httlon.l
fEaat.la!. Ortqthorkad raprcduatlon oa Clrtlllutr,on cf thla Atl. Doe|sDt, or my lpatlctr o! tt, qy ratult ln r.vala olvtl Bd crlllnal
tEm!.9i..., sd rtU b. plcr.dt.d Co tbr El!@.8t.nt lpratltl,. u&s tba l.r. ThIs dr.ft rae produced by AIA softtars ac 1,3:2?:21 on
02lOa/20f1 undeE Ord6t No.252?39?75?,1 ,hlch riplres on Ol/3L12012, and i. not for r€s.Ie.
U..F lfot..: {129881043?)

5



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8A5C-30E04A81 88F5

Means, Methods, Techniques, Sequences and
Procedures of Constuction
3.3. l, 3.12.10, 4.2.2, 4.2,7, 9,4.2
Mechanic's Lien
2.1.2,15.2.8
Mediation
8.3. l, 10.3.5, 10.3.6, I 5.2. I, I 5.2.5, 15.2.6, 15.3,
15.4.1
Minor Changes in the Work
l.l, l, 3.12.8, 4.2.8, 7.1, 7.4
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
13
Modifications, Definition of
1.1. r
Modifications to the Contract
l. l. 1, l. 1.2, 3.7 l, 4.1.2, 4.2.1, 5.2,3, 7, 8.3.1, 9,7,
10.3.2, I1.3.1
Mutual Responsibility
6.2
Nonconforming Work, Acceptance of
9.6.6,9.9.3,12.3
Nonconforming Work, Rejection and Conection of
2.3. l, 2.4,1, 3.5, 4.2.6, 6.2.4, 9.5.1, 9.8,2, 9.9.3,
9.t0.4,12.2.1
Notice
2.2.1, 2.3.1, 2.4.1, 3.2.4, 3.3,1, 3.7 .2, 3.12,9, 5.2. l,
9.7, 9,10, 10.2.2, I 1^|.3, 12.2.2.1, I 3.3, I 3.5. l,
13.5.2, 14. l, 14.2, 15.2.8, 15.4.1
Notice, Written
2.3.1, 2.4.1, 3.3.1, 3.9.2, 3.12.9, 3.12.10, 5.2.1, 9.7,
9.1o,10.2.2,10.3, I1.1.3, 11.3.6, 12.2.2.1, 13.3, 14,

15.2.8,15.4.1
Notice of Claims
3.7 .4, 10.2.8, l',l.2, 15.4
Notice of Testing and Inspections
13.5.1,13.5.2
Observations, Conhactor's
3.2,3.7.4
Occupancy
2.2.2, 9.6.6, 9.8, I 1.3.1.5
Orders, Written
l.l.l, 2.3, 3.9.2,7,8.2.2, | 1.3.9, 12,1, 12.2.2.1,
13.5.2,14.3.1
OWNER
2

Owner, Definition of
2.1.1
Owner, Information and Servlces Required of the
2,1.2, 2,2, 3.2.2, 3.12.1 0, 6.1,3, 6.1.4, 6.2.5, 9.3,2,
9.6.1, 9.6.4, 9.9.2, 9.10.3, I 0.3.3, I 1,2, I 1.3, 13.5. l,
13.5.2, 14.1.1.4, 14.1.4, 15.1.3
Owner's Authority
1.5, 2. l. l, 2.3.1, 2.4.1, 3.4.2, 3.8.1, 3. I 2. I 0, 3.1 4.2,
4.1.2, 4.1.3, 4.2.4, 4.2.9, 5.2.1, 5.2.4, 5.4. 1, 6. l, 6.3,
7 .2.1, 7 .3.1, 8.2.2, 8.3.1, 9.3.1, 9.3.2, 9.5.1, 9.6.4,
9.9.1, 9.10.2, 10.3.2, I l. 1.3, I 1.3.3, I 1.3.1 0, 12.2,2,
t2.3.1, 13.2.2, 1 4.3, t4.4, t 5.2.7

Owner's Financial Capability
2.2.1, 13.2.2, 14. l . r.4
Owner's Liability Insurance
lt.2
Owner's Relationship with Subcontractors
1.1.2, 5.2, 5.3, 5.4, 9.6.4, g.lA.2, 14.2.2
Owner's Right to Carry Out the Work
2.4,14.2.2
Owner's Right to Clean Up
6.3
Owner's Right to Perform Construction and to
Award Separate Contracts
6.t
Owner'g Right to Stop the Work
2.3
Owner's Right to Suspend the Work
t4.3
Owner's Right to Terminate the Conkact
14.2

Ownership and Use of Drawings, Specilicatlons
and Other Instruments of Servlce
l.l.l, 1.1.6, 1.1.7, 1.5, 2.2.5,3,2.2,3.1Ll, 3.17,
4.2.12,5.3.1
Partial Occupancy or Use
9.6.6,9.9,11.3.1.5
Patching, Cutting and
3.14,6.2.5
Patents
3.17
Payment, Applications for
4.2.5, 7 .3.9, 9.2, 9,3, 9.4, 9.5, 9.6.3, 9.7, 9.9.5, g. I 0. l,
14.2.3,14.2.4,14.4.3
Payment, Certilicates for
4.2.5, 4.2.9, 9.3,3, 9.4, 9.5, 9.6. 1, 9.6.6, 9.7, g.l0.l,
9.10.3, 13.7, 14.1.1.3, 14.2.4
Payment, Failure of
9.5.1.3, 9.7,9.10.2, 13.6, 14.1.1.3, 14.2.1.2
Payment, Final
4.2.1,4.2.9,9.8.2, g.10, Il.1.2, IL1.3, I1.4.1, 12.3.l,
13.7 , t4.2.4, 14.4.3
Payment Bond, Performance Bond aud
7 .3.7 .4,9.6.7 ,9.r0.3, tt.4
Payments, Progress
9.3, 9.6, 9.8.5, 9. I 0.3, 13.6, 14.2.3, 15.r.3
PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION
9
Payments to Subcontractors
5.4.2, 9.5. 1.3, 9.6.2, 9.6.3, 9.6.4, 9.6.7, I 4.2.1 .2

PCB
10.3.1
Performance Bond and Paynent Bond
7.3.7 .4, 9.6.7, 9.10.3, ll.4
Permits, Fees, Notices and Compliance with Laws
2.2.2, 3.7, 3.13, 7 .3.1 .4, 10.2.2
PERSONS AND PROPERTY, PROTECTION
OF
l0

al Jh
Itl Doelbnt r2O1E - 200t. copyright o 1911, 1915. 1918, 1925, 193?, 1951, 1958, 1951, 1963, !966, 1970, 19?5, 198?,
Ah€lican tnsEltute of ArchlCects. lll llgbg. a...Fad. rANINOT ThL ALlp Docrent, i.. pro!.ct.d by g.S, Copyr,.tht Ltr ud tnt.rn.llonrl
tr.atl.t. qnaqthotl!.d !.ploducttci o! d:la0rLlullon ol lhla l:4. Doceni, o8 6tr portlon c! tt, uy raautt ln aavara clvll sC oBlELdrl
Fnr!.tl.., ud rlll b. P!or.4t.d tg tb.81EE qtant lb..Lbl. sC.a th. lrr. ThIs draft sas pEoduced by AtA softear. .t 13:2?r2l on
OZIOA/20LL undet ord€r No,232739'l'167-L rhlch sxplr€s o^ oll3L/2O12. and ls not for resals.
Ur.! Not... (1298810{3?}

6



DoouSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404.8ASC-30E04A8188Fs

Polychlorinated Biphenyl
10.3.1
Product Data, Definition of
3.12.2
Product Data and Srmples, Shop Drawings
3.11,3.12,4.2.7
Progress and Completion
4.2.2, 8,2,9.8, 9.9.1, 14. 1.4, 15,1.3
Progress Payments
9.3, 9.6, 9.8.5, 9.10.3, 13.6, 14.2.3, 15.1.3
Project, Definition of
1.1.4
Project Representatives
4.2.10
Property Insurance
10.2.5,11.3
PROTECTION OF' PERSONS AND PROPERTY
l0
Regulations and Laws
1,5, 3,2.3, 3.6, 3.7, 3. I 2. I 0, 3. I 3, 4. l. l, 9.6.4, g.g.l,
10.2.2, 11.1, 11.4, 13.1,13.4, 13.5.1,13.5.2, 13.6, 14,
15.2.8,15.4
Rejection of Work
3,5,4.2.6,12.2.1
Releases and Waivers of Liens
9.10.2
Representations
3.2. l, 3.5, 3. 12.6, 6.2.2, 9,2,1, 9.3.3, 9.4.2, 9 .5 .1,
9.8,2,9.10.1
Representatives
2. L l, 3. l.l, 3.9, 4.1.1, 4.2.1, 4.2.2, 4.2. I 0, 5.1. I,
5.1.2,13.2.1
Responsibility for Those Performing the Work
3.3.2, 3.18, 4.2.3, 5.3.1,6.1.3,6.2,6.3, 9,5.1, l0
Retainage
9.3.1, 9.6.2, 9.8.5, 9.9.1, g. 10.2, 9.10.3
Review of Contract Documents and Field
Conditlons by Contractor
3.2,3,12.7,6.1.3
Review of Contractor's Submittals by Owner and
Architsct
3. I 0. l, 3. I 0.2, 3.1 l, 3.72, 4.2, 5.2, 6.1 .3, 9.2, 9.9.2
Review of Shop Drawings, Product Data and
Samples by Conhactor
3.t2
Rights and Remedies
1.7.2, 2.3, 2.4, 3.5, 3.7 .4, 3.1 5.2, 4.2.6, 5,3, 5.4, 6.1,
6,3, 7 .3.1, 8.3, 9.5. l, 9.7, 10.2.5, 10.3, 12.2.2, 12.2.4,
13.4,14,15.4
Royalties, Patents and Copyrights
3.17
Rules and Notices for Arbihation
15.4.1

Safety of Persons and Property
10.2, 10.4
Safety Precautions and Programs
3.3.1, 4.2.2, 4.2.7, 5.3.1, 10.1, 10.2, 10.4

Samples, Definition of
3.t2.3
Samples, Shop Drawings, Product Data and
3.11,3.12,4.2.7
Samples at the Site, Documents and
3.11
Schedule ofValues
9.2,9.3.1
Schedules, Construction
3.10, 3.12.1, 3.12.2, 6.1.3, 15.l.5.2
Separate Contracts and Contractors
l .l .4, 3.12.5, 3. I 4.2, 4.2.4, 4.2.7, 6, 9.3.1, I 2.1 .2
Shop Drawings, Definition of
3.12.1
Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples
3.11,3.12,4.2.7
Site, Use of
3.13, 6.1.1, 6.2.1
Site Inspections
3.2.2, 3.3.3, 3.7, l, 3,7 .4, 4.2, 9.4.2, g. I 0. l, I 3.5
Site Visits, Architect's
3.7 .4, 4.2.2, 4.2,9, 9.4.2, 9.5.1, 9.9.2, g. I 0. l, I 3.5
Special Inspections and Testing
4.2.6, 12.2.1,13.5
Specifi cations, Defi nition of
1.1.6
Specifications
l. 1. l, 1.1.6, 1.2.2, 7.5, 3. I l, 3. 12. 10, 3.17, 4.2.14
Statute of Limitations
13.7,15.4.1.1
Stopping the Work
2.3,9.7,10.3, 14.l
Stored Materials
6.2.1, 9.3.2, 10.2.1.2, 10,2.4
Subcontractor, Definition of
5.1.1
SUBCONTRACTORS
I
Subcontractors, Work by
1 .2.2, 3,3.2, 3.12.1, 4.2.3, 5.2.3, 5.3, 5.4, 9,3.1 .2,
9.6.7
Subcontractual Relations
5.3, 5.4, 9.3.1.2, 9.6, g. I 0, 10.2.1, 14.1, 14.2.1
Submittals
3. I 0, 3. I l, 3.72, 4.2.7, 5.2.1, 5.2.3, 7 .3.7, 9.2, 9.3,
9.8, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 9.10.3, 11.1.3
submittal schedule
3.10.2,3.12.5,4.2.7
Subrogation, Waivers of
6.1.1,11.3.7
Substantial Completion
4.2.9,g.l.l, g.1.3, 9.2.3, 9,4.2,g.E, g.g.l, g.10.3,

12.2,13.7
Substantial Completion, Definition of
9.E.1

Substitution of Subconhactors
5.2.3,5,2.4

el Jh
lLl D6!t,Dnt lto'.! - l0O?. Copyrlght o 1911, 1915, 1918, Lt25. L931, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 19?0, 19?6, 198?,
Anorican In3tltute of Archltects. All

raprcductlcn or
rl'ghta r.rawad,
dl.tiLbuttcn ot

rulflllo: ntl! Att Do@nt t't plot.etad by O.g
tbi,a AfA. Do@nt, or sy

Copyrlgh! Lar sd Intalnttlonal

pfor.stad tc tba uIEr GtanC tFrltbla wd.s tba ltr, Th
Ipatlon
Is dreft

ot lt, sy taaulC tn ..vara ctvtl tnd oltrl'nat
ras produced by AIA softsare at l3:2t:21 on

(1298810437)

!!artLaa, Onruthorlt.d
Fmltlat, 6d rt!.l b.
oZlOAl2OlL und6r order
Uaaa llctaa:

No.2527397767-l ,hlch oxpises on 01,/3L/2OL2, and ls not lor rerale

7



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36.4404"8A5C-30E04A8188Fs

Substitution of Architect
4.r.3
Substitutions of Materials
3,4.2,3.5,7.3.8
Sub-subcontractor, Defi nition of
5.1.2
Subsurface Conditions
3.7.4
Successors and Assigns
t3.2
Superintendent
3.9,10.2.6
Supervision and Construction Procedures
1.2.2, 3.3, 3,4, 3 .12. I 0, 4.2.2, 4.2,7, 6.1 .3, 6.2.4,
7.1.3, 7.3.7, 8.2, 9,3. l, 9.4.2, 10, 12, 14, 15. 1.3

Surety
5.4.1 .2, 9. 8. 5, 9. I 0.2, 9 .l 0.3, | 4.2,2, | 5.2.7
Surety, Consent of
9.10.2,9.10.3
Surveys
2.2.3

Suspension by the Owner for Convenience
14.3
Suspension of the Work
5.4.2,14.3
Suspension or Termination of the Contract
5.4.1.1, 14

Taxes
3.6,3.8.2.1,7.3.7.4
Termination by the Contractor
14.1,15.1,6
Termination by the Owner for Cause
5.4.1.1,14,2,15.1.6
Termination by the Owner for Convenience
14.4
Termination of the Architect
4.1.3
Termination of the Contractor
14.2.2
TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE
CONTRACT
t4
Tests and Inspections
3. I . 3, 3, 3.3, 4.2.2, 4.2.6, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9 .8.3, 9.9.2,
9.10. l, 10.3.2, I 1.4.1.1, 12.2.1, 13.5
TIME
E

Time, Delays and Extensions of
3.2.4, 3.7.4, 5.2.3, 7,2,1, 7.3.1, 7.4, E.3, 9.5. l, 9.7,
10.3.2, 10,4.1, 14.3.2, 15.1.5, 15.2.5
Time Limits
2.1.2, 2.2, 2.4, 3.2.2, 3. I 0, 3. 1 l, 3.12.5, 3.1 5.1, 4.2,
5.2, 5.3, 5.4, 6.2.4, 7,3, 7 .4, 8.2, 9.2, 9.3. l, 9.3.3,
9.4.1, 9.5, 9,6, 9.7, 9.9, g.g, 9. 10, I l, 1.3, 12.2, 13.5,
13.7,14,15.1.2,15.4

Time Limits on Claims
3.7 .4, 10.2.8, 13.7, 15,1.2
Title to Work
9.3.2,9,3.3
Transmlssion of Data in Digital Form
1.6
UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF
WORK
t2
Uncovering of Work
t2.t
Unforeseen Conditions, Concealed or Unknown
3.7.4, 8.3.1, 10.3
Unit Prices
7.3.3.2,7.3.4
Use of Documents
l.l.l, 1.5, 2.2.5, 3.12.6, 5.3
Use of Site
3.13,6.1.1,6.2.1
Values, Schedule of
9.2,9.3.1
Waiver of Claims by the Architect
13.4.2
Waiver of Claims by the Contractor
9.10,5, 13.4.2, 15.1.6
Waiver of Claims by the Owner
9.9.3, 9. 1 0.3, 9.10.4, 12.2.2.1, 13.4.2, 1 4.2.4, 1 5.1,6
Waiver of Consequential Damages
14.2.4,15.t.6
Waiver of Liens
9.10.2,9.10.4
Waivers of Subrogation
6.1.1,11.3,7
Warranty
3.5, 4.2.9, 9.3.3, 9.9.4, g.g. l, g. 1 0.4, 12.2.2, 13.7
Weather Delays
15. I .5.2
Work, Definition of
1.1.3

Written Consent
1 .5.2, 3.4.2, 3.7 .4, 3 .12.9, 3. | 4.2, 4. I .2, 9.3.2, 9.9.5,
9.9. 1, 9. 1 0.2, 9. 1 0.3, I 1.4.1, 13.2, 13.4.2, 15.4.4.2
Written Interpretations
4.2.11,4.2.12
Written Notice
2.3, 2.4, 3.3.1, 3,9, 3.12.9, 3,12,70, 5.2.1, 9.2.2, 9.7,
9.10, 10.2.2, 1 0.3, I L 1.3, 12.2.2, 12.2.4, 133, 14,
15.4.1
Written Orders
l.l.l, 2.3, 3.9, 7, 8.2.2, 12.1, 12.2, 13,5,2, 14.3.1,
15.t.2

a/ Jh
ll Dccqnt r201r - 200?. Copyrtqht O 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1,966, 19?0. l9?5, 198?,
Aeerican Instltute of Architscts. ll.l- r19bt. r...r.d, fANItlO: nrt. Atl. Dooutrt 1r prot.ct..l by q.S, Coptltgbt t r ud tnt.nllloa.l
T!a.tl,at. gnautholkad E.proCusttoo or diatltbutr,on ol thla llA. Do@nt, or &y porlloa ol lt, uy laault Ln aavala clvtl ud crlbj'nrl
tnnaltlatr Fd rlU ba PloaawtaC to tha ulau ulant tFrrlbl. sdas tba lrr. thls draft wrs producdd by AIA softHere at 13:2?:21 on
O2l0a,l20ll unde! Ordor tro.252?39??67_l rhlch oxplr€s on O1',13t/20L2, .nd ls noi !gr resale.
lt..E Not..: (1.29881043?l

8



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36-4404-8A5C-30E04A8188Fs

ARTICLE I GENERAL PROVISIONS

s r.r BAslc DEFrNrTloNs

$ 1.1.{ THE CoNTRACT DOCUMENTS
The Contract Documents are enumerated in the Agreement between the Owner and Contractor (hereinafter the
Agreement) and consist of the Agreement, General Conditions of the Contract, Drawings, Specifications, Addenda
issued prior to execution of the Contract, other documents listed in the Agreement and Modifications issued after
execution of the Contract. A Modification is (l) a written amendment to the Conhact signed by both parties, (2) a
Change Order, (3) a Construction Change Dkective or (4) a written order for a minor change in the Work issued by
the Architect. The Agreement and the Conhact Documents do not include the advertisement or invitation to bid,
Instructions to Bidders, sample forms, other information fumished by the Owner in anticipation of receiving bids or
proposals, the Contractor's bid or proposal, or portions of Addenda relating to bidding requirements.

$ 1.1.2 THE CONTRACT
The Contract Documents form the Conhact for Conskuction. The Contract represents the entire and integrated
agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes prior negotiations, representations or agrebments, either written
or oral. The Contract may be amended or modified only by a Modification. The Contract Documents shall not be
construed to create a contractual relationship ofany kind (1) benveen the Contractor and the Architect or the
Architect's consultants, (2) between the Owner and a Subcontractor or a Sub-subcontractoq (3) between the Owner
and the Architect or the Architect's consultants or (4) between any persons or entities other than the Owner and the
Conffactor. The Architect shall, however, be entitled to performance and enforcement of obligations under the
Contract intended to facilitate performance of the Architect's duties.

s 1.1.3 THE WoRK
The term "Work" means the construction and services required by the Contract Documents, whether completed or
partially completed, and includes all other labor, materials, equipment and services provided or to be provided by
the Contractor to fulfill the Contractor's obligations. The Work may constitute the whole or a part of the Project.

$ 1.1.4 THE PROJECT
The Project is the total construction of which the Work performed under the Contract Documents may be the whole
or a part and which may include construction by the Owner and by separate conffactors.

s 1.1.5 THE DRAWTNGS

The Drawings are the graphic and pictorial portions of the Contract Documents showing the design, location and
dimensions of the Work, generally including plans, elevations, sections, details, schedules and diagrams.

s 1.1.6 THE SPECTFTCATIoNS

The Specifications are that portion of the Contract Documents consisting of the written requirements for materials,
equipment, systems, standards and workmanship for the Work, and performance of related services.

$ I.1.7|NSTRUMENTS OF SERVTCE

Instruments ofService are representations, in any medium ofexpression now known or later developed, ofthe
tangible and intangible creative work performed by the Architect and the Architect's consultants under their
respective professional services agreements, Instruments of Service may include, without limitation, studies,
surveys, models, sketches, drawings, specifications, and other similar materials.

$ 1.1.E Not Used.

s 1.2 CORRELATIoN AND TNTENT OF THE CONTRACT DoCUMENTS

$ 1.2.,l The intent of the Contract Documents is to include all items necessary for the propor execution and
completion of the Work by the Conhactor. The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is required by
one shall be as binding as if required by all; performance by the Contractor shall be required only to the extent
consistent with the Contract Documents and reasonably inferable from them as being necessary to produce the
indicated results. The Work shall consist of all items specifically included in the Contract Documents, as well as all
additional items of work which are reasonably inferable from that which is specified in order to complete the Work
in aciordance with the Contract Documents, Any differences between the requirements of the Drawings and the
Specifications or any differences noted within the Drawings themselves or withia the Specifications
ofwhich are recognized by the Conhactor or which should reasonably have been recognize'd by the
exercising the standard of care ordinarily exercised by a contractor of the Contractor's like skill and

themselves, any

llll ooMnt ll,20r! - 2007. Copyrlght € 19r1, 1915, 1918, 1925, 193?, 1951, 1958, 196!, 1963, 1966, 19?0, 1976, 198?,
Anerlcan lnatltute of Archltecti. l1I rtgbtr r..aRad. Anltll(;: lbll AIA. Do@n! l. plotactad by O.S, Copyrlght trr ed tnt.hrtr.onll
Iraatt.r. Unruthortrad lapfoductl'on ga Clatallutlgn ot tbla An Doc@nt. or uy tFEtton o! lt,, qy raaul! tn aav.Ea oLvtt sd cllbtDal
tnntltlaa, ed rlll ba PEoradt.d to tha Drl@ utant lbrrlbla sd.E tha IN. Thl! draf! pas pEoduc€d by AIA soft{ale at t3:2?:21 on
02/0Al2OLI under Order No,2527397?6?-l whlch cxplres o^ 0tltL/2OL2, and 1r not fo! rEs.Ie.
lt..a Not..: (129091043?l

0s

Jh

I



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-8F36.4404.8A5C-30E04A8188F5

be promptly referred to the Owner by the Contractor for clarification or explanation.

$ L2,2 Organization of the Specifications into divisions, sections and articles, and arrangement of Drawings shall not
control the Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or in establishing the extent of Work to be
performed by any trade.

$ 1.2,3 Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, words that have well-known technical or construction
industry meanings are used in the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meanings.
$ 1.2.3,1 In general, the Drawings are intended to nominate and establish the location, quantity and relationship of
work, and the Specifications are intended to define the type and quality of materials and workmanship requirements
of the work shown.

$ 1.2,3.2 When a requirement is made by the Contract Documents that is not possible to meet, such as the
requirements for an unavailable material, the Contractor shall submit prompt notice to the Owner and Architect for
direction under Article 4.2.1 with approval by Owner as required.

$ 1.2.4 The Conhactor shall provide and erect acceptable barricades, fences, signs and other traffrc devices to protect
the Work from traffic and the public in the manner requircd by the Contract Documents."

$ 1.3 CAP|TALTZATTON

Terms capitalized in these General Conditions include those that are (l) specifically defined, (2) the tirles of
numbered articles or (3) the titles of other documents published by the American Institute of Architects.

s I.4INTERPRETATION
In the interest of brevity the Contract Documents frequently omit modi$ing words such as "all" and "any" and
articles such as "the" and "an," but the fact that a modifier or an article is absent from one statement and appears in
another is not intended to affect the interpretation of either statement.

s 1.5 OWNERSHIP AND USE 0F DRAWNGS, SPECIFICATTONS AND OTHER TNSTRUMENTS OF SERVTCE

$ 1.5.1 The Architect and the Architect's consultants shall be deemed the authors and owners of their re spective
Insffuments of Service, including the Drawings and Specifications, and will retain all common law, statutory and
other reserved rights, including copyrights. The Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors, and material or
equipment suppliers shall not own or claim a copyright in the Instruments of Service. Submittal or distribution to
meet official regulatory requirements or for other purposes in connection with this Project is not to be construed as
publication in derogation ofthe Architect's or Architect's consultants' reserved rights.

! 1.5.2 The Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subcontractors and material or equipment suppliers are authorized to use
and reproduce the Instruments of Service provided to them solely and exclusively for execution of the Work. All
copies made under this authorization shall bear the copyright notice, if any, shown on the Instruments of Service.
The Contractor, Subcontractors, Sub-subconractors, and material or equipment suppliers may not use the
Insfruments of Service on other projects or for additions to this Project outside the scope of the Work without the
specific written consent of the Owner, Architect and the Architect's consultants.

s 1.6 TRANSMTSSTON OF DATA tN D|G|TAL FORM

If the parties intend to transmit Instruments of Service or any other information or documentation in digital form,
they shall endeavor to establish necessary protocols governing such transmissions, unless otherwise already
provided in the Agreement or the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 2 OWNER

$ 2.1 GENERAL

$ 2.1.1 The Owner is the person or entity identilied as such in the Agreement and is referred to throughout the
Conhact Documents as if singular in number. The Owner shall designate in writing a representative who shall have
express authority to bind the Owner with respect to all matters requiring the Owner's approval or authorization.
Except as otherwise provided in Section 4,2.1, the Architect does not have such authority. The term "Owner" means
the Owner or the Owner's authorized representative

$ 2.1.2 The Owner shall furnish to the Contractor within fifteen days after receipt of a written request, information
necessary and relevant for the Contractor to evaluate, give notice ofor enforce mechanic's lien rights. Such
information shall include a correct statement of the record legal title to the property on which the Project
usually refened to as the site, and the Owner's interest therein.

rlt D6ct4nt 1201n - 2007. copyrlghr o 1911, 1tl5. 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1938, 1961, 1963, 1965. r9?0, 19?6, 198?

al Jb
hsrlcan Instltutc of Archtt€cts, lll
lfrartr.a.. Itaautbolirad raprodu€ttcn o!

aLght! t...w.C. l.Nrf,O: fhlt AlA. Do@nU 1. p.ot.ct.d by O,S. Copyrlgbt L.r ed rnt.rDrtLonrl
dl,ltll-bultcn ol thla EA' Do@nt, oE uy tFrtLon of ,,9, qy r.rult ln aavalr clv:ll ed crbln.l

Ploaa@t.d tg Cha ula@ qtant potalbl. sdar lba:,N. Thts draft ras producad by AIA loftware at l3t2?:2l on
No,252?39775?_l rhlch erplr€! od 0l/31/2012, and 1s not fo! !esal6.

(129€810437t

tFnrltl.., ud rtl,l b.
O2/OA/201L under order
Pr.! llct.ari

10



DocuSign Envelope lO: 1 83586FS-EF36-4404-8A5C-30E04A8188Fs

$ 2.1, 3 The Owner reserves the right to observe the Work at any time within reason, as coordinated with Contractor
The presence of the Owner or its representatives at the project site does not imply concurence or approval of the
Work.

$ 2.2 TNFORMATION AND SERVTCES REoU|RED OF THE oWNER

$2.2.1PriortocommencementoftheWork,theContractor
may request in writing that the Owner provide reasonable svidence that the Owner has made financial arrangements
to fulfill the Owner's obligations under the Contract. Thereafter, the Contractor may only request such evidence if
(l) the Owner fails to make paym€nts to the Contractor as the Conhact Documents require; (2) a change in the Work
materially changes the Contract Sum; or (3) the Contractor identifies in writing a reasonable concem regarding the
Owner's ability to make payment when due. The Owner shall furnish such evidence as a condition precedent to
cornmencement or continuation of the Work or the portion of the Work affected by a material change. After the
Owner furnishes the evidence, the Owner shall not materially vary such furancial arrangements without prior notice
to the Contractor.

$ 2.2,2 Unless provided specifically to the contrary, the Owner shall be responsible for obtaining and paying for all
permits, licenses, fees, and charges, excepting only the Contractor's license. By way of example and not limitation,
the Owner shall secure and pay separately and outside thc Conhact Sum for all necessary approvals, assessments,
permits, licenses, fees, charges, and costs related to the real properlry, including title, easements, and zoning; use or
occupancy of permanent structurss, including compliance with applicable codes; permanent changes in existing
facilities; permits and authorizations for effluent, air pollution, water pollution, or other environmental impacts;
removal and disposal of hazardous, toxic, contaminated, or harmful substances; impact or other fees related to the
effect of completed construction on utilities; and satisSing requirements of governmental authorities.

$ 2.2.3 The Owner shall fumish surveys describing physical characteristics, legal limitations and utility locations for
the site ofthe Project, and a legal description ofthe site. The Contractor shall be entitled to rely on the accuracy of
information furnished by the Owner but shall exercise proper precautions relating to the safe performance of the
Work,

$ 2.2.4 The Owner shall furnish information or services required of the Owner by the Contract Documents with
reasonable promptness. The Owner shall also fumish any other information or services under the Owner's control
and relevant to the Contractor's performance of the Work with reasonable promptness after receiving the
Contractor's written request for such information or services.

$ 2.2.5 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Owner shall furnish to the Contractor one copy of
the Contract Documents for purposes of making reproductions pursuant to Section 1.5.2.

s 2.3 owNER',S RrGHT TO SToP THE WORK
If the Contractor fails to correct Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents as
required by Section 12.2 or materially fails to carry out Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, then after
written notice to the Contractor and opportunity to cure, the Owner may issue a written order to the Contractor to
stop the Work, or any portion thereof until the cause for such order has been eliminated; however, the right of the
Owner to stop the Work shall not give rise to a duty on the part of the Owner to exercise this right for the beneht of
the Contractor or any other person or entity, except to the extent required by Section 6. 1.3.

s 2.4 OWNER'S R|GHT TO CARRY oUT THE WoRK
If the Conhactor defaults or neglects to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents and fails
within a ten-day period (unless extended by Owner) after receipt of written notice from the Owner and fails to
commence and continue correction of such default or neglect with diligence and promptness, the Owner may,
without prejudice to other remedies the Owner may have, corect such deficiencies, In such case an appropriate
Changc Order shall be issued deducting from payments then or thereafter due the Contractor the reasonable cost of
conecting such deficiencies, including Owner's expenses and compensation for the Architect's additional services
made necessary solely by such default, neglect or failure. Such action by the Owner and amounts charged to the
Contractor are both subject to prior approval ofthe Architect. Ifpayments then or thereafter due the Contactor are
not sufficient to cover such amounts, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner.

ARTICLE3 CONTRACTOR

s 3.1 GENERAL

$ 3.1.1 The Contractor is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement and is referred to

Al,f, Do@nb A20F - a00?. Copyrtght O 19r1, 1915. 1918, 1t25, 193?, 19S1, !,958, 19Ft, 1963, r966, 19?0, 19?6, 190?,
Anerlcan lnstltuts of Archltect!. ll1 !19ht. !.r.*.C, l^ltllllo: lhl. A1A. Doct4n! tt prot.d.d by O.A. Copyllght Llr ud
t!t..tl.r. Onrulho3lt.C !.pEoCuctt'on or dl.tEtbutlon o! tbl. A!4. Do@t, o! sy tpdr.oE o! tt, uy Eaaul,t ln tavara olvtl, dd clr.rdnal
tf,n.ltl.., 6d rlll ba PEcaasg.d !o th. 4rtru qtadt tDr.tbl. ud.! th. lrr. Tht! dr.ft e.s produc€d by AtA .ofttaro.t L3:2?:21 on
O2lOAl20lf under Ordqr No.252?39??6?-l Hhlch exptlss o^ 0l/3L/2012, and li not for resale.
Or.a N6tr.: (1299810{3?l

D9

Jb

11



DocuSlgn Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8ASC-30E04A8188F5

Contract Documents as if singular in number. The Conhactor shall be lawfully licensed, if required in the
jurisdiction where the Project is located. The Contractor shall designate in writing a representative who shall have
express authority to bind the Conhactor with respect to all matters under this Contract. The term "Contractor" means
the Contractor or the Contractor's authorized representative.

$ 3.1.1.1 The Contractor is responsible for determining that all of the Contractor's subcontractors are insured and
duly licensed in accordance with the federal, state and local licensing laws unless otherwise agreed by Owner.

$ 3.,l.2 The Contractor shall perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

$ 3.1'3 The Contractor shall not be relieved of obligations to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract
Documents either by activities or duties of the Archit€ct in the Architect's administration of the Confract, or by tests,
inspections or approvals required or performed by persons or entities other than the Contractor.

s 3.2 REVIEW 0F CoNTRACT DoCUMENTS AND FTELD CONDTTTONS By CONTRACTOR

$ 3.2.1 Execution of the Contract by the Contractor is a representation that the Contractor has visited ths site, become
generally familiar with local conditions under which the Work is to be performed and correlated personal
observations with requirements of the Contract Documents.

The Conhactor acknowledges and declares that it has visited and examined the site; generally examined
visible conditions affecting the Work; and is generally familiar with the conditions thereon and thereunder affecting
the same. In connection therewith, the Contractor specifically represents and warrants to the Owner that it has
reviewed: (l) the nature, location, and character of the Project and the site, including, without limitation, the surface
conditions of the site and all sffuctures and obstructions thereo{, both natural and man-made, and all swface water
conditions of the site and the surrounding uea; (2) the natrue, location, and character of the general area in which
the Project is located, including, without limitation, its climatic conditions, available labor supply and labor costs,
and available equipment supply and equipment costs; and (3) the quality and quantity of all materials, supplies,
tools, equipment, and labor necessary to complete the Work in the manner and within the cost and time frame
required by the Contract Documents.

In connection with the foregoing, and having examined all Conhact Documents as aforesaid and having
visited the site, the Contractor acknowledges and declares that it has no knowledge of any discrepancies, omissions,
ambiguities, or conflicts in said Contract Documents that it has not discussed with Owner and that if it becomes
aware of any such discrepancies, omissions, ambiguities, or conflicts, it will promptly notiff the Owner of such fact,

Further, Contractor recognizes the extra degree ofcare required under the urban site conskuction
circumstances with respect to safety, protection of pedestrians, cleanliness of the site, health and other laws, and
protection of existing utilities, adjacent streets, and property. In arriving at the Contract Sum and the Contract Time,
the Contractor has or will, as an experienced and prudent conhactor, exercise(d) its bestjudgment and expertise to
include the impact of such circumstances upon the Contract Sum and Contract Time. The parties agree that time is
of the essence with respect to all time requirements in the Conhact Documents."

$ 3.2.2 Because the Conhact Documents are complementary, the Contractor shall, before starting each portion of the
Work, carefully study and compare the various Contract Documents relative to that portion of the Work, as well as
the information furnished by the Owner pursuant to Section 2.2.3, shall take field measurements of any existing
conditions related to that portion of the Work, and shall observe any conditions at the site affecting it. These
obligations are for the purpose of facilitating coordination and construction by the Contractor and are not for the
purpose of discovering errors, omissions, or inconsistencies in the Contract Documents; however, the Contractor
shall promptly report to the Architect and Owner any errors, inconsistencies or omissions discovered by or made
known to the Contractor as a request for information in such form as the Architect may require. It is recognized that
the Contractor's review is made in the Conffactor's capaci$r as a conhactor and not as a licensed design
professional, unless otherwise specifically provided in the Contact Documents. Nothing herein is intended to
preclude the Contractor from delegating responsibility and control over construction means, methods, techniques,
sequences and procedures to subcontractors performing portions of the Work.

$ 3.2.3 The Contractor is not required to ascertain that the Conhact Documents are in accordance with applicable
laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities, but the Contractor
shall promptly report to the Architcct and Owner any nonconformity discovered by or made known to the Contractor
as a request for information in such form as the Architect may require.

$ 3.2.4 If the Contractor believes that additional cost or time is involved because of olarifications
Architect or the Owner issues in response to the Contractor's notices or requests for information

or the
b 8a{ Jh

l:,l Dc.Ent l20t! - 200?. Copyrlght € 1911, 1915, 1918, I925, 193?, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1953, 1966. 19?0, 1976, l9d?
An.rlcan tnstltueo of Archltects. tL! .tgbt. r...w.d. nRlllllcl: lbl. Atl.
llEaatl,aa, Onrutboliaad laproduct'r,on or CLttrlbutlon o! t,hla llA. Do@nt,
Fnaltl.t, Dd rLll ba proraot.d go lba ubr 6tant lEr.Lbla qd.r tbag2l0Al20ll under Ord€r No,252?39??6?_1 ehlch oxplles on 01/31/2012, 8nd (t

Do@nt l. progacttd by O.S. Copyltght Lr.nd tnt.lnrtloD.l
or uy lDrtl'on ol lt', By laault !.n r.vata clvll ad orLdnrl
lrr, thl. draft ras produced by AIA softw.re .t 13!2?t21 on
nol for lesele.

gaar Notaa r (l.298810437)

,.2



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5.EF364404-8A5C-30E04A8188Fs

Sections 3,2,2 or 3.2.3, the Contactor shall make Claims as provided in Article 15. If the Contractor fails to perform
the obligations of Sections 3.2.2 or 3.2.3, the Contractor shall pay such costs and damages to the Owner as would
have been avoided if the Contractor had performed such obligations. If the Conhactor performs those obligations,
the Contractor shall not be liable to the Owner or Architect for damages resulting from errors, inconsistencies or
omissions in the Contract Documents, for differences bstween field measurements or conditions and the Contract
Documents, or for nonconformities of the Contract Documents to applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules
and regulations, and lawful orders ofpublic authorities.

$ 3.2.5 If any errors, inconsistcncies or omission in Contract Documents are recognized or reasonably should have
been recognized by the Contractor, the Contractor shall be responsible for notifuing the Owner in writing of such
error, inconsistency or omission before proceeding with the Work. The Owner will take such notice under
advisement and within a reasonable time commensurate with job progtess render a decision. If Contractor fails to
give such notice and proceeds with such Work, it shall conect any such errors, inconsistencies or omissions. Owner
shall bear all resulting costs except the additional costs that resulted from Contractor's failure to comply with this
provision.

s 3.3 SUPERVTSTON AND CONSTRUCTION PRoCEDURES

$ 3'3,1 The Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work, using the Contractor's best skill and attention. The
Contractor shall be solely responsible for, and have control over, construction means, methods, techniques,
sequences and procedures and for coordinating all portions of the Work under the Contract, unless the Conhact
Documents give other specific inshuctions concerning these matters. If the Contract Documents give specific
inshuctions concerning construction means, methods, techniques, sequences orprocedwes, the Conffactor shall not
be liable for any adverse consequences from adhering to such instructions, including but not limited to the failure of
such instructions to produce desired results. If the Conhactor determines that such means, methods, techniques,
sequences or procedures may not be safe, the Conhactor shall give timely written notice to the Owner and Architect
and shall not proceed with that portion of the Work without further written instructions from the Owner or Architect
when applicable. If the Contractor is then instructed to proceed with the required means, methods, techniques,
sequences or procedures without acceptance of changes proposed by the Contractor, the Owner shall be solely
responsible for any loss or damage arising solely from those Owner-required rneans, methods, techniques, sequences
or procedures.

! 3.3.2 As provided herein the Contractor shall be responsible to the Owner for acts and omissions of the
Contractor's employees, Subcontractors and their agents and employees, and other persons or entities performing
portions of the Work under a contract with Contractor for, or on behalf of, the Conhactor or any of its
Subconhactors.

$ 3.3.3 The Contractor shall be responsible for inspection of portions of Work already performed to determine that
such portions are in proper condition to receive subsequent Work.

s 3.4 LABOR AND MATERTALS

$ 3'4'1 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall provide and pay for labor,
materials, equipment, tools, conshuction equipment and machinery, water, heat, utilities, transportation, and other
facilities and services necessary forproper execution and completion of the Work, whether temporary or permanent
and whether or not incorporated or to be incorporated in the Work.

$ 3.4.2 Except in the case of minor changes in the Work authorized by the Owner or Architect when applicable,in
accordance with Sections 3.12.8 or7.4, the Contractor may make substihrtions only with the consent of the Owner,
after evaluation by the Architect and in accordance with a Change Order or Conshuction Change Directive.
S 3.4.2.1 By making requests for substitutions as provided above, the Contractor represents thaithe Contractor or its
Subconhactor has investigated the proposed substitute product and unless otherwise agreed, determined that it is
equal or superior in all respects to that specified, represents that the Contractor will provide the same warranty for
the substitution that the Conhactor would for that specihed; certified that the cost presented is complete and includes
all related costs under this Agreement except the Architect's redesign costs, and waives all ilaims for additional
costs related to the substitution that subsequently become apparent; and will coordinate the installation of the
accepted substitute, making such changes as may be required for the Work to be completed,in all respects.

$ 3.4.3 The Contractor shall enforce strict discipline and good order among the Contractor's employees and other
persons carrying out the Work. The Contractor shall not permit employment of unfit persons orpersons
skilled in tasks assigned to them. Jh
At.l Doclant 1201! - 200t. CopyEtghr ('1911, 191S, t9tO, r925, 1937, 1951, t9SE, 1961, 1963, 196 6,19?0,19?6,198?,
AnsrLcan lnstltute of Archl!€cts. tll
Ir.rt'laa. Orautholl!.d laploductlon or

llghta raaawrd.
d.Irtrl,butLon ol

rul|ll|c: Thl. Atl. Dc@ng la psct.d.d by U. a. Copyltrbt Lrr Mdghla AI.l Do@nt, o! ey portlon og 1t, qy r.rul,t' 1n aavata olvll ud cElalnal,panaltl.r. sd rlU ba prora4tad to tba ql!@ utan! tp.rtbla qdaa tb. I.r. Thls draf,t ras produced by AIA softwar. at 13:2?:21 on
Olltll2lLz' and ls no! for res.ts.02lOAl2011 qnd6r Ord6r llo.2527391161-l ahlch explrss oo

O..t Ngt.a I (r29881 0,r3?t

13



DocuSign Envelope lD:'1 83586F5-EF364404-BA5C-30E04A81 88Fs

$ 3.s WARRANW

$ 3.5.f The Contractor warants to the Owner and Architect that materials and equipment furnished under the
Contract will be of good quality and new unless the Contract Documents require or permit otherwise. The
Contractor further warrants that the Work will conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents and will be
free from defects, excapt for those inherent in the quality of the Work the Contract Documents require or permit.
Work, materials, or equipment not conforming to these requirements may be considered defective. The Contractor's
warranty excludes remedy for damage or defect caused by abuse, alterations to the Work not executed by the
Contractor, improper or insufficient maintenance, improper operation, or normal wear and tear and normal usage. If
required by the Architect or Owner, the Contractor shall fumish satisfactory evidence as to the kind and qualiry of
materials and equipment.

$ 3.s.2 - N/A

s 3.6 TD(ES
The Contractor shall pay sales, consumer, use and similar taxes for the Work provided by the Contractor that are
legallyenactedatthetimsthisAgreementisexecutedbybothparties,
whether or not yet effective or merely scheduled to go into effect.

g 3.7 PERMITS, FEES, NoT|CES AND COMPLTANCE WITH LAWS

$ 3.7,1 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Contractor or its subcontractors shall secure and
pay for any governmental fees, licenses and inspections other than threshold inspection necessary for proper
execution and completion of the Work that are customarily secured after execution of the Contract and legally
required at the time bids are received or negotiations concluded. Owner shall secure and pay for all permits and sub-
permits outside of the GMP.

$ 3.7.2 The Conhactor shall comply with and give notices required by applicable law$, statutes, ordinances, codes,
rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities applicable to performance of the Work.

$ 3.7.3 If the Conhactor performs Work that the Contractor knows or reasonably should have known to be contrary
to applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities, the
Conhactor shall assume appropriate responsibility for such Work and shall bear the costs attributable to correction.

! 3.7.4 Concealed or Unknown Conditlons. If the Contractor encounters conditions at the site that are (l)
subsurface or otherwise concealed physical conditions that differ materially from those indicated in the Contract
Documents or (2) unknown physical conditions of an unusual nature, that differ materially from those ordinarily
found to exist and generally r€coglized as inherent in construction activities ofthe character provided for in the
Conhact Documents, the Contractor shall promptly provide notice to the Owner and the Architect before conditions
are disturbed and in no cy€nt later than I 0 days after first observance of the conditions. The Architect and Owner
will promptly investigate such conditions and, if the Architect or Owner determine that they differ materially and
cause an increase or decrease in the Conhactor's cost of, or time required for, performance of any part of the Work,
will recommend an equitable adjustment in the Contract Sum or Contract Time, or both. If the Architect and Owner
determines that the conditions at the site are not materially different from those indicated in the Contract Documents
and that no change in the terms of the Contract is justified, the Architect shall promptly notifu the Owuer and
Contractor in writing, stating the reasons. If either party disputes the Architect's determination or recommendation,
that party may proceed as provided in Article 15.

$ 3.7.5 If, in the course of the Work, the Contractor encounters human remains or recognizes the existence of burial
markers, archaeological sites or wetlands not indicated in the Contract Documents, the Contactor shall immediately
suspend any operations that would aflect them and shall notifu the Owner and Architect. Upon receipt of such
notice, the Owner shall promptly take any action necessary to obtain governmental authorization required to resume
the operations. The Contractor shall continue to suspend such operations until otherwise instructed by the Ownerbut
shall continue with all other operations that do not affect those remains or features, Requests for adjustments in the
Contract Sum and Conftact Time arising from the existence of such remains or features may be made as provided in
Article 15.

8/ Jb
All Do6lEDt l20tr - 200?, Copyrtght o 1911, 1915, 1916, 1925, 193?. r931, 1958, 1961, 1963, 19€6, t9?0. t9?6, 198?,
An6rlc.n In3ElEute of Archltocts. lll rl,gbt. r...w.C, rAnNtllO: TbIr Att Do@nt, Lt t rot.ctad by U.A. Copyltgbt lrr sd Int.n.ttonrl
tlaatlaa. Un.utboatr.C laPlodu€tLon or d.l,atrlbutton ol thla Atl. Dc@nt, or sy lErtl.on of Lt, ay rarult,,h.avala ctvtl Md o8l6ln.I
lf,neLt!.., sd rr.Il b. Ptcl.4t.d to tb. urllE qCant trct.l,bl,. sd.! tb. lar. Thls draft sas produced by AIA softrarq .t l3:2?r21 on
02IOA/201\ und6E ordsr No,252?39?767_1 Fhlch 6xplrsr on Q1/3t120L2, gnd tt not fo! resala.qr.r llot..: (r2988l0437l

1{



DocuSign Envolope lD: 1 83586FS.EF36-4404-BASC-30E04A8188F5

$ 3.8 ALLOWANCES

$ 3.8.1 The Contractor shall include in the Contact Sum all allowances stated in the Contract Documents. Items
covered by allowances shall be supplied for such amounts and by such persons or entities as the Owner may direct,
but the Contractor shall not be required to employ persons or entities to whom the Contractor has reasonable
objection.

$ 3.8.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents,
.1 Allowances shall cover the cosf to the Conhactor of materials and equipment delivered at the site and

all required taxes, less applicable hade discounts;
.2 an allowance shall also cover all other of Contractor's costs pertaining to the subject matter and scope

of the allowance, including but not limited to Contractor's costs for unloading and handling at the
site, labor, installation costs, shop drawings and approvals, overhead, profit, and all other expense of
whatever nafure caused by or associated with the allowance; and

.3 Whenever costs are more than or less than allowances, the Contact Sum shall be adjusted
accordingly by Change Order. The amount of the Change Order shall reflect (l) the difference
between actual costs and the allowances under Section 3.8.2.1 and (2) changes in Contractor's costs
under Section 3.8.2.2.

$ 3.8.3 Materials and equipment under an allowance shall be selected by the Owner with reasonable promptness.

$ 3.9 SUpERTNTENDENT

$ 3.9.1 The Contractor shall employ a competent project staff who shall be in attendance at the Project site during
performance of the Work. The Project Executive or Project Manager shall represent the Contractor, and
communications given to the Project Executive or Project Manager shall be as binding as if given to the Conhactor

$ 3.9,2 The Contractor, as soon as practicable after award of the Conkact, shall furnish in writing to the Owner the
name and qualifications of a proposed job-site staff. The Owner may reply within 14 days to the Contractor in
writing stating ( I ) whether the Owner has reasonable objection to the proposed staff or (2) that the Owner requires
additional time to review. Failure of the Owner to reply within the 14 day period shall constitute notice of no
reasonable objection.

$ 3.9.3 The Conhactor shall not employ a proposed superintendent to whom the Owner or Architect has made
reasonable and timely objection. The Contractor shall not change the superintendent without the Owner's consent,
which shall not unreasonably be withheld or delayed,

s 3.,l0 coNTRAcToR's coNsTRucTtoN SCHEDULES

5 3.10.,l The Contractor, promptly after the Contract is fully executed, shall prepare and submit for the Owner's and
Architect's information a Contractor's construction schedute for the Work. The schedule shall not exceed time limits
current under the Conhact Documents, shall be revised at appropriate intervals as required by the conditions ofthe
Work and Project, shall be related to the entire Project to the extent required by the Contract Documents, and shall
provide for expeditious and practicable execution of the Work.

$ 3.10.2 The Contractor shall prepare a submittal schedule for the Architect and Owner's approval. The Architect's
approval shall not unreasonably be delayed or withheld. The submittal schedule shall (l) be coordinated with the
Contractor's construction schedule, and (2) allow the Architect ten (10) days after receipt ofa submittal to approve
or reject the submittals.

$ 3.10.3 The Contractor shall perform the Work in general accordance with the most recent schedules submitted to
the Owner and Architect.

s 3.11 DOCUMENTS AND SAMPLES AT THE S|TE
The Conhactor shall maintain at the site for the Owner one copy of the Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, Change
Orders and other Modifications, in good order and marked currently to indicate field changes and selections made
during constnrction, and one copy of approved Shop Drawings, Product Data, Owner-selected Material Samples and
similar required submittals. These shall be available to the Architect and shall be delivered to the fuchitect for
submittal to the Owner upon completion of the Work as a record of the Work as constructed.

a/ Jb
lll Do6lMnt r,ilorr - 2007. Copyrlqht O 19r1, 1915. 1918. 1925, 1937, 1951, t,958, 1951, 1953, r966, f9?0, 1915, t9i|?
Anerlcan Instltute of Alchl,tectr. Ali, rtghtr -...w.d. tlaAlflNOr tlbl. llA. Do@oB lr prot.cl.d by o.s. Copyllgbt trr ed tnt.rnrCloDrl
Ifaatla., Unautboll!.d rap8cCuction oa 4latrl-buElon ol thLr ltla DoMnt, oa sy lrcEtton o! tt, uy !.rult ln aavala cLvlt ud cllalntl
lsrlti..., eC rUl b. plor.dtad to tb. ulls d.nl tF..Lbl. sd.r tb. lrr. Thle draf! pa. pEoduced by AfA roftwira ar t3!2?:21 on
02/06120Lf undeE Otder No.2527397167*1 shlch sxpi,rss on ,ll3l/2OL2, and ls not tor lesrlo.
U..a f,ot..: (129981043?'

15



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586FS-EF364404-8A5C-30E04A8188Fs

$ 3.,l2 SHoP DRAWTNGS, PRODUCT DATAAND SAMPLES

$ 3.12.1 Shop Drawings are drawings, diagrams, schedules and other data specially prepared for the Work by the
Contractor or a Subcontractor, Sub-subcontactor, manufacfurer, supplier or distributor to illushate some portion of
the Work.

$ 3.12,2 Product Data are illustrations, standard schedules, performance charts, instructions, brochures, diagrams and
other information fumished by the Contractor to illustrate materials or equipment for some portion of the Work.

S 3.12.3 Samples are physical examples that illustrate materials, equipment or workmanship and establish standards
by which the Work will be judged.

$ 3.12.4 Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar submittals are not Contract Documents. Theirpurpose is
to demonstrate the way by which the Contractor proposes to conform to the information given and the design
concept expressed in the Contract Documents for those portions of the Work for which the Contract Documents
require submittals. Review by the Architect is subject to the limitations of Section 4.2.7, Informational submittals
upon which the Architeot is not expected to take responsive action may be so identified in the Contract Documents.
Submittals that are not required by the Conkact Documents may be reh,rrned by the Architect without action.

$ 3.12.5 The Contractor shall review for compliance with the Contract Documents, and submit to the Architect Shop
Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar submittals required by the Conhact Documents in accordance with the
submittal schedule approved by the Architect and Owner or, in the absence of an approved submittal schedule, with
reasonable promptn€ss and in such sequence as to cause no delay in the Work or in the activities of the Owner or of
separate contractors. The Architect shall maintain all Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and permits which are
required by the Contract Documents current at all times.

$ 3.12.0 By reviewing and submining Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar submittals, the Contractor
represents to the Owner and Architect that the Contractor has (l) reviewed them, (2) determined and verified
materials, field measurements and freld construction criteria related thereto, or will do so and (3) checked and
coordinated the information contained within such submittals with the requirements of the Work and of the Contract
Documents,

$ 3.12.7 The Conhactor shall perform no portion of the Work for which the Contract Documents require submittal
and review of Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar submittals until the respective submittal has been
approved by the Architect. Architect shall approve all Contract Documents by stamping "approved" on all such
documents.

$ 3.12.8 The Work shall be in accordancs with approved submittals except that the Contractor shall not be relieved of
responsibility for deviations from requirements of the Contract Documents by the Architect's approval of Shop
Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar submittals unless the Contractor has specifically informed the Architect
in writing of such deviation at the time of submittal and (l) the Architect has given written approval to the specific
deviation as a minor change in the Work, or (2) a Change Order or Construction Change Directive has been issued
authorizing the deviation. The Conhactor shall not be relieved of responsibility for enors or omissions in Shop
Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar submittals by the Architect's approval thereof.

S 3.12.9 The Conhactor shall direct specific attention, in writing or on resubmitted Shop Drawings, Product Data,
Samples or similar submittals, to revisions other than those requested by the Architect on previous subrnittals. In the
absence ofsuch written notice, the Architect's approval ofa resubmission shall not apply to such revisions.

! 3.f2.10 The Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services that constitute the practice of
architecture or engineering unless such services are specifically required by the Contract Documeuts for a portion of
the Work or unless the Contractor needs to provide such services in order to carry out the Contractor's
responsibilities for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures. Thb Contractor shall not be
required to provide professional services in violation ofapplicable law, Ifprofessional design services or
certifications by a design professional related to systems, materials or equipment are specifically required of the
Conhactor by the Contract Documents, the Owner and the Architect will specifu all performance and design criteria
that such services must satis$. The Conhactor shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a
properly licensed design professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings,
specifications, certifications, Shop Drawings and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop Jh
All Do@nt r201t - 2007. copyrl.ght o 191r, 1915, 1918, 1925, t93t, 1951. 19t8. 196r, 1953. 1966, 1970, 19?5, tgE'r,
Anerletn lns!ltut€ ol Archicoets, tl,l,
!!rar!L.a. Onruthorkad !.trroductlon or

rl,gbt. 8...Hrd. rlnNltrC: fbi. AIA' Do@nt I. plot.ct.d by g.a. Copylltht tr.r uC lntrh.tr.onrt
dlatsllctlon ol thla ltA' Do@nt, ot my lDrtlon ol i!, By !..utt ln aavala clvtl ui clr.Elnal

tsr.ttl,a!, ud rlll b. plgaast.d €o tha gll.@ dt,.nt
02/08/2oll under oldor 8o,212739776?-l ehlch rxplr€s on
gaaa Nctaa!

lD.rlbl. qd.r tb. r..r. Thls dlatt {ar producad by AIA softw.tc ar 13:27:21 on
0l/al/2012, .nd Is not for resal€,

(r298810{37)

16



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586FS-EF364404-8A5C-30E04A81 88F5

and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such professional, if prepared by others, shall bear
such professional's written approval when submitted to the Architect. The Owner and the Architect shall be entitled
to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy and completeness of the services, certifications and approvals performed or
provided by such design professionals, provided the Owner and Architect have specified to the Contractor all
performance and design criteria that such services must satisff. Pursuant to this Section 3.12.10, the Architect will
review, approve or take other appropriate action on submittals only for the limitsd pu{pose of checking for
conformancs with information given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. The Conhactor
shall not be responsible for the adequacy ofthe performance and design criteria specified in the Conhact
Documents.

s 3.r3 usE oF srTE
The Contractor shall confine operations at the site to areas permitted by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes,
rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities and the Contract Documents and shall not unreasonably
encumber the site with materials or equipment.

s 3.14 CUTTTNG AND PATCHTNG

S 3.f 4.1 The Contractor shall be responsible for cutting, fitting or patching required to complete the Work or to make
its parts fit together properly. All areas requiring cutting, fitting and patching shall be restored to the condition
existing prior to the cutting, fitting and patching, unless otherwise required by the Contract Documents.

S 3.14.2 The Contractor shall not damage or endanger a portion of the Work or fully or partially completed
construction ofthe Owner or separate contractors by cutting, patching or otherwise altering such construction, or by
excavation. The Conhactor shall not cut or otherwise alter such conskuction by the Owner or a separate contractor
except with written consent of the Owner and of such separate conffactor; such consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld. The Contractor shall not unreasonably withhold from the Owner or a separate contractor the Conhactor's
consent to cutting or otherwise altering the Work.

s 3.1s GLEANTNG UP

$ 3.15'1 The Contractor shall keep the premises and surrounding area free from accurnulation of waste materials or
rubbish caused by operations under the Contract. At completion of the Work, the Contractor shall remove waste
materials, rubbish, the Conhactor's tools, construction equipment, machinery and surplus materials from and about
the Project.

$ 3.f 5.2 If the Contractor fails to clean up as provided in the Contract Documents, the Owner may do so and Owner
shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Contractor.

$ 3.16 ACCESS TO WoRK
The Contractor shall provide the Owner and Architect access to the Work in preparation and progress wherever
located.

0 3.17 ROYALTIES, PATENTS AND CopyRtcHTS
The Contractor shall pay all royalties and license fees. The Contractor shall defend suits or claims for infringement
of copyrights and patent rights and shall hold the Owner and fuchitect harrnless from loss on account thereof, but
shall not be responsible for such defense or loss when a particular design, process or product ofa particular
manufacfurer or manufacturers is required by the Contract Documents, or where the copyright violations are
contained in Drawings, Specifications or other documents prepared by the Owner or Architect. However, if the
Conhactor has reason to believe that the required design, process or product is an infringement of a copyright or a
patent, the Contractor shall be responsible for such loss unless such information is promptly furnished to the
Architect.

s 3.18 rNDEttNtF|CAT|oN

S 3.18.1 To the fullest extentpermitted by law the Contractor shall indemnifu and hold harmless the Owner and
Owners agents (excluding Licensed Professionals) and employees of any of them from and against claims, damages,
losses and expenses, including but not limited to attomeys' fees, arising out of or resulting from performance of the
Work, provided that such claim, damage, loss or expense is proven to be anributable to bodily injury, sickness,
disease or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), but only to the extent
caused by the negligent acts or omissions of the Contractor, a Subcontractor, anyone directly or
by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable. Such obligation shall not be conskued to negate,

l!l Do@nt
^201. 

- 200t. Copyrlght o 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 193?, 1951. 1958, 1951, It63, 1956, 1920, r9?6. t9E?,
Anortcan Instl tute Arch iects II

laproduotlon or
rllbtr E..apad.
dl.trllutlon o!

m:llc: Ihl. ll^. Do@nt L. prct.ct.d by 9.8. CopyEtght Lr uC toi.mrtton.t
th.l,a AlA. Do@nt, or ey IDRttcn ot tt, qy 8.au:" n

Jb

tha u:!tu aatant tb. Irr, Thl,r draft Ba! p.oduced by AIA
l!r.rf{..- Unruthotr,t.d
Fn.Itl.., $d rlll b.
02/0al20ll under older
U..! Not.r:

Irroa.dtad to
No.252739??5?*l rhlch €aplres on

lrcrrLbl'a s&t
07/aLl20l2, and la not for resals,

ravaaa clvl,l uC crhlnrl
soft{ale at 13:27t21 on

11298810{37}

t1



Docusign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8A5C-30E04A81 88F5

reduce other rights or obligations of indemnity that would otherwise exist as to a party or person described in this
Section 3.18. To the full€st extent permitted by law, Owner shall indemniff and hold Contractor, its officers and
directors harmless of and from any and/or all liability, damage, loss, claim, demand, action and expense (including
legal fees and disbursements) sustained or incurred by Contractor as proven to be a result ofactivities, acts or
omissionsofowneroritsagents,employees,contractoIsandArchitect,

.Theseagreementsofindemnityshallsurvivethetermination
of this Contract.

$ 3.18.2 In claims against any person or entity indemnified under this Section 3.18 by an employee of the Contractor,
a Subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, the
indemnifrcation obligation under Section 3.18.1 shall not be limited by a limitation on amount or type of damages,
compensation or benefits payable by or for the Conhactor or a Subcontractor under workers' compensation acts,
disability benefit acts or other employee benefit acts.

ARTICLE 4 ARCHITECT

! 4.1 GENERAL

$ 4.1.1 The Owner shall retain an architect lawfully licensed to practice architecture or an entity lawfully practicing
architecture in the jurisdiction where the Project is located. That person or entity is identified as the Architect in the
Agreement and is referred to throughout the Conkact Documents as if singular in number.

! 4,1.2 Duties, responsibilities and limitations of authority of the Architect as set forth in the Contract Documents
shall not be restricted, modified or extended without witten consent of the Owner, Contactor and fuchitect.
Written Consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

$ 4.1.3 If the employment of the fuchitect is terminated, the Owner shall employ a successor architect as to whom
the Contractor has no reasonable objection and whose stafus under the Contract Documents shall be that of the
Architect.

$ 4.2 ADM|NTSTRATIoN OF THE CONTRACT

$ 4.2.1 The Architect will provide those services as described in the Conhact Documents. The Owner or Architect as
applicable shall have the authority to order minor changes in the Work pursuant to Subparagraph 7.4 which do not
involve an adjustment in the ContrAct Sum or Conkact Time. The Architect shall have no authority to order changes
in the Work involving adjustments in the Contract Sum or Contract Time without the written approval of the Owner.

$ 4.2.2 The Architect will visit the site at intervals appropriate to the stage of construction, to become generally
familiar with the progress and quality of the portion of the Work completed, and to determine in general if the Work
observed is being performed in a manner indicating that the Work, when fully completed, will be in accordance with
the Contract Documents. How€ver, the Architect will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous on-site
inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work. Tho Architect will not have control over, charge of, or
responsibility for, the construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for the safety
precautions and programs in connection with the Work, since these are solely the Contractor's rights and
responsibilities under the Contract Documents, except as provided in Section 3.3. I . If the Architect directs the
Contractor to cease using a particular means, method, technique, sequence or procedure because, in the Architect's
reasonable opinion, the such means, method, technique, sequence orprocedure may have au adverse effect on the
finished work, then the A*ehitee+Ownsr may direct the Contractor to submit an altemative plan for the Architect's
approval subject to Article 7.

! 4.2.3 On the basis of the site visits, the Architect will keep the Owner reasonably informed about the progress and
quality of the portion of the Work completed, and report to the Owner (l) known deviations from the Contract
Documents and from the most rccent construction schedule submitted by the Contractor, and (2) defects and
deficiencies observed in the Work. The Architect will not be responsible for the Contractor's failure to perform the
Work in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. The Architect will not have conhol over or
charge of and will not be responsible for acts or omissions of the Contractor, Subcontractors, or their agents or
employees, or any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work.

$ 4.2.4 CoMMUNICATIoNS FACTLITATING CONTRACT ADMTNTSTRAT|ON

The Owner and Contractor shall communicate with each other directly about matters arising out of or
JbContract. Communications by and with the Architect's consultants shall be through the Architect.

l!looctdnt 1201! - aoo?. Copyright o 191r, 1915, 1918, 1125, I93?, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1955, !.9?0, 1.9?5, 1987,
Aneric.n lnrtltuce of Architscts. lll r19bt. t...F.d. 

';lnNIllO: 
thl. f,ll' Do@nt lr plot.ot.d by U,A. Ccpytlght L& ud tnt.En.gtcrrl

l!8aati,a.. Onrulbolltad taploductlon cr dlrttLbutlon ol thta AlA. Doc@nt. o! uy tDstlon o! tl, By Earult tn aavar. clvli, ed cEtEinal
If,naltLaa, od rItI ba Ploaaetad tc tha ullu qtant tbralbla udas tba lrr. thls draft was produced by AtA 3ofrwar6 ar 13t27:21 otr
02lO8l20lf under OrdeE No.252739?76?-l vhlch explras o^ 0!l3ll2oL2t.nd ls not (or rasale.
gr.r llot.r: (129E810{3?}

18



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36-4404-8ASC-30E04A8'l88Fs

by and with Subcontractors and material suppliers shall be through the Contractor. Communications by and with
separate contractors shall be through the Owner.

$ 4,2,5 Based on the Architect's evaluations of the Contractor's Applications for Payment, the Architect and Owner
will review and certiff the amounts due the Contractor and will issue Certificates for Pa5rment in such amounts.

$ 4.2.6 The Architect has authority to advise the Owner to rejeot Work that does not conform to the Contract
Documents and the Owner will have the authority to reject such Work. Whenever the Architect considers it
necessary or advisable, the Architect will have authority to recommend to the Owner to require inspection or testing
of the Work in accordance with Sections 13.5.2 and 13.5,3, whether or not such Work is fabricated, installed or
completed. However, neither this authority of the Architect nor a decision made in good faith either to exercise or
not to exercise such authority shall give rise to a duty or responsibility of the Architect to the Contractor,
Subcontractors, material and equipment suppliers, their agents or employees, or other persons or entities performing
portions of the Work.

$ 4,2.7 The Architect will review and approye, or take other appropriate action upon, the Conhactor's submittals
such as Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples, but only for the lirnited purpose of checking for conformance
with information given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. The Architect's action will be
taken within ten (10) days or less after receipt of the submission by Contractor so as to cause no delay in the Work
or in lhe activities of the Owner, Contractor or separat€ conffactors, .. The Architect's review of the Contactor's
submittals shall not relieve the Conhactor of the obligations under Sections 3.3, 3.5 and 3.12. The Architect's
review shall not constitute approval of safety precautions or, unless otherwise specifically stated by the Architect, of
any consffuction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures. The Architect's approval ofa specific item
shall not indicate approval of an assembly of which the item is a component.

$ 4.2.8 The Architect, Owner or Contractor will prepare Change Orders and Consffuction Change Directives. The
Owner or Architect as applicable may authorize minor changes in the Work as provided in Section 7,4.The
Architect will investigate and make determinations and recommendations rdgarding concealed and unknown
conditions as provided in Section 3.7.4. No$ithstanding this 4.2.8 or any other provision of the Conkact
Documents, any Change Order shall require the prior written consent of the Owner.

$ 4.2.9 The Architect will conduct inspections to assist the Owner in determining the date or dates of Substantial
Completion and the date of final completion and the Owner will have the authority to make such determination;
issue Certificates of Substantial Completion pursuant to Section 9.8; receive and forward to the Owner, for the
Owner's review and records, written warranties and related documents required by the Conhact and assembled by
the Contractor pursuant to Section 9. I 0; and issue a final Certificate for Payment pursuant to Section 9.1 0.

S 4.2.10 If the Ownor and fuchitect agree, the Architect will provide one or more project representatives to assist in
carrying out the Architect's responsibilities at the site . The duties, responsibilities and limitations of authority of
such project representatives shall be as set forth in an exhibit to be incorporated in the Conhact Documents.

$ 4.2.11 The Architect will interpret and decide matters concerning performance under, and requirements of, the
Drawings and Specifications on written request of either the Owner or Contractor. The Architect shall respond
effectively to such requests and shall answer requests for information, make decisions, render interpretations, take
action on and return the Contractor's submittals and shop drawings, and issue approvals with sufficient content,
clarity, and promptness so as not to cause disruption or delay to the progress of the Work nor to increase the
Conhactor's cost ofperformance and, in any event, not later than twenty (20) days after the Architect's receipt of
the information as to which the Architect's action is requested by the Contractor or required by the Contract
Documents, unless a shorter response time is required so as to avoid delay or disruption or is otherwise specifred by
the Contract Documents (e.g. issuance of a Certificate of Payment within seven days).

S 4,2.12 Interpretations and decisions of the Architect will be consistent with the intent of, and reasonably inferable
from, the Drawings and Specifications and will be in writing or in the form of drawings. When making such
interpretations and decisions, the Architect will endeavor to secure faithful performance by both Owner and
Contractor, will not show partiality to either and will not be liable for results of interpretations or decisions rendered
in good faith.

al
rlA Doa@nt 4201' - 200t. copyrl.ght O 1911, 19!5, 1918, 1925, 1.93?, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1953. 1966, 19?0, 19?6. 1987,
Anerl,ean lnstl,tuto of AEchltects. Atl. rlgbtr t...F.d. illnNltlc: ttlr l:4. Dccrgnt r,. prot.d.d by O.t, Copyrtgbt tAr Dd Int.ntgtondl
flaatlaa. Onrut,horllad r.ttloductlon or dLatrllutlotr ol thla ltA. Do@nt, o8 uy tbrtlon ol tl, qy raautt l'n aavala qlvll ed crlElnal
Fultr.aar sd rlll b. proaadtod to lba ul6E qtant pcallbla sda! lba t.r. fhlr d!a!t was producod by AIA soit*ale at 13i2?:21 on
02l08l20LL under Ord€r No.2521391167-l thlch explrcs o^ 0Ll3LlZOL?, and is not for reeale.
Ur.a lfct..: n298810437'

Jb

19



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-BA5C-30E04A8188Fs

S 4.2.,13 The Owners decisions on mafters relating to aesthetic effect will be final if consistent with the intent
expressed in the Conkact Documents.

$ 4.2.14 The Architect will review and respond to requests for information about the Contract Documents. The
Architect's response to such requests will be made in writing within any time limits agreed upon or otherwise with
reasonable promptness. If appropriate, the Architect will prepare and issue supplemental Drawings and
Specifications in response to the requests for information. The Architect is not, however, authorized to make verbal
or written changes or modifications in the Contract Documents, to direct any additional work not required by the
Contract Documents, or to waive the performance by the Contractor of any requirement of the Contract except a$

provided in "Changes In the Work" (Article 7).

ARTIGLE 5 SUBCONTRACTORS

$ 5.1 DEFTNIT|oNS

0 5.1 .1 A Subconhactor is a person or entity who has a direct contract with the Contractor to perform a portion of the
Work including the trade subconFactors, suppliers, manufacturers and materialmen. The term "subcontractor" is
refened to throughout the Contract Documents as if singular in number and means a Subcontractor or an authorized
representative of the Subcontactor. The term "Subcontractor" does not include a ssparate contractor or
subcontractors of a separate contractor.

$ 5.1.2 A Sub-subcontractor is a person or entity who has a direct or indirect conhact with a Subcontractor to
perform a portion of the Work at the site. The term "Sub-subconfiactor" is refened to throughout the Contract
Documents as if singular in number and means a Sub-subcontractor or an authorized representative of the Sub-
subconhactor.

s 5.2 AWARD OF SUBCONTMCTS AND OTHER CONTRAGTS FoR poRTloNS 0F THE WoRK
$ 5.2.1 Unless othenrise stated in the Contract Documents, the Conhactor, as soon as practicable after award of the
Conhact, shall furnish in writing to the Owner the names of persons or entities (including those who are to fumish
materials or equipment fabricated to a special design) proposed for each principal portion of the Work. The Owner
may reply within l4 days to the Contractor in writing stating (l) whether the Owner has reasonable objection to any
such proposed person or entity or (2) that the Owner requires additional time for review. Failure of the Owner to
reply within the l4-day period shall constitute notice of no reasonable objection.

$ 5.2.2 The Contractor shall not contract with a proposed person or entify to whom the Owner has made reasonable
and timely objection. The Contractor shall not be required to contract with anyone to whom the Conhactor has made
reasonable objection.

$ 5.2.3 lf'the Owner has reasonable objection to a person or entity proposed by the Contractor, the Contractor shall
propose another to whom the Owner has no reasonable objection. Ifthe proposed but rejected Subcontractor was
reasonably capable of performing the Work, the Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be increased or decreased by
the difference, ifany, occasioned by such change, and an appropriate Change Order shall be issued before
cornmencement of the substitute Subcontractor's Work. However, no increase in the Conhact Sum or Contract Time
shall be allowed for such change unless the Contractor has acted promptly and responsively in submifting names as
requked.

$ 5.2.4 The Contractor shall not substitute a Subcontractor, person or entity previously selected if the Owner or
Architect makes reasonable objection to such substitution.

$ 5.2.5 The Contractor has the responsibility to enswe that all material suppliers and Subconhactors, their agents and
employees, adhere to the Conhact Documents, and that they order materials on time, taking into account the current
market and delivery conditions and that they provide materials on time, The Contractor shall coordinate its Work on
the Project, including deliveries, storage, installations and construction utilities. The Contractor shall be responsible
for the space requirements, locations and routing of its eguipment. In areas and locations where the proper and most
effective space requirements, locations and routing cannot be made as indicated, the Contractor shall meet with all
other involved, before installation, to plan the most effective and efficient method of overall installation.

$ s.3 SUBCoNTRACTUAL RELATIoNS
By appropriate agreement, written where legally required for validity, the Contractor shall require
Subcontractor, to the extent of the Work to be performed by the Subconfiactor, to be bound to the
terms of the Contract Documents, and to assume toward the Conhactor all the obligations and responsibi

rll Docrstrt, A201! - 2007. Copyrlght o 1911' 1t15, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 195€, 1961, r963, 1966, 19?0, 1976, 1987,
AheElcrn Instttute of AEchl,t.cts. l1I rltbb. t...d.C. lt^ltfll.o: Iblr lIA. Doclqnt' 1. plot.ct.d by O.A. Copyrlght hr ud tnt.nttton.l
lra.tL.l' Onaughotlt.d laproductlon or dlalrlbutton gl thl,a Al-A. Do@nt, or ey tFltton ol lt, Ey laault in !av.r. clvtl sd crblnal, ZV
Fn.Itl.!, ed rlll b. P8o..@!.C to tb. dlru ul.nt tEr.lbL. uC.r tba hr. Th15 draft sas produced by AIA sofreat€ .! 13:2? 121 on
02lOA/2011 under Ordor l{o.252?39??5't_1 rhlch .xp!res on Ol/3!120L2, snd ls not for rosale.
g.oE Not.r: (12988104!?)

each

Jb



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586FS-EF364404-8ASC-30E04A8188F5

including the responsibility for safety of the Subcontactor's Work, which the Contractor, by these Documents,
assumes toward the Owner. Each subcontract agreement shall preserve and protect the rights of the Owner under the
Contract Documents with respeot to the Work to be performed by the Subconhactor so that subcontracting thereof
will not prejudice such rights. Where appropriate, the Contractor shall require each Subcontractor to enter into
similar agreements with Sub-subcontractors..

s 5.4 CONINGENT ASSTGNMENT 0F SUBCONTRACTS

! 5.4.1 Each subconkact agreement for a portion of the Work is assigned by the Conhactor to the Owner, provided
that

.1 assignment is effective only after termination of the Contract by the Owner for cause pursuant to
Section 14.2 and only for those subcontract agreements that the Owner accepts by notifing the
Subcontractor and Contractor in writing; and

.2 assignment is subject to the prior rights of the surety, if any, obligated under bond relating to the
Contract.

When the Owner accepts the assignment of a subcontract agreement, the Owner assume$ the Contractor's rights and
obligations under the subcontract.

$ 5.4,2 Upon such assignment, if the Work has been suspended for more than 30 days, the Subcontractor's
compensation shall be equitably adjusted for increases in cost resulting from the suspension by appropriate Change
Order.

$ 5.4.3 Upon such assignment to the Owner under this Section 5.4, the Owner may fi,uther assign the subcontract to a
successor contractor or other entity. Ifthe Owner assigns the subcontract to a successor contractor or other entity,
the Owner shall nevertheless remain legally responsible for all of the successor contractor's obligations under the
subcontract.

ARTICLE 6 CONSIRUCTION BY OWNER OR BY SEPARATE CONTRACTORS

s 6.1 oWNER'S RIGHT TO PERFORM CoNSTRUCTTON AND T0 AWARD SEPARATE CONTRACTS

$ 6.1.1 The Owner reseryes the right to perform construction or operations related to the Project with the Owner's
own forces, and to award separate contracts in connection with other portions of the Project or other construction or
operations on the site under Conditions of the Contract identical or substantially similar to these including those
portions related to insurance and waiver of subrogation. If the Contractor claims that delay or additional cost is
involved because of such action by the Owner, the Contractor shall make such Claim as provided in Article 15.

$ 6.1.2 When separate contracts are award€d for different portions ofthe Project or other construction or operations
on the site, the term "Contractor" in the Confract Documents in each case shall mean the Contractor who executes
each separate Owner-Contractor Agreement.

$ 6..l.3 The Owner shall provide for coordination of the activities of the Owner's own forces and of each separate
contractor with the Work of the Conhactor, who shall cooperate with them. The Contractor shall participate with
other separate contractors and the Owner in reviewing their construction schedules. The Contractor shall make any
revisions to the construction schedule deemed necessary after ajoint review and mutual agreement. The construction
schedules shall then constitute the schedules to be used by the Contractor, separate contractors and the Owner until
subsequently revised.

$ 6.1.4 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, when the Owner perfiorms construction or operations
related to the Project with the Owner's own forces, the Owner shall be deemed to be subject to the same obligations
and to have the same rights that apply to the Contractor under the Conditions of the Contract, including, without
excluding others, those stated in Article 3, this Article 6 and Articles 10, I I and 12,

s 6.2 MUTUAL RESPONSTBTL]W

$ 6,2.1 The Contractor shall afford the Owner and separate contractors reasonable opportunity for introduction and
storage of their materials and equipment and performance of their activities, and shall connect and coordinate the
Contractor's constuction and operations with theirs as required by the Contraot Documents.

$ 6.2.2 If part of the Conhactor's Work depends for proper execution or results upon consffuction or
the Owner or a separate contractor, the Conhactor shall, prior to proceeding with that portion of the

All D.clqnt l20lr - 200?. Copy!1ghl O 1911. 1915, 1918, 1925. 1937, 1951, 1958. 1951, 1963, !.966, 1970, 19?5, 1987,
ANarlcan Instltute of Alchi!€cts, llt' rtght. !...d.d, lilRtlINO: tt!. ltA. Do@nt, ,.. prot.ct.d by U.a. Copyslght trr sd tnt.haClonrt
f!.ttl'aa. Uaauthorltad a.Productlcn ct d.lrtaLbutlcn cl thl,a ArAo DoMnt. gE my lb*lon of lt', By taau:,! tr aavala cLetl ud cridnrl
tf,aaltlaa, 6d ulu It Ploa.cutad to thl ulEr qlaDt lpaalltl. ud.E tba lar. Thls dr.ft was produc€d by AIA softearo r! 13:27:21 on
02lOe/2011 undsr Ord€r No.252739??6?-1 thich expLEEs on OL/tLl20:^2, .nd is not for lesale.
O..! llo!..: (1298810{3f}

DS

Jb

2l



DocuSign Envelopo lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8A5C-30E04A8188F5

report to the Owner apparent discrepancies or d€fects in such other construction that would render it unsuitable for
such prop€r execution and results.

$ 6.2.3 The Contractor shall reimburse the Owner for costs the Owner incurs that are payable to a separate contractor
because of the Contractor's delays, improperly timed activities or defective conshuction. The Owner shall be
responsible to the Conhactor for costs the Contractor incurs because ofa separate conhactor's delays, improperly
timed activities, damage to the Work or defective construction.

$ 0.2.4 The Contractor shall promptly remedy damage the Contractor wrongfully causes to completed or partially
completed construction or to property of the Owner or separate contractors as provided in Section 10.2.5.

$ 6,2.5 The Owner and each separate contractor shall have the same responsibilities for cutting and patching as are
described for the Conhactor in Section 3.14.

s 6.3 OWNER'S R|GHTT0 CLEAN UP

If a dispute arises among the Conhactor, separat€ contractors and the Owner as to the responsibility under their
respective conkacts for maintaining the premises and srurounding area free from waste materials and rubbish, the
Owner may clean up and allocate the cost among those responsible.

ARTICLE 7 CHANGES IN THE WORK

0 7.1 GENERAL

$ 7.1.1 Changes in the Work may be accomplished after execution of the Contract, and without invalidating the
Contract, by Change Order, Construction Change Directive or order for a minor change in the Work, subject to the
limitations stated in this Article 7 and elsewhere in the Contract Documents.

$ 7.1.2 A Change Order shall be based upon agreement among the Owner and Contractor; a Construction Change
Directive requires agreement by the Owner and Architect and may or may not be agreed to by the Conhactor; an
order for a minor change in the Work may be issued by the Architect alone with the prior written approval of the
Owner.

$ 7.1.3 Changes in the Work shall be performed under applicable provisions of the Contract Documents, and the
Conhactor shall proceed promptly, unless otherwise provided in the Change Order, Construction Change Directive
or order for a minor change in the Work.

s 7.2 CHANGE ORDERS

$ 7.2.1 A Change Order is a witten instrument prepared by the Contractor, Owner or Architect and signed by the
Owner and Contractor stating their agreement upon all of the following:

.l The change in the Work;
,2 The amount of the adjustment, if any, in the Conhact Sum; and
.3 The extent of the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Time.

$ 7.3 CoNSTRUCTTON CHANGE DTRECTTVES

S 7.3.1 A Construction Change Directive is a written order prepared by the Architect or Owner and signed by the
Owner directing a change in the Work prior to agreement on adjustment, if any, in the Contracl Srrm or Contract
Time, or both. The Owner may by Construction Change Directive, without invalidating the Contract, order changes
in the Work within the general scope of the Contract consisting of additions, deletions or other revisions, the
Contract Sum and Contract Time being adjusted accordingly.

S 7.3.2 A Construction Change Directive shall be used in the absence of total agreement on the terms of a Change
Order. Contractor shall have no obligation to proceed on any Construction Change Directive that is contrary to
requirements of loan documents (as made known to Contractor) or when the total amount of outstanding and
unresolved Construction Change Directives and other unexecuted Change Orders exceeds % of lVo of the GMP.

0 7.3.3 If the Construction Change Directive provides for an adjustment to the Conhact Sum, thb adjustment shall be
based on one of the following methods:

,1 Mutual accaptance of a lump sum properly itemized and supported by sufficient
permit evaluation;

,2 Unit prices stated in the Conhact Documents or subsequently agreed upon;

substantiating data to

al Jb
Atl Doeqnt l20lq - 2007, copyrrghr o 19rI, 1915, 1910, 1925, 193?, 1951, 1958, 1961, L953, t966, 19?0, 19?6, 19E?,
Am€llcan Inslllvts of Archltecls. ll,l, tlgbt,r !..aflad, nnNtNor talt IAo Do@nt t. psctastaC by O.3, Copyrlght Lr ed Intasdrtlorrl
l!!aati.aa. Unauthorl.tad rapscCuctlon o! diatrlbuti.on ol tbla AIA' Do@nt, os slr lDstlon ot lt, uy raault tn aavara clvl,l ed oltdnal
Fnrltl,.., md rLll, lr prc..@t.d to tb. ulbr 8t.nt tFrrLbl. sd.8 th. hr. thls draft r.r produced by AtA !g(r{.ro at 13:2?:21 on
02/0Al20Il under OEder No.252?39??67-l rhlch etplres on 0L/7l.l20l2t .nd ls nor tor .esaj,e.
or.r !lct.r: (129881043?)

22



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 B3586F5.EF36{404-8ASC-30E04A8188Fs

.3 Cost to be determined in a manner agreed upon by the parties and a mutually acceptable lixed or
percentage fee; or

.4 As provided in Section 7.3.7.

$ 7.3.4 If unit prices are stated in the Contract Documents or subsequently agreed upon, and if quantities originally
contemplated are materially changed in a proposed Change Order or Construction Change Directive so that
application of such unit prices to quantities of Work proposed will cause substantial inequity to the Owner or
Contractor, the applicable unit prices shall be equitably adjusted.

$ 7.3.5 Upon receipt of a Construction Change Directive, the Contractor shall promptly proceed with the change in
the Work involved and advise the Architect of the Contractor's agreement or disagreement with the method, if any,
provided in the Construction Change Directive for determining the proposed adjustment in the Contract Sum or
Contract Time.

$ 7.3.6 A Construction Change Directive signed by the Contractor indicates the Contractor's agreement therewith,
including adjustment in Contract Sum and Confract Time or the method for determining them. Such agreement shall
be effective immediately and shall be recorded as a Change Order.

$ 7.3.7 If the Contractor does not respond promptly or disagrees with the method for adjustment in the Conhact Sum,
the Owner shall determine the method and the adjustment on the basis of reasonable expenditures and savings of
those performing the Work attributable to the change, including, in case of an increase in the Conhact Sum, an
amount for overhead and profit as set forth in the Agreement, or if no such amount is set forth in the Agreement, a
reasonable amount. In such case, and also under Section 7.3.3,3, the Contractor shall keep and present, in such form
as the Owner may prescribe, an itemized accounting together with appropriate supporting data. Unless othenvise
provided in the Contract Documents, costs for the purposes of this Section 7.3.7 shall be limited to the following:

.1 Costs of labor, including social security, old age and unemployment insurance, fringe benefits
required by agreement or custom, and workers' compensation insurance;

,2 Costs of materials, supplies and equipment, including cost of transportation, whether incorporated or
consumed;

.3 Rental costs of machinery and equipment, exclusive of hand tools, whether rented from the
Contractor or others;

.4 Costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance, permit fees, and sales, use or similar taxes related to
the Work; and

.5 Additional costs of supervision and field office personnel and General Conditions directly attributable
to the change.

$ 7.3.8 The amount of credit to be allowed by the Contractor to the Owner for a deletion or change that results in a
net decrease in the Conhact Sum shall be actual net cost, When both additions and credits covering related Work or
substitutions are involved in a change, the allowance for overhead and profit shall be figured on the basis ofnet
change, if any, with respect to that change.

$ 7.3.9 Pending final determination of the total cost of a Construction Change Directive to the Owner, the Contractor
may request payment for Work completed under the Construction Change Directive in Applications for Payment.
The Architect will make an interim determination for purposes of monthly certification for payment for those costs
and certifr for payment the amount that the Architect determines, in the Architect's professional judgment, to be
reasonably justified, The Architect's interim determination of cost shall adjust the Contact Sum on the same basis
as a Change Order, subject to the right of either party to disagree and assert a Claim in accordance with Article 15.

$ 7.3.,l0 When the Owner and Conhactor agr€e concerning the adjustments in the Contract Sum and Contract Time,
or otherwise reach agreement upon the adjustments, such agreement shall be effective immediately and the Architect
will prepare a Change Ordsr. Change Orders may be issued for all or any part of a Construction Change Directive.

0 7.4 MTNOR CHANGES ]N THE WoRK
The Owner or Architect where applicable has authority to order minor
adjustment in the Conhact Sum or extension of the Contract Time and
Contract Documents. The Contractor shall carry out such changes will
to the Contractor's right to initiate a Claim pursuant to Article 15.

Am6llcan In3tltute of Archltact!. Alt rl,tbt. r.r.w.d, m.RNtllqi Tlri,. Att
Tlartiaa. On.uthclkaC r.produatlon o! dlalrtbutlon of thlt A!t Dc@Dt,

changes in the Work not involving
not inconsistent with the intent of the
be effected by written order promptly subject

a/
DS

Jb
Itl Oooqnts r2otr - 2007. Copyrlqht O 1,911, 1915, 1918, 1925. 193?, 1951, 1958, 1,96r, r963, 196d, 1910, t9?6, f98?,

Docqnt l. prot.ct.d by U.a. Copyrtgbt L.r ud tnt.rnrtton.t
or 6y tDrtlon o! lt, uy !..uLt ln aava!. clvll sd cll6lntt

Irnrltl.., Bd rtlt b. P!o..dl.d to tb. urlffi d.nt tE..lbl,. sd.! !h. lrr. tht! draft eas produced by AIA loftsarq at 13t2?:21 on
02/08/20LL under Ord€r No.252719?767*1 Hhlqh axplr€s on OL/3112012, an.t ls nor for !esale.
tt... f,ot..: {1298810it3?t

23



DocuSign Envelopa lD: 1 B3586F5.EF36-4404-8A5C-30E04A8188F5

ARTICLE 8 TIME

s 8.r DEFINTT|ONS

$ 8.,l.1 Unless otherwise provided, Contract Time is the period of time, including authorized adustments, allotted in
the Contrast Documents for Substantial Completion of the Work.

$ 8..l.2 The date of commencement of the Work is the date established in the Agreement.

$ 8.,l.3 The date of Substantial Completion is the date certified by the Architect in accordance with Section 9.8,

! 8.1.4 The term "day" as used in the Contract Documents shall mean calendar day unless otherwise specifically
defined.

$ 8.2 PROGRESS AND CoMPLETToN

$ 8.2.1 Time limits stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract. By executing the Agreement
the Conhactor conftrms that the Contract Time is a reasonable period for performing the Work.

$ 8.2.2 The Contractor shall not knowingly, except by agreement or instruction of the Owner in writing, prematurely
commence operations on the site or elsewhere prior to the effective date of insurance required by Article I I to be
furnished by the Contractor and Owner. The date of commencement of the Work shall not be changed by the
effective date ofsuch insurance.

$ 8,2,3 The Contractor shall proceed expeditiously with adequate forces and shall achieve Substantial Completion
within the Contract Time. The Contractor shall diligently pursue the Work to completion.

$ E.3 DELAYS AND EXTENSTONS 0F T|ME

$ 8.3.1 If the Contractor is delayed at any time in the commencement or progress of the Work by an act or neglect of
the Owner or Architect, or of an employee of either, or of a separate contractor employed by the Owner; or by
changes order€d in the Work; or by labor disputes, shikes, lockouts, fire, unusual delay in deliveries, unavoidable
casualties, Acts of God, riots, civil commotions, sabotage, vandalism, concealed conditions, hazardous materials,
requirements of law, statues, regulations, zoning and land use matters, failure of Owner to remove hazardous
rnaterials, shortage or unavailability of materials, supplies, labor, equipment and systems requiring reconstruction or
repair to the Work or Project or any part thereof or other causes beyond the Conhactor's control; or by delay
authorized by the Owner pending negotiation; or by other causes that the Architect determines may justift delay,
then the Contract Time shall be extended for each day ofdelay and the Contract Sum shall be adjusted by Change
Order for additional costs and time.
S 8.3.,l.1 The Contractor shall give the Owner written notice of any delay, including delay caused by the Architect,
as soon as possible but in any event within th+ee-ten days of its discovery the delay. The Contractor must take into
account reasonably anticipated downtimes due to rypical w€ather conditions for South Florida at the time that the
work is performed, equipment breakdowns, labor shortages, scheduling conflicts, material delivery delays,
recognized holidays, or any other incidents or conditions that can be reasonably anticipated to occur on a project of
this size and magnitude. The Contractor's failure to properly staff the job, failure to manage the work, or failure to
allow for normal, ssasonable weather delays shall not entitle the Contractor to additional time, No extensions of
Conhact Time due to weather delays shall be considered by the Owner unless the weather was unusual for the
period of time in which the Work is performed and that the overall Project completion timo was, in fact, truly
impacted by the unusual weather.

! 8.3.2 Claims relating to time shall be made in accordance with applicablo provisions of Article 15.

S 8.3,3 This Section 8.3 does not proclude recovery ofdamages for delay by either party under other provisions of
the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 9 PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION

$ 9.r CoNTRACT SUM

The Conhact Sum is stated in the Agreement and, including authorized adjustments, is the total amount payable by
the Owner to the Contractor forperformance of the Work under the Conhact Documents. :

al
DS

Jb
L!f, Ooctqnt. rzotn - 2007, CopyrIghL O 1911, 1915, 19r8. 1925, 1937. 1951, t95E, 1961, 1963, 1t66, 1970, 19?6, 198?
AnorLcln Ins!1!ut6 of Archilrcte- [l
ta.rtlaa, gnautbotkad a.produetton or

ttgbb. r.r.tEd.
dl.trl,.butlcn ot

llMx!fi6: Ehl. A!t Dooqnt 1,. p!ot.q!.d by U.3.
thlr AIA. Do€rqnt. o! sy tFEtr,on ol lt

Copyttgbt Ll ad lnt.nrtj'cn.r,
4y !..ult ln tavara cLvl,I ud crls{nat

Fnaltl.., sC rtll ba proaadtad lo Eb. u:lsr ctant, pgaallrl. udaE tha lar. thts draft
02/OA/2017 under Order No.252?39??6?-L whlch 6xplres on gIltrL/2012, and !s not for r6s.16,
Ora! Notar:

sas produced by AIA softrarE at 13:2?121 on

(129881043?)

24



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586FS-EF36{404.8A5C-30E04A8188F5

s 9.2 SCHEDULE OF VALUES
Where the Contract is based on a stipulated sum or Guaranteed Maximum Price, the Contractor shall submit to the
Architect and Owner, before the first Application for Payment, a schedule of values allocating the entire Conhact
Sum to the various portions of the Work and prepared in such form and supported by such data to substantiate its
accuracy as the Owner may require. This schedule, unless objected to by the Owner, shall be used as a basis for
reviewing the Conhactor's Applications for Payment.

s 9.3 APPLTCAT|oNS FOR PAYMENT

$ 9.3.1 At least five days before the last day of each month (or as reasonably required by the Owner's lender),
Conhactor will submit and review with Owner a pencil copy of its Application for payment. Thereafter, and by the
last day of each month,, the Conhactor shall submit to the Architect and Owner an itemized Application for
Payment prepared in accordance with the schedule of values, if required under Section 9.2, for completed portions
of the Work that includes any agreed-to corrections from the pencil copy. Such application shall be notarized, if
required, and supported by such data substantiating the Contractor's right to payment as the Owner may require,
such as copies of requisitions from Subcontractors and material suppliers, and shall reflect retainage ifprovided for
in the Conhact Documents.

S 9.3.1.1 As provided in Section 7.3.9, such applications may include requests forpayment on account of changes in
the Work that have been properly authorized by Consfuction Change Directives, or by interim determinations of the
Architect, but not yet included in Change Orders.

S 9.3.1'2 Applications for Payment shall not include requests for payment for portions of the Work for which the
Contractor does not intend to pay a Subcontractor or material supplier including retainage, unless such Work has
been performed by others whom the Contractor intends to pay.

$ 9.3.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, payments shall be made on account of materials and
equipment delivered and suitably stored at the site for subsequent incorporation in the Work. If approved in advance
by the Owner, payment may similarly be made for materials and equipment suitably stored off the site at a location
agreed upon in writing. Payment for materials and equipment stored on or off the site shall be conditioned upon
compliance by the Contractor with procedures satisfactory to the Owner to establish the Owner's title to such
materials and equipment or otherwise protect the Owner's interest, and shall include the costs of applicable
insuranc€, storage and transportation to the site for such materials and equipment stored off the site.

$ 9.3.3 The Contractor wanants that title to all Work covered by an Application for Payment will pass to the Owner
at he time of payment. The Conhactor further warrants that upon submittal of an Application for Payment all Work
for which Certificates for Payment have been previously issued and payments received from the Owner shall, to the
best of the Conhactor's knowledge, information and belief, be free and clear of liens, claims, security interests or
encumbrances in favor of the Contractor, Subconhactors, material suppliers, or other persons or entities making a
claim by reason of having provided labor, materials and equipment relating to the Work.

S 9.4 CERTIFICATES FOR PAYMENT

$ 9.4.1 The Owner will, within ten days after receipt of the Contractor's Application for Payment,.either issue to the
Contractor a Certificate for Payment for such amount as is properly due, or noti& the Contractor in writing of the
Owner's reasons for withholding certification in whole or in part as provided in Section 9.5.1.

$ 9.4.2 The issuance of a Certificate for Payment will constitute a representation by the Owner and Architect of the
Work and the data comprising the Application for Payment, that, to the best of the Owner and Architect's
knowledge, information and belief, the Work has progressed to the point indicated and that the quality of the Work
is in accordance with the Contract Documents. The foregoing representations are subject to an evaluation of the
Work for conformance with the results of subsequent tests and inspections, to correction of minor deviations from
the Contract Documents prior to completion and to specific qualifications expressed by the Owner and Architect.
The issuance of a Certificate for Payment will further constitute a representation that the Conbactor is entitled to
payment in the amount certifred. However, the issuance of a Certificate for Payment will not be a representation that
the Owner and Architect has (l) made exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity
of the Work, (2) reviewed construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, (3) reviewed copies
ofrequisitions received from Subcontractors and material suppliers and other data requested by the Owner to
substantiate the Contractor's right to payment, or (4) made examination to ascertain how or for what
Contractor has used money previously paid on account of the Contract Sum. a/ Jb
AIA Dc@nt l20lt - 200t. Copyrlqht a 1911, 19r5, 1918, 1t25, 193?, 195L 1958, 196r, 1963, 1966, t9?0, 19?6, 19s7,
AneEj,can Inslltuce of Archllscts. lll rlght. E.r.Md. , pllxol lbl. l!r.
flaatl.r, Unaulbolls.d raploductlon o! d.lrttlbullor ol thl! lt^o Do@nt

Do@nt, L. p.ot.clid by U.9, Copyrtght t{r ed lnt.hlclonrr,
oa uy tprtlon ol lt, @y latult ln r.vara clvll ed crl5lnrl

Fn.lila.r hd rlll ba pEo.a4laC tc tb. ul@ arlant tbaal^bla sda! tha lar. This draft sas pEoduced by AIA aoftwars tb 13:2?:21 on
02/0A/201L under Orde! No.252't397?5?_1 rbi,ch etplre! o^ 0ll3l/2012, and is not for resalE.gr.a Not.r: {1298010437)

25



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-BA5C-30E04A8'l 88Fs

s 9.5 DECTSIoNS TO WTHHOLD CERTTF|CAT|ON

$ 9,5.1 The Owner may withhold a Certificate for Payment in whole or in part, to the extent reasonably necessary to
protect the Owner. If the Owner and Architect are unable to certiry payment in the amount of the Application, the
Owner will notiry the Contractor as provided in Section 9.4.1 . If the Contractor and Owner cannot agree on a
revised amount, the Owner will promptly issue a Certificate for Payment for the amount for which the Owner is able
to make such representations. The Owner may also withhold a Certificate for Payment or, because of subsequently
discovered evidence, may nulliff the whole or a part of a Certificate for Payment previously issued, to such extent as
may be necessary in the Owners opinion to protect the Owner from loss for which the Confractor is responsible,
including loss resulting from acts and omissions described in Section 3.3.2, because of

.1 defective Work not r€medied after notice and opportunity to cure;

.2 third parly claims filed or reasonable evidence indicating probable filing of such claims unless
secwity acceptable to the Owner is provided by the Conhactor;

.3 failure of the Contactor to make payments properly to Subcontractors or for labor, materials or
equipment in accordance with the Subconhact Agreement and the Owner is not in breach of its
obligations to pay Contractor in accordance with the Contract Documents;

.4 reasonabl€ evidence that the Work cannot be completed for the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum;

.5 damage to the property of the Owner or a separate contractor not otherwise covered by insurance;

.6 reasonable evidence that the Work will not be completed within the Contract Time, and that the
unpaid balance would not be adequate to cover actual or direct damages for the anticipated delay; or

.7 repeated failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents after notice and
opportunity to cure.

$ 9.5.2 When the above reasons for withholding payment are removed, payment will be made for amounts previously
withheld within five days after notice of same to Owner.

$ 9.5.3 If the Owner withholds payment under Section 9.5.1.3, the Owner may, at its sole option, issue joint checks
to the Conffactor and to any Subconhactor or material or equipment suppliers to whom the Contractor failed to
make payment for Work properly performed or material or equipment suitably delivered, provided the Owner is not
in breach of its obligations to pay Contractor under the Contract Documents

s 9.6 PRoGRESS PAYMENTS

$ 9.6.1 The Owner shall make payments in the manner and within the time provided in the Contract Documents.

$ 9.6.2 The Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor no later than ten days after recoipt of payment from the Owner
the amount to which the Subcontractor is entitled, reflecting percentages actually retained from payments to the
Contractor on account of the Subcontractor's portion of the Work. The Contractor shall, by appropriate agreement
with each Subcontactor, require each Subcontractor to make payments to Sub-subcontractors in a similar manner.

$ 9.6.3 The Owner will, on request, furnish to a Subcontractor, if practicable, information regarding percentages of
completion or amounts applied for by the Contractor and action taken thereon by the Owner on account of portions
of the Work done by such Subcontractor.

$ 9.6.4 The Owner has the right to request written evidence from the Contractor that the Contractor has properly paid
Subconhactors and material and equipment suppliers amounts paid by the Owner to the Contractor for subcontracted
Work. If the Contractor fails to furnish such evidence within seven days, the Owner shall have the right to contact
Subcontractors to ascertain whether they have been properly paid. Neither the Owner nor Architect shall have an
obligation to pay or to see to the payment of money to a Subcontractor, except as may otherwise be required by law.

$ 9.6.5 Contractor payments to material and equipment suppliers shall be treated in a manner similar to that provided
in Sections 9.6.2,9.6.3 and 9,6.4.

I 9.6.6 A Certificate for Payment, a progress payment, or partial or entire use or occupancy of the Project by the
Owner shall not constitute acceptance of Work not in accordance with the Contract Documents.

al
DS

Jb
lLl Doa@nt r201r - 400?. CopyrLqht O 19r1. 1915, 1918, 1925, r937, r95I. 1958, 1951, 1963, 1965, 1910, I975, 198?,
Afterlcan fdslltute of Archlrects. lll rlgbt! !.t.wad. IInNINGT |lhla lU. Do@nt tt prot.ctad by U.A. CopyELght Lr sC tntah.tlontl
Iaaatla!. (rnauthor!.aaC aapioductl,on or d,IatrlluClon ot tbla A!l Docrahc, or uy po*lon ol lL, uy laault Ln aavara cl,vll ud ctld.nrl 1O
tm.ltlat, ed rttt b. I,lca.stad to tha ulllr attant Faalbla sd.! tha l,ar. Thls draf! was produced by AlA softeare at 13:2?:21 on
02/O6/201L under Ordsr No.252739?767-1 rhich explres on 01/31/2D12, and ls noc for r€salo.
Onr Not..: (t29Bg1O{3?)



DocuSign Envolope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36-4404-8A5C-30E04A8188Fs

$ 9.7 FATLURE OF PAYMENT
If the Owner or fuchitect does not issue a Certificate for Payment, through no fault of the Contractor, within frve
days after receipt of the Contractor's Application for Payment, or if the Owner does not pay the Contractor within
seven days after the date established in the Contract Documents the amount certified by the Owner or Architect or
awarded by binding dispute resolution, then the Contractor may, upon three additional days' written notice to the
Owner, stop the Work until payment of the amount owing has been received. The Contract Time shall be extended
appropriately and the Contract Sum shall be increased by the amount ofthe Contractor's reasonable costs ofshut-
down, delay and start-up, plus interest as provided for in the Conhact Documents.

$ 9.7.1 Notwithstanding the other provisions of Article 9, the Owner's obligation for timely payrnent shall be
conditioned on the allowance in the Contractor's payment application procedure for ten (10) days for handling by the
Owner and five (5) days by the Architect.

$ 9.8 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETTON

$ 9.8.1 Substantial Completion is the date of Temporary Certificate of Occupancy (TCO) issued by the authority
having jurisdiction. If the TCO is delayed for any reason beyond the control of the Contractor, then the date of
Substantial Completion will be the stage in the progress of the Work when the Work or designated portion thereof is
sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract Documents so that the Owner can occupy or utilize the Work
for its intended use .

$ 9.8.2 When the Contractor considers that the Work, or a portion thereof which the Owner agrees to accept
separately, is substantially complete, the Contractor shall prepare and submit to the Owner and Architect a

comprehensive list of items to be completed or conected prior to final payment. Failwe to include an item on such
list does not alter the responsibiliry of the Contractor to complete all Work in accordance with the Contract
Documents,

$ 9.8,3 Upon receipt of the Contractor's list, the Owner and Architect will make an inspection to determine whether
the Work or designated portion thereof is substantially complete. If the Owner and Architect's inspection discloses
any item, whether or not included on the Contractor's list, which is not sufficiently complete in accordance with the
Contract Documents so that the Owner can occupy or utilize the Work or designated portion thereof for its intended
use, the Conhactor shall, before issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion, complete or correct such item
upon notification by the Architect. In such case, the Contractor shall then submit a request for another inspection by
the Owner and Architect to determine Substantial Completion.

S 9.8.4 When the Work or designated portion thereof is substantially complete, the Architect will prepare a
Certificate of Substantial Completion that shall establish the date of Substantial Completion, shall establish
responsibility of the Owner for security, maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to the Work and insurance, and shall
fix the time within which the Contractor shall finish all items on the list accompanying the Certificate. Wananties
required by the Contract Documents shall commence on the date of Substantial Completion of the Work or
designated portion thereof unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Substantial Completion.

$ 9.8.5 The Certificate of Substantial Completion shall be submitted to the Owner and Conhactor for their written
acceptanc€ ofresponsibilities assigned to them in such Certificate. Upon such acceptance and consent ofsurety, if
any, the Owner shall make payment of retainage applying to such Work or designated portion thereof. Such payment
shall be adjusted for Work that is incomplete or not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Docurnents.

0 9.9 PARTTAL oCCUPANCY 0R USE

$ 9.9.1 The Owner may occupy or use any completed or partially completed portion of the Work at any stage when
such portion is designated by separate agreement with the Contractor, provided such occupancy or use is consented
to by the insurer as required under Section I 1.3.1 .5 and authorized by public authorities having jurisdiction over the
Project. Such partial occupancy or use may commence whether or not the portion is substantially complete, provided
the Owner and Conhactor have accepted in writing the responsibilities assigned to each of them for payments,
retainage, if any, security, maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to the Work and insurance, and have agreed in
writing conceming the period for correction of the Work and commencement of wananties required by the Contract
Documents. When the Contractor considers a portion substantially complete, the Confiactor shall prepare and
submit a list to the Architect as provided under Section 9.8.2. Consent of the Conhactor to partial occupancy or use
shall not be unreasonably withheld. The stage of the progress of the Work shall be determined by written agieement
between the Owner and Contactor or, if no agreement is reached, by decision of the Architect.

8/ Jb
ll.f, Doclqtrt, Al0li - 200?. copyrlght o 191r, 19t 5, 1918, 1925, 193?, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1965, 1970, 19t6. 198r,
AnarLcan Inslllutd of Archlt.cts. ltl rLgbtr !.r.F.d. lllnf,:lfo: fbi,. lfA. Do@nt ta ptot.d.d btr O.a. Copyllgbt Lr sd tntarn.tlon.l,
tr.rtr,aa. On.ubholltad 3.pEcdugtlon or diatrtbstlon o! lbla ltl. Docrrt, o! 6y poatlon o! lt, Btr raauli ln .ava!. clvll 6d cllolnal
Fn.ltl,a., sd rtlt b. p!o..st.d to th. r:Ie@.rt.nl tFt.tbla ud.! th. lN, Thl. draft He. produced by AIA 3ofw.r6 rt 13t2?t21 on
O2/OA/2011 unde! Order No.2521391161^! {hlch cxplrEs on Oll3\/20L2, 6nd l! not for relale.
U..r llot..: (129881043?)

21



DocuSlgn Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8A5C"30E04A8188Fs

$ 9,9.2 Immediately prior to such partial occupancy or use, th€ Owner, Contractor and Architect shall jointly inspect
the area to be occupied or portion of the Work to be used in order to determine and record the condition of the
Work.

$ 9.9.3 Unless otherwise agreed upon, partial occupancy or use of a portion or portions of the Work shall not
constitute acceptance of Work not complying with the requirements of the Contract Documents.

$ 9.10 F|NAL COMPLETTON AND F|NAL PAYMENT

$ 9.10.1 Upon receipt of the Contractor's written notice that the Work is ready for final inspection and acceptance
and upon receipt of a final Application for Payment, the Owner and Architect will promptly make such inspection
and, when the Owner and Architect finds the Work acceptable under the Contract Documents and the Contract fully
performed, the Architect will promptly issue a final Certificate for Pa)rment stating that to the best of the Architect's
knowledge, information and belief, and on the basis of the Architect's on-site visits and inspections, the Work has
been completed in accordance with terms and conditions of the Contract Documents and that the entire balance
found to be due the Contractor and noted in the final Certificate is due and payable. The Architect's final Certificate
for Payment will constitute a further representation that conditions listed in Section 9.10,2 as precedent to the
Contractor's being entitled to final payment have been fulfilled.

$ 9.10.2 Neither final payment nor any remaining retained percentage shall become due until the Contractor submits
to the Owner (l) an affidavit that payrolls, bills for materials and equipment, and other indebtedness connected with
the Work for which the Owner or the Owner's property might be responsible or encumbered (less amounts withheld
by Owner) have been paid or otherwise satisfied, (2) a certificate evidencing that insurance required by the Contract
Documents to remain in force after final payment is currently in effect and will not be canceled or allowed to expire
until at least 30 days' prior written notice has besn given to the Owner, (3) a written statement that the Contractor
knows of no substantial reason that the insurance will not be renewable to cover the period required by the Contract
Documents, (4) consent of surety, if any, to final payment and (5), if required by the Owner, other data establishing
payment or satisfaction of obligations, such as receipts, release s and waivers of liens, claims, security interests or
encumbrances arising out of the Contract, to the extent and in such form as may be designated by the Owner. If a

Subcontractor refuses to furnish a release or waiveirequired by the Owner, the Contractor may fumish a bond
satisfactory to the Owner to indemni$ the Owner against such lien. If such lien remains unsatisfied after payments
are made, the Contractor shall refund to the Owner all money that the Owner may be compelled to pay in
discharging such lien, including all costs and reasonable attomeys' fees.

In addition to the stated requirements, the Conhactor shall be required to deliver to the Owner: (i) a final
signed contractor's affidavit in statutory form; and (ii) evidence that no liens are outstanding arising by, through or
under the Contractor except as set forth in the Final Affidavit. Provided Contractor has been paid all amounts due
hereunder, if there is any claim of lien filed which arise by, through or under the Conhactor, then the Contractor
shall cause such lien to be paid or bonded within ten (10) days following notice from the Owner. In conjunction with
all advances being requested, if requested by Owner, the Contractor shall deliver to the Owner lien waivers from all
subcontractors and material suppliers.

$ 9.10.3 If, after Substantial Completion of the Work, final completion thereof is materially delayed through no fault
of the Contractor or by issuance of Change Orders affecting final completion, the Owner shall, upon application by
the Contractor, and without terminating the Contract, make payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work
fully completed and accepted. If the remaining balance for Work not fully completed or conected is less than
retainage stipulated in the Contract Documents, and if bonds have been furnished, the written consent of surety to
payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work fully completed and accepted shall be submitted by the
Contractor prior to certification of such payment. Such payment shall be made under terms and conditions governing
final payment, except that it shall not constitute a waiver of claims.

S 9.10.4 The making of final payment shall constitute a waiver of Claims by the Owner except those arising from
.1 liens, Clairns, security interests or encumbrances arising out ofthe Contract and unsettled;
.2 failure of the Work to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents; or
.3 terms of special warranties required by the Conhact Documents.

$ 9.10.5 Acceptance of final payment by the Contractor, a Subcontractor or material supplier shall constitute a waiver
of claims by that payee except those previously made in writing and identified by that payee as unsettled
of final Application for Payment. Jh
ll Dc.qnt r201n - 200?. copyrlght c 1911, l9rt, 1910, 1925, 193?. 1951, 1958, 1951, 1963, 1.955, 19?0, r975, 1987,
Amerlcan Inslltuts of Arehlt€cca. lll. slgbtt 8.t.F.C, rl8lltllc: Thlr lIA. Docqnt 1r protaot.d by u.3. Copyttght L.r .nd tnt.rntttotr.l
Tlaatlaa. gnruthorltaC r.produotlon or daatllbutlon cf tbla tlt Da@nt, cr my tbrtlo! of tt, qtr raautt 1n t.vasa clvl-l sd crbln.!.
Pan.ttl.r, sd rltl b. pto..ot.d to tb. ular.rt.nt tbr.lbl. udaa lL. l.r. thlr draft ras producod by AtA sottware at 13:27t21 oo
02lie/20LL undet Ord.r No,252?3t116?-1 rhlch erplrss on 0Ll3l/20L2, and ls not for resal€.
Ur.! llct..: (1298810{37)

28



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36.4404-8A5C-30E04A81 88F5

$ 9.,l0.6 Contractor shall not be responsible to provide a bond, effect a discharge or refund any payments to Owner
arising out of a lien or claim filed due to Owner's failure to pay amounts properly due to Contractor pursuant to this
Contract or Owner's agreement with Contractor not to pay a specihc subcontractor or subcontractors,

$ 9.ll CONDTTIONED PAYMENTS
$ 9,11.1 Nothing in the Contract or other Contract Documents is intended nor may be conshued to waive, abridge,
or adversely affect the Conffactor's right to make the Contractor's actual receipt of payment from the Owner a
condition preced€nt to the Contractor's payment (whether progress, final, or any other payment) to Subcontractors,
suppliers, or other contractees. If the Contractor or its contractees are required to submit affidavits of payment,
waivers of rights, releases of claims, or the like, such requirements will not be deemed effective as to unpaid
conhact balances and retainage until same are actually received by the Contractor from the Owner.

ARTICLE 10 PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY

$ 10.1 SAFEW PRECAUTToNS AND PROGRAMS
The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety precautions and programs
in conneotion with the performance of the Contract.

s 10.2 SAFEW 0F PERSoNS AND PROPERW

$ 10.2.1 Tho Contractor shall take reasonable precautions for safety of, and shall provide reasonable protection to
prevent damage, injury or loss to

.1 employees on the Work and other persons who may be affected thereby;

.2 the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the
site, under care, custody or control of the Conhactor or the Contractor's Subcontractors or Sub-
subcontractors; and

.3 other properfy at the site or adjacent thereto, such as trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements,
roadways, structures and utilities not designated for removal, relocation or replacement in the course
ofconstruction.

S 10.2.2 The Contractor shall comply with and give notices required by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes,
rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities bearing on safety of persons or property or their
protection from damage, injury or loss.

S f 0.2.3 The Contractor shall erect and maintain, as required by existing conditions and performance of the Conhact,
reasonable safeguards for safety and protection, including posting danger signs and other warnings against hazards,
promulgating safety regulations and notiffing owners and users of adjacent sites and utilities.

S 10.2.4 When use or storage of explosives or other hazardous materials or equipment or unusual methods are
necessary for execution ofthe Work, the Contractor shall exercise uhnost care and carry on such activities under
supervision of properly qualified personnel.

$ 10.2.5 The Conhactor shall promptly remedy damage and loss (other than damage or loss insured under property
insurance required by the Conhact Documents) to property referred to in Sections 10.2.1.2 and 10.2.1.3 caused in
whole or in part by the Contractor, a Subcontractor, a Sub-subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed
by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts they may be liable and for which the Contractor is responsible under
Sections 10.2.1.2 and 10.2.1.3, except damage or loss attributable to acts or omissions of the Owner or Architect or
anyone directly or indirectly employed by either of them, or by anyone for whose acts either of them may be liable,
and not attributable to the fault or negligence of the Contractor. The foregoing obligations of the Contractor are in
addition to the Contractor's obligations under Section 3,18,

S 10.2.6 The Contractor shall designate a responsible member of the Contractor's organization at the site whose duty
shall be the prevention ofaccidents. This person shall be the Contractor's superintendent unless otherwise
designated by the Contractor in writing to the Owner and Architect.

S 10.2.7 The Contractor shall not permit any part of the conskuction or site to be loaded so as to cause damage or
create an unsafe condition.

al Jb
A!f, Docqnt teolr - 200?. Copyllqht C 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1953, 1955, 19?0, 19?6, 198r,
Aherlcan InsElLute of Archleects. lU slgbtr r.taFad. nRlttfoi lrla AlAo
fr..t,laa, UnauthoilsaC laploductlon oa Clatslbutlon ol tbta An Do@n!,

DocrDnl l'. pao!.d.d by O.S. Copyrlght br ed fnt.hrttonrl
or uir tEr.ttoi ot tt, qy raault to aav.r. cLeLl sd crlrllnrt at

tf,naltl,.t, 6d rlll ba pror.dtad to tb. q:l.E@ ctant tErrfbla s&! tha ltr, Thls draft Has produced b9 AIA 3ott*are at 13:2?:21 on
02/Oe/2017 undsr Order No.252?397?67-l Hhlch erplres on OL/3L12012, and ls not for lesale.
Itr.E Not..: [298910437]



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8ASC-30E04A8188F5

0 10.2.8 INJURY OR DAMAGE TO PERSoN OR PRoPERW
If either pany suffers injury or damage to person or property because of an act or omission of the other party, or of
others for whose acts such party is legally responsible, written notice of such injury or damage, whether or not
insured, shall be given to the other parfy within a reasonable time not exceeding 2l days after discovery. The notice
shall provide sufficient detail to enable the other pa4y to investigate the matter.

$ 10.3 HAZARDoUS MATERTALS

$ 10.3.1 Except as may be expressly set forth in the Scope of Work attached hereto, the Contractor shall not be liable
for any hazardous, toxic, or contaminated substances, chemicals, pollutants, or other material of any kind or
description, including but not limited to asbestos or polychlorinated biphenyl, which may cause injury, sickness, or
harm to persons or property (herein "Harmful Substances'). The sole exceptions to the foregoing exemption fiom
Contractor's liability are Harmful Substances which the Contractor or its subcontractors brings onto the Project site
or which the Contractor or its subcontractors generates from operations at the Project Site, to the extent such
Harmful Substances w€re not required by the Contract Documents or were not the necessary by-product of
Contractor's performance of Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

$ 10.3.2 The Conhactor is not in the business ofand shall not be considered as a handler, generator, operator, treatet
storer, transporter, or disposer of Harmful Substances and, other than the exceptions stated in Subparagraph 10.3.1,
the Owner shall be responsible for and shall indemnifu and hold the Contractor harmless from the identification,
testing, handling, removal, treatment, storage, transportation, disposal and other activities related to Harmful
Substances. The Owner shall extend the Contract Time and adjust the Contract Sum for all delays and extra costs
which can fairly be atributable to Harmful Substances, including but not limited to shut-down, delay, disruption,
and skrt-up of Conhactor's operations.

S 10,3.3 Other than the exceptions stated in Subparagraph 10.3.1 above, the Owner shall be completely liable for and
shall indemnifu the Contractor from all injuries, claims, costs, losses or damages of any fype, howsoever arising
including but not limited to fines, assessments, legal fees, court costs, actual damages claimed or suffered, cost of
removal, transportation, remediation or disposal, or any other amounts related in any manner to Harmful Substances
which are present in any form or location over, on, in or under the Project site, or which the Owner or designers,
agents, or other entities for whom the Owner is responsible have caused to be at issue because of the location and
scope of Work to be performed in accordance with the Contract Documents or other act or omission of such parties.
Accordingly, with the sole exceptions under Subparagraph 10.3.1, the Owner agrees to defend, indemni$ and hold
Contractor harmless and shall waive any rights or claims to costs related in any manner to such Harmful Substances
whether or not Contractor has directly or indirectly handled, uncovered, excavated, transported, orperformed
activities with respect to such Harmful Substances including, but not limited to, moving Harmful Substances from
one portion ofthe Project site to another,

S 10.3.4 The Owner shall not be responsible under this Section 10.3 for materials or substances the Contractor brings
to the site unless such materials or substances are required by the Contract Documents. The Owner shall be
responsible for materials or substances required by the Contract Documents, except to the extent of the Contractor's
fault or negligence in the use and handling ofsuch materials or substances.

$ 10.3.5 The Contractor shall indemniS the Owner for the cost and expense the Owner incurs (l) for remediation of
a material or substance the Conhactor brings to the site and negligently handles, or (2) where the Confractor fails to
perform its obligations under Section 10.3.1, except to the extent that the cost and expense are due to ths Owner's
fault or negligence.

$ 10.3.6 If, without negligence on the part of the Conhactor or its subcontractors, the Contractor is held liable by a
government agency for the cost of remediation of a hazardous material or substance solely by reason of performing
Work as required by the Contract Documents, the Owner shall indemni$ the Contractor for all cost and expense
thereby incurred.

$ 10.4 EMERGENCTES

In an emergency affecting safety ofpersons or property, the Contractor shall act, at the Contactor's discretion, to
prevent threatened damage, injury or loss. Additional compensation or extension of time claimed by the Contractor
on account of an emergency shall be determined as provided in Article l5 and Article 7.

al Jb
lll oo@nt x201! - 200t. Copy!lght G 19L1, 1915, 1918. 1925, 193?, 19!1, 195t, r96r, 1963, 1965, 19?0, 19?6, 198?.
Angrlcan lnstitute o! Archltocte. lll' algbt. t.r.w.C. ll.illttfO: Eblr ltA. Do@nt Lr psot.qtad by p.8. Copyrtght tir sd tht.;nrttonrl
It.rlLaa. Utruthoattad rapEoductlon cr dlatlljbutlcn cf thla llA. DcoEnt, oE 6y lFrtton o! r,t, uy !.rult Ln a.v.!a olvll ud crllll"nll
F6a:,t!,aa, ud rItI b. plor.@taC gc tb. ultlE aat.nt tF.llbla sda! tba lrr. thts draft cas producad by AIA loftear€ at 13:2?:2I on
OZ/OAl20ll und.r OrdeE No.252?397t51-l rhlch expiles on 0L/3L12012, and t! not for Eesale.
or.r Not..: (129081043?)

30



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 B3586F5-EF364404"8A5C-30E04A8188F5

ARTICLE 11 INSURANCEAND BONDS

$ 11.1 CoNTRACTOR'S LtABtLtW TNSURANCE

$ 
,l1.1.1 The Contractor shall purchase from and maintain in a company or companies lawfully authorized to do

business in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located such insurance as will protect the Conffactor from claims
set forth below which may arise out of or result from the Contractor's operations and completed operations under
the Contract and for which the Conhactor may be legally liable, whethersuch operations be by the Contractor or by
a Subcontactor or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any ofthem, or by anyone for whose acts any of
them may be liable:

.1 Claims under workers' compensation, disability benefit and other similar employee benefit acts that
are applicable to the Work to be performed;

'2 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death of the
Contractor's employees;

.3 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person other than
the Contractor's employees;

,4 Claims for damages insured by usual personal injury liability coverage;
.5 Claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of tangible

property, including loss of use resulting therefrom;
.6 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, death of a person or property damage arising out of

ownership, maintenance or use of a motor vehicle;
.7 Claims for bodily injury or property damage arising out of completed operations; and
.8 Claims involving conhactual liability insurance applicable to the Contractor's obligations under

Section 3.18.

$ 1f .1 .2 The insurance required by Section I I . I . I shall be written for not less than limits of liability specified in the
Contract Documents or required by law, whichever coverage is greater. Coverages shall be written on an occunence
basis, shall be maintained without intemrption frorn the date of commencement of the Work until the date of final
payment and termination of any coverage required to be maintained after final payment, and, with respect to the
Contractor's completed operations coverage, until the expiration of the period for correction of Work or for such
other period for maintenance of completed operations coverage as specified in the Contract Documents.

$ 1 I .1.3 Certificates of insurance acceptable to the Owner shall be filed with the Owner prior to commencement of
the Work and thereafter upon Owner's written request. . These certificates and the insurance policies required by
this Section I I .l shall contain a provision that coverages afforded under the policies will not be canceled or allowed
to expire until at least 30 days' prior ivritten notice has been given to the Owner. Ifany ofthe foregoing coverages
are required to remain in force after final payment and are reasonably available, an additional certifioate evidencing
continuation of liability cov€rage, including coverage for completed operations, shall be submitted with the final
Application for Payment as required by Section 9.10.2 and thereafter upon receipt of a written request therefor from
Owner at renewal or replacement of such coverage until the expiration of the time required by Section I L1.2.
Information concerning reduction of coverage on account of revised limits or claims paid under the General
Aggregate, or both, shall be furnished by the Contractor with reasonable promptness.

S 
,l1.1.4 The Contractor shall cause the commercial liability coverage required by the Con$act Documents to include

(l) the Owner as additional insureds for claims caused in whole or in part by the Contractor's negligent acts or
omissions during the Contractor's operations; and (2) the Owner as an additional insured for claims caused in whole
or in part by the Contractor's negligent acts or omissions during the Contractor's completed operations.

s 11.2 OWNER'S LIAB|LITY TNSURANCE
The Owner shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining the Owner's usual liability insuranse.

$ 1{.3 PROPERTY TNSURANCE

S 11,3.1 The Owner shall purchase and maintain, in a company or companies lawfully authorized to do business in
the jurisdiction in which the Project is located, Builder's Risk "all-risk" or e quivalent policy form in the amount of
the initial Contract Sum, plus value of subsequent Contract Modifications and cost of materials supplied or installed
by others, comprising total value for the entire Project at the site on a replacement cost basii without optional
deductibles.

Jb
AIA oo@nt 1201n - 2007. coFyrlght o 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925. 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1953, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1981,
An€liqan Instlluts ol Archltects . lU Elgbt. ta..F.d. f tIItaO: Thl. AtA. Docldnt t. p!ot.d.d by O. A. Copyrfgbt L., ud Int.sn.Ctoa.l
!!.ttlar. On.utho.ltad 3aploductl,on or dlrtllbulton ol thir lI . Docrqnt, or sy tFftton of lt, qy !.tult' tn t.vala clvll ud crl.ElnaL
lf,daltl.!, ed ,ttl b. pror.@t.d to tb. qrt@ ut.nC tE..Lbl. sd.r th. Irr, Thls dt.ft las produc€d by AIA 3oft*ar6 at 13:Z? r2l on
02lOal20L\ under Ordet No.252739??67-l chlch explrer o^ O:.l3Ll2Ol2, and ls no! for rcaale.
Or.E xcg..! (129881043?)

31



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5.EF364404-8ASC-30E04A81 88F5

extent not covered by the Builders Risk insurance. Such property insurance shall be maintained, unless otherwise
provided in the Contract Documents or otherwise agreed in writing by all persons and entities who are beneficiaries
of such insurance, until final payment has been made as provided in Section 9. I 0 or until no person or entity other
than the Owner has an insurable interest in the propefi required by this Section I1.3 to be covered, whichever is
later. This insurance shall include interests ofthe Owner, the Contractor, Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors in
the Project as named insured. Should a loss occur. the Contractor shall be paid bJr Owner for all work in place at the
time of such loss regardless of whether or not such work was damaged in whole or in part by the oeril.

$ 11,3.1.1 Builders Risk insurance shall be on an "all-risk" policy form and shall include, without limitation,
insurance against the perils of fire (with extended coverage) and physical loss or damage including, without
duplication of cov€rage, theft, vandalism, malicious mischief, collapse, eadhquake, hurricane, flood, windstorm,
falscwork, testing and startup, temporary buildings and debris removal including demolition occasioned by
enforcement ofany applicable legal requirements, and shall cover reasonable compensation for Architect's and
Contractor's services and expenses required as a result of such insured loss. A copy of the Builders Risk Policy shall
be delivered to the Contractor prior to the commencement of the Work.

$ 
,l1.3.1.2 If the Owner does not intend to purchase such Builders Risk insurance required by the Contract and with

all of the coverages in the amount described above, the Owner shall so inform the Conhactor in writing prior to
cemmencement of the Work. The Contactor may then effect insurance as cost of the Work that will protect the
interests of the Contractor, Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors in the Work, and by appropriate Change Order
the cost thereof shall be charged to the Owner. If the Contractor is damaged by the failure or neglect of the Owner to
purchase or maintain insurance as described above, without so notifuing the Contractor in writing, then the Owner
shall bear all reasonable costs properly attributable thereto.

$ 11.3.1.3 Ifthe Builders Risk insurance requires deductibles, the Owner shall pay costs not covered because ofsuch
deductibles outside of the GMP.

S 11,3.1.4 This Builders Risk insurance shall cover portions of the Work stored off the site, and also portions of the
Work in transit.

$ 11,3.1.5 Partial occupancy'or use in accordance with Section 9.9 shall not commence until the insurance company
or companies providing property insurance have consentsd to such partial occupancy or use by endorsement or
otherwise. The Owner and the Contractor shall take reasonable steps to obtain consent ofthe insurance company or
cornpanies and shall, without mutual written consent, take no action with respect to partial occupancy or use that
would cause cancellation, lapse or reduction of insurance,

! r l .s,2 BoTLER AND MACHTNERY TNSURANCE

The Owner shall purchase and maintain boiler and machinery insurance required by the Contract Documents or by
law, which shall specifically cover such insured objects during installation and until final acceptance by the Owner;
this insurance shall include interests of the Owner, Contractor, Subconhactors and Sub-subcontractors in the Work,
and the Owner and Conhactor shall be named insureds.

$ r1.3.3 LOSS 0F USE TNSURANCE

The Owner, at the Owner's option, may purchase and maintain such insurance as will insure the Owner against loss
of use of the Owner's property due to fire or other hazards, however caused. The Owner waives all rights of action
against the Contractor for loss of use of the Owner's property, including consequential losses due to fire or other
hazards however caused.

$ 11.3.4 Ifthe Contractor requests in writing that insurance for risks other than those described herein or other
special causes of loss be included in the property insurance policy, the Owner shall, ifpossible, include such
insurance, and the cost thereofshall be charged to the Contractor by appropriate Change Order.

$ 11.3.5 If during the Project constnrction period the Owner inswes properties, real orpersonal or both, at or adjacent
to the site by property insurance under policies separate from those insuring the Project, or if after final payment
properly insurance is to bo provided on the completed Project through a policy or policies other than those insuring
the Project during the construction period, the Owner shall waive all rights in accordance with the terms of Section
I 1.3.7 for damages caused by fire or other causes of loss covered by this separate property insurance.
policies shall provide this waiver of subrogation by endorsement or otherwise. al Jb
Alr, Do@rt 1201! - 2007. Copyrtght O 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 193?, 195r, r95E, 1961, 1963, 1965, 1970, 1916, 198?
Anerlc.n Instltutq of Archltects. Al,l llgbt. !.r.R.d. ,lxNlfc: Thlr AlA. Do@nt ,,r plot.ct.d by (la. Copylt9ht lrr Md tnt.mrtlon.l
I!.ati.t. gnauGborlt.d raProductton oa dlattlbutlotr ol thla lll. DoclDni, o! uy tDttlon ot lt. uy raault ln aavala cr,eil sd crldnrl
Fn.lll.., eC rIIl b. pao..4t.d tc tb. Nl!6 artanl tFr.Lbl. sd.r th. lrr. Thls draft eat pEoduced by AIA soflrar€ at 13:2?:21 on
02/OA/2071 undsr 0rder Ho.2527397?67-1 ehlch exptres on 0ll3l/2OL2, and 1s do! lo! resale,
u..! ltot..: 0298810437)

32



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404.8A5C-30E04A81 88F5

$ 11.3.6 Before an exposure to loss may occur, the Owner shall file with the Conhactor a copy of each policy that
includes insurance coverages required by this Section 11.3. Each policy shall contain all generally applicable
conditions, definitions, exclusions and endorsements related to this Project. Each policy shall contain a provision
that the policy will not be canceled or allowed to expire, and that its limits will not be reduced, until at least 30 days'
prior written notice has been given to the Contractor.

$ 11.3.7 WATVERS OF SUBRoGAT|oN
The Owner and Contractor waive all rights against (l) each other and any of their subcontractors, sub-
subcontractors, agents and employees, each ofthe other, and (2) the Architect, Architect's consultants, separate
contractors described in Article 6, if any, and any oftheir subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, agents and employees,
for damages caused by fire or other causes ofloss to the extent covered by property insurance obtained pursuant to
this Section I 1.3 or other property inswance applicable to the Work, except such rights as they have to proceeds of
such insurance held by the Owner as fiduciary. The Owner or Conhactor, as appropriate, shall require of the
Architect, Architect's consuhants, separate contactors described in Article 6, if any, and the subconhactors, sub-
subcontractors, agents and employees of any of them, by appropriate agreements, written where legally required for
validity, similar waivers each in favor of other parties enumerated herein. The policies shall provide such waivers of
subrogation by endorsement or otherwise. A waiver of subrogation shall be effective as to a person or entity even
though that person or entity would othenrise have a duty of indemnification, conractual or otherwise, did not pay
the insurance premium directly or indirectly, whether or not the person or entity had an insurable interest in the
property damaged and without rsstrictions to type, cause, time or location of occurrence or loss.

$ 
,l1.3,8 A loss insured under the Owner's properly insurance shall be adjusted by the Owner as fiduciary and made

payable to the Owner as fiduciary for the insureds, as their interests may appear, subject to requirements of any
applicable mortgagee clause and of Section I 1.3.10. The Contractor shall pay Subcontractors their just shares of
insurance proceeds received by the Conhactor, and by appropriate agreements, written where legally required for
validity, shall require Subcontractors to make payments to their Sub-subcontraotors in similar manner.

$ 1f .3.9 If required in writing by a party in interest, the Owner as fiduciary shall, upon occurrence of an insured loss,
give bond for proper performance ofthe Owner's duties. The cost ofrequired bonds shall be charged against
proceeds received as fiduciary. The Owner shall deposit in a separate account proceeds so received, which the
Owner shall distribute in accordance with such agr€ement as the parties in interest may reach, or as determined in
accordance with the method of binding dispute resolution selected in the Agreement between the Owner and
Contractor. If after such loss no other special agreement is made and unless the Owner terminates the Contract for
convenience, replacement of damaged property shall be performed by the Contractor after notification of a Change
in the Work in accordance with Article 7.

S 11.3.{0 The Owner as hduciary shall have power to adjust and settle a loss with insurers unless one of the parties in
interest shall object in writing within five days after occurrence of loss to the Owner's exercise of this power; if such
objection is made, the dispute shall be resolved in the manner selected by the Owner and Contractor.

$ 11.4 PERFORMANCE BOND AND PAYMENT BoND

S f 1.4.1 The Owner shall have the right to require the Contractor to fumish bonds covering faithful performance of
the Contract and payment of obligations arising thereunder as stipulated in bidding requirements or specifically
required in the Contract Documents on the date of execution of the Contract.

$ I 1.4.2 Upon the request of any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary of bonds covering payment
of obligations arising under the Contract, the Contractor shall promptly furnish a copy of the bonds or shall
authorize a copy to be furnished.

ARTICLE 12 UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK

s 12,r uNcovERrNG oF woRK
S 12,1.1 If a portion of the Work is covered contary to the Owner's or Architect's written request or to requirements
specifically expressed in the Contract Documents, it must, if requested in writing by the Owner or Architect, be
uncovered for the Owner's or the Architect's examination and be replaced at the Contraotor's expenso without
change in the Contract Time.

a/ Jh
At Docqnl raoF - 2007, Copyrlght O 19I1, 1915, 1918, I925, 1937, f951. 195E, I961, 1963, 1966, 1970, r9?6. 198?,
Anorican Inslllutq of Archltects. A!" tlEbt. r.r.s.d. XNIH6! rhl. AlA. Do@nt 1. tltot.d.d by U.A. Copyllghl Lrr md Int.rn.tlon.1
Ilaatl,aa, Or.utbolltad raproduct,lcr qr 4Lac8tbull,cn of lhtt ltt ooMnt, or ey tFdton of le, qy r.rul't ln tavaaa clvl'l ud crlilnrl 55
t-n.It1.r, Ed ru.l ba proradtad tg th. ul.@ artant tDrasl. s&! tha tat. lhl! draft eas produced by AIA softear€ at 13:27t2I on
02/08/201L unds! Ordo. No.252?39??5?-1 whlch .xplres o^ 0l/3lr2tl2. lnd 15 not for Eesal..
u..r llot..: . (129881043?)



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8A5C-30E04A81 88F5

S 12.1.2 If a portion of the Work has been cov€red that the Architect has not specifically requested to examine prior
to its being covered, the Architect may request to see such Work and it shall be uncovered by the Contractor, If such
Work is in accordance with the Contract Documents, costs of uncovering and replacement shall, by appropriate
Change Order, be at the Owner's expens€. If such Work is not in accordance with the Contract Documents, such
costs and the cost ofcorrection shall be at the Contractor's expense unless the condition was caused by the Owner or
a separate confractor in which event the Owner shall be responsible for payment of such costs.

$ 12.2 CORRECTToN OF WORK

s 12.2.1 BEFoRE 0R AFTER SUBSTANTTAL COMPLETTON

The Contractor shall promptly correct Work rejected by the Architect or Owner or failing to conform to the
requirements of the Contract Docum€nts, whether discovered before or after Substantial Completion and whether or
not fabricated, installed or completed. Costs of conecting such rejected Work, including additional testing and
inspections, the cost of uncovering and replacement, and reasonable compensation for the Architect's services and
expenses made necessary thereby, shall be at the Contractor's expense.

s 12.2.2 AFTER SUBSTANTTAL COMPLETToN

S 12.2.2.1 In addition to the Contractor's obligations under Section 3.5, if, within one year after the date of
Substantial Completion of the Work or designated portion thereof or after the date for commencement of warranties
established under Section 9.9.1, or by terms of an applicable special wananty required by the Contract Documents,
any of the Work is found to be not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, the Contractor
shall correct it promptly after receipt of written notice from the Owner to do so unless the Owner has previously
given the Contractor a written acceptance of such condition. The Owner shall give such notice promptly after
discovery of the condition. During the one-year period for correction of Work, if the Owner fails to notiS the
Contractor and give the Contractor an opportunity to make the correction, the Owner waivcs the rights to require
correction by the Contractor and to make a claim for breach of warranty. If the Contractor fails to correct
nonconforming Work within a reasonable time dwing that period after receipt of notice from the Owner or
Architect, the Owner may correct it in accordance with Section 2.4.

S 12.2.2.2 The one-year period for correction of Work shall be extended with respect to portions of Work first
performed after Substantial Completion by the period of time between Substantial Completion and the actual
completion of that portion of the Work.

512,2.2,3 The one-year period for correction of Work shall not be extended by corrective Work performed by the
Contractor pursuant to this Section 12.2.

$ 12,2.3 The Contractor shall remove from the site portions of the Work that are not in accordance with the
requirements of the Contract Documents and are neither corrected by the Conhactor nor accepted by the Owner

0 12.2.4 The Conhactor shall bear the cost of correcting destroycd or damaged construction, whether completed or
partially completed, of the Owner or separate conractors caused by the Contractor's conection or removal of Work
that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.

S 12.2.5 Nothing contained in this Section 12.2 shall be construed to establish a period of limitation with respect to
other obligations the Contractor has under the Conhact Documents, Establishment of the one-year period for
correction of Work as described in Section 12.2,2 relates only to the specific obligation of the Contractor to correct
the Work, and has no relationship to the time within which the obligation to comply with the Contract Documents
may be sought to be enforced, nor to the time within which proceedings may be commenced to establish the
Contractor's liability with respect to the Contractor's obligations other than specifically to conect the Work.

$ 12.3 ACCEPTANCE OF NONCONFORMTNG WORK
If the Owner prefers to accept Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Conhact Documents, the
Owner may do so instead of requiring its removal and correction, in which case the Conhact Sum will be reduced as

appropriate and equitable. Such adjustment shall be effected whether or not final payment has been made,

ARTICLE 13 MISCELI.ANEOUS PROVISIONS

s 13.1 GOVERNTNG LAW
The Contract shall be govemed by the law of the place where the Project is located

8/ Jh
All Dcclqng ,Vt01! - 200?. Copyrlght € 191r, 1915, 1918, 1925, 193?, 1.951,, 1958, 1961, 1953, 1966, 1970, l9?6, 1987
Anorlcan lnstltutc ot Arcbltect!. AU .lgbtr !.r.r.d. rlRlflNc: lhl'r All. Docqnt l. pEot.cl.d by U,g, Cofryllth! br sd Int.hrClon.L
llraatr.aa. Onautholtrad E.ploduotton o! dlahrl.buClon of tbl. Att Do@nt, or sy po-Er,on ol lt, qy latult ,'n aavala Glvll ud 6rGna!
lr attt.!, ud rl'll ba proaacut.d Bc tba uit@.atant tFaatbla sdar tba lrr. Thls dlatt yas produc€d by AIA softrrre at 1312?:21 on
A2IOA/2011 under OrdeE No.252?197767-l vhl,ch .xpl"!er on 0L/31/20L2' and ls not for r6saIs.
ttr.r xct..: 1129E81043?)

3{



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5.EF36-4404-8A5C-30E04A81 88F5

s 13.2 SUCCESSORS AND ASSTGNS

$ 
,l3.2.1 The Owner and Conhactor respectively bind themselves, their partners, successors, assigns and legal

representatives to covenants, agreements and obligations contained in the Contract Documents. Except as provided
in Section 13.2.2,neither party to the Contract shall assign the Contract as a whole without written consent of the
other. If either party attempts to make such an assignment without such consent, that parly shall nevertheless remain
legally responsible for all obligations under the Contract.

$ 13,2.2 The Owner may, without consent of the Contractor, assign the Conhact to a lender providing construction
financing for the Project, if the lender assumes the Owner's rights and obligations under thc Contract Documents.
The Conhactor shall execute all consents reasonably required to facilitate such assignment.

$ 13.3 WRITTEN NOTTCE

Written notice shall be deemed to have been duly served if delivered in person to the individual, to whom it is
addressed or two (2) business days after delivery via ovemight courier or if sent postage prepaid by United Stat€s
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested. All notices shall be sent to the persons and addresses as

follows:

To Owner
l60l Dixie LLC
Attn: Jeff Bums
414 N. Andrews Ave.
Fort Lauderdale, Fl 33301
Cc: Nick Rojo and Michelle Rice

To Contractor:
Moss & Associates, LLC
2101 N. Andrews Avenue Ft Lauderdale, FL 33311
ATTN: Randy Spicer Jr. with
CC to Bruce J. Moldow and Brett Atkinson

$ 13.4 RTGHTS AND REMEDTES

S 13.4.1 Duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents and rights and remedies available thereunder
shall be in addition to and not a limitation of duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available
by law.

S 13.4,2 No action or failure to act by the Owner, Architect or Conkactor shall constitute a waiver of a right or duty
afforded them under the Contract, nor shall such action or failure to act constitute approval ofor acquiescence in a
breach there under, except as may be specifically agreed in writing.

s 13,5 TESTS AND INSPECTTONS
g 13.5.1 Tests, inspections and approvals of portions of the Work shall be made as required by the Contract
Documents and by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations or lawful orders of public
authorities. Unless otherwise provided, the Conhactor shall rnake arrangements for such tests, inspections and
approvals with an independent testing laboratory or entity acceptable to and paid by the Owner outside of the GMP,
or with the appropriate public authority, and shall bear all related costs of tests, inspections and approvals. Tte
Conffactor shall give the Owner timely notice of when and where tests and inspections are to be made so that the
Owner may be present for such procedures. The Owner shall bear costs of(l) tests, inspections or approvals that do
not become requirements until after bids are received or negotiations concluded, and (2) tests, inspections or
approvals where building codes or applicable laws or regulations prohibit the Owner from delegating their cost io
the Conhactor.

S 13,5.2 If the Architect, Owner or public authorities having jurisdiction determine that portions of the Work require
additional testing, inspection or approval not included under Section 13.5.1, the Owner or Architect will, upon
written authorization from the Owner, instruct the Conhactor to make arrangements for such additional testing,
inspection or approval by an entity acceptable to the Owner, and the Conhactor shall give timely notice to the
Architect of when and where tests and inspections are to be made so that the Architect may be present for such
procedures. Such costs, €xcept as provided in Section 13.5.3, shall be at the Owner's expense.

a/ Jh
ara DoolMbr r201r - 200?. copyrlshr G 1911, 191s, 1918, 1925, 193?, 1951, 1958, :.961, r163, 1966, 19?0, 19?5, 198?,
Anerlcan Inlgl,tut€ of Archltsctt. DL tlgbtr !a.adad, rlnlllNor thb ALl. Do@trB Lr protact.d by U.a. copylrght Lr ud tnt.lnrtloul
laaltla.. Onauthorltad r.p8odustlcn or dl'rt8lbutlon ol thtr lIA. Doclqn!, o! rny portl.on ol lt', uy laaule h a.vala olel'l dd crtdnrl
lnnrltLaa. ed r.ltl b. proaastaC Co tb. q'L@ ut.nt tpatLbta sdar th. lrv. Thls draft eas produc€d by AIA soltyera aE 13:2?:21 on
02/0A/20Lf unde! Order No.252?39?757-1 whlch explras oa 0ll3l/2oL2, and ls not for restl€.
U..! lfot..: (1298810,13?l

35



DocuSlgn Envelope lD: 1 83586Fs-EF364404-8ASC-30E04A81 88F5

$ 
,13.5.3 Ifsuch procedures for testing, inspection orapproval under Sections 13.5.1 and 13.5.2 reveal failure ofthe

portions of the Work to comply with requirements established by the Contract Documents, all costs made necessary
by such failure including thoso ofrepeated proc€dures and compensation for the Architect's services and expenses
shall be at the Contractor's expense.

S 13.5.4 Required certificates oftesting, inspection or approval shall, unless othenpise required by the Contract
Documents, be secured by the Contractor and promptly delivered to the Owner and Architect.

$ 13.5.5 If the Owner or Architect is to observe tests, inspections or approvals required by the Contract Documents,
the Architect will do so promptly and, where practicable, at the normal place of testing.

$ 13.5.6 Tests or inspections conducted pursuant to the Contract Documents shall be made promptly to avoid
unreasonable delay in the Work,

s 13.6|NTEREST
Payments due and unpaid under the Contract Documents shall bear interest from the date payment is due at such rate
as the parties may agree upon in writing or, in the absence thereof, at the legal rate prevailing from time to time at
the place where the Project is located. The Owner shall not be required to pay interest unless payment is not made
within ten (10) days after Conhactor's written notice that the amount is past.

$ 13.7 T|ME L|MITS ON CLAtMS
The Owner and Contractor shall commence all claims and causes of action, whether in conhact, tort, breach of
warranty or otherwise, against the other arising out of or related to the Contract in accordance with the requirements
of the final dispute resolution method selected in the Agreement within the time period specified by applicable law,
but in any case not more than l0 years after the date of Substantial Completion of the Work. The Owner and
Contractor waive all claims and caus€s of action not commenced in accordance with this Section 13.7.

$ 13.8 In the event the Work is damaged and/or deshoyed by acts of terrorist or vandalism (except where perpehated
by employees ofContractor or its Subcontractors during work hours), then the Conhactor shall not be liable for such
damages and shall not be obligated to correct the Work that has been damaged by such acts and/or to complete or
rebuild the Work if destroyed by such acts unless the Owner and Contractor execute a mutually acceptable Change
Order that adjusts the Contract Sum and Contract Time.

$ 13.9 The signing parties to this Contract do not intend to confer any rights upon any persons not a party to this
Conhact; accordingly this Conhact shall not be construed to create any third party beneficiaries.

ARTICLE 14 TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT

s 14.1 TERMTNAT|oN By THE CoNTRACTOR

S 14.1,,l The Conhactor may terminate the Conkact for any of the following reasons:
.1 Issuance of an order of a court or other public authority having jurisdiction that requires all Work to

be stopped;
,2 An act of government, such as a declaration of national emergency that requires all Work to be

stopped;
.3 Because the Owner has not issued a Payment and has not notifred the Contractor of the reason for

withholding certification as provided in Section 9.4.1, or because the Owner has not made payment
on a Certifltcate for Payment within the time stated in the Contract Documents; or

.4 The Owner has failed to furnish to the Contractor promptly, upon the Contractor's request, reasonable
evidence as required by Section 2.2. l.

S 14.1.2 The Contractor may terminate the Contract if, through no act or fault of the Contractor or a Subcontractor,
Sub-subcontractor or their agents or €mploy€es or any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work
under direct or indirect conhact with the Contractor, repeated suspensions, delays or intemrptions of the entire Work
by the Owner as described in Section 14.3 constitute in the aggregate more than 100 percent of the total number of
days scheduled for completion, or 60 days in any 365-day period whichever is less.

$ 14.f.3 If one of the reasons described in Section 14. l. I or 14.1.2 exists, the Conhactor may, upon seven days'
written notice to the Owner (provided the Owner does not cure within the seven (7) day period),

Wu Jh
D3

Contract and recover from the Owner payment for Work executed, including reasonable overhead, profit

llil Do@ns 1201' - 2001. copyrlght G 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 193?, 1951, 1958, 1951, 1963, 1966, 19'70, 1976. 198?,
An€rlcan Inrtl,tut6 of Archltectt. f,ll rlgbtr !.r.w.d. ffillIIC! fblr lt^. Dooqnt, 1. p!ot.d.d by U.a. Cotryrfght br sd rnt.h.ttonrt
taaattar. Un.uthotlt.d taPaoductl,on os dlaCalbutlot of tbtt tIA. Do@nt, oF uy tprllon o! Lt, uy r.rult tr a.vaE clwtl ud crtdnal
Fnrltlaa, eC tlll L Ptota@tad to tba qilE qtant tbtrlbla sda! tha lar. Thla dleft Fes producod by AtA loftpare tt 13:2? t2l on
02/00/2OLl under Older 11o.2527397167-l Hhlch expl,ree on Ol/31/20\2, .nd is not for r6s.Ie.
g..r Not.rr {1298810437)

36



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8A5C-30E04A8188F5

performed, reasonable cancellation and demobilization costs, and costs incurred by reason ofsuch termination, and
damages.

S 14.{.4 If the Work is stopped for a period of 30 consecutive days through no act or fault of the Contractor or a
Subcontractor or their agents or employees or any other persons performing portions of the Work under contract
with the Contractor because the Owner has repeatedly failed to fulfill the Owner's obligations under the Contract
Documents with respect to matt€rs important to the progress of the Work, the Contractor may, upon three additional
days' written notice to the Owner terminate the Conhact and recover from the Owner as provided in Section 14.1.3.

$ 14.2 TERMTNATTON BY THE OWNER FOR CAUSE

S 14.2.1 The Owner may terminate the Contract if the Contractor
.1 repeatedly refuses or fails to supply enough properly skilled workers or proper materials;
,2 fails to make payment to Subcontractors for materials or labor in accordance with the respective

agreements between the Conhactor and the Subcontractors;
,3 repeatedly disregards applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful

orders ofa public authority; or
.4 otherwise is guilty of substantial breach of a provision of the Contract Documents.

$ 14.2.2 When any of the above reasons exist, the Owne may without prejudice to any other rights or remedies of the
Owner and after giving the Contractor and the Conhactor's surety, if any, seven days' written notice, terrninate
employment of the Contractor and may, subject to any prior rights of the surety:

,l take possession of all materials, equipment, tools, and construction equipment and machinery thereon
owned by the Contractor;

,2 Accept assignment of subcontracts pursuant to Section 5.4; and
.3 Finish the Work by whatever reasonable method the Owner may deem expedient. Upon written

request of the Contractor, the Owner shall furnish to the Contractor a detailed accounting of the costs
incurred by the Owner in finishing the Work.

S 14,2.3 When the Owner terrninates the Conhact for one of the reasons stated in Section 14.2.1, the Conffactor shall
not be entitled to receive further payment until the Work is finished.

S 14.2,4 If the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum exceeds costs of finishing the Work, including compensation for
the Architect's services and expenses made necessary thereby, and other damages incurred by the Owner and not
expressly waived, but excluding Change Orders and Change Directives issued after Termination such excess shall
be paid to the Contractor, If such costs and damages exceed the unpaid balance, the Contractor shall pay the 

-

difference to the Owner. The amount to be paid to the Conhactor or Owner, as the case may be is an obligation for
payment shall survive termination of the Contract.

$ 14,2,5 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Owner shall give the Contactor written notice of
grounds for termination for cause and afford the Contractor an adequate opportunity to commonce to cure which is
reasonable under the circumstances, but not to exceed 60 days, unless a longer period is agreed to by both parties
before exercising any rights or remedies under Paragraph 14.

$ 14,3 SUSPENSIoN BYTHE OWNER FOR CONVENTENCE

$ 14,3,1 The Owner may, without cause, order the Conhactor in writing to suspend, delay or intemrpt the Work in
whole or in part for such period of time as the Owner may determine subject to the Contractor's rights under this
Conhact.

S 14,3,2 The Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be adjusted for increases in the cost and time caused by
suspension, delay or intemrption as described in Section 14.3.1. Adjustment of the Contract Sum shall include
profit. No adjustment shall be made to the extent

.1 that performance is, was or would have been so suspended, delayed or intemrpted by another cause
for which the Contractor is responsible; or

,2 that an equitable adjustment is made or denied under another provision of the Contract.

ll.l Doo@nt r201i - 200?. Copyrlght O 191:,, 1915, 1910, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 196f, 1955, 19?0, 19?5, 198?,
Amerlc.n tnslltute of Archltects, At:, rl,th!. r.r.F.d. lllllflxC: ttla AlA. DoMnt L. p!ol.ot..l by U.g. Copyllght hr ud Int..dtlon.!
faaatlaa, gnautholltad laptodsctlon o! dJrtsllutlon o! tblt AIA' DoMnt, o! uy tprt,lon of tt, u9 8aault ,.n aav.la clell ed cttitnBl
trD.l!I.r, ud rlll lf, pro..st.d to t'b. ul!@ d.nt tFtr!bla sC.E th. l.r. Thls dEaft was produced by AIA sof,tpaEo er 13!2?t21 oo
02l0A/2011 und6r order No.252?39??67_I whlch eaplre! o^ OL/3L12072, and is not for resale.
U..r Not.l: (1298810437)

Jh
D3

al

37



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8A5C-30E04A81 88Fs

$ 14.4 TERMINATTON By THE OWNER FOR CONVENTENCE

$ 14.4.1 The Owner may upon l0 days written notice, terminate the ConFact for the Owner's convenience and
without cause provided however that Owner shall not exercise its rights to Terminate for Convenience for the
purpose of reducing its costs.

$ 14.4.2 Upon receipt of written notice from the Owner of such termination for the Owner's convenience, the
Contractor shall

.l cease operations as directed by the Owner in the notice;

.2 take actions necessary, or that the Owner may direct, for the protection and preservation of the Work;
and

.3 except for Work directed to be performed prior to the effective date of termination stated in the
notice, terminate all existing subcontracts and purchase orders and enter into no further subcontracts
and purchase orders.

S 
,14.4,3 In case of such termination for the Owner's convenience, the Conhactor shall be entitled to receive payment

for Work executed, and costs incurred by reason of such termination, along with reasonable overhead and profit
thereon.

$ 
,l4.5 The Owner shall not be responsible for Contractor's loss of anticipated prohts on Work not performed on

account of any termination.

ARTICLE 15 CLAIMS AND DISPUTES

s rs.1 cLArMs

s 15.1.1 DEFTNTTIoN

A Claim is a demand or assertion by one of the parties seeking, as a matter of right, adjustment or interpretation of
Conhact terms, payment of money, extension of time or other relief with respect to the terms of the Conhact. The
term "Claim" also includes other disputes and matters in question between the Owner and Contractor arising out of
or relating to the Contract. Claims must be initiated by written notice. The responsibility to substantiate Claims
shall rest with the party making the Claim.

s 15.1.2 NoTICE 0F CLATMS

Claims by either the Owner or Conhactor must be initiated within 2ldays after the occurence of the event giving
rise to such Claim or within twenty-one (21) days after the claimant first recognizes the condition giving rise to the
Claim, whichever is later. Claims must be initiated by written notice to the other party..

$ r5.1,3 CONTTNUING CONTRACT PERFORMANCE
Pending final resolution of a Claim, except as otherwise agreed in writing or as provided in Section 9.7 and Article
14, the Conhactor shall proceed diligently with performance of the Conhact and the Owner shall continue to make
payments in accordance with the Contract Documents..

S 15.1.4 Not used

s 15.1.5 CLATMS FoR ADDTTTONAL COST
If the Contractor wishes to make a Claim for an increase in the Contract Sum, written notice as provided herein shall
be given before proceeding to execute the Work. Prior notice is not required for Claims relating to an emergency
endangering life or property arising under Section 10.4.

15.1.6 If the Contractor believes additional cost is involved for reasons including but not limited to (l) a written
interpretation from the Architect, (2) an order by the Owner to stop the Work where the Conffactor was not at fault,
(3) a written order for a minor change in the Work issued by the Architect, (4) failure of payment by the Owner, (5)
termination of the Contract by the Owner, (6) Owner's suspension or (7) other reasonable grounds, Claim shall be
fited in accordance with this Section 15.l

s r 5.r .7 cLArMs FoR ADDTTTONAL T|ME

S 15..l.7,1 If the Contractor wishes to make a Claim for an increase in the Contract Time, written notice as provided
herein shall be given. The Contractor's Claim shall include an estimate of cost and of probable effect of delay on
pro$ess of the Work. In tho case of a continuing delay, only ono Claim is necessary. 

fD,
Aul Docrqnt, l2O1! - 2Oo?. Copyrlght o 1911, 1t15' 1918, 192s. 193t' 1951, 1958, 1951, 1953, 1956, 19?0, 1976, rgel, 

.ffi-oo|.lFlf,

Am6r!.can Insf,ltute of Archit€ots. tll rl'ghgt aar.ttd. l iNIllO: llbl,r ALl. Docranl l. p!ot.d.d by U.5. Copyllght Llr ud Int.Enrtlon.t
fEartl.aa. gnrubhclts.d laproductlon or dlatrtDullon oC gbta lll. Do@nC. o! sy tFfrloa ol lt, uy raault ln a.ea!. clvi,l 6d olteln.I
Itn.ltr..., Fd rl,U ba pro!.dt'.d to thr qlle.rt.nt lFr.lbl. sd.! tha lar. Thls dlsit ue3 produc€d by AtA softpare sr 13:27:21 on
OZlOEl20rl under 0rder No.2527397761_1 *hlch expiEes o^ 0lltl/2012. and Ir not for resale-
lr..t llot..: (129901043?)

aE
3S



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36-4404-8A5C-30E04A81 88Fs

$ 15.1.7.2 If adverse weather conditions are the basis for a Claim for additional time, such Claim shall be

documented by data substantiating that weather conditions were abnormal for the period of time, could not have
been reasonably anticipated and had an adverse effect on the scheduled construction.

15.1.E Injury or Damage to Person or Property. If either party to the Contract suffers injury or damage to person
or properly because of an act or omission of the other party, or of others for whose acts such party is legally
responsible, written notice of such injury or damage, whether or not insured, shall be given to the other party within
a reasonable time not exceeding 2l days after discovery, The notice shall provide suffrcient detail to enable the other
party to investigate the matter.

15.1.9 If unit prices are stated in the Contract Documents or subsequently agreed upon, and if quantities originally
contemplated are materially changed in a proposed Change Order or Construction Change Directive so that
application of such unit prices to quantities of Work proposed will cause substantial inequity to the Owner or
Contractor, the applicable unit prices shall be equitably adjusted.

s 15.r.t0 cLArMs FoR CoNSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
The Contractor and Owner waive Claims against each other for consequential damages arising out of or relating to
this Contract. This mutual waiver includes

.1 damages incurred by the Owner for rental expensss, for losses of use, income , profit, financing,
business and reputation, and for loss of management or employee productivity or of the services of
such persons; and

.2 damages incurred by the Contractor for principal office expenses including the compensation of
personnel stationed there, for losses of financing, business and reputation, and for loss ofprofit
except anticipated profit arising directly from the Work completed.

This mutual waiver is applicable, without limitation, to all consequential damages due to either parly's termination
in accordance with Article 14. Nothing contained in this Section 15.1.6 shall be deemed to preclude an award of
liquidated damages, when applicable, in accordance with the express terms of the Contract Documents.

s 15.2 tNtTtAL DECTS|oN

NOTUSED

s 15,3 MEDTATToN

$ 15.3.1 Claims, disputes, or other matters in contoversy arising out of or related to the Conhact except those
waived as provided for in Sections 9. I 0,4, 9.10.5, and I 5. 1.6 shall be subject to mediation as a condition precedent
to filing litigation.

$ 15.3.2 The parties shall endeavor to resolve their Claims by mediation which, unless the parties mutually agree
otherwise, shall be administered by the Amorican Arbitration Association in ascordance with its Construction
Industry Mediation Procedures in effect on the date of the Agreement. A request for mediation shall be made in
writing, delivered to the other party to the Contract, and frled with the person or entity administering the mediation.
Such mediation shall occur within thirty (30) days of notice.

s 15.4 ARBTTRATION

NOT USED

$ 15.4.4 CONSoL|DATIoN OR JOINDER
NOT USED

al
DS

Jb
AI Do@nt l20F - 2007. Copyrlght o 19r1, 1t15, 191E, 1925, 1937, 1951. 1958, 1951, 1963, 1.965. 19?0, l916' 1987
Aherlcan lnstiture of Archltects. lll rlgbtr !.r.F.d. LlNIxC: ThLr lll. DocrAnt t. prot.ctad by U.A, Copyllgbt Lrr sd tnt.n.tlos.I
lrarllaa. Unautholltad laprcductr,on ot (Urtrllutlon ol tblr aIA. Docrdnl, o! ey lrilon o! tt, utr larulg Ln r.v.!a clvll ad clLrlaal
Fntltt.r, ed rlll ba psor.ot.d to iha urllu st.nt lp..Lbl. sd.! tb. l.r, thls draft f,a5 producad by AIA softrar6 at 13!2?:2!, on
02/081201L undEr Order No.252?39775?-1 hhich oxplre3 on 01/3L/2072, and ls not for Eesale.
ur.8 lfot.r: (1298810437)

39



DocuSign Envelope lD:'1 83586FS-EF36'4404-BA5C-30E04A81 88F5

THE MID
Lake Worth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumotions

The intent of these Qualifications and Assumptions is to provide a supplemental scope and cost control guide
They are also included to further the Owner's understanding of what is included in the scope of this project
based on Moss & Associates interpretation of the Contract Documents.

DIVISION 1. GENERAI REQUIREMENTS:

7. This Contract Sum is based upon the Owner and Moss & Associates (hereafter referred to as Moss)
entering into an agreement that is mutually acceptable to both parties.

2. The Contract Sum is based on the Attached List of Documents . lncluded is the work as shown on the
drawings, described in the specifications, and clarified herein. Reasonable efforts have been made to
identify any conflicts or omissions in the documents,

3. lt is assumed that the documents have been coordinated by the designers. The Contract Sum does
not include a contingency to complete design,

4. The Owner shall direct the Architect, Engineers, and Specialty Consultants to incorporate all revisions,
sketches, changes, answers to Requests for lnformation, and all pertinent as-built information, etc.
into a final construction set of documents that will be submitted to the authorities as a final permit
revision prior to substantial completion.

5. This GMP includes a Contractor Controlled Construction Contingency (the "CCCC") of 5534,507.00.
The contingency is for scope buyout and is to be used solely by the contractor as defined by the
owner contract. Both the Owner and Contractor shall benefit from unspent CCCC or Project Cost
Savings. As such, Contractor shall supply Owner with a monthly report with supporting
documentation identifoing the status of; a) the budget (budget vs actual), b) subcontractor buyout, c)

list of allowances (budget vs actual), d) list of CCCC spent, e) pending PCls, f) approved PCls, and g)

reconciliation of Project Cost Savings, Owner shall benefit from75% of unspent CCCC or Project Cost
Savings, and Contractor shall benefil from 25% of unspent CCCC or Project Cost Savings during
the duration of the Project as outlined below (the "Cost Savings During Construction"). Upon
substantial completion, any remaining unspent CCCC or Project Cost Savings shall be split 50/50
amongst the parties (the "Cost Savings at Completion").

a. Shared Cost Savings Formula: 5250,000 of Cost Savings During Construction shall be
distributed during the duration of the project as outlined below, provided that at no time
prior to 85% complete shall funds be returned and distributed to either party should the
balance ofthe CCCCfall below 5250,000.

i. 550,000 (537,500 to Owner, 512,500 to Contractor) upon purchasing 95% of all
subcontracts

ii. 550,000 (Sgz,SOO to Owner, 512,500 to Contractor) upon completion of all
building structures

iii. 550,000 (SgZ,soo to owner, 512500 to Contra€tor) upon reaching 50%
complete as per monthly payment requisitions

iv. 550,000 (SAz,sOo to Owner, 512,500 to Contractor) upon reaching 85%
complete as per monthly payment requisitions

MC'sisi
t

PAGE 1 OF 18
@@



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5.EF364404-8A5C-30E04A8188Fs

THE MID
Lake lYorth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumptions

v. 550,000 (537,500 to Owner, 512,500 to contractor) upon start of Owner punch

list

5. Moss will not be responsible or liable for testing, handling, transporting, or disposing of existing
hazardous materials (including but not limited to asbestos, P.C.B'5, lead, molds, lead glass, fuel, oils,
tontaminated soils, and any other hazardous materials or substances) for the work of this proposal.

We assume that if the work is required, the contracts will be held directly by the Owner, the Owner
shall indemnify and hold Moss harmless from any such related claim should the discovery and
removal of such materials result in a delay of the work. Moss shall be granted an adjustment in
contract time and sum for all cost, including escalation resulting from such delays. The Owner has
provided Moss with a Phase 1 and Phase 2 environmental survey, Any costs associated with delays
resultant from the discovery and removal of hazardous and special waste materials shall be borne by
the Owner, unless otherwise stated in either report.

7 . The Master Building Permit is by Owner at no cost to Contractor. Per meeting with the city building
officials, this contract only assumes all sub permit fees to be 579,00 each and has included this for all
applicable sub permits as dictated by the city building officials. Per our understanding of the
Owner/City Agreement, offsite utility fees are not included in this contract. lf the city imposes
additional sub permit fees outside of the 579.00, these are excluded and therefore will be paid by
owner. Any permit expediting services required for contract documents, shop drawings, and etc. will
be provided by the Owner.

8. The Cost of Work is based on use of all Open Shop trade labor. No labor agreements or restrictions
are included. No prevailing wage rates have been included.

9. No staff, costs, or schedule durations for tenant work or unit customizations are included in this
agreement. Any tenant finishes as defined within this GMP shall be completed prior to TCO.

10, lf a named storm is projected to approach the vicinity of the project, Contractor shall be reimbursed
via change order to perform the necessary preparation and remobilization work and time.

11. The Contract Sum INCLUDES items designated as allowances (indicated on Exhiblt B - Allowancesl. lt
is agreed and understood that the final costs for these line items of work may be higher or lower than
the allowances included and will be approved by ownership via change order prior to
pu rchase/installation.

12. The costs of the following items are to be paid for by the Owner. These costs are not included in our
Contract Sum Proposal:
a. Removal and disposal of any underground obstructions (tanks, structures, and unforeseen site

conditions).
b. Environmental studies and removal of all unsuitable materials including, but not limited to,

asbestos, lead paint, and hazardous materials.
c. Testing laboratory/technical agency fees (i.e. on-site inspections, threshold inspections,

soils/materials testing, threshold inspections, special inspectors, third party commissioning agent
fees, etc.) and any overtime for inspection services by authorities having jurisdiction (i.e. fire
marshal, building officials, etc.)

d. All architectural, structural, and other consultant fees and services.

e. Electrical services are defined as such;
a. This subcontract includes financing, furnishing, and installing for all infrastructure and

services associated with temp power by the contractor 

@@

M('sisi
t

PAGE 2 OF 18



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586FS.EF36.4404-8A5C.30E04A81 88F5

M(rssi
t

THE MID
Lake llorth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumotions

b. The subcontract includes installing the conduit and wire between transformers and will
turn up into the transformer pads. All final connections are by utility company.

c. The conduit and wire material need to be delivered to site by utility company and any
expenses associated with the furnishing of this material is by owner.

d. The Utility company is responsible to furnish and install all service from the utility poles
to the transformers. lf there are any costs for this work, it will be paid by owner.

e. The utility company must supply and deliver the transformer and the transformer pads.

This contract assumes that Moss will install the provided transformer pads. lf there are
any costs for this work, it will be paid by owner.

f. All final connections
f. Utility company/ Hotwire utility impact and connection fees including transformers and/or

sources permanent power or services (i.e. transformers, new/power poles) are excluded and
considered to be paid for by owner.

E, The cost of all meters, utility replacement/relocation unless shown o4 the drawings.
h. Cost of power, water, sewer, and natural gas consumption after substantial completion.
i. Monitoring wells and testing required by HRS/DERM/BCEPD.
j. Air quality monitoring and testing program.
k. Police Fees and Site Security Personnel/Watchman services and security will be paid for by

Owner and managed by MOSS.

l. Survey/monitoring of offsite existing buildingslstructures for settlement.
m, All costs associated with obtaining easements, FEMA requirements, or surveys as required by the

building officials.
n. Dixie Highway Road closure, site impact fees, and right-of-way permits. MOT and partial lane

closures on 15th and 17th are the responsibilities of the GC. This does not include any potential
closure of sidewalks adjacent to Dixie Highway.

o. The costs associated with the Owner's office trailer and associated improvements.
p. Builder's Risk lnsurance premiums and deductibles.
q. Grounds maintenance after substantial completion.
r. Furniture fixtures and equipment (FF&E) that are not affixed to a permanent structure or

otherwise qualified on the plans unless it is otherwise called out as excluded within the
qualifications.

s. Owner'scontingency.
t. Relocation of Utility services inclusive of poles, overhead services, guidewires, etc.
u. Davis Bacon or other prevailing wages

13. The FDEP (Florida Department of Environmental Protection) Army Corps. Of Engineers, and the
FWMD (Florida Water Management District) permits (dewatering, ERP, wells, etc.) are to be secured
by others. The cost of any fees is excluded from this Contract Sum.

14. Where an NPDES (National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System) permit (EPA and/or FDEP) is

required it shall be secured by others. The cost of any fees is excluded from this Contract Sum.
15. The SWPPP (Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan) associated with the NPDES permits shall be

developed by others. The cost of any fees is excluded from this Contract Sum.
15. The cost of inspections performed under an NPDES permit is excluded from this Contract Sum.
17. DOT permits are excluded and shall be furnished by Owner,

@
PAGE 3 OF 18

@



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586FS-EF364404-8ASC-30E04A81 88F5

MCIsiSi
I

THE MID
Leke ll/orth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumptions

18. DERM Permit fees are excluded and shall be furnished by Owner.
19. Any costs assessed by FEC and/or associated with work in the FEC right of way is by owner.
20. The cost for a Performance & Payment Bond premium is excluded. ln the event the Owne/s lender

does require this bond, a change order will be issued to add the associated costs.
21. Owner and GC shall establish guidelines to allow billing of offsite stored materials and pay for

deposits (i.e. tile and countertops, elevators, etc.) that may be required by specified vendors (i.e.

cabinetry, tile, plumbing fixtures, light fixtures, elevators, glazing and appliances). Such guidelines

shall also be acceptable to the Owne/s construction lender.
22. This Contract Sum does not include any escalation contingency, GC will attempt to procure

subcontracts with no escalation provision and buyout 9A% of the subcontracts within the first three
months of construction,

23. Owner understands the potential impacts resulting from the current administration as it relates to
material prices. As you probably know, the market for certain construction materials is currently
somewhat volatile due to the new tariffs and other causes and may be subject to sudden price

increases and shortages. These effects include, but are not limited to; price increases, shortage of
material, additional time required to procure materials, vendors not holding their original proposals,
payment terms, and restrictions on order modifications, etc. GC will put forth best faith efforts and
attempt to mitigate material price fluctuations.

Construction material price escalations, shortages or schedule impacts resulting therefrom are not
included in the GMP or Contract Time. ln the event of price increases, material shortages or delays in
material deliveries occurring during the performance of the Contract due to causes beyond the fault
of the Contractor, the GMP, Contract Time, and any other applicable/impacted contract requirements
shall be equitably adjusted by change order.
Contractor shall complete 90% of buyout of the subcontracts within (90) days following Contract Date
in order to mitigate the above referenced risk.

24. This contract assumes work is able to be performed Monday- Saturday 7AM-7PM, As discussed in
meeting with city officials, it was agreed verbally that this was acceptable, but we need a formal
variance to confirm. During the course of construction, if an unforeseen issue arises that restricts
work hours, the Owner and the Contractor will be work together with the city to reinstate these
working hours, lf these attempts are not successful, the Owner and the Contractor will mutually
agree on a schedule moving forward.

25. The artist's and architect's renderings have not been considered.
26. Schedule: Owner understands the potential conflict that may arise and the potential for delays due

to the existing offsite overhead utility lines that are slated to relocated. At this time the City of Lake

Worth Beach has been notified of the drop dead dates for removal of overhead lines, and Contractor
shall be responsible for promptly notifying the City of lake Worth Beach of any change to the course
of construction or these dates.

27. Excluded are any costs directly related to the Utility Company and their work associated with the
relocation of the overhead lines. ln the event, the city demands ancillary work such as pole removal
and disposal, such costs are excluded and shall be paid for by Owner.

28, Upon notification of completion/turnover of a Unit(s)/Public Space/Other, Owner understands that
they have a time obligation to provide contractor final owner punch list within 3 weeks from the date
of notification. This understands that units will be turned over no more than ao unitfpe#e"@-

PAGE 4 OF 18



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586FS-EF364404.8A5C.30E04A8188F5

MCTEiSi
t

THE MII)
Lake lVorth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumptions

Contractor will communicate with Owner and provide as much notice as possible to expected
timeframes associated with Unit(s)/Public Space/ Other delivery.

29. Please see below for clarifications to G1.0.1

a. Note 7 - Excluded - lt is assumed that these plans are coordinated by the AOR. ln good faith,
contractor will make reasonable attempts to mitigate all unforeseen coordination issues. lf
additional costs arise, this will be funded by owner. lt is understood that the Contractor shall
immediately notify the Architect and Owner at the time the Contractor becomes aware of an
issue involving plan coordination that affects cost. Such failure to promptly notiry Owner
shall require the Contractor to be responsible for any cost increase involving plan

coordination.
b. Note 10 - Strike through - lt is assumed that the AOR/EOR will review shop drawings for

approval.
c. Note 11 - lt is understood that the current set will be kept electronically on site

30. The contractor has utilized basic, entry level, BIM coordination. CAD files do not constitute contract
documents. Although this has assisted in potentially identifying some discrepancies and addition
coordination needed, this does not represent a complete design and additional coordination may be
needed in the future. Costs associated with this additional coordination are not included in this
contract.

31. This contract assumes adjacent property is to be utilized for construction parking for the entire
duration of the project. Contractor shall be responsible for finalizing a lease with the adjacent
property owner and the Owner shall have no responsibility for failure to do so.

32. All items marked in these qualifications as excluded and/or not included, are understood to imply
that all additional costs associated with this work are by owner.

33. Owner understands that costs associated with vandalism and theft will be carried and reimbursed
under the Owners insurance policy.

34. This contract does not include any cost effects associated with any outstanding RFI's. The estimated
rough order of magnitudes for these RFI's will be provided to owner.

DlvtstoN 2-strEwoRK

Earthwork and Sltework:

1. This contract assumes that any vertical spacing, horizontal clearance, separation of utilities required

by DERM, County Health Department, HRS or any other government agency has been incorporated
into the design drawings by the Civil Engineer. We have not included any consideration for the
resolution of potential conflicts evident or otherwise that are not clearly shown on the drawings.

2. Per the Geotech report, it is assumed that there is no need to remove any inorganic/peat material on

this site.

3. Any rerouting of utilities due to existing utility conflicts, except as shown on the contract documents

is excluded from this contract.
4. Extraction and/or removal ofexisting subgrade foundations/structures is not included

existing foundations unforeseen and discovered after the date of this agreement.

PAGE 5 OF 18

inclsi,wof anv-oset ,,



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36{404-8A5C-30E04A8188F5

MC'EiSi
t

THE MID
Lake l{orth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumntions

5, Any references to tree protection, removal and relocation is excluded.

6. The cost of work and fees associated with the water taps are excluded within the GMP and therefore
paid by Owner.

7. This contract disregards with note 23 on Sheet D-01 that refers to FFE to be at 20.00 NAVD. lt is

understood to be 17.50 NAVD

8. The contract includes the mill and resurface of 17rh Ave north, lt includes patching on 15th Ave north
and Dixie Highway in any locations that are affected by utility connections

9. Please see comments on general notes as listed on C-02

a. General Note 6 - lt is assumed that these plans include all necessary information taken from
the geotechnical report and this if there is a conflict in information the civil drawings will
take precedence

b. General Note 9 -Strike through entire sentence "No extra compensation
...{through}..,authorization of such additional work.

i. lt is understood that if conditions in the field are different than that of which is on

the drawings that we will notify the EOR, however if there are additional expenses

incurred this will be by owner.

c. General Note 19 - Strike through - All insurance requirements are established through the

Owner contract and OCIP manual.

d. General Note 23 - Strike through - These qualifications will take precedence.

e. General Note 27 - Per these qualifications it is understood that the responsibility, both time
and compensation, with obtaining any utility easement is the responsibility of the owner,

f. The Paving is based on the "Paving Specifications" table and Cross Sections as shown on
sheet D-03, not the paving general notes shown on sheet C-02. The details and cross sections
call for 1.5" Type SP-9.5 Asphalt. This contract includes a standard mix witch contains some
recycled asphalt (not virgin asphalt as called out in general notes).

10. U-01 shows (6) water services to be brought across 17th Ave. This contract only includes a meter box

for the (1) 2" service. Meter boxes for 1" service to be financed and procured by utility company or
owner. Tapping and meter fees are excluded. This contract scope ends at the meter entry point, all

work on the other side of the meter that is not depicted on the plans is not included in this contract.
11. Provide 8 Ft high precast lcreen wall in lieu of the 8 Ft high boundarv sound wall as reference. This

contract assumes a painted wall without stucco.

Landscaping and lrrigation:

1. Landscape drawings shall supersede Architectural drawings relative to architectural elements
such as finishes, material selections, gates, railings, fences, etc.

2. The Planting Material /Specification Table on L-3 and L-4 superseded the diagrammatic image on
the trees as it pertains to the final planting count (all notes on all other pages are superseded by

these counts).
3. Provide synthetic turf in lieu ofsod at fenced in Dog Park.

a. An additive alternate will be sent to owner to provide synthetic turf in lieu of sod a-t the
game lawn and to replace the provided turf at the dog lawn with s;d 

"io 
,.r,fiiiiiJ 

@
PAGE 6 OF 18



DocuSlgn Envelope lD: 1 83586Fs.EF364404-8A5C-30E04A81 88F5

THE MID
Lake lYorth, FL

SXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumptions

4. The following substitutions are assumed in this contract to be approved Value Engineering to
reduce the landscaping & irrigation budget:

a. 18'CT Cabbage Palm ILO 18'CT King Palm
b. 14'-16' Gumbo Limbo ILO 22' OA Gumbo Limbo
c, 9' CT straight trunk Malayan Coconuts ILO 14' CT straight trunk Malayan Coconuts
d. 12' CT Triple Montgomery Palms ILO 12' CT Date Palms

e. 3 gal28" Green Buttonwood ILO 3G 36"ht Ficus Nitida
f. 1 G Dwarf Faxahatchee Grass ILO 1 6 Fernwood

S. 4" Jasmine Minima ILO 1G Jasmine Minima
5. All references to landscaping/green walls are excluded and standard light texture stucco and

paint are included.
a. An additive alternate will be submitted to owner

6. "MOSS" wall in clubroom is excluded and standard paint will be used to create "V" effects.
a. An additive alternate will be submitted to owner to provide a faux "live wall" cbvering.

7. This contract excludes the synthetic turfjoints depicted at the pool deck on sheet L-8 and will be
preplaced with the standard pavers qualified below.

a. An additive alternate will be submitted to owner

8, All offsite work performed, will return affected area back to original site grade. Any restoration
or additional off-site landscaping is excluded from this contract.

Vehicular and Pedestrian Pavers:

1. Pavers are to be standard 2 318' gray cement based concrete pavers over a 1" sand setting bed. The
paver included in this contract is assumed to be 51.75/5F material allowance. These pavers will be at
the cross walks leading to the club house (as depicted on L7) and around the pool deck in lieu of of
the Kool deck coating and the artistic pavers (as shown on L8)

Site Amenltles & Furnishings:

1. Excludes any cabanas, trellis, furniture, summer kitchens, waste receptacles, grills, bike racks, etc,
a. An additive alternate will be submitted to owner to provide above excluded site amenities

and furnishings.

Sisnase:

1. Allowance of 515,000 included for code min. building signage.
a. This does not include Unit Signage or Euilding Labeling/Numbering Signage.

2. Retail tenant signage (on elevations it is depicted as "SIGNAGE") is excluded.
3. Building frontage signage (on elevations it is depicted as "THE MlD" sheet A5.0.2) on building is

excluded.

M('siEi
t

4. (6) Entry monument signs are included as block with stucco and paint. Signage by owner

@
PAGE 7 OF 18

Cv



DocuSign Envelope lD: 183586Fs.EF36-{404-8A5C-30E04A8188F5

Mrrsis
t

THE MID
Lake Worth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumptions

5. Electrical services to any signage is per the electrical contract documents only.
5. This contract does not include photoluminescent paint or signage. Architect has verified that this is

not required.

DIVISION 3 - Concrete / Structure

1. This proposal is based upon the understanding that coordination of all Architectural elements has
occurred between the Architect and the Engineer and is included on the Structural Drawings.
Notwithstanding anything else contained herein, Contractor shall consider the entire set of plans

2. This contract includes the structural steel columns to be bare. This contract does not include,
intumescent paint, galvanized surfaces, fireproofing spray, etc. applications applied to the structural
columns,

3. Precast cross detail as depicted on the structural drawings will not be used, And means and methods
of tunnel connections will be addressed with a 6" concrete curb.

4. Detail 1/ST-0.0 - Will be modified for means and methods.
5. This contract does not include any special stair noising,
6. Fire ratings, as per the depicted Architectural plans, will be achieved. However, the details illustrated

in the drawings such as 5/A8.7.L, may differ from the field applications.
7 . Owner understands the nature of leaving the hollow core planks unfinished. Some level of concrete

from the topping slab above the hollow plank will migrate through the joints creating an unfinished
look at the ceiling level.

8. Exposed roof eyebrows on all buildings have been excluded from this contract.
9. Structure will be exposed in areas without ceilings and concrete lines will be visible. There is no

additional prep work outside industry standard to the underside of the deck included in this contract.
a, An additive alternate will provided to owner to provide a knockdown finish at unit exposed

ceilings.

DIVISION 5 - Metals

Misc Metals:

1. Finish on the balcony aluminum railings to be AAMA 2603 standard powder coat finish with standard
color options, excludes metallics.

2. Balcony and Breezeway handrails as depicted on the plans are included to be Std. Mid Rail Picket
Guard Rail.

3. (2)Motorized Automotive entrance gates are included
4. (4) Roof Access door and ladders are included at buildings L,3,4, and clubhouse
5. Fire Truck gate is included as a chain link swing gate without electric.
6. Hardware associated with pool gates, is included to be code min where not indicated on security or

architectural drawings, unless otherwise provided for in the drawings.
7. Door hoods as shown on 5/A7.0.2 are excluded from this contract. Standard door rain diverter is

included.

PAGE 8 OF 18
@@



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36{404-8A5C.30E04A8'188F5

THE MID
Lake lAorth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumptions

8. Awnings/overhangs of all types shown on renderings and/or drawings are excluded from this
contract.

DIVISION 6 - WOOD and PIASTICS

Millwork:

1. An allowance of 55,000 is included for the custom hanging frame with mural located inside the
Clubhouse (Ref. A1.1,6 Note 03). Mural by Owner.

2. Kitchen and bathroom cabinets in melamine with thermo-fused slab doors,
3. Unit kitchen and bathroom cabinetry from Empire Stone and Cabinets Corp. European Style

(frameless) cabinets manufactured with 5/8" melamine with adjustable shelves, self-closing hinges,
metabox drawer system, adjustable plastic legs and toe kicks. Soft close doors and drawers are
included.

4. Wall cabinets in kitchen 42"H max. and standard door and drawer style to be slab,

5. Cabinet handles to be 8" European bar pulls.

5. Kitchen mobile islands (230 ea.) with 2cm quartz, Level 1 are included.
7. Kitchen and bathroom countertops to receive 2cm quartz, Level 1.

8. 4" quartz backsplash in the bathrooms and no quartz backsplash (included as subway tile) in the
kitchens.

9. Cabinet colors in kitchens and bathrooms: TBD; however, pricing is based on samples provided to the
owner (white ash, cassis riviera oak and smoky brown pear, fawn cypress).

10. LED under cabinet strip lighting is excluded.
11. Units and corridors to receive 3/2" highxt/o" lhick square wood baseboard.
12. Trash bins are excluded.
13. This GMP excludes crown moldings in all units.

DIVISION 7 -THERMAT & MOISTURE PROTECTION

Waterproofing:

1. Waterproofing is only included in this contract if it is explicitly documented in these qualifications.
2. Tremco Vulkem 350/351 pedestrian traffic coating at residential balconies on levels 2 and 3.

3. Tremco Vulkem 350/351 pedestrian traffic coating at 2nd and 3'd level breezeway between buildings is
included. Sealer is included at all above grade breezeways.

4. There is no roll-on waterproofing provided on grade.

5, No waterproofing or sealer is included at any stairwell or landing.
5. Exposed concrete roof eyebrows, inclusive of stucco/waterproofing/paint on all buildings have been

excluded through value engineering.
7, Fluid applied perimeter waterproofing is excluded around all exterior openings ie; windows, sliders,

doors, storefront, louvers/xvents, etc. lndustry standard caulking is included at the exterior of these
perimeterconditions. 

@@
PAGE 9 OF 18

Mcrssi
I



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-gA5C-30E04A8188F5

THE MII)
Lake lVorth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumntions

a. An additive alternate will be provided to the owner.
8. Perimeter urethane sealant at hollow metal door frames at stucco, concrete or exposed cmu

openings and at exterior mechanical louver frames.
9. Concrete sealer at back-of-house areas included.
10, No horizontal expansion joint caulking or expansion joint covers is shown or included in this GMP.
11. Xypex admixtures within concrete foundations and slabs is excluded.

Roofing:

1. LWIC over a concrete deck. The system consists ol a 2" min LWIC over a base layer of 4" EPS Board
with additional stair stepped EPS board to attain a Min R-19 and a %" per foot min slope. A fully
adhered Carlisle ,060 White TPO single-ply membrane will be applied above LWIC system.

2. Note 4 on Arch elevations (ex; 43.07) will be accomplished via 5f8" Densdeck with a TPO membrane
in between edge drip metal detail in a white .032 TPO coated aluminum.

3. Pop-up roof areas above non-conditioned space will not have LWIC only and no insulation.
4. An allowance of 3001F per building type A and B and 2001F per clubhouse has been included for

walking pads.

5. Uplift calcs are excluded for the coping cap or nailers,

DIVISION 8 - DOORS and WINDOWS IRSI

Doors, Frames, and Hardware,

1. Schlage control smart interconnected locks are excluded.
2. No electrified hardware is being provided for any doors unless specifically called out for on the low

voltage shop drawings.
3. Door sizes, materials, frames, and ratings are to be provided per the door and frame schedule.
4. Standard hardware to be provided by Better Home Products or Similar. Hardware will meet code min.

req.
5. All Exterior to be installed to meet NOA requirements
6. Baseboards are included as3Yr" wood within the units and corridors andS/r" in clubhouse

Glass and Glazlng:

1. The GMP includes the following glass & glazing specifications:
a. Aluminum painted finish in color white
b. All reference to PGT should read "PGT or equal"
c. Sizes of unit glass systems will be modified within 5" to achieve standard glazing sizes while

still maintaining code minimums.
d. All insect/bird screens are excluded
e. Standard hardware is included for sliding glass and storefront doors.
f. lnsulated glass is excluded,

C. U-value of 0.85 / SHGC of 0.50 are used for the residential area and U-value of 0.85 / SHeC
of0.S2arethebasisofdesign 

f"- 
@

PAGE 10 OF 18 
\-

Msrss
t



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586FS-EF364404.8A5C-30E04A81 88F5

M('ss
I

THE MID
Lake Worth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumntions

h. Onsite water infiltration testing by the Owner Provided 3rd party testing company
i. Automatic door operators and concealed closers are excluded.
j. Card readers within glass doors are part of the Low Voltage package.

DtvtstoN 09 - FtNtsHEs

Drwvall

1. Non-rated drywall walls are assumed tobel/2" drywall.
2. Eliminate skim coat & knock down texture at unit ceilings.
3. All drywall is assumed to be level 4 finish.
4. 25 gauge framing at 24" O.C. is used at all locations other than bathroom tile walls.
5. Retail area to be turned over as a white box Drywall and framing is included for the bathroom and AC

closet and along demising walls. Exposed concrete ceiling will be provided.
6. Sealant is only included at rated walls.
7. For means and methods, at furring locations this contract assumes either 1 5/8" metal furring 2x2

P.T. wood furring at all block and CIP walls.
8. Wall insulation is included as follows;

a. Exterior CMU to have R-7.1 VR Plus Shield Hi-Perm
b. Exterior walls with 3 5/8" frame over block to have R-11 bats
c. Exterior walls with 6" frame over block to have R-10 batt
d. Corridor metal frame walls to have R-19 batt

9. No metal framing or drywall is included in the electrical, bike storage, storage, dumpster or domestic
pump rooms.

Stucco & Cement Coatine

1. Stucco shall be average 5/8" thick and a light textured finish on vertical surfaces ilo smooth stucco.
The underside of balconies (only at levels 1 and 2) to receive skimcoat. Accessories shall be white
PVC,

2. Detail Sonarchitectural elevations(Ex43.0.7)hasbeenincluded asa/r"tallby%" depthhand
scored line

3. Stair ceilings and underside of stairs is to be left as exposed concrete.
4. Exterior framing detail for the building high roof pop-ups has been included per the structural

drawings as CIP concrete with stucco.

Paintins

PAGE 11 OF 18
@@



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-BA5C-30E04A8188F5

MC'SS
t

THE MID
Lake llorth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumptions

l. All references to a specific paint manufacture, ie Sherwin Williams or Benjamin Moore, are
interchangeable.

2. Sheet A11.0,1 refers to a finish type of "washable flat". This contract excludes washable paint and has

included Promar 200 Flat Paint Finish

3. Exterior Stucco is to receive one coat Loxon primer and 2 coats of acrylic latex flat finish (Sherwin
Williams'A-100 flat or equal)

4. Photo luminescent paint is excluded.

5. Retail areas to receive primer and 1 coat white paint.

6. Common area GWB with prime and two coats Promar 200 Flat unless marked with semi-gloss paint
color.

'l , Sheets 49.5.4 and A9.5.5 depict the paint scheme for the corridors. This contract modifies the paint
scheme to not include painting the door and trim. This qualification comes from a maintenance
concern.

8. Unit Numbers depicted on sheets A9.5.4 and A9.5.5 are presumed to be stencils.

9. All back of house storage, utility, dumpster, etc. rooms are excluded.

Finlsh floorine, Tile and Stoner

l. All references to Luxury Vinyl Tile inside the residential units is omitted from this project and
specifications, other than the LW inside of the Yoga Room inside of the Clubhouse.

2. No tile finishes at balconies. Ref, waterproofing Q/A/s
3. Bathrooms to receive 4" quartz backsplash and 3" x 6" ceramic subway tile full-height

backsplash in kitchens.
4. The following tile material unit pricing is included. Owner/architect or Owne/s consultant

and tile supplier have made proper tile selections relative to ASTM specifications, 2019 Tile
Council of North America and selections have been made to carefully consider the physical
final locations (wet areas, high traffic, etc) of these tile along with slip coefficients,
wearldurability. Etc. (actual tiles to be selected by Owner at a later date):

a) Unit floor tile (excluding bedrooms and A/C closets) - lnclude a S1.35/sf material
allowance (12" x24" porcelain). Tile flooring will be installed underneath
cabinets. A/C closet floors will be left unfinished concrete.

b) Unit flooring tile includes a t5%-20% waste factor (Based on size and location).
c) Bathroom floors - include a S1.35/sf material allowance (12" x24" porcelain tile)
d) Shower floors - includes a S1,35/sf material allowance 16" xt2" porcelain tile)
e) Tile base in unit bathrooms - includes a Sf ,gS/sf material allowance (4" field

cut)
f) Unit shower walls - lncludes a it,ZO/st material allowance (4" x 8" ceramic

subway tile)

C) Precast shower curbs are included (5" W x 4" H)

h) Threshold transitions (bathrooms to bedrooms are included)
i) Schluter strips (tile to carpet, threshold at A/C closets, and vertical transitions at

shower tiled walls). Trim metal both sides of shower curbs is 
'n.'uO"O.t-t, 

, @
PAGE 12 OF 18



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586FS-EF364404-BA5C-30E04A81 88Fs

Mc'ss
t

THE MID
Lake lltorth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumntions

j) Kitchen backsplashes - includes a S1.20/sf material allowance l3"x6" ceramic
subway tile)

k) Clubhouse tile finishes (CT-l,2,3,3A,4 and 44) inside Public Restrooms as per
Sheet A9.5.1 and tile specifications on Sheet A11.0.1.

l) Carpets CP7-7,8, 9 and 10 inside of the Clubhouse are included.
5. Bathrooms to receive 4" quartz backsplash and 3" x 6" ceramic subway tile full-height

backsplash in kitchens.
6, Pliteq 5mm Geniemat FF05NP sound underlayment under tiled areas at residential floors 2

and 3.

7. Residential bedrooms - includes material specification from Carpet Style Secret Weapon
(plush) for carpet stretch lN over padding in all residential bedrooms,

8. Corridor carpet includes material specification "Color Your World" 22 oz level loop
commercial carpet liles 24" x24".

9. Any and all references to shower niches and/or shower benches are excluded, No niches or
shower benches will be furnished or installed in any bathroom.

10. Conc 1 and Conc 2 as referenced on Sheet A1.1,9 inside the Clubhouse is considered to be
polished concrete. Concrete 2 calls for textured concrete. This contract includes sealed
broom finish concrete flooring for Conc 2.

a. An additive alternate will be provided to owner,
11. Tile configurations and layout are considered industry standard. Tile pricing does not include

diagonal patterns/layouts.
12. All references to epoxy grout are excluded. This contract includes standard cementitious

grout.

DtvtstoN 10 - sPEclAtTtEs

1. Each residential unit bathroom to receive the following toilet accessories by Delta:
a. Robe hook
b. 24" towel bar
c. Toilet paper holder
d. Towel Ring

e. Grab bars are excluded
2. Each common Area bathroom to receive the following standard toilet accessories by DELTA, KOALA or

BOBRICK:

a. 42" and 35" grab bars
b. Baby changing station
c. Mirror 24" x36"
d. Soap dispenser
e. Sanitary napkin disposal
f. Toilet tissue holder
g. PaperTowelreceptacle

3. USPS Approved postal specialties
a. (230) tenant boxes

PAGE 13 OF 18
@@



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586FS-EF364404-8A5C-30E04A81 88F5

THE MID
Lake Worth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumptions

b. (23) parcel types
4. %" Thick,42" High Clear Frameless Glass Vanity Mirrors are included in the Units.
5. 1322t. 318" frameless shower swing door (32") shower enclosure
6. Unit closet shelving

a. (3000 ft) - 12" Vinyl Coated Wire Shelf w/ standard rod - closets
b. (3400 ft) - 12" Vinyl Coated Wire Shelf - Linen

7. Package concierge is excluded but the package room has been included per the plans
8. Fire Extinguishers and cabinets are included to meet Florida Building Code requirements.

DIVISION 11-EQUIPMENT

Residential Eoulnment:

1. Residential kitchens appliances by GE Appliances.
a. 11.55 Cu, Ft, Top Freezer refrigerator with ice maker (model fi GGIEISGSHSS).

i. An additive alternate will be provided to owner.
b, 30" Free-standing electric range (model # GJ8560RKSS).

c. 1.6 Cu. Ft. Over-the-range microwave (model S JGJNM3153RJSS)

d. Frontload Built-ln dishwasher (model # GGSD3361KSS)

e. GE GGUV2TESSMWW "Spacemaker" Electric Washer/Dryer combo. Washer capacity 3.8 Cu.

Ft. and Dryer capacity 5.9 Cu. Ft.

f. t/3 HP Badger garbage disposals
2. ClubhouseAppliances

a. (2) each - Bosch BB25FT505NS "800 Series" French Door Refrigerator (this refrigerator has
been value engineered from 56,400 to 52,500 each).

b. (1) each - Sharp (modelf KB6524PSY) 24 in. W 1.2 cu. ft. Built-in Microwave Drawer in
stainless steel

c. (1) each - GE Profile Series 1.9 cu. Ft, 450 watts warming drawer in stainless steel (model f
GPW9000SFSs)

d. (1) each - 18" Wide undercounter Built-ln Wine Cellar by Summit Appliance
e. (1) each - 15" built-in ice maker by Summit Appliance

3. Window washing system and anchors are excluded.

Window Treatment

1. Window Treatment is excluded from this GMP and therefore will be purchased and installed by the
Owner.

prvrsroN 13 - sPEctAt coNsTRucItoN

Swimmins Pool and Fountalns:

1. fhis contract assumes a complete standard design of the pool. lf the AOR/EOR adds additional
engineering comments to this design that increase costs, this will be paid by owner. 

@@
PAGE 14 OF 18

Mcrsisi
t



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586Fs-EF364404-8ASC-30E04A81 88F5

M(IsiS
t

THE MID
Lake |(orth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualilications & Assumptions

2. This contract assumes the following design standards;
a. 1050 SqFt / Rolling Gutter / 4ft Avg Depth / 31,416 Gal

b. Monolithic Bond Beam f 6" min floor thickness / 5" min wall thickness
c. 3,500 PSI Concrete Structure @ 28 days
d. Steel bar reinforcement #3 Grade 40
e. Hydraulically balanced plumbing to meet local DOH requirements.

3. Pool finishes have been included as such

a. Std. Florida stucco pebble interior finish
b. Waterline tile 6" x 6" ($5 per sq ft F.l. allowance)
c. Gutter cap bullnose tile 2" x 5" ($4 per linear ft F.l. allowance)
d. Steel cap bullnose tile 2" x 5" (S7 per linear ft F.l. allowance)
e. Standard depth and no diving tiles
f, Standard precast coping 12" x24" xI.5"
g. Stainless steel handrail and ladder
h. (2) pool lights

4. Any and all waterproofing not specifically included within the Q/A/s and on the Contract Documents
are excluded, including, but not limited to concrete additives, control joints or any other liquid
applied applications,

5. ADA lift and pool heater are excluded.

DIVISION 14 - VERTICAT TRANSPORTATION

Elevators:

L Any and all references to elevators and all vertical conveyance systems in non-applicable and
therefore excluded.

Trash Chutes and Trash Collection svstemsj

1. Any and all references to trash chutes is non-applicable and therefore excluded.
2. Waste recycling systems, odor control, trash and recycling containers of any kind are excluded

DlvlsroN 1s - MEcHANtcAT

Flre Protection:

1. A code compliant fully designed system is included with CPVC piping in residential areas,
2. Fire protection coverage throughout residential unit balconies is excluded,
3. Concealed sprinkler heads are excluded.
4. Fire protection of bathrooms less than 55 sf and closets less than 12 sf have been specifically

excluded as fire protection in these areas is not required as per the code.

HVAC:

1. No dryer booster fans are included. Moss assumes that all dryers specified are incl

PAGE 15 OF 18

g@



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36-4404-BASC-30E04A81 88Fs

THE MID
Lake l(orth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumptions

long throw type exhaust venting.
2. Start up and commissioning is included.
3. All Testing & Balance and Blower Door Testing is excluded.
4, Condensers on rooftop stands rather than detail in plans. Configurations of stands will be field

coordinated based on local code
5. Bath fans are included as Broan with flexible aluminum duct.
6. Xvent boxes utilized for all apartment dryer, bath and O/A penetrations. 4" flexible aluminum to

be used for the bath venti4g and 4" insulated flexible aluminum for O/A duct.

7. The submittal package for the products that will be utilized on this project have been sent to and
reviewed/accepted by the design team

8. To get to the GMP value, the air conditioning in the corridors has been value engineered to use
(2) ceiling cassette mini-split air handling units (Mitsubishi M Series) in the ceiling of the corridors
that would be connected to (1) condenser on the roof. This is in lieu of of the existing air handling
units and condensers shown the current contract documents.

9, Please see below for modifications to M0.0.1
a. Note 2 - lt is assumed that the AOR has coordinated the routings of all trades. lf

excessive re-routing is necessary this will be at an additional charge
b. Note 3 - lt is assumed that we are further than 3,000 Ft and all reference to non-ferrous

materials or corrosion inhibitors are not applicable to this project
c. Note 13 - Lavatory exhaust will utilize flex alum and all outside air and exhaust will be

insulated per code min.
d. Note 17 - Strike through last 2 lines
e. Note 19 - First Sentence will only be applicable in Clubhouse
f. Note 20 - Thermostats will be included per specs provided.

C. Note 22 - Strike through ACR hard drawn
h. Note 24 - Strike through Site Glass

i. Note 24 - We will provide (2) Filters - Construction and Final
j. Note 28 - All condensate drain piping will be CVPC - Not copper -
k. Note 30 - Per the AC per specs provided.
l. Note on M5.0.2 - Duct board will be provided in retail areas, not metal

Plumbing:

1. Water meter(s) & associated meter fees is not included in the GMP and will be provided by
Owner.

2. Multiple supplier plumbing fixture package qualified as per the following:
a. Peerless PTTL42L9 Shower Faucet
b. Mansfield Alto 135 - 3173 1.28 GPF Elongated Toilet
c. Pelican PL-1813 Porcelain Undermount Sink
d. Peerless P1519LF Single Post Lavatory Faucet
e. Pelican PL - VS3018 - Single Bowl Undermount kitchen sink
f. Peerless P1991521F Single handle faucet w/ side spray

C. 40 gal Water heater
h. Retail spaces -Tankless water heater

M('Eis
t

PAGE 15 OF 18
@@



DocuSign Envelopo lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8ASC-30E04A8188F5

M(rss
t

THE MID
Lake llorth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifisations & Assumptions

3. Water riser piping to be CPVC inside the building. Sanitary Piping will be PVC. AC condensate
piping will be PVC DWV Sch. 40 with CPVC in the plenums.

4, This contract does not include sound insulation for drainage lines, hot water insulation, vertical
condensate drain insulation.

5. Standard free-standing pool shower and hose bib and water bubbler per sheet A1.1.3
6, All Condensate lines will be PVC or CPVC. lnsulation on condensate piping will only be used on

vertical runs and where required for code minimum.
7. Contrary to note 18 P 0.0.1 , water hammer arrestors will only be used on fixtures required by

code.

8. Piping and dog fountain fixture are excluded. Reference note 1 on P1.3.1-SN10
9. Note 30 on P 0.0.1 refers only to insulation that will be required in the clubhouse building.
10. Note 15 on P 0.0.1 is considered to say "All PVC shall be cellular core no solid core.
11. ln working towards the gmp goal, the linear drains depicted around the pool was eliminated and

this contract includes the use of (10) areas drains connected to the storm water system.
12. Design team will accept this Q&A as acceptance for our proposed VE per Note 9 on P 0.0.1

prvtstoN 16 - EtEcTRtcAL

Electrical:

1. Radio booster DAS (Distributed Antenna System) and Bi-Directional Amplifying (BDA) systems
and equipment are excluded from this GMP, inclusive of design fees. (Note 1 on ALS.1.1 and all
other's referencing radio signal boosters are too be negated.

2. Lightning Protection is not included.
3. All reference to two-way communication is not included.
4. Access control system, parking control system, CCTV security system and audio-visual system

with equipment are excluded and included by Owner. Electrical Contractor to provide conduit
raceways with pull strings as per the provided contract documents.

5. lnfrastructure of conduit and pull strings associated with access control is included per the low
voltage drawings. The GMP sheets state security by other and this contract assumes these low
voltage drawings are the "security" drawings.

6. Lights shown on 41.1.4 on the underside of the balconies overhanging the retail areas are
excluded since they are not shown on the electrical plans.

7. This Contract Sum includes an Allowance of $450,000 for residential unit electrical fixtures and
trim, ceiling fans, club house, site lighting, and corridors. This is an allowance and assumes
ownership and design team will aid lighting dynamics in value engineering the lighting package.

8. MC or Romex cable shall be used where allowed by code.
9. No power, low voltage, or piping provisions are included for water sub-meters.
10. This contract assumes all conduit material, wire material, concrete pads, and transformers are

provided by others. This contract includes the installation of the conduit, as depicted on the
contract documents, as well as the concrete pad for the proposed transformers, This contract
also includes the pulling of the wire from the pole shown to the transformers shown. All final
terminations are excluded. All service costs, fees, material cost, and inspections, rfryr.&-

PAGE 17 OF 18



Docuslgn Env€lope lD: 183586F5-EF36{404-8A5C-30E04A8188F5

MC'SS
t

THE MID
Lake llorth, FL

EXHIBIT A - Oualifications & Assumptions

from this contract.
11. Electrical service to owner upgraded (if selected) insta-hots in lieu of water heaters is excluded.

12. CATV & telephone service raceways (conduit & pull strings) are included.

13. Smart panels to be provided by Hotwire
14. Our Electrical contractor will be taking over as the EOR for the Fire Alarm design. This contract

includes a code compliant system regardless of what is shown on the contract documents.
15. Please see below for modifications to 80.0.1

a. Note 9-Excluded
b. Note 13 - Excluded
c. Note 14 - Not Applicable
d. Note 24 - lt is assumed this has been coordinated by the design team.
e. Note 25 - Strike through "after hours" and add that this will only be X-ray if required by

the structural engineer,
f. Note 26 - Strike through Sentence "Existing electrical devices...made accessible"
g. Note 27 - Plenums will only include code compliant material but not the specific

material as listed.
h. Note 38 - Strike through "Where fixtures are not available with integrally mounted test

buttons, the test buttons shall be located in a discrete location as determined by the
architect up to 50' away from the fixture."

i. Note 39 - Strike through "New lights and lamps shall match...(through)...The correct
mounting height type shall be provided." And Light fixtures installed in areas having

exposed food or food preparation areas or kitchens shall be properly licensed and have
shatter proof lamps."

j. Note 44 - Excluded

k. Note 55 - Excluded - Dimmers not included
L Note 59 - Excluded

m. Note 64 - Excluded

15. Please see below for modifications to E0.0.2

a. Note A.3 - Excluded

b. Note A.5, A-5, and A-7 - Will be superseded by the contract
c. Note A-11- Exclude

d. Note A-15 - Will be superseded by the contract warranty period

e. Note B-5 - Exclude

f. Note 8-6 - Strike through note - All Wire will be pulled per code.
g. Note B-7- Excluded

h. Note B-8- Excluded

i. Note 8-18 - Strike through note - All conduit will meet the need of the project plans and
be per code

j. Note C-2 - This is not correct. There would be no point of the shop drawing process if
this is the case.

k. Note C-6 - Change to 8 weeks
l. Note E-3 - Excluded

m. Note E-8 - Strike through note - lnsulation provided per code min.

@ @
PAGE 18 OF 18



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8ASC-30E04A8188Fs

THE M'D
Lake Worth, FL

EXHIBIT B - Contract Documents

Moss shall provide the following

MC'ssi
I

a Portion of electrical infrastructure required to provide electricity to serve the Project's proposed
230 multifamily units with clubhouse, and first floor live/work space,

17th Avenue North shall be milled and resurfaces from Dixie Highway west to the rail right-of-
way as set forth in Exhibit B. ln addition, F curb and gutter shall be added to aid with stormwater
conveyance, also as set forth in Exhibit B.

Portion of water infrastructure required to provide potable water and fire protection
distribution mains to serve the Project's proposed 230 multifamily units with clubhouse, and
first floor live/work space.

Portion of stormwater infrastructure required to provide a stormwater collection and
management system to serve the Project's proposed multifamily with commercial use space of
approximately 5.46 acres.

Portion of sanitary sewer infrastructure required to provide sanitary sewer collection system to
serve the Project's proposed 230 multifamily units with clubhouse, and first floor live/work
space.

a

a

a

@@



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-8F36-4404-8A5C-30E04A8188Fs

MTTSS
I

THE MID
Lake Worth, FL

EXHIBIT B - Contract Documents

ffi

lF

I

I

I

I

I

I

T--

tl rllu
'l tl

il
lr
I

F{
o

E
rd

ct
trt
trl
a)

Ir,
q

5N

:rtr
l.r 1 I
It..

,tr

r l 1l !: I l l t !

J- I i

I I f,J r - r r r I I I I | | t

i ' r.l$L{J;iii,ti'd&r! r

I L: t r r t I I .1r.{l
t. t I J I Lt I ' I il :

I

'l

1..:r

;lli

'lililfiillillll

lllllll'llll|lll

fi||tlrtililtlilfl

+*

tF,ilF It{i

:ll

:o:-
i>:o

I
rl

I
I
F

I
I
, iI

IHOMAS
g
ilrl
lE iitil]l,,

@@



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8A5C-3080448't88Fs

Mcrss
I

THE MID
Lake Worth, FL

EXHIBIT B - Contract Documents

@

+

l:

I

I

l,t

iri

I

{r

{

't:.1

*g{E&ssh jt!

ffil'
lli,

I

I

'I

il

i'

>
Fi
o

E
d

a
td
I|l
U2

EIItrl
cg

c:g
ta

I
E F$$ loti

;II
:I
!o:3
i>
:o

I
rl Ir!tlil

iI

IHOMAS
I

+

@@



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF364404-8A5C-30E04A81 88Fs

MC'SS
I

THE MID
Loke Worth, FL

EXHIBIT B - Contract Documents

I

rl

a

.fi

ti!'t'

)---

4:t

I

.lr'r l"

t

;

I

:l
'l

-t
'lt

{f

I

lI
ri),\

til

HII

llll*

r!

td

IE

ll

lt

il
II'l

i
I
I

I

I
I
I

I

5H
tltiltlt

i

I
I
I
I
I

I'

+
It
A

EI
ig
E!

E
EI
l!
c
E
F

Fii

:ll
:I
io;3
:>
,o

:l

ii

a"@



DocuSign Envelope lD: 1 83586F5-EF36-4404.8ASC-30E04A8188Fs

Mcrssi
t

THE MID
Lake Worth, FL

EXHIBIT B - Contract Documents

$#t{

;,[ I i 11,]:lrl I t I rl ct:!!! l I'l r-: I I r cl-l fl-cf-! t I tf I r5

-t iai-f; \ rt,lir
i

il

L

),.

'I

-r,.

,.i

I
t.

tfi

iii

fi

lii

ili

I
I

!

I
I

I
I
I

ll

i!
rl

I
g

fi

I

tr';rffilllr tlri ilf; lg

.{

t

.tr

ntll

tl
d I

ll +
II
m
r! liiil

II
.r'o
lI
:>
.o

I
rl

:R

!F

irrl
It
A

Cv@



EXHIBIT "A.2"

Public Construction Bond with Dual Obligee Rider

(attached hereto)

Page 8 of 9



u677

u677

Sconned from o Xerox Multifunction Printer5.pdf

02117120 07:52 PM

Ai
@xerox

Xerox'Altoli n k'CB 07 0 M FP



PAYMENT AND
PERFORMANCE BOND
(Florida Public Works)

TRAVELERS CASUALTY AND SURETY GOMPANY OF AIT/IERIGA

Hartford, Connecticut 06183

Bond No.: t06856754

Bond MUST be recorded in public records of Gounty where improvement is located

Principal(Contractor) : Moss & Associates, LLC
Address: 2101 N. Andrews Avenue, Fort Lauderdale, FL 3331I

Telephone: (954) 524-5678

Surety: Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America

Address: One Tower Square, Hartford, CT 06183

Telephone: (407) 388-7814

owner: 160l Dixie LLC
Address: 414 N Andrews Avenue, Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

Telephone: (954) 451-5252

Project Description: The Mid, 1601 North Dixie Highway, Lake Worth Beach , FL 33460

NSTE: Any action instituted by a claimant under this bond for payment must be in accordance with the

notice and time limitation provisions in Section 255.05(2), Florida Statutes.

BY THIS BOND, We, Moss & Associates, LLC, called the Principal, and

Travelers Casualty ano Surety company of America, a connecticut corporation, called the Sure$, are bound to

160l Dixie LLC, herein caled owner, in the sum of One Million Thirly Five Thousand 00/100 Dollars

($1,035,000.00) for payment of which we bind ourselves, our heirs, personal representatives, successors, and

assigns, jointly and severally.

THE CONDITION OF THIS BOND is that if Principal:

1. performs the contract dated Janua ry 3o,2020, between Principal and Owner for construction of The

Mid, tfre coniract being made a part of this bond by reference, at the times and in the manner

prescribed in the contract; and

2. prompgy makes payments to allclaimants, as defined in Section 255.05(1), Florida Statutes,

supptiing Fiin"'pblwith labor, materials, oi supplies, used directly or indirectly by Principal in the

pr6ie'cution of the work provided for in the contract; and

g. pays Owner all losses, damages, expenses, -costs, 
and attorney's fees, including appellate

pro'.:eeoinJs,ln"i o*ri"i iJstiini because of a default by Principal under the contract; and

4. performs the guarantee of all work and materials furnished under the contract for the time specified

in the contract] tnen this bond is void; otherwise it remains in full force.

Any action instituted by a claimant under this bond for payment must be in accordance with the notice and time

limitation provisions in Section 255.05(2), Florida Statutes'

Any changes in or under the contract documents and compliance or noncompliance with any formalities

connected with the 
"ontr""ioi1f,e 

changes does not affeci Surety's obligation under this bond'

Performance and Payment Bond - Page I of 2



Signed and dated this 4th day of February, 2020.

Moss & Associates, LLC
(Principal)

, Vice President

Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America

By: /tr."/,Oe+/U/
William Scott TretheweY,

By:

Performance and Payment Bond - Page 2 of 2



^-.
TRAVELERSJ

Travelerc Casualty and Surety Company of America
Travelerc Casualty and Surety Company
St. Paul Firc and Marine Insurance Company

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN By THESE PRESENTS: That Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, and St.
paul Fire and Marine lnsurance Company are corporations du! brganized dnder the laws of the State of Connecticut (herein collectively called lhe

"Gompanies"), and that the Companies do hereby make, constitute and appoint Wlllam Scott Trcthewoy of FT LAUDERDALE
Florlda , iheir true and iaurtrl Attomey-in-Fact to $ign, execute, seal and acknowledge any and all bonds, recognizances,

conditional undertakings and other writings obligalory in the nature there-of on behalf of the Companies in their business of guaranteeing lhe

ftdelity of persons, gilaranteeing the pe-rformance 6f contracls and executing or guaranteeing bonds and underlakings required or permitted in any

aclions or proceedings allowed by law.
tN WTNE$S WHEREOF, the Coinpanies have caused lhis instrument to be signed, and their corporate seals lo be hereto aflixed, this lTth day of January'
2019.

State of Connecticut

City of Hartford ss.

By:
L.

On this the l7th day of January, 2019, before me personally appeared Robert L. Raney, who acknorivledged himself to be the Senior Vice Presidenl

of Travelers Casualty and Sureg bompany of Ameriia, Traveieri basualty and Surety Company, and St. Paul Fire and Marine lnsurance Comp:ny, and

that he, as such, being authorizeO sb t6 do, executed the foregoing instrument ior the pJrposes therein contained by signing on behalf of said

Companies by himself as a duly authorized officer.

lN WTiIESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.

My Commission expires the 3fih day of June, 2021
Anna P. Nowik, Notary

Datedthis 4th dayof February , 2020

--xev'rn E. Hughes, AssiElanl Secretary

To vcrlly tfic authanddty of thls Powar of Affimay, plcan all us at 7-80G427'3llll0.
plaa* rulbrb the abovenamcdAfumcfin-Factand thc dahils of lhc bond bwhldr lhls Powarof Atbmcyltathdtcd.

i

This power of Attomey is granted under and by the aulhority of the following resolutions adopted by the Boards of Directors of Travelers Casualty and

Surety Company of Americi, Travelers Casualg and Surety iompany, and S[ Paul Fire and Marine lnsurance Company, which resolutions are now in full

force and eftect, reading as follows:

RESOLVED, that the Chairman, lhe President, any Mce Chairman, any Executive Mce President, any Senior Mce Presiddnt, any Vice President, any

Second Vice president, the Treasurer, any nsifuht Treasurer, the corporate secrelary or any Assisiant Secretary maj appoint Attomeys'in-Fact and

Agents to ac.t for and on behalf of the coirpany and may give such appointee suctr aulhority as his or her certificate of authority may prescribe to sign

wi-th the Company's name and seal with the Corirpanys sla'i bonds, reid'gnizances, contracts of indemnity, and other wrilings obligatory in the nature of a

bond, recognizance, or conditional undertaking, ahO iny of said ofrcers or the Board of Direc{ors at any Ume may remove any such appointee and revoke

the power given him or hec and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Chairman, the President, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice President, any Senlor Vice Preside.nt_or any Mce
president may delegate all or any pail of the foregoing auttrbrity to one or more omcers or employees of lhis Company, provided that each such

delegation is in writing and a copy thereof is filed in lhe office of the Secretary; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that any bond, recognizance, contfact of indemnity, or wriUng obllgatory in the nature of a bond, recognizance, or conditional

undertaking shall be vaiid and binding.upon-the Company when (a) signed by the Piesident, any Mce Chairman, any ExeculiveVice President' any

Senior Mce President or any Mce piesident, any S6coriO Mce President, lhe Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Corporate Sectetary or any

Assistant Secretary and duly attested and sealed with lhe Company's seal by a Secretary or Assistant Secretary! or (b) rt_uly exegleg (u.nder seal, if

required) by one oi more Albrneys-in-Fact and Agents pursuant io tne power prescribed in his or her certificate or their certificates ol authority or by one

or more Company ofiicers pu6uant lo a written delegalion of authority; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the signature of each of the following offcers: Pr€sident, any Executive vice President, any senior 
-Mce 

President' 9ny Mce-
president, any AssistaniMce presiient, any Sesetary, any Assistant Secrelary, and the ieal of lhe Company may be affxed by facsimile to any Power of
Attomey or to any certificate relating theret6 appointing Reiident Mce Presidents, Resident Assistanl Secretaries or Attomeys'in'Fact for purposes only of
executing and atiesting bonds and-undertaking; and 6ther writings obligatory in lhe nalure thereof, and any such Power of Attomey or ceriificate bearing

such faciimile signatuie or facsimile seal shall be valid and binding up6n thl Company and any such power so executed and cerlifed by su.ch facsimile

signature and fa&imile seal shall be valid and binding on the Complny in the frrture with respec{ to any bond or underslanding to whictt it is attached.

l, Kovin E. Hughes, the undersigned, Assistant Secretary of Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of, America, Travelers Casualty and Surely.

iompany, and 5t. paul Fire and lri'arine lnsurance Company, do hereby certifi thai the above 
-and 

foregoing is a true and correct copy of the Power of

Attomey executed by said Companies, which remains in full force and effect.

flcillff.a-
prBila

!ilI|r



DUAL
OBLIGEE
RIDER

TRAVELERS CASUALry AND SUREW COMPANY OF AMERICA
Hartford, Connecticut 061 83

Eracutionl

This Rider is executed concurrenfly with and shall be attached to and form a part of performance bond No'

106856754.

WHEREAS, on or about the 30th day of January, 2020, Moss & Associates, LLC (hereinafter called.the
,,principal,,), entered into a written agreement with 1-60l Dixie LLC (hereinafter called the "Primary obligee") for

the construction of the The Mid (hereinafter called the "contract'); and

WHEREAS, principal is required by the Contract to irrovide a performance bond and Primary Obligee has

requested that Cig of Lake Worth 6each, Florida, nf-fru: City Manager, 7 N Dixie Highway, Lake Worth, FL

gg+OO, be named is an additional obligee under the performance bond; and

WHEREAS, principal and TravelersCasualtyandSuretyCompanyof America (hereinafter referred to as
,,Surety,,) have agreed to execute and delivei this Ridei in conjunction Performance Bond No. 106856754

(hereinafter referred to as "Performance Bond')

NOW, THEREFORE, the undersigned hereby agree and stipulate that Ci$ of Lake Wgrth Beach, Florida, nffN,
cig Manager, 7 N oiiie iignwal, Lake w6rtn] pr- ss4ob shall be added to said bond as a named obligee

(hereinaftei referred to as "Alditional Obligee"), subject to the conditions set forth below:

. 1. The Sureg shall not be liable under the Bond to the Primary Obligee, the Additional Obligee, or

any of them, unless the primary Obligee, the Additional Obligee, or any oi them, 
-shall 

make payments to the

p1ncipal (or in the case the Surety arranges for completion oithe contract, to the surety) strictly in accordance

with the terms of said Contract as to payments and shall perform all other obligations to be performed under said

Contract at the time and in the manner therein set forth.

2. The aggregate liability of the Surety under the Bond, to any or all of the obligees (Primary and

Additional Obligees), as their interests r"y 
"pp""t, 

is limited to the penal sum of the Bond; the Additional

Obligee's rights hereunO"i 
"r" 

subject to tne same defenses Principal and/or Sure$ have against the Primary

obligee, and the totat tiaoitity of the'surety shall in no event exceed the amount recoverable from the Principal by

the primary obligee under t-he contract. At the sure$'s election, any payment due under the performance bond

may be mdOe Uyloint check payable to one or more of the obligees'

3. The Sureg may, at its option, make any payments under said Performance Bond by check

issued jointly to all of the obligees'

Except as herein modified, the Bond shall be and remains in full force and effect.

Signed this 4th day of February, 2020.

Moss & Associates, LLC 
(principar)

By:
P

Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America

4a?(By:
William Scott TretheweY,



^-.
TRAVELERSJ

Travelerc Gasualty and Surety Company of America
Travelerc Casualty and Surcty Company
St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Gompany

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: That Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, and St.
Paul Fire and Marine lnsurance Company are corporations duly organized under lhe laws of the State of Connecticut (herein collectively called the
"Companies"), and that the Companies do hereby make, constitute and appoint Wlllam Scott Trelhewoy of FT TAUDERDALE
Florlda , lheir true and laudrll Attomey-in-Fact to sign, execute, seal and acknowledge any and all bonds, recognizances,
condilional undertakings and other writings obligatory in the nature thereof on behalf of the Companies in lheir business of guaranteeing ihe
fidelity of persons, guaranteeing lhe performance of contracts and executing or guaranteeing bonds and undertakings required or permitled in any
actions or proceedings allowed by law.
lN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Companies have caused lhis instrument to be signed, and their corporate seals to be hereto afiixed, this lTth day of January,
2019.

State of Connecticut

City of Hartford ss.

On this the {7th day of January, 2019, before me personally appeared Robert L. Raney, who acknowledged himselt to be the Senior Vice President
of Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, and St. Paul Fire and Maiine Insurance Company, and
that he, as such, being authorized so to do, executed the foregoing instrument for lhe purposes lherein contained by signing on behalf of said
Companles by himself as a duly authorized officer.

lN UUITI{ESS WHEREOF, I hereunto set my hand and ofiicial seal.

My Commission expires the 3fih day of Juno, 2021

This Power of Attomey is granted under and by the authority of the following resolutions adopted by the Boards of Directors of Travelers Casualty and
Surety Company of America, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, and St. Paul Fire and Marine lnsurance Company, which resolutions are now in full
force and effect, reading as follows:

RESOLVED, that the Chairman, the Presidenl, any Mce Chairman, any Executive Vlce President, any Senior Mce President, any Mce President, any
Second Vice President, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Corporate Secretary or any Assistant Sesetary may appoint Attomeys-in-Fac1 and
Agents to ac{ for and on behalf of the Company and may give such appointee suci authority as his or her certificate of authotity may prescribe to sign
with the Companys name and seal with the Companys seal bonds, recognizances, contracis of indemnity, and other writings obligatory in the nature of a
bond, recognizance, or conditional undertaking, and any of said offcers or the Board of Direclors at any lime may remove any such appointee and revoke
the power given him or hec and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that lhe Chairman, the President, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Mce President, any Senior Mce President or any Mce
President may delegate all or any part of lhe foregoing aulhodty to one or more oficers or employees of lhis Company, provided lhat each such
delegation is ln wrltlng and a copy lhereof is filed in the ofice of the Secretary; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that any bond, recognizance, contract of indemnity, or writing obligatory in the nature of a bond, recognizance, or @nditional
undertaking shall be valid and binding upon the Company when (a) signed by the President, any Vice Chairman. any Executive Mce President, any
Senior Mce President or any Mce President, any Second Mce President, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, lhe Coporate Secretary or any
Assistant Secretary and duly attesled and sealed wilh the Company's seal by a Secretary or Assistant Secretary; or (b) duly executed (under seal, if
required) by one or more Attorneys-in-Faci and Agents pursuant to lhe power presqibed in his or her certillcate or lheir cerlificates of authority or by ono
or more Company offcers pursuant lo a written delegation of authodty; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that lhe signature of each of the following offcers: President, any Execulive Mce President, any Senior Vice President, any Mce
President, any Assistant Mce President, any Secretary, any Assistant Secretary, and the seal of the Company may be affixed by facsimile to any Power of
Attomey or to any certificate relating lherelo appointing Resident Mce Presidents, Resident Assistant Secrelaries or Attomeys-in-Fac{ for purposes only of
execuiing and atlesting bonds and undertakings and olherwrilings obligatory in the nature thereof, and any such Power ofAttomey or cerlificate beadng
such facsimile signature or facsimile seal shall be valid ancl binding upon the Company and any such power so executed and certfied by such facsimile
signature and facsimile seal shall be valid and binding on the Company in lhe frrture wlth respect to any bond or understanding to which it is attached.

l, Kevin E. Hughes, the undersigned, Assistant Secretary of Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, Travelers Casualty and Surety
Company, and St. Paul Fire and Marine lnsurance Company, do hereby certiff that the above and foregoing is a true and correcl copy of the Power of
Attomey executed by said Companies, which remains in full force and effect.

Datedthis 4th dayof February , 2020

Kevin E. Hughes,

To vedll tha auticndcity of thls Power of Atlomey, plca* call us at t-8OMAl-380.
Pleaso raf€rbthe abvenamedAtumefin-Fectand lha dcEilsof thc hondbwhich thls PowerolAtbmaylc atbdtcd,

By:

ffr
IT



EXHIBIT UA-3''

Escrow Agreement

(attached hereto)

Page 9 of 9



ESCROW AGREEMENT

THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT ("Escrow Agreement") entered into this ,J4LAuy
of February,2020, by and between First American Title Insurance Company ("Escrow Agent"),
City of Lake Worth Beach, a Florida municipal corporation ("City") and 160l Dixie, LLC, a
Florida limited liability company ("Owner").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, City and Owner entered into that certain Economic Development Incentive
Agreement with Effective Date of May 1, 2018 as modified by that Amendment dated December
13,2019 and by that Second Amendment dated February _,2020 (the "Incentive Agreement");
and

WHEREAS, Owner has entered into a separate contract with Moss & Associates, LLC
("Contractor") for the construction of the Infrastructure Improvements as identified in the

Incentive Agreement (the "Infrastructure Contract"); and

WHEREAS, City and Owner have agreed to enter into this Escrow Agreement in order to
address potential issues that may arise during the construction of the Infrastructure Improvements
under the Infrastructure Contract; and

WHEREAS, except as specifically modified by written instruction executed by all parties

and accepted by Escrow Agent, the following General Conditions of Escrow shall apply to this
escrow, and the Escrow Funds received hereunder.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and for
other good and valuable considerations, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Recitals. The above recitals are true and correct and are hereby incorporated into
and made aparthereof.

2. Deposit of Escrow Funds. As provided in the Incentive Agreement and upon the

Owner's satisfaction of certain conditions precendent, the City will deposit $517,500 with the

Escrow Agent (the "Escrow Funds"). The Escrow Funds (and any Additional Escrow Funds, as

described below) while in escrow shall be subject to all terms and conditions of this Escrow
Agreement and the Incentive Agreement, which is attached hereo to as Exhibit"l". Escrow Agent
is directed to deposit the Escrow Funds (and any Additional Escrow Funds, as described below)
in an interest-bearing account, which account shall be maintained in the name of First American
Title Insurance Company as Escrow Agent for the parties to this Escrow Agreement. Interest
earned on the Escrow Funds (and any Additional Escrow Funds, as described below) deposited

shall accrue to the benefit of Owner, who has provided a completed and executed W-9 form to
Escrow Agent. THE ESCROW FUNDS WILL NOT BE PLACED INTO AN INTEREST-
BEARING ACCOUNT UNTIL AND UNLESS ESCROW AGENT HAS RECEIVED THE
COMPLETED W-9 FROM THE OWNER. Accrued interest shall accumulate and constitute a

part of the escrow. Escrow Agent shall not be responsible for (a) any fluctuation in the rate on



interest accruing on deposited escrow funds; (b) any failure on the part of the Bank; (c) the

unavailability of FDIC insurance on all or any portion of the deposited escrow funds or (d) any

other matters beyond the direct and exclusive control of Escrow Agent.

3. Owner's Default As provided in the Incentive Agreement, in the event of a default
by Owner under the Infrastructure Contract, Contractor shall deliver a copy of such written notice
of default to Owner, City and to Escrow Agent, which shall identi$' the reason for default and all
amounts demanded to be paid to Contractor under the Infrastructure Contract (a "Default Notice").
In the event that City receives a Default Notice from Contractor then, within ten (10) business

days, City shall in its sole discretion have the right, but not the obligation and in addition to any

other remedy City may have, to direct Escrow Agent in writing to release the portion of the Escrow

Funds as is demanded in the Default Notice to Contractor pursuant to the terms of the Infrastructure
Contract. If Escrow Agent receives such written direction from City, Escrow Agent shall promptly
(within five (5) business days of receipt of City's written direction) release the identified Escrow
Funds amount to Contractor.

If Escrow Agent has released all of Escrow Funds to Contractor pursuant to City's written direction
and City receives an additional Default Notice(s) from Contractor, City shall in its sole discretion
have the right, but not the obligation, to deposit additional Escrow Funds in the amount demanded

in the additional Default Notice(s) with the Esuow Agent within ten (10) business days of receipt
of the Default Notice(s) (the "Additional Escrow Funds"). City may then direct Escrow Agent to
pay the Additional Escrow Funds as demanded in the additonal Default Notice(s) to Contractor
pursuant to the terms of the Infrastructure Contract. If Escrow Agent receives such Additional
Esuow Funds and written direction from City then Escrow Agent shall promptly (within five (5)

business days) release such funds to Contractor.

Upon receipt by Escrow Agent of a written notarized statement by Contractor to the City, Owner
and Escrow Agent of the Contractor's receipt of an amount equal to the Escrow Funds for work
under the Infrastructure Contract, which shall include a statement that there is no pending default
under the Infrastructure Contract and that the Public Construction Bond for the construction work
remains in full force and effect ("Receipt Notice"), the Escrow Funds (or the remaining portion of
the Escrow Funds) shall be released by the Escrow Agent to Owner (or, at Owner's election to an

account controlled by Owner's lender).
All parties to this Escrow Agreement shall have the right to audit all payments made by the Escrow
Agent including, but not limited to, all documentation submitted to the Escrow Agent for
disbursement of funds to the Contractor.

All costs, fees and expenses of this Escrow Agreement shall be charged to the Escrow Funds or
the Owner if the Escrow Funds are insufficient to pay all costs, fees and expenses of this Escrow
Agreement.

4. Limitations of Liability: Without limitation, Escrow Agent shall not be liable for
any loss or damage resulting from the following:

a. The financial status or insolvency of any other party or any misrepresentation
made by any other party.



b. Any legal effect, validity, insufficiency, or undesirability of any instruction and
notice deposited with or delivered by or to Escrow Agent or exchanged by the
parties hereunder, whether or not Escrow Agent prepared such instrument.

c. The default, error, action or omission of any other party to the escrow.
d. Any loss or impairment of Escrow Funds that have been deposited in escrow

while those funds are in the course of collection or while those funds are on
deposit in a financial institution if such loss or impairment results from failure,
insolvency or suspension of a financial institution, or any loss or impairment of
funds due to a invalidity of any draft, check, document or other negotiable
instrument delivered to the Escrow Agent.

e. The expiration of any time limit or other consequence of delay, unless a
properly executed settlement instruction, accepted by Escrow Agent has
instructed the Escrow Agent to comply with said time limit.

f. Escrow Agent's compliance with any legal process, subpoena, writ, order,
judgment or decree of any court, whether issued with or without jurisdiction
and whether or not subsequently vacated, modified, set aside or reversed.

g. Any mistakes of fact or errors in judgment, or any acts or omissions of any kind,
unless caused by its willful misconduct or gross negligence.

4. Completion of Essrow: Upon completion of the disbursement of the Escrow Funds
and any Additional Escrow Funds and delivery of instruments, if any, and after receiving written
approval from both parties, Escrow Agent shall be automatically released and discharged of its
escrow obligations hereunder.

5. Benefit: These conditions of escrow shall apply to and be for the benefit of agents
of the Escrow Agent employed by it for services in connection with this escrow, as well as for the
benefit of Escrow Agent. There are no third party beneficiaries to this Escrow Agreement.

6. Attorney's Fees: In the event that litigation is initiated relating to this escrow, the
parties hereto agree that Escrow Agent shall be held harmless from any attorney's fees, court costs
and expenses relating to that litigation to the extent that litigation does not arise as a result of the
Escrow Agent's fault. To the extent that Escrow Agent holds Escrow Funds under the terms of
this escrow (excluding any Additional Escrow Funds), the parties hereto, other than Escrow Agent
agree that the Escrow Agent may charge those Escrow Funds with any such attorney's fees, court
costs and expenses as they are incurred by Escrow Agent. In the event that conflicting demands
are made on Escrow Agent, or Escrow Agent, in good faith, believes that any demands with regard
to the Escrow Funds or Additional Escrow Funds are in conflict or unclear or ambiguous, Escrow
Agent may bring an interpleader action in an appropriate court in Palm Beach County, Florida.
Such action shall not be deemed to be the "fault" of Escrow Agent, and Escrow Agent may lay
claim to or against the Escrow Funds for its reasonable costs and attorneys fees in connection with
same, through final appellate review.

7. Duties of Escrow Agent: Agent is authorized and agrees by acceptance of the
Escrow Agreement to hold and deliver the same or the proceeds thereof in accordance with the
terms hereof. Escrow Agent is acting as a stakeholder only with respect to the Escrow Funds and
any Additional Escrow Funds and Escrow Agent's duties are purely ministerial in nature. In the
event of doubt as to its liabilities or duties, Escrow Agent may, in its sole discretion (i) continue



to hold the Escrow Funds and Additional Escrow Funds until the parties mutually agree to the
disbursement thereof, or until a judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction in Palm Beach

County, Florida, shall determine the rights of the parties thereof, or (ii) deliver the Escrow Funds

and any Additional Escrow Funds and the proceeds thereof to the Clerk of the Circuit Court for
Palm Beach County or other court of competent jurisdiction in Palm Beach County, Florida, and

upon notiffing all parties concerned of such action, any liability on the part of the Escrow Agent
shall fully terminate except to the extent of accounting for monies or documents previously
delivered out of escrow. In the event of any suit wherein Escrow Agent is made aparty by virtue
of acting as agent, or in the event of any suit initiated by or against Escrow Agent, Escrow Agent
may interplead any money held by Escrow Agent. Escrow Agent shall be entitled to recover
reasonable attorneys'fees and costs incurred in negotiation, at trial and upon appeal, said fees and

costs to be charged and assessed as court costs in favor of Escrow Agent and immediately paid by
the non-prevailing party. The parties agree that Escrow Agent shall not be liable to anyone for
misdelivery of monies unless such misdelivery shall be due to willful breach of this Escrow
Agreement or gross negligence on the part of Escrow Agent. Escrow Agent shall not be liable for
any loss resulting from any default, error, action or omission, loss or impairment of funds in the
course of collection or while on deposit resulting from failure or suspension of the depository
institution or Escrow Agent's compliance with any legal process, order or judgment of any court,
whether or not subsequently vacated or modified.

8. Dispute: In the event of a dispute or controversy between the parties to the with
regard to the Escrow Funds or Additional Escrow Funds, the Escrow Agent reserves the right to
resign as Escrow Agent, upon thirty days written notice by Escrow Agent to all parties to this
Escrow Agreement.. Escrow Agent shall transfer Escrow Funds and Additional Escrow Funds to

a successor Escrow Agent upon joint written instruction from all parties to this Escrow Agreement

within said thirty-day period. Failure of any notice of replacement Escrow Agent shall cause

Escrow Agent to interplead the Escrow Funds and Additioanl Escrow Funds as provided herein.

9. Escrow Fee: Escrow Agent will be entitled to a fee in the amount of $400.00 for
performing its duties hereunder. The parties hereto agreed that the fee will be subtracted from the

Escrow Funds at time of disbursement to either Owner or Owner's lender (as applicable).

10. Release of Escrow Funds and Additional Escrow Funds: Escrow Agent shall release

or disburse Escrow Funds and any Additional Escrow Funds only pursuant to a written notice as

provided in this Escrow Agreement.

I l. Notices: All notices, requests, disbursements (except wire transfers, which shall be

deemed to have been duly given after confirmation of receipt given by the recipient bank as

directed in the wiring instructions) or other communications shall be in writing, shall be provided
to all parties (as identified below) and shall be deemed to have been duly given on the date sent if:
a) by electronic or email transmissions to the email addresses provided below, said email notice
shall be deemed effective upon completion of the email, so long as the email notice has the proper
and necessary notice attached by a PDF attachment with the required signature(s) and the sender
retains written proof of time date and successful transmission; b) sent Federal Express or by similar
private overnight courier service, or c) sent certified mail, retum receipt requested, with all post



charges prepaid, and addressed to the following addresses for each party or to such further
addresses as any such party may designate by written notice given pursuant to this paragraph:

Escrow Agent:

First American Title Insurance Company
2l2l Ponce de Leon Blvd., Suite 710
Coral Gables, FL 33134
Attention: Yessie A Gonzalez, Senior Commercial Escrow Officer
Phone no. : (305)908-6253
Fax no.: (866) 908-6012
E-mail : YeGonzalez@ firstam. com

Owner:

1601 Dixie,LLC
414 N. Andrews Ave
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301
ATTN: Jeffrey Bums and Nick Rojo, Jr.

E-mail: jbums@affiliateddevelopment.com; nrojo@affiliateddevelopment.com

with copies to

Greenspoon Marder LLP
200 E. Broward Blvd., Suite 1800
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301
ATTN: Mark J. Lynn, Esq.
E-mail: mark.lvnn@smlaw.com

City

City of Lake Worth Beach
7 N. Dixie Highway
Lake Worth Beach, FL 33460
ATTN: Michael Bornstein, City Manager
E-mail: mbornstein@lakeworthbeachfl .gov

with copies to:

Torcivia, Donlon, Goddeau & Ansay, P.A.
701 Northpoint Parkway, Suite 209
West Palm Beach, FL 33407
ATTN: Christy L Goddeau, Esq.
christy @torcivialaw. com



13. Entire Agreement. This Escrow Agreement constitutes the entire agreement

between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and may not be modified or amended

except pursuant to a written instrument executed by all parties.

14. Governing Law. The laws of the State of Florida shall govern the validity,
construction, enforcement and interpretation ofthis Escrow Agreement. Any legal action instituted
in connection herewith involving Escrow Agent shall be maintained only in Palm Beach County,

Florida.

15. Parties Bound. This Escrow Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the

benefit of the parties hereto, their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors and

assigns.

16. Time of Essence. Time is of the essence in this Escrow Agreement.

17. Counterparts. This Escrow Agreement may be executed in any number of
counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original, but all together one and the same

instrument.

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK
SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW



IN WITNESS WHEREOF' the parties have executed this Escrow Agreement as of the
day and year first above written.

Signed, sealed and delivered in the
presence ofi

Owner:

1601 D

BY:
(Name Name

its
Vn9

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK
SIGNATURE PAGE OF CITY AND ESCROW AGENT FOLLOW

1 (r



\
k(J a)

W
<'

ct

ATTE

By
De M. Andrea,

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND
LEGAL CY

By lnL
Glen J. Torcivia, City AttomeY

(Name

(lr{ame

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, FLORIDA

Bornstein, City Manager

APPROVED FOR FINANCIAL
SUFFICIENCY

By Arr.jlJ- k
Bruce T. Miller, Services Director

Escrow Agent:

FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE
COMPANY

BY

#z
its

u
Paralegal



EXECUTIVE BRIEF 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
AGENDA DATE: March 5, 2020  DEPARTMENT:  Community Development 

 

TITLE: 

Ordinance No. 2020-02 - amending Chapter 23 Entitled “Land Development Regulations” of the 
Code of Ordinances by amending article I “General provisions” relating to “Definitions” and 
Article 3 “Zoning Districts” by creating a Cultural Arts District Overlay zone 

 
SUMMARY: 

Ordinance No. 2020-02 amends Chapter 23, Article 1, “General Provisions, Definitions” and 
Article 3, Division 9, Section 23.3-29 “Reserved” of the City’s Code of Ordinances to replace 
this section with the proposed section entitled “Cultural Arts district overlay”. 

 

BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 
 
Background: 
Ordinance No. 2020-02 proposes to add a Cultural Arts district overlay zone to Chapter 23 of 
the City’s Code of Ordinances.  
 
On November 29, 2017, staff facilitated a joint workshop with both the Planning and Zoning 
Board and City Historic Resource Preservation Board to review potential amendments to 
Chapter 23 of the City Code. A copy of the notes from that meeting are attached as Attachment 
B.  
 
On March 7 and March 14th, the City Planning and Zoning Board and City Historic Resource 
Preservation Board, respectively, both sitting as the duly constituted Local Planning Agency for 
the City, held public hearings for Ordinance 2018-07 that included among other amendments, 
the creation of this overlay zone.  Both boards recommended approval of the proposed 
ordinance. 
 
On April 24, 2018, the City Commission held a workshop to review the proposed LDR 
amendments. Minutes from this workshop are attached as Attachment C. 
 
At the May 15, 2018 City Commission meeting, the Commission heard on first reading the 
proposed Ordinance 2018-07.  The Commission did not approve the ordinance but made 
suggested changes to enable staff to bring the ordinance back based on their comments. Based 
on comments at the meeting, the Cultural Arts portion of the ordinance was removed at that 
time to be brought back to the commission as a separate ordinance.  
 
On December 5 and December 12, 2018, the City Planning and Zoning Board and City Historic 
Preservation Board, respectively, held public hearings for the Comprehensive Plan 
Amendments that included the Cultural Arts Master Plan and forwarded a recommendation to 
the City Commission, which subsequently voted to approve the Comprehensive Plan 



amendments in April of 2019. The proposed LDR amendment in this ordinance provides for the 
alignment of the LDRs with the Adopted Comprehensive Plan, by proposing new language 
related to the Cultural Arts Overlay District. 
 
Ordinance 2020-02 includes all proposed changes in strikethrough and underline format. 
 
At its meeting of February 18, 2020, the commission voted 5-0 to approve the ordinance on first 
reading and to schedule the second reading and public hearing for March 3, 2020. 
 
Justification 
The purpose of this ordinance is to create an optional Cultural Arts overlay district that will allow 
for certain arts-related businesses to be located within single family or two-family units, allowing 
for a live/work environment for the owner within a defined area of the city more fully described 
in the ordinance and as shown in Exhibit .  
 

MOTION: 

Move to approve/disapprove Ordinance No. 2020-02 – amending Chapter 23, Article 1, 
Definitions and Article 3, Division 9, Section 23.3-29 of the City of Lake Worth Beach Code of 
Ordinances. 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): 
Revised Ordinance 2020-02 

 



2020-02 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-02 OF THE CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, 2 

FLORIDA, AMENDING CHAPTER 23 ENTITLED “LAND 3 

DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS” OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES BY 4 

AMENDING ARTICLE I “GENERAL PROVISIONS” RELATING TO 5 

DEFINITIONS;  ARTICLE 3 “ZONING DISTRICTS” BY CREATING A 6 

CULTURAL ARTS DISTRICT OVERLAY; AND FOR OTHER 7 

PURPOSES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND 8 

CODIFICATION; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 9 

 10 
WHEREAS, the City of Lake Worth Beach, Florida (the “City”) is a duly constituted 11 

municipality having such power and authority conferred upon it by the Florida Constitution 12 
and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes; and 13 

 14 
WHEREAS, the City adopted a new Chapter 23 “Land Development Regulations” 15 

of the Code of Ordinances on August 6, 2013 (“2013 Regulations”); and  16 
 17 
WHEREAS, the 2016 Evaluation and Appraisal Review (EAR) resulted in major 18 

amendments to the City’s Comprehensive Plan including the creation of the “Cultural Arts 19 
Overlay (Policies 1.1.1.1 and 1.1.1.14); and 20 

 21 
WHEREAS, The Cultural Arts Overlay land use category is intended to provide for 22 

the establishment and enlargement of cultural arts related uses within a variety of broader 23 
land use categories near the urban core of the city and along the FEC railway corridor 24 

within close proximity of the historic downtown with the implementing zoning districts to 25 
include DT, MU-E, MU-DH, SF-R, SF-TF 14, TOD-E, and AI.; and 26 

 27 

WHEREAS, on October 10, 2018, the City adopted the Cultural Master Plan, as 28 
prepared by Lord Cultural Resources and Jon Stover Associates, under the direction of 29 

the Cultural Council of Palm Beach County; and 30 
 31 
WHEREAS, on April 16, 2019, the City Commission adopted an amendment to the 32 

Comprehensive Plan to include by reference the adopted Cultural Arts Master Plan; and 33 

 34 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Board, in its capacity as the local planning 35 

agency, considered the proposed amendments at a duly advertised public hearing; and 36 
 37 
WHEREAS, the Historic Resources Preservation Board, in its capacity as the local 38 

planning agency for historic districts, considered the proposed amendments at a duly 39 
advertised public hearing; and 40 

 41 
WHEREAS, the City Commission has reviewed the recommended amendments, 42 

and has determined that the amendments are in the best interest of the public health, 43 

safety, and welfare of the City and its residents and serve a valid public purpose. 44 



Pg. 2, Ord. 2020-02 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 45 
LAKE WORTH BEACH, FLORIDA, that: 46 
 47 

Section 1.  The foregoing recitals are hereby affirmed and incorporated herein. 48 
 49 
Section 2.  Chapter 23, Article 1, Division 2, Section 23.1-12, Definitions, is hereby 50 
amended by adding the words shown in underlined type and deleting the words struck 51 
through as follows:  52 

 53 
Arts related personal improvement services: Establishments primarily 54 

engaged in providing instruction in (i) the visual arts, including, but not limited to, 55 

painting, sculpting, photography and folk arts, or (ii) the performing arts including, 56 

but not limited to, music, dance, and theatre. This does not include any instruction 57 

related to tattooing or body piercing.  58 

Artist studio, single artist (or "Single-artist studio"): A building, or portion 59 

thereof, used as a place of work by a single artist engaged in (i) the visual arts, 60 

including, but not limited to, painting, sculpting, photography and folk arts, or (ii) 61 

the performing arts, including, but not limited to, music, dance, and theatre. A 62 

single-artist studio includes the creation of work and the accessory sale of work 63 

produced only by the artist in his or her own studio. Works from other artists may 64 

not be offered for sale. This does not include a studio for tattooing or body piercing.  65 

Artist studio, multiple-artists (or "Multiple-artists studio"): A building, or 66 

portion thereof, used as a place of work by multiple artists engaged in (i) the visual 67 

arts, including, but not limited to, painting, sculpting, photography and folk arts, or 68 

(ii) the performing arts, including, but not limited to, music, dance, and theatre. A 69 

multiple-artists studio includes the creation of work and the accessory sale of work 70 

produced by multiple artists using or sharing the studio(s). Works from other artists 71 

may not be offered for sale. This does not include a studio for tattooing or body 72 

piercing. 73 

Gallery: A building or portion thereof, used as a place to exhibit and offer 74 

for sale the works of visual artists, including, but not limited to, painting, sculpting, 75 

photography and folk arts. 76 

 77 

Section 3. Chapter 23, Article 3, Division 9, Section 23.3-29, Reserved, is hereby 78 
amended by creating the Cultural Arts District Overlay by adding the words shown in 79 
underlined type and deleting the words struck through as follows: 80 
 81 

Sec. 23.3-29. –Reserved. Cultural Arts district overlay 82 

a) Intent. The purpose of the Lake Worth Beach Cultural Arts Overlay District, also 83 

referred to as the “Arts Overlay District” or the “Arts District” is to provide an optional 84 



Pg. 3, Ord. 2020-02 
 

set of land development regulations for single family and two family dwellings in a 85 

targeted sub-area of the City’s Downtown, Mixed Use - East, Mixed Use – Dixie 86 

Highway, TOD-E, Artisanal Industrial and residential areas in close proximity to these 87 

zoning districts.  The establishment of an Arts District provides for regulations that are 88 

more responsive to the needs of artists in the community, encourages more owner-89 

occupied dwellings in this geographic area and expands the economic opportunities 90 

for home owners, property owners, and artists. 91 

b) Applicability. The following area of the City is hereby established as the Cultural Arts 92 

Overlay District:  93 

The area bounded on the east by Dixie Highway, on the south by 6th Avenue South, 94 

on the west by the alley west of “F” street, and on the north by 3rd Avenue North. 95 

c) Use restrictions. Refer to the permitted use table at section 23.3-6 for a complete 96 

list of uses, which includes those uses allowed by the underlying zoning district. 97 

1. Principal uses permitted by Administrative Use. 98 

A. Artisan Studio 99 

B. Arts and Crafts Studio 100 

C. Art Gallery 101 

D. Bakery 102 

E. Ceramics Studio with Kiln 103 

F. Ceramics Studio without Kiln 104 

G. Commissary Kitchen 105 

H. Craft Gallery 106 

I. Custom Jewelry Fabrication/Studio 107 

J. Photography Studio 108 

K. Photography gallery (including picture framing) 109 

L. Pottery Shop/Studio 110 

M. Recording Studio 111 

N. Sculpture Studio with Kiln 112 

O. Sculpture Studio w/o Kiln 113 

P. Stained Glass Studio 114 

2. General.  115 

A. The provisions of the Arts Overlay District shall be available through the 116 

Administrative Use process (See Section 23.2-128 (b)) for parcels containing a 117 

single-family detached dwelling unit, with or without an accessory dwelling unit, 118 

or a two-family dwelling unit. 119 

i. Parcels with a two-family dwelling unit shall be owned by the same person 120 

or entity.  121 

ii. Parcels with multi-family units may be converted to a single-family or two-122 

family unit in order to comply with this section.  123 



Pg. 4, Ord. 2020-02 
 

B. Existing nonconforming dwellings within this overlay may be used for this 124 

purpose so long as the building footprint or building area is not expanded or 125 

additional residential structures added to the lot.  126 

C. Using the provisions of the Arts District can benefit a property owner by allowing 127 

greater intensity and variety of uses than would otherwise be allowed in the 128 

base Zoning District.  129 

D. The use of the Arts Overlay District is optional. However, if the owner or artist 130 

opts to use the Arts Overlay District, the provisions and requirements of the 131 

Arts District must be used in their entirety.  An owner or artist may not select 132 

only specific elements from the Arts Overlay District regulations.  133 

E. Not all types of arts uses will be appropriate for the residential areas eligible for 134 

the optional Arts District. The addition of arts uses can be very compatible and 135 

add to the character of a neighborhood, but some more intensive uses with 136 

negative impacts such as noise, fumes, dust or hours of operation will not be 137 

suitable for location in the Arts District. 138 

F. Section 23.2.28, “Home Occupations”, does not apply to arts related 139 

businesses regulated in this overlay district.   140 

G. In addition to the standards provided in this section, all applicable standards 141 

and reviews must be met for properties located within a Historic District.  142 

H. To the extent that the Arts District does not address a specific development 143 

requirement, the regulations contained in the base zoning district and in the 144 

entirety of these LDRs shall apply.  145 

d) Development regulations.  146 

1. Design and performance standards 147 

A. Dwelling units in the Arts Overlay District must be owner occupied.  148 

B. For a single-artist studio in a single family dwelling unit, the artist must be a 149 
resident in the dwelling unit. For a single-artist studio in a two-family dwelling, 150 

the artist must be a resident in one (1) of the dwelling units.  151 
C. For a multiple-artists studio as a permitted use, the maximum number of artists 152 

allowed shall be two (2) and both artists must be full time residents in the 153 
dwelling unit.  154 

D. No additional dwelling units shall be created and no accessory structures shall 155 

be used for living purposes, unless said accessory structure is an approved 156 
dwelling unit.  157 

E. No more than one (1) non-resident employee is permitted per artist. 158 
F. Notwithstanding Section 23-4.6 “Home Occupations”, up to fifty percent (50%) 159 

of the dwelling unit may be used for the arts related business.  160 
 161 

2. Outdoor storage. Outdoor storage shall comply with Section 23.4-19. All materials 162 

and work products related to the arts related business must be stored in an 163 

enclosed building.  164 

3. Outdoor impacts.  165 



Pg. 5, Ord. 2020-02 
 

A. Any creation of art that generates excessive noise or is not compliant with 166 

Section 15-24 of the Code or otherwise not in keeping with noise levels 167 

appropriate to a residential zoning district, is prohibited. Noise generating 168 

activities must be located in a completely enclosed building that attenuates 169 

the noise.  170 

B. Excessive lights, dust, fumes, odors, and vibrations are prohibited unless the 171 

impacts are mitigated and the activity is located in a completely enclosed 172 

building that attenuates the lights, dust, fumes, odors and vibrations. 173 

Excessive lights, dust, fumes, odors and vibrations are those that due to 174 

intensity, frequency, or duration disrupt the ability of the neighbors to enjoy 175 

and use their property. 176 

4. Solid waste disposal. All solid waste shall be disposed of in individual residential 177 

pick-up containers. Dumpsters are not permitted.  178 

5. Parking.  179 

A. No additional parking is required for a single-artist studio. 180 

B. For all other arts related businesses, one (1) additional parking space shall 181 

be provided for every 500 square feet or portion thereof of the arts related 182 

business.  183 

C. Additional required parking may be located either on-site or immediately 184 

adjacent to the lot on the public street.   185 

D. If additional on-site parking is added, it shall be located behind the front 186 

building line unless approved through a conditional use permit.  187 

6. Signage.  188 

A. One (1) permanent sign to identify the arts use shall be allowed. The sign may 189 

be a wall sign, a projecting sign, or a freestanding sign, and shall not exceed 190 

four (4) square feet in area.  191 

B. One (1) directional sign is allowed, not to exceed four (4) feet in height and 192 

three (3) square feet in area.  193 

C. A wall sign may be attached as follows:  194 

i. Attached to the façade of the main building.  195 

ii. Attached to a structure containing an arts studio.  196 

iii. Attached to a fence on the property, provided it does not impede 197 
pedestrians or impact sight distances.  198 

D. The projecting sign may be hung from a porch or other portion of the main 199 
structure or studio. No portion of any sign is allowed above the first floor.  200 

E. A freestanding sign shall be a maximum of five (5) feet in height. Such 201 
freestanding sign may be placed within five (5) feet of the property line 202 
provided that the sign does not impede pedestrians or impact sight distances. 203 
A freestanding sign may be a pole sign, but may not be a monument sign.  204 



Pg. 6, Ord. 2020-02 
 

F. Signs may be double-sided.  205 

G. Changeable copy is not allowed.  206 

H. Sign Illumination  207 

i. The sign may only be illuminated externally.  208 

ii. No internal illumination, either of a sign box or individual channel letters, 209 
shall be allowed.  210 

iii. Illumination is allowed when the arts use is open for business.  211 

iv. No light source shall create an unduly distracting or hazardous condition 212 
to a motorist, pedestrian or the general public.  213 

v. Lighted signs shall be placed, shielded or deflected so as not to shine into 214 
residential dwelling units or structures, or impair the road vision of the 215 

driver of any vehicle.  216 

vi. Light sources for a sign shall be directed and shielded to limit direct 217 
illumination of any object other than the sign.  218 

vii. Neon signage is not allowed.  219 

viii. Strip lighting is not allowed.  220 

I. Alterations to the sign regulations contained in the Arts Overlay District may 221 
be requested as part of a conditional use permit. This can include a greater 222 

number or size of signs, location of signs or the use of artistic sign 223 
embellishments.  224 

7. Hours of operation. The hours of operation related to activities associated with an 225 

arts related business that is open to the public are as follows: Sunday through 226 

Thursday between 9:00 am and 7:00 pm and Friday and Saturday between 9:00 227 

am and 9:00 pm, except as may be allowed during a special event or otherwise 228 

approved by the City.  229 

8. Outdoor cultural events and performances. Outdoor events or performances that 230 

are open to the public and that feature visual art, music, dance, theater, 231 

performance art, science, design or cultural heritage are permitted, subject to the 232 

following:  233 

A. The outdoor event or performance must be presented by an existing business 234 

on the property and must comply with all applicable codes and ordinances.  235 

B. The business’ regularly stocked items may be displayed outdoors and be 236 

available for purchase during the event or performance but payment for all 237 

items shall occur indoors. No other items may be displayed for sale outdoors 238 

during the event or performance.  239 

C. Outdoor events or performances are limited to Fridays, Saturdays and 240 

Sundays only. 241 

D. Friday and Saturday outdoor events or performances shall be limited to the 242 

hours between 10:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. No amplified music or loudspeakers 243 

may be used outside after 10:00 p.m.  244 



Pg. 7, Ord. 2020-02 
 

E. Sunday outdoor events or performances shall be limited to the hours between 245 

10:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. No amplified music or loudspeakers may be used 246 

outside after 8:00 p.m. 247 

F. Hours and days of outdoor events or performances may be extended subject 248 

to obtaining a use permit in accordance with the standards and procedures of 249 

the Development Review Official Section of the Zoning Ordinance.  250 

G. Outdoor events or performances shall be a minimum of 100 feet from a single-251 

family residential zoning district. 252 

H. Not more than twelve (12) art-related, Arts District wide special events may be 253 

held in any one (1) calendar year. 254 

 255 

Section 4.   Severability.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion 256 

of this ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of 257 

competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and 258 

independent provision, and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining 259 

portions thereof. 260 

Section 5.   Repeal of Laws in Conflict.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict 261 

herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 262 

Section 6.   Codification.  The sections of the ordinance may be made a part of the City 263 

Code of Laws and ordinances and may be re-numbered or re-lettered to accomplish such, 264 

and the word “ordinance” may be changed to “section”, “division”, or any other appropriate 265 

word. 266 

Section 7.   Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective ten (10) days after 267 

passage. 268 

 269 
The passage of this ordinance on first reading was moved by Commissioner 270 

Hardy, seconded by Commissioner Maxwell, and upon being put to a vote, the vote was 271 

as follows: 272 

 273 

Mayor Pam Triolo AYE 274 
Vice Mayor Andy Amoroso AYE 275 
Commissioner Scott Maxwell AYE 276 
Commissioner Omari Hardy AYE 277 
Commissioner Herman Robinson AYE 278 

 279 

The Mayor thereupon declared this ordinance duly passed on first reading on the 280 

18th day of February, 2020. 281 



Pg. 8, Ord. 2020-02 
 

The passage of this ordinance on second reading was moved by Commissioner 282 

_____________, seconded by Commissioner ___________, and upon being put to a 283 

vote, the vote was as follows: 284 

Mayor Pam Triolo  285 

Vice Mayor Andy Amoroso 286 
Commissioner Scott Maxwell 287 
Commissioner Omari Hardy 288 
Commissioner Herman Robinson 289 

 290 

The Mayor thereupon declared this ordinance duly passed on the ___ day of 291 

__________, 2020. 292 

LAKE WORTH BEACH CITY COMMISSION 293 

 294 

By: __________________________ 295 

 Pam Triolo, Mayor 296 

ATTEST: 297 

 298 

_______________________________ 299 

Deborah M. Andrea, CMC, City Clerk 300 



EXECUTIVE BRIEF 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

 
AGENDA DATE: March 3, 2020  DEPARTMENT: City Attorney 

 

TITLE: 

Ordinance 2020-03 - adopting the official City seal and setting the second reading and public 
hearing for April 7, 2020 

 
SUMMARY: 

Ordinance 2020-03 adopts the official City seal based on the City’s name change to the City of 
Lake Worth Beach, which the official City seal will now reflect.  

 

BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 

On March 12, 2019, a city-wide referendum approved changing the City’s name from the “City 
of Lake Worth” to the “City of Lake Worth Beach”. The City’s new name needs to be reflected 
on the City’s official seal. Pursuant to Section 165.043, Florida Statutes, the City must designate 
its seal by ordinance. Once designated, unauthorized use of the seal is prohibited and 
unauthorized use may be prosecuted as a second degree misdemeanor. If Ordinance 2020-03 
is approved, the City seal will also be registered with the State.  

MOTION: 

Move to approve/disapprove Ordinance 2020-03 adopting the City seal and setting the second 
reading and public hearing for April 7, 2020. 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

Fiscal Impact Analysis- N/A 
Ordinance 2020-03 
 



2020-03 1 
 2 
 3 

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-03 OF THE CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, 4 
FLORIDA, ADOPTING SECTION 1-9 “CITY SEAL” OF CHAPTER 1 5 
“GENERAL PROVISIONS”, TO ADOPT THE CITY OF LAKE WORTH 6 
BEACH CITY SEAL; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, REPEAL OF 7 
LAWS IN CONFLICT, CODIFICATION AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 8 

 9 

 WHEREAS, the City of Lake Worth Beach, Florida (the “City”) is a duly constituted 10 
municipality having such power and authority conferred upon it by the Florida Constitution 11 
and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes; and 12 

 13 
 WHEREAS, the City Commission wishes to protect and control the use of the City’s 14 

seal and section 165.043, Florida Statutes, authorizes the City to adopt an ordinance to 15 
designate a municipal seal; and 16 

 17 
 WHEREAS, once the City has designated its official seal, section 165.043 makes 18 

the unauthorized use of the official seal a second degree misdemeanor; and  19 
 WHEREAS, the City finds that it is also necessary to adopt the City’s seal to reflect 20 
the new name of the City, i.e., City of Lake Worth Beach; and 21 

 22 
 WHEREAS, the City Commission finds that designating and protecting the City’s 23 

official seal is in the best interest of the public health, safety and general welfare of the 24 

City, its residents and visitors. 25 

 26 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 27 

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, FLORIDA, that: 28 

Section 1. The foregoing “WHEREAS” clauses are true and correct and are hereby 29 

ratified and confirmed by the City Commission. 30 

Section 2.   The City Commission adopts Chapter 1, “General Provisions”, Section 1-9, 31 
“City Seal”, as follows (additional language underlined and deleted language stricken 32 
through): 33 

Sec. 1-9. – City seal. 34 
(a) Designation.  The following seal is designated as the official seal of the 35 

City of Lake Worth Beach:  36 
 37 



Pg. 2, Ord. 2020-03 

 38 
(b) Uses. 39 

(1) The manufacture, use, display, or other employment of any facsimile 40 
or reproduction of the official seal is prohibited, except by: 41 
a. City officials and employees in the performance of their official 42 

duties; and 43 

b. Such persons who, or entities that, obtain the prior written 44 
approval of the city commission.   45 

(2) The city commission may adopt, by resolution, a written policy to 46 
address the use of the official seal.  The policy shall not conflict 47 
with this section. 48 

Section 3.   Severability.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion 49 
of this Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of 50 

competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and 51 
independent provision, and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining 52 
portions thereof. 53 
 54 

Section 4.   Repeal of Laws in Conflict.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict 55 
herewith are repealed to the extent of such conflict. 56 

 57 
Section 5.   Codification.  The sections of the ordinance shall be made a part of the City 58 
code of ordinances and may be re-numbered or re-lettered to accomplish such, and the 59 

word “ordinance” may be changed to “section”, “division”, or any other appropriate word. 60 
 61 

Section 6.   Effective Date.  This ordinance shall take effect ten days after its adoption. 62 
 63 

The passage of this ordinance on first reading was moved by 64 
______________________, seconded by ________________________, and upon 65 

being put to a vote, the vote was as follows: 66 
 67 

Mayor Pam Triolo  68 

Vice Mayor Andy Amoroso  69 
Commissioner Scott Maxwell  70 
Commissioner Omari Hardy  71 

Commissioner Herman Robinson  72 
 73 

The Mayor thereupon declared this ordinance duly passed on first reading on the 74 

_______ day of ____________________, 2020. 75 
 76 

The passage of this ordinance on second reading was moved by 77 
_________________, seconded by ________________, and upon being put to a vote, 78 
the vote was as follows: 79 
 80 

Mayor Pam Triolo  81 
Vice Mayor Andy Amoroso  82 

Commissioner Scott Maxwell  83 
Commissioner Omari Hardy  84 
Commissioner Herman Robinson  85 

  86 



Pg. 3, Ord. 2020-03 

 87 

The Mayor thereupon declared this ordinance duly passed on the _______ day of 88 
_____________________, 2020. 89 

 90 
LAKE WORTH BEACH CITY COMMISSION 91 
 92 

 93 
By: __________________________ 94 

Pam Triolo, Mayor 95 
 96 
ATTEST: 97 

 98 
 99 

______________________________ 100 
Deborah M. Andrea, CMC, City Clerk 101 



EXECUTIVE BRIEF 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
AGENDA DATE: February 25, 2020  DEPARTMENT: Electric Utility 

 

TITLE: 

FMPA Solar Project Power Sales Contract Amendment 

 
SUMMARY: 

Amendment to the City’s contract with Florida Municipal Power Agency (“FMPA”) to reflect a 
revised commercial operation date and discounted pricing for the project referred to as FMPA 
Solar I. 

 

BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 

On May 16, 2018, the City entered into a power sales contract (“PSC”) with FMPA pursuant to 
City Commission approval received March 6, 2018.  In turn FMPA entered into a power 
purchase agreement (“PPA”) with Poinsett Solar, LLL (“Seller”), a unit of NextEra Florida 
Renewables, LLC as the developer/owner of the supporting photovoltaic solar energy project 
with a nameplate capacity of 74.5MW, and to be constructed at the Poinsett site in Osceola 
County, Florida. City’s entitlement share in the FMPA project is 10 Megawatts or 13.4% of the 
total project output, with the balance of the entitlement shares committed to other FMPA 
members.   

Attachment A to the City’s PSC with FMPA comprises the PPA between FMPA and Seller.  The 
PSC is proposed to be amended to reflect a new PPA due to a change in date of commercial 
operation of the project from 2020 to 2023. The change in commercial operation date is 
necessitated due to delays in Seller’s ability to obtain a needed interconnection agreement for 
the project with Duke, the local transmission service provider.  Duke is experiencing greater 
than anticipated delays in evaluating and processing interconnection agreements.  The original 
PPA between FMPA and Seller spelled out monetary damages due from Seller upon Seller’s 
delays in achieving milestones, and have been triggered.  

FMPA has negotiated a revised PPA with Seller which results in discounts from the original 
pricing representing $12.1 million (net present value) in discounts to the project participants.  
City’s share of the discount is $1.6 million (net present value), commensurate with its entitlement 
share of 13.4% of the project.  Actual pricing is confidential information to Seller, however the 
City has previously disclosed publicly that the PSC contains a non-escalating energy price of 
less than $40/MWh for a period of twenty (20) years. 

 

MOTION: 

Move to approve/disapprove the amendment to the City’s power sales contract with FMPA to 
reflect the new Attachment A (PPA between FMPA and Poinsett Solar, LLC). 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): 
Fiscal Impact Analysis – N/A 
March 6, 2018 Commission minutes 
Revised contract amendment 



MINUTES
CITY OF LAKE WORTH

REGULAR MEETING OF TIIE CITY COMMISSION
TUESDAY, MARCH 6,2018 - 6:00 PM

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Triolo on the above date at 6:00 PM in the City
Commission Chamber located at City Hall,7 North Dixie Highway, Lake Worth, Florida.

1. ROLL CALL: Present were Mayor Pam Triolo; Vice Mayor Scott Maxwell; and

Commissioners Omari Hardy, Andy Arnoroso and Herman Robinson. Also present were

City Manager Michael Bornstein, City Attorney Glen Torcivia and City Clerk Deborah

Andrea.

2. INVOCATION OR MOMENT OF SILENCE: by Pastor Carlos Betancourt from Church

of God on behalf of Vice Mayor Scott Maxwell.

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: led by Commissioner Herman Robinson.

4. AGENDA. letions/Reorderins

Item N was deleted from the Consent agenda and moved to New Business Item B. Item 4 of
the Lake Worth Electric Utility (LWEU) Consent Agenda was moved to Item 2 New
Business.

Action: Motion made by Vice Mayor Maxwell and seconded by Commissioner Amoroso to approve

the agenda as amended.

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Maxwell and Commissioners Hardy,

Amoroso and Robinson. NAYS: None.

5. PRESENTATIONS: (there is no public comment on Presentation items)

A. Proclamation regarding National Surveyors Week
Mayor Triolo read the proclamation and presented it to Jim Sullivan, Florida Surveying

and Mapping Society District 6 Director

6, COMMISSION LIAISON REPORTS IND COMMENT&

Commissioner Robinson: thanked the staff who made the City look great for the Street

Painting and Finnish Festivals. He spoke about the upcoming meeting regarding the beach

complex and requested that residents would present their ideas. He urged the Commission to

ask the State representatives to changc thc gun laws.

Amoroso attended the Palm Beach County League of Cities and BDB
meetings at the new campus in the Glades to the Tullis Site where recycled products were

made from sugar cane. He announced the St. Patrick's Day Parade and Easter egg hunt
which would need volunteers He said that the gay pride flag had been raised tonight and

there would be a huge event next week at Bryant Park.



Pg. 9, Regular Meeting, 3/6/18

but some island operations (this is when the City is isolated from FPL) would have to be

delayed. He reported that the 138kV switch did not open which would result in the
power having to be shut off tonight in order to have it operational. He said that there

would be benchmarking of electric utility performance and the street lights restoration
was progressing well.

B. CONSENT AGENDA:

Action: Motion made by Commissioner Hardy and seconded by Commissioner Amoroso to approve

the Consent Agenda.

1) Agreement with TEAMWORKnet, Inc. for electrical engineering design and

protective relay rnodeling services

2) Agreement with E.C. Fennell, P.A. for electrical engineering design and electric
system modeling services

3) Approval of Agreement with Utility Financial Solutions, LLC for additional rate

consulting services

4) (Moved to New Business 2) Ratification of Emergency Purchase from Service

Electric Company (SEC)

5) Approval of current fiscal year purchases exceeding $25,000 to A.R.E. Utility
Construction, lnc.

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Maxwell and Commissioners
Hardy, Amoroso and Robinson. NAYS: None.

C. PUBLIC HEARING:
There were no Lake Worth Electric Utility Public Hearing items on the agenda.

D. NEW BUSINESS:

l) Participation in the Florida Municipal Power Agency (FMPA) Solar Energy Project

Action Motion made by Commissioner Hardy and seconded by Commissioner Amoroso to
approve participation in the Florida Municipal Power Agency Solar Energy Project.

Ed Liberty, Electric Utility Director, reported that the FMPA began this project as a
public effort to get contractors to developers and would provide administrative service to
the project. He said that the seller would be NextEra and there will be multiple buyers;

the City would own a unit of renewable energy credit with a contract price for the2}-year
term beginning in June 2020 of approximately four cents a kilowatt hour.

Comments/requests summary:



Vote:

Action

Pg. 10, Regular Meeting, 3/6/18

1. Commissioner Amoroso asked about the cost for the life of the project.

Mr. Liberty replied that the price would remain the same.

2. Commissioner Hardy asked about the cost savings per kilowatt hour and what would
keep the City from purchasing more. He also asked how likely it would be to have
this in the future.

Mr. Liberty replied that as the technology would advance, the City might be able to
purchase more in the future and that the cost was about $1.70 a megawatt hour which
was well below the residential rate and the savings would range from half to one and
a half million dollars per year based on the current energy costs.

3. Mayor Triolo asked about the OUC contract.

Mr. Liberty responded that some of the City's power would be supplied by solar
power which would provide five to six percent of our renewable energy. He
presented particulars of the project such as the participants and the requested
entitlements. He also spoke about the tax credits involved.

Jacob Williams, FMPA General Manager and CEO, explained that the tax credit
would sunset if construction had not begun by 2020 so time was short by which to do
an additional project.

Mayor Triolo announced that this was the time for public comment.

Peggy Fisher said that the Electric Utility Advisory Board (EUAB) had discussed the
issue and had received the most recent documents. She read Lisa Maxwell's comments
which read that the EUAB had not read nor reviewed this document.

Mr. Liberty commented that the EUAB reviewed previous documents;the documents had
only minor changes and updates would be given to the EUAB.

Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Maxwell and Commissioners Hardy,
Amoroso and Robinson. NAYS: None.

2) (moved from Item 4 on the LWEU Consent Agenda) Ratification of Emergency
Purchase from Service Electric Company (SEC)

NO MOTION NOR SECOND was made to approve the Ratification of Emergency
Purchase from Service Electric Company (SEC).

Comments/requests summary:

1. Commissioner Amoroso requested that Mr. Liberty would speak about any items
involving more than a million dollars and asked what the emergency had been.



Pg. 11, Regular Meeting, 3/6/18

Mr. Liberty replied that the GT 2 failed and required an emergency repair. He said an

emergency crew required to work on hot lines avoiding island ops; the result was that
the number of island ops was reduced and the City saved fuel dollars. He reported
that the contractors were nationally known experts and the City was not able to
complete the work.

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Maxwell and Commissioners Hardy,
Arnoroso and Robinson. NAYS: None.

13. RNEYIS REPO

City Attorney Torcivia did not provide a report.

14. CITY MANA IS RF],PORT:

City Manager Bornstein did not provide a report.

15. ADJOURNMENT:

Action: Motion made by Commissioner Hardy and seconded by Commissioner Amoroso to adjourn
the meeting at 8:59 PM.

Vote: Voice vote showed: AYES: Mayor Triolo, Vice Mayor Maxwell and Commissioners
Hardy, Amoroso and Robinson. NAYS: None.

P yor
ATTEST:

Andrea, City

Minutes Approved: April 3, 201 8

A digital audio recording of this meeting will be available in the Office of the City Clerk.

ORl
p
I

It

?

g

i.
'i\

tL4

o
w{

F'I-

*ii:



  

 

 

   

  

 

  

Solar Project
 

Power Sales Contract
 

Between
 

Florida Municipal Power Agency, Solar
 

Power Project
 

and
 

The City of Lake Worth, Florida
 



 

 

 

 
 

   

            

       

      

      

       

        

              
        

        

     

         

     

          

       

       

       

           

        

       

             

             
  

         

         

       

     

       

 

 

5

10

15

20

25

TABLE OF CONTENTS
 

SECTION 1. Definitions and Explanations of Terms. As used herein:.................................................. 2
 

SECTION 2. Term & Termination. ........................................................................................................ 3
 

SECTION 3. Sale and Purchase.............................................................................................................. 4
 

SECTION 4. Project Budget................................................................................................................... 4
 

SECTION . Billing, Payment, Disputed Amounts................................................................................ 5
 

SECTION 6. Scheduling of Deliveries; Transmission. .......................................................................... 6
 

SECTION 7. Solar Project PPA Early Termination and Term Extension, other Solar Project PPA
 
Business Matters, and Solar Project Committee ........................................................................................... 6
 

SECTION 8. Availability of Entitlement Shares. ................................................................................... 7
 

SECTION 9. Accounting. ....................................................................................................................... 7
 

SECTION . Information to be Made Available. ............................................................................... 8
 

SECTION 11. Covenants...................................................................................................................... 8
 

SECTION 12. Event of Default – Project Participant. ......................................................................... 9
 

SECTION 13. Default by FMPA........................................................................................................ 10
 

SECTION 14. Abandonment of Remedy. .......................................................................................... 10
 

SECTION . Waiver of Default........................................................................................................ 10
 

SECTION 16. Relationship to and Compliance with Other Instruments. .......................................... 10
 

SECTION 17. Measurement of Electric Energy................................................................................. 10
 

SECTION 18. Liability of Parties....................................................................................................... 11
 

SECTION 19. Assignment or Sale of Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share. ........................ 11
 

SECTION . Consent to Assignment of Power Sales Contract, Sale of Project Participant's System.
 
12
 

SECTION 21. Termination or Amendment of Contract..................................................................... 12
 

SECTION 22. Notice and Computation of Time................................................................................ 12
 

SECTION 23. Applicable Law; Construction. ................................................................................... 13
 

SECTION 24. Severability. ................................................................................................................ 13
 

SECTION . Solar Project Responsibility........................................................................................ 13
 

i
 



 

 

 

 

  

   

                     
               

                   
             

 

               
                  

             

             
            

                  
                    

                   
             

            
             

                
       

             
                  
                

             
          

                
                

                   
                

           

                  
                

               
                
                    

               
                  

    

                 
                 

              
        

SOLAR PROJECT 

POWER SALES CONTRACT 

This POWER SALES CONTRACT is made and entered into as of May 16, 2018, by and 
between FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY, a legal entity organized under the laws of the State 
of Florida ("FMPA") and the City of Lake Worth, Florida, a public agency of the State of Florida and 
member of FMPA who has executed this Power Sales Contract (the "Project Participant"). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, FMPA was created to, among other things, provide a means for the Florida municipal 
corporations and other entities which are members of FMPA to cooperate with each other on a basis of 
mutual advantage to provide Electric Energy generated by solar generating facilities; and 

WHEREAS, FMPA is authorized and empowered, among other things, (i) to plan, finance, 
acquire, construct, reconstruct, own, lease, operate, maintain, repair, improve, extend or otherwise 
participate jointly in one or more electric projects; (ii) to issue its bonds, notes or other evidences of 
indebtedness to pay all or part of the costs of acquiring such electric projects; and (iii) to exercise all other 
powers which may be necessary and proper to further the Purposes of FMPA which have been or may be 
granted to FMPA under the laws of the State of Florida; and; 

WHEREAS, NextEra Florida Renewables, Inc., including its successors or assigns, (“Seller”) is 
developing a solar photovoltaic single-axis tracking electric generating facility having a nameplate capacity 
of 74.5 MW alternating current (“ac”), which will be designed, financed, constructed and operated by Seller 
in Osceola County, Florida (“Solar Facility”); and 

WHEREAS, FMPA will enter into a Power Purchase Agreement between Seller and FMPA 
(“Solar Project PPA”), a copy of which is attached to this Power Sales Contract as “Attachment A,” and 
FMPA will purchase and receive a portion of the as-available net Electric Energy output and associated 
Renewable Energy Attributes and Facility Attributes produced by Solar Facility (referred to cumulatively 
in this Power Sales Contract as the “Solar Product”); and 

WHEREAS, FMPA will take or cause to be taken all steps necessary for delivery to Project 
Participant and the other Project Participants of their respective share of the Solar Product produced from 
or attributable to the Solar Facility and delivered to FMPA under the Solar Project PPA, and will sell the 
Solar Product from the Solar Facility pursuant to this Power Sales Contract and pursuant to contracts 
substantially similar to this contract with such other Project Participants; and 

WHEREAS, the execution of the Solar Project PPA for the supply of Solar Product produced by 
or attributable to the Solar Facility to the Project Participant and the other Project Participants contracting 
with FMPA therefor has been authorized by the Interlocal Agreement Creating the Florida Municipal Power 
Agency, as amended to date and as such Interlocal Agreement has been supplemented by a resolution 
adopted by the Board of FMPA at a meeting duly called and duly held on March 21, 2018, which Interlocal 
Agreement, as so amended and supplemented, constitutes "an agreement to implement a project" and a 
"joint power agreement" for the Solar Project, as such terms are used in Chapter 361, Part II, Florida 
Statutes, as amended; and 

WHEREAS, in order to pay the cost of acquiring the Solar Product produced by or attributable to 
the Solar Facility under the Solar Project PPA, it is necessary for FMPA to have substantially similar 
binding contracts with the Project Participant and such other Project Participants purchasing Solar Product 
produced by or attributable to the Solar Facility. 



 

 

 

 
 

             
            

          

              
                  
                   

             

                
                

                  
                

                  
          

                 
                   

         

                
 

            

                

       

                  
            

                
        

           

               

      

                
                 

            

             

                  

               
                 

                  
                 

  

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein 
contained, it is agreed by and between the parties hereto as follows: 

SECTION 1. Definitions and Explanations of Terms. As used herein: 

Allocable A&G Costs shall mean administrative and general costs incurred by FMPA that have 
been allocated to the Solar Project by the FMPA Board of Directors. The initial allocation of Allocable 
A&G Costs is attached to this Power Sales Contract as “Attachment B,” as it may be amended from time 
to time at the discretion of the FMPA Board of Directors. 

Annual Budget means the budget adopted by the Board of FMPA pursuant to paragraph (a) of 
SECTION 4 hereof which itemizes the estimated Monthly Energy Costs and Project Related Costs for the 
following Contract Year, or, in the case of an amended Annual Budget adopted by the Board of FMPA, 
during the remainder of a Contract Year, and the Project Participant's share, if any, of each. 

Board shall mean the Board of Directors of FMPA, or if said Board shall be abolished, the board, 
body, commission or agency succeeding to the principal functions thereof. 

Contract Year shall mean the twelve (12) month period commencing at 12:01 a.m. on October 1 of 
each year, except that the first Contract Year shall commence on 12:01 a.m. on October 1, 2018, and shall 
expire at 12:01 a.m. the next succeeding October 1. 

Discretionary Term Decision shall have the meaning set forth in SECTION 7(a) of this Power Sales 
Contract. 

Downgrade Event shall have the meaning set forth in the Solar PPA. 

Effective Date shall have the meaning set forth in SECTION 2 of this Power Sales Contract. 

Electric Energy shall mean kilowatt hours (kWh). 

Energy Price means the price ($/MWh) to be paid by FMPA under the Solar Project PPA for Solar 
Product produced by the Solar Facility and delivered by Seller to FMPA. 

Energy Share shall mean FMPA's 17.544% share under the Solar Project PPA in the Solar Product 
produced by or associated with the Solar Facility. 

Facility Attributes has the meaning given in the Solar Project PPA. 

Initial Energy Delivery Date shall have the meaning provided for in the Solar Project PPA. 

Month shall mean a calendar month. 

Monthly Energy Costs shall mean, with respect to each Month of each Contract Year, the product 
of (i) the Energy Price and (ii) the quantity of Solar Product delivered by Seller to FMPA. 

Network Upgrades shall have the meaning set forth in the Solar PPA. 

Network Upgrade Costs shall have the meaning set forth in the Solar PPA. 

Point of Delivery shall mean the high side of the generator step-up transformer of the Solar Facility. 

Power Sales Contracts shall mean this Power Sales Contract and the other Power Sales Contracts, 
dated the date hereof, between FMPA and the other Project Participants, all relating to the Solar Project 
PPA and Solar Facility, as the same may be amended from time to time, and any substantially similar 
contract entered into by FMPA in connection with any transfer or assignment in accordance with this Power 
Sales Contract. 

2
 



 

 

 

 
 

               
                

                  
 

                
                 

             
              

              
                  

             

              
      

           

             
                   

  

               

              
                 
                  

  

              
                  
      

                

                

                

                 

             
   

             
                

               

               
                 

                  
                 

         

     

Project Development Fund Costs shall mean those costs incurred by FMPA and funded by the 
FMPA Project Development Fund used for the establishment of the FMPA Solar Project. The Project 
Development Fund Costs as of the Effective Date are set forth in Attachment D of this Power Sales 
Contract. 

Project Related Costs shall mean the costs incurred under the Solar Project PPA other than Monthly 
Energy Costs, as well as any other costs incurred by FMPA directly attributable to the Solar Project, 
including, without limitation, Allocable A&G Costs, Network Upgrade Costs, an amount to reimburse 
FMPA Project Development Fund Costs, a Working Capital Allowance, any costs associated with real-time 
monitoring of the output from the Solar Facility to facilitate Project Participants’ transmission scheduling 
requirements, any credit or payment assurance amounts that may be required under the Solar PPA due to a 
Downgrade Event, as such term is defined in the Solar PPA, among others. 

Project Participants shall mean the parties, including the Project Participant, other than FMPA, to 
Power Sales Contracts substantially similar hereto. 

Renewable Attributes has the meaning given in the Solar Project PPA. 

Schedule of Project Participants shall mean the Schedule of Project Participants contained in 
Schedule 1 hereto, as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the 
provisions hereof. 

Seller shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals of this Power Sales Contract. 

Solar Entitlement Share shall mean, with respect to each project Participant, that percentage of 
FMPA's Energy Share from the Solar Facility shown opposite the name of such Project Participant in the 
Schedule of Project Participants as the same may be adjusted from time to time in accordance with the 
provisions hereof. 

Solar Project shall mean the contractual arrangements and agreements for the purchase of Solar 
Product by FMPA pursuant to the Solar Project PPA and sale of the Solar Product to Project Participant 
pursuant to this Power Sales Contract. 

Solar Project Committee has the meaning set forth in SECTION 7 of this Power Sales Contract. 

Solar Facility shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Power Sales Contract. 

Solar Product shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Power Sales Contract. 

Solar Project PPA shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Power Sales Contract. 

Transmission Service Provider shall mean the transmission service provider(s) to which the Solar 
Facility is interconnected. 

Uniform System of Accounts shall mean the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (or its 
successor in function) Uniform Systems of Accounts prescribed for Class A and Class B Public Utilities 
and Licensees, as the same may be modified, amended or supplemented from time to time. 

Working Capital Allowance shall mean funds acquired by the Solar Project in such amounts as 
shall be deemed reasonably necessary by the FMPA Board of Directors to provide for any working capital 
needs, including providing for the Solar Project’s ability to pay the Seller in the event of non-payment by 
one or more Project Participants. The initial Working Capital Allowance and the method of funding is 
described in “Attachment C” to this Power Sales Contract. 

SECTION 2. Term & Termination. 

3
 



 

 

 

 
 

                
                
                
                

               
               
               

                 
                 

              
              

 

             
        

     

               
                   

               
               

                
                 

                
            

                
      

    

             
                

                    
              
              

                   
                

                 
               

                
       

               
                     

               
                    

               
                

                
               

(a) Effective Date. This Power Sales Contract shall become effective upon the last date of 
execution and delivery of all Power Sales Contracts by all Project Participants originally listed in the 
Schedule of Project Participants and by FMPA (the “Effective Date”) and shall, unless this Power Sales 
Contract is terminated early pursuant hereto, continue until the expiration or earlier termination of the Solar 
Project PPA. Unless a Project Participant terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 19(a) by paying 
all stranded cost obligations, neither termination nor expiration of this Power Sales Contract shall affect 
any accrued liability or obligation hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event it is ultimately 
determined that any other Project Participant failed to duly and validly execute and deliver its Power Sales 
Contract, or if any other Power Sales Contract, or any portion thereof, shall be deemed invalid or 
unenforceable for any other reason whatsoever, such determination shall in no way affect the 
commencement, term or enforceability of this Power Sales Contract or the Project Participant's obligations 
hereunder. 

(b) Early Termination. Project Participant may terminate this Power Sales Contract pursuant 
to SECTION 19 of this Power Sales Contract. 

SECTION 3. Sale and Purchase. 

Commencing on the Initial Energy Delivery Date of the Solar Facility, FMPA shall purchase from 
Seller in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Solar Project PPA, and FMPA agrees to and does 
sell, and the Project Participant agrees to and does hereby purchase, the Project Participant's Solar 
Entitlement Share. The Project Participant shall, in accordance with and subject to the provisions of 
SECTION 5 hereof, pay FMPA (i) for its Solar Entitlement Share, an amount determined by multiplying 
Monthly Energy Costs by the Project Participant’s Solar Entitlement Share, and (ii) for its share of monthly 
Project Related Costs, an amount determined by multiplying the Project Related Costs for such Month by 
Project Participant’s Solar Entitlement Share. FMPA shall provide documentation evidencing the 
conveyance of the Renewable Attributes associated with the Solar Product to Project Participant in a form 
acceptable to FMPA and Project Participant. 

SECTION 4. Project Budget. 

(a) In accordance with the FMPA Board of Directors’ annual schedule for budget 
development, the Solar Project Committee shall develop and approve a budget for the Solar Project and 
submit the same to the FMPA Board of Directors for approval. As part of the budget process, the Solar 
Project Committee will review Project Related Costs, including the Allocable A&G and the Working 
Capital Allowance, to ensure the appropriate amount of resources are allocated the Solar Project. 

(b) On or before August 1, 2019, and on or before August 1 prior to the beginning of each 
Contract Year thereafter, the Board of FMPA shall review the proposed Solar Project budget submitted by 
the Solar Project Committee, and shall adopt and submit to the Project Participant an Annual Budget for 
the following Contract Year which shall provide an estimate of the Project Participant's monthly payments 
hereunder and serve as a basis for Project Participants' payments hereunder for Monthly Energy Costs and 
Project Related Costs for such Contract Year. 

(c) During each Contract Year, the Solar Project Committee or Board may review its Annual 
Budget for the remainder of the Contract Year at any time as it shall deem desirable. In the event such or 
any other review indicates that such Annual Budget will not substantially correspond with actual Monthly 
Energy Costs, or actual Project Related Costs, or if at any time during such Contract Year there are or are 
expected to be extraordinary receipts, credits or costs substantially affecting the Monthly Energy Costs, or 
Project Related Costs, the Solar Project Committee shall recommend and the Board of FMPA shall adopt 
and submit to each Project Participant an amended Annual Budget applicable to the remainder of such 
Contract Year which shall provide an estimate of the Project Participant's monthly payments hereunder for 

4
 



 

 

 

 
 

                 
                

      

                  
               
                 

                   
                     

               
                    

                 
               

       

                     
                     

                 
                   

                  

                 
                 

                   
                   

                    
                

                 
               

                
                

                    
                  

  

                
               

                
                

                 
                

                  
              

                
                   

                
                 

                    
                 

                 

the remainder of such Contract Year and serve as the basis for the Project Participant's monthly payments 
for Monthly Energy Costs and Project Related Costs hereunder for the remainder of such Contract Year. 

SECTION 5. Billing, Payment, Disputed Amounts. 

(a) On or before the 10th day of each Month beginning with the second Month of the first 
Contract Year following the Effective Date, FMPA shall render to the Project Participant a monthly 
statement showing, in each case with respect to the prior Month, the amounts payable by Project Participant 
in respect of the following (i) the Monthly Energy Costs; (ii) the Project Related Costs; and (iii) any amount, 
if any, to be credited to or paid by the Project Participant pursuant to the terms of this Power Sales Contract. 

(b) Monthly payments required to be paid to FMPA pursuant to this SECTION 5SECTION 4 
shall be due and payable to FMPA on the 25th day of the Month in which the monthly statement was 
rendered. The Project Participant shall make payment to FMPA by the transfer of funds from the Project 
Participant’s bank account, using an ACH Push or domestic Wire Transfer, through instructions to be 
provided by FMPA to the Project Participant. 

(c) If payment in full is not made on or before the close of business on the due date, a delayed 
payment charge on the unpaid amount due for each day overdue will be imposed at a rate equal to the annual 
percentage prime rate of interest plus 5%, or the maximum rate lawfully payable by the Project Participant, 
whichever is less. If said due date is Saturday, Sunday or a holiday, the next following business day shall 
be the last day on which payment may be made without the addition of the delayed payment charge. 

(d) In the event of any dispute that is known by Project Participant, or should have reasonably 
been known, as to any portion of any monthly statement, the Project Participant shall nevertheless pay the 
full amount of such disputed charges when due and shall give written notice of such dispute to FMPA not 
later than the date such payment is due. Such notice shall identify the disputed bill, state the amount in 
dispute and set forth a full statement of the grounds on which such dispute is based. No adjustment shall be 
considered or made for disputed charges unless notice is given as aforesaid. FMPA shall give consideration 
to such dispute and shall advise the Project Participant with regard to its position relative thereto within 
thirty (30) days following receipt of such written notice. Upon final determination (whether by agreement, 
adjudication or otherwise) of the correct amount, any difference between such correct amount and such full 
amount shall be properly reflected in the statement next submitted to the Project Participant after such 
determination. If it is determined that the disputed amount is in the favor of the Participant, to the extent 
that FMPA earned any interest on the amount withheld, then interest actually earned shall be applied to the 
overpaid amount. 

(e) The obligation of the Project Participant to make the payments under this SECTION 5 shall 
constitute an obligation of the Project Participant payable as an operating expense of the Project 
Participant's electric utility system solely from the revenues and other available funds of the electric utility 
system. The obligation of the Project Participant to make payments under this Power Sales Contract shall 
not be subject to any reduction, whether by offset, counterclaim, or otherwise, and shall not be otherwise 
conditioned upon performance of FMPA or Seller under the Solar Project PPA or the performance by 
FMPA under this or any other agreement or instrument or the validity or enforceability of any other Power 
Sales Contract or any other agreement between FMPA and any other Project Participant; provided, 
however, that the Monthly Energy Costs payable by Project Participant shall reflect the quantity of Solar 
Product made available by the Seller at the Point of Delivery, and payable by FMPA under the Solar Project 
PPA, during that month. The obligation of the Project Participant to make payments under this SECTION 
5SECTION 4 shall not constitute a debt of the Project Participant within the meaning of any constitutional 
or statutory provision or limitation or a general obligation of or pledge of the full faith and credit of the 
Project Participant, and neither the Project Participant nor the State of Florida or any agency or political 
subdivision thereof shall ever be obligated or compelled to levy ad valorem taxes to make the revenues 

5
 



 

 

 

 
 

                 
                     

         

      

               
               

               
                 

              
                 

                   
              

               
       

            
                  

           
              

                 
                
                  
              

               

                  
                  

               

            

        

               
                   

                 
            

                
               

                    
               

                
                  

                   
                     

                 
                

               
                  

                
                

provided for in this SECTION 5, and the obligation of the Project Participant to make payments pursuant 
to this SECTION 5 shall not give rise to or constitute a lien upon any property of the Project Participant or 
any property located within its boundaries or service area. 

SECTION 6. Scheduling of Deliveries; Transmission. 

(a) FMPA shall cause Seller, or Seller’s agent, to schedule and deliver FMPA's Energy Share 
to the Point(s) of Delivery in accordance with standard scheduling and dispatching procedures. Unless 
otherwise agreed to in writing by FMPA and Project Participant, Project Participant shall be responsible 
for scheduling the delivery of its Solar Entitlement Share of Electric Energy, as well as the associated 
transmission service, from the Point(s) of Delivery to Project Participant’s electric system. Upon request, 
FMPA, or its agent, shall provide such Project Participant with the Seller’s daily forecasted output of the 
Solar Facility as provided by Seller pursuant to the Solar Project PPA. FMPA, or its agent, shall maintain 
communication with the Project Participant regarding Solar Facility forecasts and real-time output in order 
to enable Project Participant to modify its transmission schedules with its transmission service provider to 
align with the Solar Facility’s actual output. 

(b) Project Participant shall be responsible for securing transmission service necessary to 
deliver the Solar Energy from the Point of Delivery to Project Participant’s electric system. To the extent 
this transmission service requires upgrades to Project Participant’s transmission service provider’s 
transmission system, Project Participant shall be responsible for ensuring all upgrades are complete and 
Project Participant is able to receive its Solar Entitlement Share prior to the Initial Energy Delivery Date, 
as defined in the Solar PPA, or otherwise arrange for alternative transmission arrangement for, or disposal 
of, its Solar Entitlement Share until such time as Project Participant can receive it. Project Participant shall 
be responsible for enforcing its rights under its transmission service agreement(s) and its transmission 
service provider’s OATT regarding the transmission service provider’s obligation to make such upgrades. 

(c) All of the provisions of this SECTION 6 are subject to the provisions of the Solar Project 
PPA, and in the event of any inconsistencies between this SECTION 6 and the provisions of the Solar 
Project PPA governing scheduling, the terms of the Solar Project PPA shall govern. 

SECTION 7. Solar Project PPA Early Termination and Term Extension, other Solar 

Project PPA Business Matters, and Solar Project Committee 

(a) The Solar PPA includes several provisions that allow the Solar Project to exercise 
discretion regarding whether to extend the Term of the Solar PPA or to continue the existing Term of the 
Solar PPA despite a triggering event under the terms of the Solar PPA that permit early termination 
(hereinafter referred to as “Discretionary Term Decisions”). Such Discretionary Term Decisions may 
include, for example but without limitation, options for early termination of the Solar PPA if certain 
conditions precedent are not met, options for early termination where Network Upgrade Costs that exceed 
the threshold provided for under the Solar PPA, and for extension of the Term of the Solar PPA beyond the 
Initial Term. Project Participant and all other Project Participants will each designate a representative to 
serve on the Solar Project Committee. The Committee will meet in advance of any Discretionary Term 
Decisions provided for under the Solar PPA, and as FMPA or any Project Participant may request, with 30 
day advance Notice (or less if the matter at hand so requires). The Solar Project Committee shall meet not 
less than 180 days prior to the expiration of the Initial Term, or a Renewal Term, if any, to decide whether 
to extend the Term of the Solar PPA. In making any Discretionary Term Decision, the Solar Project 
Committee will vote on the matter. If the Solar Project Committee unanimously decides to exercise a 
Discretionary Term Decision, then such unanimous consent shall be presented to the FMPA Board of 
Directors as a recommendation for action on the matter. If one or more Solar Project Participants do not 
wish to exercise a Discretionary Term Decision, then the other Solar Project Participants may elect to 
assume the Solar Entitlement Share of those Project Participant(s) that do not wish to exercise the 

6
 



 

 

 

 
 

             
               
                 

                
               

             
                

                
                

             

                
                   
               

                 
               

                  
              

                 
                

                 
                  

                  
                 

                   
                  

                  
               

                
              

      

                
                

                
                 
                 

 

   

               
                

                
                    

               
                 

                
          

Discretionary Term Decision. In such event, the non-exercising Project Participant(s)’ Solar Project Power 
Sales Contract shall be terminated, and the Power Sales Contract of the assuming Project Participant(s)’ 
shall be amended to reflect the revised Solar Entitlement Shares. In the event that the Project Participant(s) 
that wish to exercise the Discretionary Term Decision cannot agree to assume 100% of the terminating 
Project Participant(s)’ Solar Entitlement Share, then the Discretionary Term Decision shall not be exercised. 

(b) All other, non-Discretionary Term Decisions made by the Solar Project Committee shall 
be by a simple majority, with each Project Participant having one equally-weighted vote on Solar Project 
matters. After formation of the Solar Project, each Project Participant shall designate a representative to 
serve on the Solar Project Committee. The Solar Project Committee shall develop a Solar Project 
Committee Charter for review and approval of the Board of Directors. 

(c) Pursuant to the Solar Project PPA, Seller is required, at its sole expense, to interconnect 
the Solar Facility to the transmission system at the Point of Delivery, as defined in the Solar Project PPA. 
To the extent that Network Upgrades are necessary in order to obtain Network Resource Interconnection 
Service for the Solar Facility from the Transmission Service Provider, the Solar Project may be required to 
fund such Network Upgrades. Such funding entitles the Solar Project to reimbursement from the 
Transmission Service Provider in the form of transmission credits for service related to the Solar Facility. 
In the event that the Transmission Service Provider’s required transmission system studies identify Network 
Upgrades, the Solar Project Committee shall meet to determine, consistent with the terms of the Solar PPA, 
whether to fund such Network Upgrades, how to fund the Network Upgrades, and how to appropriately 
apply the credits that the Solar Project will receive from the Transmission Service Provider in order to 
reimburse funds used for the Network Upgrades. This funding plan will be submitted to the FMPA Board 
of Directors for approval. In the event that the Solar Project Committee elects to fund such Network 
Upgrades, as approved by the Board of Directors, the costs associated with such funding shall be included 
in the Project Related Costs billable to the Project Participants. In the event that one or more Project 
Participants do not desire to fund Network Upgrades in excess of the threshold provided for in the Solar 
PPA, then the step-up option and termination rights provided for in SECTION 7(a) shall apply. To the 
extent a Project Participant funds Network Upgrades and assigns to FMPA the Project Participant’s right 
to receive a refund from the Transmission Provider, FMPA shall refund such Project Participant the value 
of the refund credits as they are received by FMPA from its transmission provider. 

SECTION 8. Availability of Entitlement Shares. 

Except as provided otherwise by this Power Sales Contract, and subject to the provisions of the 
Solar Project PPA, the Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share shall be made available by FMPA in 
accordance with this Power Sales Contract during the term of this Power Sales Contract; provided, however, 
that, regardless of the amount of Solar Product actually delivered in any given month, Project Participant 
shall be obligated to make its payments under SECTION 5 hereof all for non-energy related Project Related 
Costs. 

SECTION 9. Accounting. 

(a) FMPA agrees to keep accurate records and accounts relating to the Solar Project and 
relating to Monthly Energy Costs, and Project Related Costs, in accordance with the Uniform System of 
Accounts, separate and distinct from its other records and accounts. Said accounts shall be audited annually, 
which audit may be conducted as part of and in connection with the normal year-end audit of FMPA, by a 
firm of certified public accountants, experienced in public finance and electric utility accounting and of 
national reputation, to be employed by FMPA. A copy of each annual audit, including all written comments 
and recommendations of such accountants, shall be furnished by FMPA to the Project Participant not later 
than 120 days after the end of each Contract Year. 

7
 



 

 

 

 
 

               
              

                 
           

       

                 
                

    

        

             
  

            

              
              

              
        

              
                 

                 
               

                 
     

   

              
                 

               
                  

                   
               

                
                   

                 
               

                    
               

        

             
              

                
       

              
                

              

(b) The Project Participant shall supply to FMPA upon request a copy of the Project 
Participant’s annual financial audit. Project Participant shall notify FMPA in writing immediately upon 
becoming aware of any event that may negatively affect the Project Participant’s credit rating or cause a 
Downgrade Event, as defined in the Solar Project PPA. 

SECTION 10. Information to be Made Available. 

(a) Based, in each case, upon the data most recently available to FMPA pursuant to the Solar 
Project PPA, at intervals requested by Project Participant, FMPA will prepare and issue to the Project 
Participant the following reports: 

(1) status of the Solar Project annual budget, 

(2) status of construction of the Solar Facility during construction, as received from 
Seller, and 

(3) operating statistics relating to Solar Project, as received from Seller 

(b) Upon request, FMPA shall furnish or otherwise make available to the Project Participant 
all other information which FMPA receives from Seller pursuant to the Solar Project PPA. 

(c) FMPA shall promptly provide Project Participant copies of any notices made or received 
by FMPA pursuant to the Solar Project PPA. 

(d) Project Participant shall, upon request, furnish to FMPA all such information as is 
reasonably required by FMPA to carry out its obligations under this Power Sales Contract and the Solar 
Project PPA. As the Solar Project is obligated to demonstrate creditworthiness as a requirement of the 
Solar Project PPA and report to Seller any Downgrade Event, Project Participants will cooperate with 
FMPA and will promptly notify FMPA of any event experienced by Project Participant that may cause or 
contribute to a Downgrade Event. 

SECTION 11. Covenants. 

(a) Project Participant Covenants. Project Participant agrees (1) to maintain its electric utility 
system in good repair and operating condition; (2) to cooperate with FMPA in the performance of the 
respective obligations of such Project Participant and FMPA under this Power Sales Contract; (3) to 
establish, levy and collect rents, rates and other charges for the products and services provided by its electric 
utility system, which rents, rates, and other charges shall be at least sufficient (i) to meet the operation and 
maintenance expenses of such electric utility system, (ii) to comply with all covenants pertaining thereto 
contained in, and all other provisions of, any resolution, trust indenture, or other security agreement relating 
to any bonds or other evidences of indebtedness issued or to be issued by the Project Participant, (iii) to 
generate funds sufficient to fulfill the terms of all other contracts and agreements made by the Project 
Participant, including, without limitation, this Power Sales Contract, and (iv) to pay all other amounts 
payable from or constituting a lien or charge on the revenues of its electric utility system; and (4) take such 
action and execute and deliver all documents and information reasonably necessary to enable FMPA to 
perform its obligations under the Solar Project PPA. 

Project Participant agrees that any power purchase agreement entered into by Project Participant 
after the Effective Date of this Power Sales Contract, including, without limitation, any full-requirements 
power supply agreement, with any third party shall permit Project Participant to purchase and receive Solar 
Product pursuant to this Power Sales Contract. 

(b) FMPA Covenants. FMPA covenants that it shall administer and enforce against the Seller 
the terms and conditions of the Solar PPA, including complying with any covenants required therein, as 
advised by the Solar Project Committee and directed by the FMPA Board of Directors. 

8
 



 

 

 

 
 

        

                 
                  

   

                
                    

                 
                 
                

              
                 

                 
                
                

 

                
                

               
                 

              

              
              

                
            

                
              

              
              

  

              
              
               

             
              
             

              

             
             

                 
               

              
                

             
              

               
            

SECTION 12. Event of Default – Project Participant. 

(a) Failure of the Project Participant to make to FMPA when due any of the payments for 
which provision is made in this Power Sales Contract shall constitute an immediate default on the part of 
the Project Participant. 

(b) Continuing Obligation, Right to Discontinue Service. In the event of any default referred 
to in this SECTION 12 hereof, the Project Participant shall not be relieved of its liability for payment of the 
amounts in default, plus reasonable attorney’s fees and costs, and FMPA shall have the right to recover 
from the Project Participant any amount in default. In enforcement of any such right of recovery, FMPA 
may bring any suit, action, or proceeding in law or in equity, including mandamus, injunction, specific 
performance, declaratory judgment, or any combination thereof, as may be necessary or appropriate to 
enforce any covenant, agreement or obligation to make any payment for which provision is made in this 
Power Sales Contract against the Project Participant, and FMPA shall, upon ten (10) days written notice to 
the Project Participant, cease and discontinue, either permanently or on a temporary basis, providing all or 
any portion of the Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share, at the discretion of the Solar Project 
Committee. 

(c) Transfer of Solar Entitlement Shares Following Default. In the event of a default 
by any Project Participant and permanent discontinuance of service pursuant to this SECTION 12 of such 
Project Participant's Power Sales Contract, FMPA is hereby appointed the agent of such Project Participant 
for the purpose of disposing of such Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share and as such agent, FMPA 
shall proceed to dispose of such defaulting Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share as follows: 

(1) FMPA shall first offer to transfer to all other non-defaulting Project Participants a 
pro rata portion of the defaulting Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share which shall have 
been discontinued by reason of such default. Any part of such Solar Entitlement Share of a 
defaulting Project Participant which shall be declined by any non-defaulting Project Participant 
shall be reoffered pro rata to the non-defaulting Project Participants which have accepted in full the 
first such offer; such reoffering shall be repeated until such defaulting Project Participant's Solar 
Entitlement Share has been reallocated in full or until all non-defaulting Project Participants have 
declined to take any portion or additional portion of such defaulting Project Participant's Solar 
Entitlement Share. 

(2) In the event less than all of a defaulting Project Participant's Solar Entitlement 
Share shall be accepted by the other non-defaulting Project Participants pursuant to clause (1), 
FMPA shall, to the extent permitted by law, use commercially reasonable efforts to sell the 
remaining portion of a defaulting Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share for the remaining 
term of such defaulting Project Participant's Power Sales Contract with FMPA. The agreement for 
such sale shall contain such terms and conditions, including provisions for discontinuance of 
service upon default, and as are otherwise acceptable to the Solar Project Committee. 

(3) Any portion of the Solar Entitlement Share of a defaulting Project Participant 
transferred pursuant to SECTION 12(c)(1) to a non-defaulting Project Participant shall become a 
part of and shall be added to the Solar Entitlement Share of such Project Participant(s), and each 
such Project Participant(s) shall be obligated to pay for its Solar Entitlement Share increased as 
aforesaid, as if the Solar Entitlement Share of such Project Participant(s), increased as aforesaid, 
had been stated originally as the Solar Entitlement Share of such Project Participant(s) in its Power 
Sales Contract with FMPA; provided, however, that the Project Participant assuming the defaulting 
Project Participant’s Power Entitlement share shall not be liable for, and the defaulting Project 
Participant shall remain liable for, any amounts owed by the defaulting Project Participant prior to 
the assignment and assumption of the defaulting Project Participant’s Power Entitlement Share. 

9
 



 

 

 

 
 

              
                 

                 
                
               

                 
                

                 
             
                

             
           

                 
                 
                  

              
               

                  
    

     

                 
                 

           
                 

                

     

                
                 

               
          

     

                   
                   

                

         

                
       

               
                  

   

      

               
                

(4) The defaulting Project Participant shall remain liable for all payments to be made 
on its part pursuant to the Power Sales Contract, except that the obligation of the defaulting Project 
Participant to pay FMPA shall be reduced to the extent that payments shall be received by FMPA, 
net of any administrative and reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred by FMPA that is caused 
by the default, for that portion of the defaulting Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share which 
may be transferred or sold or for the Solar Product associated therewith which may be sold as 
provided in clauses (1), (2), or (3) of this SECTION 12. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the 
extent a defaulting Project Participant has failed to pay its Solar Project invoice, in order to prevent 
FMPA from defaulting under the Solar PPA, the non-defaulting Project Participants’ monthly Solar 
Project invoices shall be increased on a pro rata basis, based on such Project Participants Solar 
Entitlement Shares, unless and until FMPA shall recover from the defaulting Project Participants 
amounts owed, upon which FMPA shall reimburse the non-defaulting Project Participants. 

(d) Other Default by Project Participant. In the event of any default by the Project Participant 
under any other covenant, agreement or obligation of this Power Sales Contract which has not been cured 
within thirty (30) days after receipt of notice by FMPA, FMPA may bring any suit, action, or proceeding 
in law or in equity, including mandamus, injunction, specific performance, declaratory judgment, or any 
combination thereof, as may be necessary or appropriate to enforce any covenant, agreement or obligation 
of this Power Sales Contract against the Project Participant. Such remedies shall be in addition to all other 
remedies provided for herein. 

SECTION 13. Default by FMPA. 

In the event of any default by FMPA under any other covenant, agreement or obligation of this 
Power Sales Contract, Project Participant may bring any suit, action, or proceeding in law or in equity, 
including mandamus, injunction, specific performance, declaratory judgment, or any combination thereof, 
as may be necessary or appropriate to enforce any covenant, agreement or obligation of this Power Sales 
Contract against FMPA. Such remedies shall be in addition to all other remedies provided for herein. 

SECTION 14. Abandonment of Remedy. 

In case any proceeding taken on account of any default shall have been discontinued or abandoned 
for any reason, the parties to such proceedings shall be restored to their former positions and rights 
hereunder, respectively, and all rights, remedies, powers and duties of FMPA and the Project Participant 
shall continue as though no such proceedings had been taken. 

SECTION 15. Waiver of Default. 

Any waiver at any time by either FMPA or the Project Participant of its rights with respect to any 
default of the other party hereto, or with respect to any other matter arising in connection with this Power 
Sales Contract, shall not be a waiver with respect to any subsequent default, right or matter. 

SECTION 16. Relationship to and Compliance with Other Instruments. 

(a) The performance of FMPA under this Power Sales Contract is made subject to the terms 
and provisions of the Solar Project PPA. 

(b) FMPA covenants and agrees to use its commercially reasonable best efforts for the benefit 
of the Project Participant to comply in all material respects with all terms, conditions and covenants of the 
Solar Project PPA. 

SECTION 17. Measurement of Electric Energy. 

FMPA will or will cause Seller to install, maintain, and operate the metering equipment, required 
to measure the quantities of Electric Energy produced and delivered from the Solar Facility in accordance 

10
 



 

 

 

 
 

                   
      

     

                  
                 
                  

                   
          

           

              
                 

                  
              
               

                   
              

                   
                

              
                

                 
                 
               
              

                  
    

              
                 

                     
              

                
                

      

                 
                 

                
               

                    
                   

                   
                    

                     
               

                
                     

                 

with the Solar Project PPA. Each meter used pursuant to this SECTION 17 shall be tested and calibrated in 
accordance with the Solar Project PPA. 

SECTION 18. Liability of Parties. 

Any liability which is incurred by FMPA pursuant to the Solar Project PPA and not covered, or not 
covered sufficiently, by insurance shall be paid solely from the revenues of FMPA derived from the Solar 
Project, and any payments made by FMPA, or which FMPA is obligated to make, to satisfy such liability 
shall become part of Monthly Energy Costs, as required in order to satisfy the obligation of FMPA to make 
such payments as provided in the Solar Project PPA. 

SECTION 19. Assignment or Sale of Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share. 

(a) Project Participant may terminate this Power Sales Contract upon 90 days advance written 
notice to FMPA and provided that Project Participant pay, prior to the termination date, the amounts set 
forth in this SECTION 19(a). Prior to the termination date, Project Participant shall pay to FMPA all 
stranded cost obligations, as determined by FMPA, to hold the other, non-terminating, Project Participants 
harmless from the costs associated with Project Participant’s termination. For purposes of this SECTION 
19(a), stranded cost obligations are defined as an estimate of the solar energy costs that FMPA will pay for 
the terminating Project Participant’s Solar Entitlement Share during each remaining month of the remaining 
Initial Term of the Solar PPA based on a forecast of expected solar production. The forecast of expected 
solar production is defined as a P50 (probability of exceedance is 50 percent) production estimate under 
typical meteorological year conditions using an industry standard modeling tool (PV System or its 
successor/peer products) reflective of a degradation rate of 0.3% per year relative to the original nominal 
alternating current capacity of the solar resource in the current year (prorated over a partial year as 
applicable) and each subsequent remaining year of the Solar PPA Initial Term. Upon such payment and 
termination, Project Participant shall have no further obligation to the Solar Project or other Project 
Participants under this Power Sales Contract. The terminating Project Participant’s Solar Entitlement Share 
shall be allocated to the remaining Project Participants on a pro rata basis based on their Solar Entitlement 
Shares. 

(b) Project Participant may assign this Power Sales Contract to another Project Participant or 
another FMPA member, provided that such assignee agrees to fully assume, and fully accept all terms and 
conditions of, this Power Sales Contract for the Term hereof. If assigned to a FMPA member that is not a 
Project Participant, such assuming FMPA member shall become a Project Participant upon its assumption 
of the Power Sales Contract. Upon such assignment and assumption, this Power Sales Contract shall 
terminate, and Project Participant shall have no further obligation to the Solar Project or other Project 
Participants under this Power Sales Contract. 

(c) In the event the Project Participant shall determine that all or any amount of the Solar 
Product which can be produced from the Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share are in excess of the 
requirements of the Project Participant, or Project Participant no longer desires to purchase and receive its 
Solar Entitlement Share, at the written request of the Project Participant, FMPA shall use commercially 
reasonable efforts to sell and transfer on behalf of such Project Participant for any period of time all or any 
part of such excess Solar Product to such other Project Participant or Participants as shall agree to take such 
Solar Product at such prices as may be agreed to, provided, however, that in the event the other Project 
Participants do not agree to take the entire amount of such excess, FMPA shall have the right, to the extent 
permitted by law, to dispose of such excess to other utilities. If all or any portion of such excess of the 
Project Participant's Solar Entitlement Share is sold pursuant to this SECTION 19(c), then the Project 
Participant's Solar Entitlement Share shall not be reduced, and the Project Participant shall remain liable to 
FMPA to pay the full amount due as if such sale had not been made; except that such liability shall be 
discharged to the extent that FMPA shall receive payment for such excess from the purchaser or purchasers 

11
 



 

 

 

 
 

                  
                  
       

             

 

                 
               

                    
                

                   
               
               

                 
                  

                  
                  
                    

                
                
               
        

       

               
                  

           

                
                   

 

              
                 

                 
               
            

       

                
                   

 

    
    
   

   
  

  
 

thereof and that any amounts received by FMPA as payment for such excess which is greater than the 
liability owed by the Project Participant to FMPA in respect of such excess shall be promptly paid or 
credited by FMPA to the Project Participant. 

SECTION 20. Consent to Assignment of Power Sales Contract, Sale of Project Participant's 

System. 

(a) This Power Sales Contract shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the 
respective successors and assigns of the parties to this Power Sales Contract; provided, however, that, 
except as provided in (1) SECTION 12 hereof in the event of a default; (2) SECTION 19(a), and (3) 
SECTION 20(b), neither this Power Sales Contract nor any interest herein shall be transferred or assigned 
by either party hereto except with the consent in writing of the other party hereto, which consent shall not 
be unreasonably withheld. The Solar Project Committee shall make a recommendation on any assignment 
of a Power Sales Contract hereunder to the FMPA Board of Directors for their action. 

(b) Project Participant agrees that it will not sell, lease, abandon or otherwise dispose of all or 
substantially all of its electric utility system except upon ninety (90) days prior written notice to FMPA and, 
in any event, will not sell, lease, abandon or otherwise dispose of the same unless the following conditions 
are met: (i) the Project Participant shall, subject to the Solar Project PPA, assign this Power Sales Contract 
and its rights and interest hereunder to the purchaser or lessee of said electric system, if any, and any such 
purchaser or lessee shall assume all obligations of the Project Participant under this Power Sales Contract; 
and (ii) FMPA shall by affirmative vote of the FMPA Solar Project Committee reasonably determine that 
such sale, lease, abandonment or other disposition will not materially adversely affect FMPA's ability to 
meet its obligations under the Solar Project PPA. 

SECTION 21. Termination or Amendment of Contract. 

(a) This Power Sales Contract shall not be terminated by either party under any circumstances, 
whether based upon the default of the other party under this Power Sales Contract or any other instrument 
or otherwise except as specifically provided in this Power Sales Contract. 

(b) This Power Sales Contract may be terminated by FMPA by notice to the Project Participant 
upon an event of default by Project Participant that has not been cured in accordance with this Power Sales 
Contract. 

(c) No Power Sales Contract entered into between FMPA and another Project Participant may 
be amended so as to provide terms and conditions different from those herein contained except upon written 
notice to and written consent or waiver by each of the other Project Participants, and upon similar 
amendment being made to the Power Sales Contract of any other Project Participants requesting such 
amendment after receipt by such Project Participant of notice of such amendment. 

SECTION 22. Notice and Computation of Time. 

Any notice or demand by the Project Participant to FMPA under this Power Sales Contract shall 
be deemed properly given if sent by overnight mail or courier, or by facsimile or email transmission to the 
following: 

Florida Municipal Power Agency
 
Attn: Chief Operating Officer
 
8553 Commodity Circle
 
Orlando, FL 32819
 
Email: frank.gaffney@fmpa.com
 
Fax: 407-355-5794
 

12
 



 

 

 

 
 

     
      
   

    
   

   
  

  

                
                  

                   
                  

                  
                    
                    

                     
         

     

                   
             

   

               
                 

                  
           

      

                  
                 

              
                  

               
              

             

  

With a required copy to:
 
FMPA Office of the General Counsel
 
2061-2 Delta Way
 
P.O. Box 3209 (32315-3209)
 
Tallahassee, FL 32303
 
Email: jody.lamar.finkea@fmpa.com
 

dan.ohagan@fmpa.com 
Fax: 850-297-2014 

Any notice or demand by FMPA to the Project Participant under this Power Sales Contract shall 
be deemed properly given if sent by overnight mail or courier, or by facsimile or email transmission, and 
addressed to the Project Participant at the address set forth on Schedule 1 hereto. A Notice sent by facsimile 
transmission or e-mail will be recognized and shall be deemed received on the business day on which such 
notice was transmitted if received before 5:00 p.m. (and if received after 5:00 p.m., on the next business 
day) and a notice of overnight mail or courier shall be deemed to have been received two (2) business days 
after it was sent or such earlier time as is confirmed by the receiving Party. The designations of the name 
and address to which any such notice or demand is directed may be changed at any time and from time to 
time by either party giving notice as above provided. 

SECTION 23. Applicable Law; Construction. 

This Power Sales Contract is made under and shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida. 
Headings herein are for convenience only and shall not influence the construction hereof. 

SECTION 24. Severability. 

If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Power Sales Contract shall be finally 
adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the remainder of this Power Sales Contract 
shall remain in full force and effect as though such section, paragraph, clause or provision or any part 
thereof so adjudicated to be invalid had not been included herein. 

SECTION 25. Solar Project Responsibility 

This Power Sales Contract is a liability and obligation of the Solar Project only. No liability or 
obligation under this Power Sales Contract shall inure to or bind any of the funds, accounts, monies, 
property, instruments, or rights of the Florida Municipal Power Agency generally, any individual FMPA 
member, or any of any other “project” of FMPA as that term is defined in the Interlocal Agreement 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Power Sales Contract to be 
executed by their proper officers respectively, being thereunto duly authorized, and their respective seals 
to be hereto affixed, as of the day and year first above written. 

13
 



6L

 

^
 ^ ̂
 

^
 

^
J
 

^ 
1 



 

 

ATTACHMENT A 

AMENDED AND RESTATED 

POWER PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

(Approved by FMPA Board of 

Directors February 13, 2020) 

A-1
 



      

 
 

 

 

     

    
 

 

 

 
 

 

    
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

   
 

  

 

 

 

 

   

 

   
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

AMENDED AND RESTATED RENEWABLE ENERGY
 

POWER PURCHASE AGREEMENT
 

between 

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY 

as Buyer 

and 

POINSETT SOLAR, LLC 

as Seller 

dated as of
 

May 16______________, 202018
 



      

 

 
 

 

   

 

       

    

    

    

    

       

    

      

     

     

     

       

     

        

    

    

     

     

      

     

        

       

     

      

           

    

       

     

     

      

         

       

     

      

     

     

       

      

         

     

         

         

                                                 
                  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

TABLE OF CONTENTS1 

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION .......................................................................... 1
 
1.1 Definitions. ................................................................................................................................. 1
 
1.2 Interpretation. ........................................................................................................................... 18
 

ARTICLE 2 TERM............................................................................................................................... 2019
 
2.1 Term. .................................................................................................................................... 2019
 

ARTICLE 3 OBLIGATIONS AND DELIVERIES............................................................................. 2019
 
3.1 Product.................................................................................................................................. 2019
 
3.2 Purchase and Sale. ................................................................................................................ 2120
 
3.3 Contract Price. .......................................................................................................................... 21
 
3.4 Project Capacity. .................................................................................................................. 2221
 
3.5 Performance Excuses. .......................................................................................................... 2221
 
3.6 Buyer’s Right to Curtail. .......................................................................................................... 22
 
3.7 Replacement Energy............................................................................................................. 2322
 
3.8 Offsets, Allowances and Renewable Attributes. .................................................................. 2423
 
3.9 Transmission. ........................................................................................................................... 24
 
3.10 Scheduling. ........................................................................................................................... 2524
 
3.11 Operating Procedures. .......................................................................................................... 2524
 
3.12 Regulatory Approvals............................................................................................................... 25
 
3.13 Standards of Care. .................................................................................................................... 25
 
3.14 Outage Notification. ............................................................................................................. 2625
 
3.15 Operations Logs and Access Rights. .................................................................................... 2827
 
3.16 Availability; Energy Production Forecasting. ...................................................................... 2827
 
3.17 Weather Station. ................................................................................................................... 2928
 
3.18 Change of Law. .................................................................................................................... 3029
 
3.19 Contract Quantity, Guaranteed Energy Production and Excess Energy. ............................. 3029
 
3.20 Signage. ................................................................................................................................ 3130
 

ARTICLE 4 PROJECT DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION................................................................ 3231
 
4.1 Project Development. ........................................................................................................... 3231
 
4.2 Network Upgrades................................................................................................................ 3332
 
4.3 Guaranteed Commercial Operation...................................................................................... 3433
 
4.4 Project Cure Period and Delay Damages. ............................................................................ 3534
 

ARTICLE 5 METERING AND MEASUREMENT............................................................................ 3634
 
5.1 Metering System................................................................................................................... 3635
 
5.2 Inspection and Adjustment. .................................................................................................. 3635
 

ARTICLE 6 EARLY TERMINATION................................................................................................ 3736
 
6.1 Early Termination................................................................................................................. 3736
 

ARTICLE 7 EVENTS OF DEFAULT................................................................................................. 3837
 
7.1 Events of Default.................................................................................................................. 3837
 
7.2 Remedies; Declaration of Early Termination Date. ............................................................. 4038
 
7.3 Termination Payment. .......................................................................................................... 4039
 
7.4 Notice of Payment of Termination Payment. ....................................................................... 4241
 
7.5 Disputes with Respect to Termination Payment. ................................................................. 4241
 

1 Seller NTD: The Table of Contents may need to be renumbered once the A&R REPPA is finalized. 

i
 



      

 

 
 

 

        

    

     

      

        

    

    

      

        

         

    

       

      

      

       

        

      

     

     

     

         

        

      

      

      

    

     

      

     

     

       

     

      

      

       

      

      

      

       

     

        

     

    

     

       

    

    

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

7.6 Rights and Remedies Are Cumulative. ................................................................................ 4241
 
7.7 Mitigation. ............................................................................................................................ 4241
 

ARTICLE 8 PAYMENT ...................................................................................................................... 4241
 
8.1 Billing and Payment. ............................................................................................................ 4341
 
8.2 Disputes and Adjustments of Invoices. ................................................................................ 4342
 

ARTICLE 9........................................................................................................................................... 4442
 
PURCHASE OPTION...................................................................................................................... 4442
 
9.1 Buyer Purchase Option......................................................................................................... 4442
 
9.2 Determination of Fair Market Value. ................................................................................... 4543
 

ARTICLE 10 INSURANCE, CREDIT AND COLLATERAL REQUIREMENTS ........................... 4544
 
10.1 Insurance. ............................................................................................................................. 4544
 
10.2 Grant of Security Interest. .................................................................................................... 4544
 
10.3 Seller Financial Statements. ................................................................................................. 4644
 
10.4 Seller’s Performance Assurance........................................................................................... 4645
 
10.5 Buyer’s Performance Assurance ......................................................................................... 4847
 

ARTICLE 11 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS ................................... 4947
 
11.1 Representations and Warranties. .......................................................................................... 4948
 
11.2 General Covenants. .............................................................................................................. 5049
 
11.3 Seller Covenants................................................................................................................... 5049
 
11.4 Buyer’s Covenants. .............................................................................................................. 5150
 

ARTICLE 12 TITLE, RISK OF LOSS, INDEMNITIES..................................................................... 5251
 
12.1 Title and Risk of Loss. ......................................................................................................... 5251
 
12.2 Indemnities by Seller............................................................................................................ 5251
 
12.3 Indemnities by Buyer. .......................................................................................................... 5251
 

ARTICLE 13 GOVERNMENTAL CHARGES................................................................................... 5352
 
13.1 Cooperation. ......................................................................................................................... 5352
 
13.2 Governmental Charges. ........................................................................................................ 5352
 

ARTICLE 14 CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION ............................................................................. 5352
 
14.1 Confidential Information. ..................................................................................................... 5352
 

ARTICLE 15 ASSIGNMENT.............................................................................................................. 5554
 
15.1 Successors and Assigns; Assignment................................................................................... 5554
 
15.2 Collateral Assignment. ......................................................................................................... 5756
 

ARTICLE 16 FORCE MAJEURE ....................................................................................................... 5856
 
16.1 Force Majeure Events........................................................................................................... 5856
 

ARTICLE 17 LIMITATIONS ON LIABILITY .................................................................................. 5857
 
17.1 Disclaimer of Warranties...................................................................................................... 5857
 
17.2 Limitations on Liability........................................................................................................ 5957
 

ARTICLE 18 DISPUTE RESOLUTION ............................................................................................. 5958
 
18.1 Intent of the Parties............................................................................................................... 5958
 
18.2 Management Negotiations.................................................................................................... 5958
 
18.3 Specific Performance and Injunctive Relief......................................................................... 6059
 

ARTICLE 19 NOTICES....................................................................................................................... 6059
 
19.1 Notices.................................................................................................................................. 6059
 

ARTICLE 20 MISCELLANEOUS ...................................................................................................... 6260
 
20.1 Effectiveness of Agreement; Survival.................................................................................. 6260
 
20.2 Audits. .................................................................................................................................. 6261
 
20.3 Amendments......................................................................................................................... 6361
 

ii
 



      

 

 
 

 

    

    

      

     

        

     

      

     

     

    

     

     

     

     

    

 

 

 
    
     
         
    
    
     
       
     
     
     
      
      
      
     
    
        
      

 
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

20.4 Waivers................................................................................................................................. 6361
 
20.5 Severability........................................................................................................................... 6361
 
20.6 Standard of Review. ............................................................................................................. 6362
 
20.7 Governing Law..................................................................................................................... 6362
 
20.8 Waiver of Trial by Jury. ....................................................................................................... 6362
 
20.9 Attorneys’ Fees..................................................................................................................... 6462
 
20.10 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. .............................................................................................. 6462
 
20.11 Project Members................................................................................................................... 6463
 
20.12 No Agency............................................................................................................................ 6463
 
20.13 Cooperation. ......................................................................................................................... 6463
 
20.14 Further Assurances. .............................................................................................................. 6563
 
20.15 Captions; Construction. ........................................................................................................ 6563
 
20.16 Entire Agreement. ................................................................................................................ 6564
 
20.17 Forward Contract.................................................................................................................. 6564
 
20.18 Counterparts. ........................................................................................................................ 6564
 

Exhibit A Sample Calculations 
Exhibit B Description of Project 
Exhibit C Description of Delivery Point and One-Line Diagram 
Exhibit D Project Quantity 
Exhibit E Purchase Option 
Exhibit F Form of Guaranty 
Exhibit G Form of Letter of Credit 
Exhibit H Seller Insurance Requirements 
Exhibit I Site Description; Map 
Exhibit J Interim Milestone Schedule 
Exhibit K Milestones With Delay Damages 
Exhibit L Certificate – Commercial Operations 
Exhibit M REC Bill of Sale 
Exhibit N-1 Consent to Assignment 

Exhibit O Other Buyers; Other Solar Project Buyers 
Exhibit P FMPA Solar Project Participants 

Exhibit N-2 Estoppel Certificate 

iii
 



      

 

 

       

 

 
         

              
           

            

              
           

 
           

 
            

            
       
 

             
           

                
              

  
 

               
              

              
    

           
                 

       

            
           

 
           

               
                

             
       

  

   

   
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

AMENDED AND RESTATED RENEWABLE ENERGY POWER PURCHASE
 

AGREEMENT
 

This AMENDED AND RESTATED RENEWABLE ENERGY POWER PURCHASE 
AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made this 16th __ day of ____May, 202018 (the “Effective 
Date”), by and between FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY, a governmental joint 
action agency organized and existing under Florida law (“Buyer”) and POINSETT SOLAR, 

LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Seller”). Buyer and Seller are each individually 
referred to herein as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties”. 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, Seller intends to develop a photovoltaic solar energy generation facility of 
approximately 74.5 MW alternating current (“AC”) aggregate nameplate capacity on a site 
located in Osceola County, Florida (“Site”); 

WHEREAS, Seller, or an Affiliate of Seller, also intends to develop two additional 
photovoltaic solar energy generation facilities, each of approximately 74.5 MWAC aggregate 
nameplate capacity, one on a site located in Orange County, Florida, and another on a site 
located in Osceola County, Florida (such projects, together with the Project, the “Solar Project 

Portfolio”); and 

WHEREAS, Seller desires to sell and deliver to Buyer and Buyer desires to purchase and 
receive all of Buyer’s Share (as defined hereinafter) of the nameplate capacity, electric energy 
and environmental credits from the Project (as defined hereinafter), on the terms and conditions 
set forth herein; 

WHEREAS, Buyer and Seller entered into that certain Renewable Energy Power 
Purchase Agreement, as of May 16, 2018 (as to such date, the “Original Effective Date”, and as 
to such agreement, the “Original Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, Buyer and Seller have each determined that the Original Agreement ought 
to be amended and restated as set forth in this Agreement.. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties hereto, for good and sufficient consideration, the 
receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, intending to be legally bound, do hereby amend and 
restate the Original Agreement to read in its entirety as followsthe Parties hereto, for good and 
sufficient consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, intending to be legally 
bound, do hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1
 

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
 

1.1 Definitions. 

1
 



      

 

 

               
                 

             
 

           
            

             
     

 

         
 

          
 

             
             

             
           

              
              

             
  

 
             

                
           

               
                  

              
             
               

               
              

               
            
               

           
 

           
 

               
          

          
             

           
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

The capitalized terms listed in this ARTICLE 1 shall have the meanings set forth herein. 
Other terms used in this Agreement but not listed in this Article shall have the meanings as 
commonly used in the English language and, where applicable, in Prudent Operating Practice. 

"Abandon" means after having commenced construction of the Project, Seller stops 
construction of the Project for more than ninety (90) consecutive days excluding 
cessation of construction work caused by the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event, 
Permitting Delay, or Transmission Delay. 

“AC” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals. 

“Adjustment Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2(b). 

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that, directly or 
indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under 
common control with, such Person. For the purposes of this definition, “control” 
(including, with correlative meanings, the terms “controlled by” and “under common 
control with”), as used with respect to any Person, means the power, directly or 
indirectly, to direct or cause the direction of the management, policies or operations of 
such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or by contract or 
otherwise. 

“After-Tax Basis” means, with respect to Sections 12.2 and 12.3, any payment received 
or deemed to have been received by any Person, the amount of such payment (the “Base 
Payment”) supplemented by a further payment (the “Additional Payment”) to such 
Person so that the sum of the Base Payment plus the Additional Payment shall, after 
deduction of the amount of all taxes required to be paid by such Person in respect of the 
receipt or accrual of the Base Payment and the Additional Payment (taking into account 
any current or previous credits or deductions arising from the underlying event giving 
rise to the payment, the Base Payment and the Additional Payment), be equal to the 
amount required to be received. Such calculations shall be made on the assumption that 
the recipient is subject to federal income taxation at the highest applicable statutory rate 
applicable to corporations for the relevant period or periods, is subject to state and local 
income taxation at the highest applicable statutory rates applicable to corporations doing 
business in the State of Florida and shall take into account the deductibility (for federal 
income tax purposes) of any state and local income taxes. 

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof. 

“Applicable Law” means, with respect to any Person, the Site, or the Project, all laws, 
statutes, codes, acts, treaties, ordinances, orders, judgments, writs, decrees, injunctions, 
rules, regulations, Governmental Approvals, directives and requirements of all regulatory 
and other Governmental Authorities, in each case applicable to or binding upon such 
Person, the Site or the Project (as the case may be). 

2
 



      

 

 

               
             

            
             

              
                

              
             

            
              

             
                

               
             

                 
         

 
              

                
 

 
             

 
           

 
     

 
            
                

                 
           
              

             
             

              
              

          
 

           
              

              
                 

                 
              

           
              

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

“Bankrupt” means, with respect to a Party, such Party (a) files a petition or otherwise 
commences, authorizes or acquiesces in the commencement of a proceeding or cause of 
action under any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar law, (b) makes an 
assignment or any general arrangement for the benefit of creditors, (c) otherwise becomes 
bankrupt or insolvent (however evidenced), (d) is generally unable to pay its debts as 
they fall due, (e) has been adjudicated bankrupt or has filed a petition or an answer 
seeking an arrangement with creditors, (f) has taken advantage of any insolvency law or 
shall have submitted an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition in 
bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings, (g) becomes subject to an order, judgment or 
decree for relief, entered in an involuntary case, by any court of competent jurisdiction 
appointing a receiver, trustee, assignee, custodian or liquidator, for a substantial part of 
any of its assets and such order, judgment or decree shall continue unstayed and in effect 
for any period of one hundred eighty (180) consecutive Days, (h) fails to remove an 
involuntary petition in bankruptcy filed against it within one hundred eighty (180) Days 
of the filing thereof, or (i) becomes subject to an order for relief under the provisions of 
the United States Bankruptcy Act, 11 U.S.C. § 301. 

“Business Day” means any day except a Saturday, Sunday, or a Federal Reserve Bank 
holiday. A Business Day opens at 8:00 a.m. and closes at 5:00 p.m. Eastern Prevailing 
Time. 

“Buyer” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement. 

“Buyer Excuses” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.5(b). 

“Buyer Purchase Damages" means: 

(a) the discounted value (discounted at the Interest Rate) of the positive 
difference, if any, of: (i) all Dollar amounts that Buyer would, in the manner set forth 
below, be expected to pay at then prevailing market conditions to buy from a third party a 
product comparable to the Buyer’s Product being purchased under this Agreement 
through the remaining Delivery Term; plus (ii) all incremental costs over and above those 
that Buyer would otherwise incur; provided, that such costs are quantifiable and directly 
related to the termination of this Agreement, and provided further that the incremental 
costs explicitly excludes costs related to any retail electric customer program; less (iii) all 
Dollar amounts Buyer would have been expected to pay to Seller for Buyer’s Product 
under this Agreement through the remainder of the Term. 

(b) Buyer shall calculate the Buyer Purchase Damages in a Commercially 
Reasonable manner by using the average of market quotations provided by three (3) or 
more bona fide unaffiliated market participants, if available. The average of the quotes 
that were obtained shall be deemed to be the market price. The quotes obtained shall be: 
(i) for a like amount, (ii) of products comparable to Buyer’s Product, (iii) at the same or 
reasonably similar Delivery Point, (iv) for the remaining Term, and (v) determined in any 
other Commercially Reasonable manner. In no event shall Buyer Purchase Damages 
include any penalties or ratcheted demand or similar charges, nor shall Buyer be required 

3
 



      

 

 

                
            

            
               
               

 
 

   
 

  
 

         
                

      
 

 
  

 
    

 
          
              

            
                

               
  

 
                 

  
 

  
 

  
 

       
            

            
            

         
         
           

              
               

           
         

             

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

to utilize or change its utilization of its owned or controlled assets or market positions to 
minimize Seller’s liability. For the purposes of this definition, Buyer shall not be 
required to actually have purchased any replacement of Buyer’s Product to calculate 
Buyer Purchase Damages as set forth herein. If Buyer Purchase Damages are owed as a 
result of an Event of Default and the Buyer Purchase Damages are a negative number 
then the Buyer Purchase Damages shall be deemed to equal Zero Dollars ($0.00).  

“Buyer’s Delivered Energy” means Buyer’s Share of the Delivered Energy. 

“Buyer’s Facility Attributes” means Buyer’s Share of the Facility Attributes. 

“Buyer's Performance Assurance" means the Performance Assurance provided by 
Buyer in the event of a Buyer Downgrade Event, in the amount of Buyer’s Share of 

as security for Buyer's obligation 
to pay for Buyer’s Product pursuant to this Agreement. 

“Buyer’s Product” means Buyer’s Share of the Product. 

“Buyer’s Renewable Attributes” means Buyer’s Share of the Renewable Attributes. 

“Buyer's Share” means, with respect to the Product (including the Energy, Renewable 
Attributes and Facility Attributes) and certain other rights and obligations set forth in this 
Agreement, Buyer’s undivided pro rata entitlement share, expressed as the percentage set 
forth in Part I of Exhibit O, as such Exhibit may be amended pursuant to Section 3.1(b). 
For the avoidance of doubt, the sum of Buyer's Share and each Other Buyer’s Share(s) (if 
any) shall equal one hundred percent (100%) of the Product. 

“Change of Law” means any change in or addition to any Applicable Law on or after the 
Original Effective Date. 

“Claims” has the meaning set forth in Section 12.2. 

“Collateral Agent” has the meaning set forth in in Exhibit N-1. 

“Commercially Reasonable” or “Commercially Reasonable Efforts” means, with 
respect to any purchase, sale, decision, or other action made, attempted or taken by a 
Party, such efforts as a reasonably prudent business would undertake consistent with its 
required performance under this Agreement while protecting its own interest under the 
conditions affecting such purchase, sale, decision or other action, consistent with Prudent 
Operating Practices, including electric system reliability and stability, state or other 
regulatory mandates relating to renewable energy portfolio requirements, the cost of such 
action (including whether such cost is reasonable), the amount of notice of the need to 
take a particular action, the duration and type of purchase or sale or other action, and the 
commercial environment in which such purchase, sale, decision or other action occurs. 
“Commercially Reasonable” or “Commercially Reasonable Efforts” shall be reviewed 
and determined based upon the facts and circumstances known, or which could have been 

4
 



      

 

 

               
                 

      
 

            
                

       
 

           
              

             
               

            
              

           
             

              
              

             
  

 
          

 
              

          
              

  
 

           
 

              
              

          
         

 
               
            

             
             

                  
              
         

 
            

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

known with the exercise of reasonable efforts, at the time that a sale, purchase, decision 
or other action is taken and shall not be based upon a retroactive review of what would 
have been optimal at such time. 

“Commercial Operation” means the Project is fully operable and capable of continuous 
operation at the Project Capacity and able to produce and deliver the Product to Buyer in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

“Commercial Operation Date” means the date following the Initial Energy Delivery 
Date, on which (a) Commercial Operation has occurred with respect to the full Project 
Capacity; (b) Seller has delivered to Buyer the Seller’s Delivery Term Security required 
under Section 10.4(a)(ii); (c) Seller has delivered to Buyer a report with the results of 
start-up and operational and performance testing conducted by Seller to demonstrate the 
attainment of Commercial Operation of the Project; (d) Seller has received all local, state 
and federal Governmental Approvals and other approvals, consents and authorizations as 
may be required by Applicable Law for the construction, operation and maintenance of 
the Project and generation, delivery and sale of Product hereunder ,and (e) Seller has 
executed and delivered to Buyer a certificate certifying to Buyer the fulfillment of all 
conditions precedent to Commercial Operation of the Project substantially in the form of 
Exhibit L. 

“Confidential Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 14.1. 

“Contract Price” means (i) from and including the Initial Energy Delivery Date until the 
Commercial Operation Date, seventy-five percent (75%) of the Dollar-per-MWh Rate, 
and (ii) from the Commercial Operation Date through the remainder of the Term the 
Dollar-per-MWh Rate. 

“Contract Quantity” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.19(a). 

“Contract Year” means each one year period during the Term, with the first Contract 
Year commencing on the Commercial Operation Date and ending on the day before the 
anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date, and subsequent Contract Years 
commencing on the anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date. 

“Credit Rating” means, (a) with respect to Seller or any other Person, the rating then 
assigned to Seller’s or such Person’s unsecured, senior long-term debt obligations (not 
supported by third-party credit enhancements); and (b) with respect to Buyer, the rating 
then assigned to Buyer’s long-term bonds secured by revenues of the FMPA Solar 
Project or, if Buyer does not have a rating for its long-term bonds or no such bonds are 
issued and outstanding, then the rating then assigned to the electric or integrated utility 
system of any one (1) FMPA Solar Project Participant. 

“Cure Payment Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.19(c). 

5
 



      

 

 

              
            

              
            

          
              
           

           
          

          
             

          
               
             

  
 

         
  

 
  

 
 

              
 

 
 

 
              

             
           

 
            

        
  

 
             

  
 

 

 
   

 
  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

“Curtailment Period” means the period of time during which any of the following occur: 
(a) Transmission Provider orders, directs, alerts, or provides notice to a Party to curtail 
Energy deliveries for the following reasons: (i) any System Emergency; (ii) any warning 
of an anticipated System Emergency, or warning of an imminent condition or situation, 
which jeopardizes Transmission Provider’s electric system integrity; (b) a curtailment 
ordered by the Transmission Provider for reasons including, (i) any situation that affects 
normal function of the electric system, including any abnormal condition that requires 
action to prevent circumstances such as equipment damage, loss of load, or abnormal 
voltage conditions, (ii) any warning, forecast or anticipation of conditions or situations 
that jeopardize the Transmission Provider’s Transmission System integrity or the 
integrity of other systems to which the Transmission Provider is connected; (c) scheduled 
or unscheduled maintenance on the Transmission Provider’s Transmission System that 
prevents (i) Buyer from receiving Energy at or (ii) Seller from delivering Energy to the 
Delivery Point; or (d) a curtailment in accordance with Seller’s obligations under the 
Large Generator Interconnection Agreement. 

“Daily Delay Damages” means Buyer’s Share of
 per 
day. 


“Daily Delay Damages Cap” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a).
 

“Day” or “day” means a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours beginning at 00:00
 
hours Eastern Prevailing Time on any calendar day and ending at 24:00 hours Eastern 
Prevailing Time on the same calendar day. 

“Defaulting Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1. 

“Delivered Energy” means the Energy delivered to the Delivery Point net of all electrical 
losses associated with the transmission or transformation (from direct current to AC) of 
the Energy to the Delivery Point, including, if applicable, any losses between the 
Metering System and the Delivery Point. 

“Delivery Point” means the point, more specifically described as the ring bus in 
Exhibit C, where Seller’s Interconnection Facilities connect to the Transmission
 
Provider’s Interconnection Facilities. 


“Delivery Term” means the period of time commencing upon the Initial Energy Delivery
 
Date and terminating at the end of the Term.
 

“Disclosing Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 14.1. 


“Dispute” has the meaning set forth in Section 18.1. 


“Dollar” or “$” means dollars of the United States of America.
 

“Dollar-per-MWh Rate” means  per MWh of Delivered Energy. 

6
 



      

 

 

 
               

             
               

               
                 

             
              

              
             

               
              

    
 

           
 

             
 

             
              

           
     

 
              

               
   

 

              
             

               
               
             

             
              

            
                

               
       

 
          

            
            

 
           

 
           

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

“Downgrade Event” means any point in time during the Term when: (a) with respect to 
Seller, two of three of Seller’s Guarantor’s Credit Ratings fall below Investment Grade; 
and (b) with respect to Buyer, (i) any Credit Rating of Buyer’s long-term bonds secured 
by the revenues of the FMPA Solar Project falls below Investment Grade, or, if Buyer 
does not have a Credit Rating for its long-term bonds or no such bonds are issued and 
outstanding, then the Credit Ratings then assigned to the electric or integrated utility 
systems of all of the FMPA Solar Project Participants falls below Investment Grade, or 
(ii) if the FMPA Solar Project Participant Covenants in any FMPA Solar Project Power 
Sales Contract are amended, modified or altered in a manner which materially adversely 
impacts the ability of the FMPA Solar Project to perform and pay its obligations under 
this Agreement and Seller does not consent thereto, such consent not to be unreasonably 
withheld, conditioned or delayed. 

“Early Termination Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(a). 

“Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble to the Agreement. 

“Electric Interconnection Upgrade” means to complete or to cause to be completed all 
work, services, installations, equipment and facilities, and to obtain or to cause to be 
obtained all required Governmental Approvals necessary to interconnect the Project with 
the Transmission Provider’s Transmission System. 

“Energy” means net electric energy generated by the Project and available for delivery to 
the Delivery Point, which shall be in the form of three (3)-phase, sixty (60) Hertz, 
alternating current (AC). 

“Energy Not Received” means, in any hour where Energy is not delivered to the 
Delivery Point, (a) the positive difference between (i) the most recently available forecast 
of Energy deliveries as defined in Section 3.16, and (ii) the actual amount of Delivered 
Energy delivered during such hour, if any; or, if such forecast is unavailable, (b) the 
positive difference between (i) the estimate of Energy production for such hour derived 
from a P50 (probability of exceedance is fifty percent (50%)) simulation using actual 
meteorological data for such hour and PVSyst solar forecasting tool, or its successor, or 
other peer industry standard solar energy forecasting tool, reflective of the same 
degradation rate as was assumed in the preparation of Exhibit D per year relative to the 
Project Capacity (prorated over a partial year as applicable) and (ii) the actual amount of 
Delivered Energy during such hour, if any. 

“Equitable Defenses” means any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws 
affecting creditors’ rights generally and, with regard to equitable remedies, the discretion 
of the court before which proceedings may be pending to grant same. 

“Event of Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1. 

“Excess Energy Credit” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.19(d). 

7
 



      

 

 

 
  

 
   

  
  

 
        

                 
 

 
             

             
              

          
              

              
               
 

 
             

 
 

          
            

 
 

             
 

 
           

                 
 

 

             
              

 
 

           
             

              
            

             
              

              
             

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

“Excess Energy Delivery” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.19(d).
 

“Excess Energy Rate” means  of the Dollar-per-MWh Rate. 

“Executives” has the meaning set forth in Section 18.2(a). 

“Facility Attributes” means all ancillary products, services, capabilities or attributes 
which are or can be produced by or associated with the Project at any time during the 
Term. 

"Fair Market Value" means the price that, as of the applicable Notice Date, would be 
paid in an arm’s length, free market transaction, in cash, between an informed, willing 
seller and informed willing buyer neither of whom is under compulsion to complete the 
transaction, taking into account, among other things, the age and performance of the 
Project and advances in solar technology and the commercial benefits that Seller may be 
able to derive from the Project, provided that installed equipment will be valued on an 
installed basis and costs of removal from current location will not be a deduction from 
the value. 

“Fitch” means Fitch Ratings Ltd. or any successor thereto, or if there is no such 
successor, a nationally recognized credit rating agency. 

“FMPA All-Requirements Power Supply Project” means the joint-action power supply 
project created by the FMPA Board of Directors pursuant to FMPA Resolution 1985-B2, 
dated March 22, 1985. 

“FMPA Solar Project” means the joint-action solar project created by the FMPA Board 
of Directors pursuant to FMPA Resolution 2018-B5, dated March 21, 2018.  

“FMPA Solar Project Participant” means a municipality or municipal electric utility 
that is a member of Buyer and a member of the FMPA Solar Project, all of which are 
listed on Exhibit P. 

“FMPA Solar Project Power Sales Contract” means a Power Sales Contract between a 
FMPA Solar Project Participant and Buyer for the sale of the applicable portion of 
Buyer’s Product by Buyer to such FMPA Solar Project Participant. 

“FMPA Solar Project Participant Covenants” means the covenants by each FMPA 
Solar Project Participant in the applicable FMPA Solar Project Power Sales Contract: (a) 
that the payments which the FMPA Solar Project Participant is required to make under 
the applicable FMPA Solar Project Power Sales Contract constitute an obligation payable 
as an operating expense of the FMPA Solar Project Participant's electric utility system 
solely from the revenues and other available funds of the electric utility system, (b) that 
upon the failure of another FMPA Solar Project Participant to make payments owed to 
FMPA under the applicable FMPA Solar Project Power Sales Contract, to pay to Buyer 

8
 



      

 

 

             
              

               
               

         

 
              

                
             

              
               

 
            

              
               

                
             

           
              

               
              

                
                  

        

              
   

          
          

    

             
         

         

              
             
           

            
          
       

             
            

           
    

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

such non-defaulting FMPA Solar Project Participant’s pro rata share of the amounts owed 
by the defaulting FMPA Solar Project Participant, and (c) to establish, levy and collect 
rents, rates and other charges for the products and services provided by its electric utility 
system, which rents, rates, and other charges shall be at least sufficient to meet the 
operation and maintenance expenses of such electric utility system. 

“Forced Outage” means a reduction or suspension of Energy from the Project or an 
unavailability of the Project, in each case, in an amount greater than five percent (5%) of 
the Project Capacity and in response to a mechanical, electrical, or hydraulic control 
system trip or operator-initiated trip or unavailability that is not a Planned Outage or 
Maintenance Outage, due to a Curtailment Period, or the result of a Force Majeure Event. 

“Force Majeure Event” means any event or circumstance after the Original Effective 
Date that wholly or partly prevents or delays the performance of any material obligation 
arising under this Agreement, other than the obligation to pay amounts due, but only to 
the extent (1) such event is not within the reasonable control, directly or indirectly, of the 
Party seeking to have its performance obligation(s) excused thereby, (2) the Party seeking 
to have its performance obligation(s) excused thereby has taken all reasonable 
precautions and measures in order to prevent or avoid such event and thereafter to 
mitigate the effect of such event on such Party’s ability to perform its obligations under 
this Agreement, (3) such Party could not reasonably have been expected to prevent or 
avoid such event and could not overcome such event by the exercise of due diligence, and 
(4) such event is not the direct or indirect result of the fault or negligence of the Party 
seeking to have its performance obligations excused thereby. 

(a) Subject	 to the foregoing, events that could qualify as a Force Majeure Event 
include the following: 

(i)	 acts of God, flooding, landslide, earthquake, fire, explosion, epidemic, 
quarantine, hurricane, tornado, volcano, other natural disaster or unusual or 
extreme adverse weather-related events; 

(ii)	 war (declared or undeclared), riot or similar civil disturbance, acts of the 
public enemy (including acts of terrorism), sabotage, blockade, insurrection, 
revolution, expropriation or confiscation which directly impact operations; 

(iii)	 except as set forth in subpart (b)(vi) below, strikes, work stoppage or other 
labor disputes (in which case the affected Party shall have no obligation to 
settle the strike or labor dispute on terms it deems unreasonable); 

(iv)	 environmental and other contamination at or affecting the Project prior to 
the Original Effective Date which was not reasonably discoverable during 
Site due diligence using Prudent Operating Practices; 

(v)	 accidents of navigation or breakdown or injury of vessels, accidents to 
harbors, docks, canals or other assistances to or adjuncts of shipping or 
navigation, or quarantine, air crash, shipwreck, train wrecks or other failures 
or delays of transportation; 

9
 



      

 

 

            
    

            
          

         

             
          

  

            
       

          
           

  

          

           
 

                 
  

          
          
          

     

           
           

           
             

           

           
            

           
  

                
    

           
 

          

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(vi)	 vandalism beyond that which could not be reasonably prevented by Seller 
using Prudent Operating Practices; 

(vii)	 the discovery of Native American burial grounds not evidenced in Seller’s 
Phase I environmental assessment of the Site and not reasonably 
discoverable during Site due diligence using Prudent Operating Practices; 

(viii)	 the discovery of endangered species at the Site, as defined by Applicable 
Law, not reasonably discoverable during Site due diligence using Prudent 
Operating Practices; 

(ix)	 damage to or destruction of the Project generator step-up transformer that 
requires installation of a replacement unit; and 

(x)	 damage to or destruction of the Transmission Provider’s Transmission 
System which prevents Buyer from accepting delivery of Energy to the 
Delivery Point. 

(b) A Force Majeure Event shall not be based on: 

(i)	 Buyer’s inability to economically use or resell Buyer’s Product purchased 
hereunder; 

(ii)	 Seller’s ability to sell the Product at a price greater than the price set forth in 
this Agreement; 

(iii)	 Seller’s inability to obtain Governmental Approvals or other consents, 
approvals or authorizations of any type for the ownership, construction, 
operation, or maintenance of the Project or the production, transmission, 
delivery and sale of Product; 

(iv)	 Seller’s inability to obtain sufficient labor, equipment, materials, or other 
resources to install, equip, build, operate, maintain or repair the Project, 
except to the extent Seller’s inability to obtain sufficient labor, equipment, 
materials, or other resources is caused by a Force Majeure Event of the 
specific type described in any of subsections (a)(i) through (a)(vi) above; 

(v)	 Seller’s failure to obtain Performance Assurance, financing or other funds, 
including funds authorized by a state or the federal government or agencies 
thereof, to supplement the payments made by Buyer pursuant to this 
Agreement; or 

(vi)	 a strike, work stoppage or labor dispute limited only to any one or more of 
Seller or Seller’s Affiliates. 

“Force Majeure Extension” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(c)(iii). 

“GEP Damages” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.19(c). 

10
 



      

 

 

 
          

 
        

         
            
             

            
          

 
          

        
            

            
         

             
             

         
     

 
          

 
             

      
 

           
  

 
              

               
      

 
              

       
 

            
                

          
 

            
 

          
 

            
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

“GEP Failure” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.19(c). 

“Governmental Approvals” means all authorizations, consents, approvals, waivers, 
exceptions, variances, filings, notices, permits, orders, licenses, exemptions and 
declarations of or with any Governmental Authority and shall include those siting, 
construction and operating permits and licenses, and any of the foregoing under any 
Applicable Law that are required to construct, interconnect, operate, maintain and repair 
the Project and deliver Delivered Energy to the Delivery Point. 

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, local or municipal government 
body; any governmental, quasi-governmental, regulatory or administrative agency, 
commission, body or other authority exercising or entitled to exercise any administrative, 
executive, judicial, legislative, policy, regulatory or taxing authority or power; any court 
or governmental tribunal; or any independent operator, regional transmission 
organization or other regulatory body; in each case having jurisdiction over either Party, 
the Project, the Site, the generation, delivery and sale of Product, Seller’s Interconnection 
Facilities, the Transmission Provider’s Interconnection Facilities, or the Transmission 
Provider’s Transmission System. 

“Governmental Charges” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.2. 

“Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date” means June 30, 20230, as such date may be 
extended in accordance with Section 4.3(c). 

“Guaranteed Energy Production” or “GEP” has the meaning set forth in 
Section 3.19(b). 

“Guarantor” means an entity providing payment security on behalf of a Party. The 
Guarantor must be incorporated or organized in a jurisdiction of the United States and be 
in good standing in such jurisdiction. 

“Guaranty” means a guaranty substantially in the form of Exhibit F issued by a 
Guarantor with an Investment Grade Credit Rating. 

“Initial Energy Delivery Date” means the first date that Seller delivers Buyer’s 
Delivered Energy to Buyer at the Delivery Point and that Buyer is able to receive and 
transmit such Buyer’s Delivered Energy from the Delivery Point. 

“Initial Negotiation End Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 18.2(a). 

“Initial Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1. 

“Interest Payment Date” means the last Business Day of each calendar month. 

11
 



      

 

 

              
               

  
 

 
 

          
             

 
               

               
               

              
 

 
        

          
         

           
  

 
           

             
                 

            
                

 
 

       
 

 
            

  
 

 
 

          
 

 
           

   
 

         
                 

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

“Interest Rate” means the lower of (a) annual rate equal to the U.S. 10-year Treasury 
Note then in effect plus four percent (4%) and (b) the maximum interest permitted by 
Applicable Law. 

“Interim Milestones” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.1(i). 

“Interlocal Agreement” means the Interlocal Agreement creating the Florida Municipal 
Power Agency, as amended and supplemented to date, and as the same may be amended 
or supplemented in the future. 

“Investment Grade” means a Credit Rating of at least: (a) BBB- when the Credit Rating 
is issued by S&P, (b) Baa3 when the Credit Rating is issued by Moody’s, or (c) BBB-
when the Credit Rating is issued by Fitch; provided, that if the applicable Person is rated 
by each of Moody’s, S&P and Fitch, the two (2) highest ratings will be the applicable 
standard in determining such Person’s Credit Rating. 

“Large Generator Interconnection Agreement” means the mutually agreed 
interconnection agreement between the Transmission Provider and Seller pursuant to 
which Seller’s Interconnection Facilities and the Transmission Provider’s Interconnection 
Facilities will be constructed and operated and maintained, in accordance with the 
Transmission Provider’s Open Access Transmission Tariff. 

“Letter(s) of Credit” means one or more irrevocable, transferable standby letters of 
credit, substantially in the form of Exhibit G, issued by a U.S. commercial bank or a 
foreign bank with a U.S. branch with such bank having a credit rating of at least A- from 
S&P or A3 from Moody’s, without a “negative credit watch”, “negative outlook” or other 
rating decline alert by either S&P or Moody’s and having net tangible assets of at least 
$10 Billion, in a form acceptable to the Party in whose favor the letter of credit is issued. 

“Lien” means any lien, charge, claim, mortgage, security agreement or other 
encumbrance. 

“Maintenance Outage” means removal of a portion of the Project from service 
availability, excluding Planned Outages and Forced Outages. 

“Manager” has the meaning set forth in Section 18.2(a). 

“Measurement Period Performance Percentage” has the meaning set forth in 
Section 3.19(a). 

“Metering System” means all meters, metering devices and related instruments used to 
measure and record Energy and to determine the amount of Delivered Energy. 

“Milestone Daily Delay Damages” means Buyer’s Share of 
for each day of delay in achieving the milestones set out in the first two rows 

of Exhibit K. 

12
 



      

 

 

 
              

 
             

             
 

            
 

     
 

        
 

          
           

           
            

        
 

             
      

 
             

             
               

               
 

 
          

 
         

 
           

 
          

 
          

 
             

 
              

 
               
         

 

            
            

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

“Milestone Daily Delay Damages Cap” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.1(j).
 

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investor Service, Inc. or any successor thereto, or in the
 
event that there is no such successor, a nationally recognized credit rating agency.
 

“MW” means a megawatt (or 1,000 kilowatts) of AC electric generating capacity.
 

“MWh” means a megawatt hour.
 

“NERC” means the North American Electric Reliability Corporation.
 

“Network Upgrades” means additions, modifications and upgrades to the Transmission
 
Provider’s Transmission System, or any other electric delivery system beyond the 
Delivery Point to which Transmission Provider’s Transmission System is directly or 
indirectly interconnected or which is affected, to accommodate the interconnection of the 
Project to the Transmission Provider’s Transmission System. 

“Network Upgrade Cost” means the costs to make any Network Upgrades required by 
the Transmission Provider for the Project. 

“Newly Available Product” means any Product available to Seller following a default or 
termination by (a) any Other Buyer under a power purchase agreement with Seller 
relating to the Project, or (b) any Other Solar Project Buyer under a power purchase 
agreement with Seller relating to a project in the Solar Project Portfolio other than the 
Project. 

“Non-Defaulting Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.
 

“Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 19.1.
 

“Notice Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.
 

“Operating Procedures” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.11.
 

“Option Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1.
 

“Original Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble to the Agreement. 

“Original Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble to the Agreement. 

“Other Buyer” means each Person (if any) other than Buyer identified in Part I of 
Exhibit O that will purchase Product from the Project. 

“Other Buyer's Share” means, with respect to the Product (including the Energy, 
Renewable Attributes and Facility Attributes) and certain other rights and obligations set 

13
 



      

 

 

             
                 

                 
         

 
            

                 
  

 

      

 
             

 
             

 
             

              
                

 
 

           
 

         
           

 
          

 
          
        

            
 

                 
               

             
            
            
              

          
 

               
              

               
            

          
            

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

forth in this Agreement, an Other Buyer’s undivided pro rata entitlement share, expressed 
as the percentage set forth in Part I of Exhibit O, as such Exhibit may be amended 
pursuant to Section 3.1(b). For the avoidance of doubt, the sum of Buyer's Share and all 
Other Buyer’s Shares) shall equal one hundred percent (100%). 

“Other Solar Project Buyers” means each of the “Other Solar Project Buyers” 
identified in Part I of Exhibit O with respect to the Taylor Creek project and the Holopaw 
project. 

“OUC” means the Orlando Utilities Commission. 

“Parties” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement. 

“Party” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement. 

“Performance Assurance” means security in the form of cash, Letters of Credit, or 
Guaranty (unless specified otherwise in this Agreement) in the form and substance set out 
in this Agreement provided by a Party to the other Party to secure a Party’s obligations 
hereunder. 

“Performance Measurement Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.19(a). 

“Permitted Extensions” means extensions to the Guaranteed Commercial Operation 
Date due to Transmission Delay, Permitting Delay, or Force Majeure Extension. 

“Permitting Delay” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(c)(ii). 

“Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation, business trust, joint stock 
company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture, Governmental Authority, 
governmental entity, limited liability company or any other entity of whatever nature. 

“Plan” means a plan delivered by one Party to the other Party or by Collateral Agent or 
Tax Equity Investor(s) to Buyer, as applicable, in connection with an outage or an Event 
of Default (as applicable) pursuant to Section 7.1(a)(iii) (Events of Default), Section 16.1 
(Force Majeure), section 3(c) of a consent to assignment delivered pursuant to 
Section 15.2(d), or section 6(c) of an estoppel certificate delivered pursuant to 
Section 15.2(d), as such plan may be updated by written Notice (including by e-mail) 
from the Person delivering such plan to the applicable Party. 

“Planned Outage” means the scheduled removal of all or a portion of the Project from 
service availability. To qualify as a Planned Outage, the maintenance (a) must actually 
be conducted during the Planned Outage period, and in Seller’s sole discretion must be of 
the type that is necessary to reliably maintain the Project consistent with 
recommendations of equipment manufacturers and Prudent Operating Practice, (b) cannot 
be reasonably conducted during the Project’s operations, and (c) is reasonably expected 

14
 



      

 

 

                 
       

 
           

 
           

      
 

           
            

          
           

 
          

 
           

 
           

 
             

           
                 

              
           

            
           

              
                

            
                

 
 

             
                

   
 

          
              

               
                

            
           

             
                

       
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

to cause the amount of Energy delivered to the Delivery Point to be reduced by at least 
five percent (5%) of the Project Capacity. 

“Point of Interconnection” has the meaning set forth in Exhibit C. 

“Product” means the Energy, Renewable Attributes and Facility Attributes generated by 
the Project, net of Station Service. 

“Project” means Seller’s electrical plant and equipment used to generate electricity 
utilizing photovoltaic solar energy generator equipment and facilities located at the Site, 
Seller’s Interconnection Facilities and any and all additions, replacements or 
modifications. The Project is more particularly described in Exhibit B. 

“Project Capacity” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4. 

“Project Cure Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a). 

“Project Development Security” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.4(a)(i). 

“Project Investor” or “Project Investors” means any and all Persons or successors in 
interest thereof (a) lending money, extending credit or providing loan guarantees 
(whether directly to Seller or to an Affiliate of Seller) as follows: (i) for the construction, 
interim or permanent financing or refinancing of the Project; (ii) for working capital or 
other ordinary business requirements of the Project (including the maintenance, repair, 
replacement or improvement of the Project); (iii) for any development financing, bridge 
financing, credit support, credit enhancement or interest rate protection in connection 
with the Project; (iv) for any capital improvement or replacement related to the Project; 
or (v) for the purchase of the Project and the related rights from Seller; or (b) 
participating (directly or indirectly) as an equity investor (including a Tax Equity 
Investor) in the Project; or (c) any lessor under a lease finance arrangement relating to the 
Project. 

“Project Quantity” means the total estimated Energy production of the Project for a 
Contract Year as set forth in Exhibit D, as such Exhibit may be amended in accordance 
with Section 3.19(g). 

“Prudent Operating Practices” means the practices, methods and standards of 
professional care, skill and diligence engaged in or approved by a significant portion of 
the electric generation industry for solar facilities of similar size, type, and design as the 
Project, that, in the exercise of reasonable judgment, in light of the facts known at the 
time, would have been expected to accomplish results consistent with Applicable Law, 
reliability, safety, environmental protection and standards of economy and expedition. 
Prudent Operating Practices is not intended to be limited to the optimum practice, 
method, or act to the exclusion of all others, but rather to be acceptable practice, methods, 
or acts generally accepted in the industry. 

15
 



      

 

 

           
 

              
               

                 
               
         

 
         

 
          

 
          

 
           

           
              

              
             

             
         

 
          

 
                 

        
 

            
               
              

             
              

            
             

              
  

 
        

 
             

 
           
 

              
    

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

“Purchase Option” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1. 

“Qualified Institution” means a U.S. commercial bank or a licensed U.S. branch of a 
foreign bank, or other Person having an unsecured bond rating equivalent to A- or better 
(by S&P and/or Fitch) or A3 or better (by Moody’s) as determined by at least two (2) 
Ratings Agencies, one of which must be either Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s, and net 
tangible assets of at least Thirty Billion Dollars ($30,000,000,000). 

“Ratings Agency” means either of Fitch, S&P or Moody’s. 

“Receiving Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 14.1. 

“Referral Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 18.2(a). 

“Renewable Attributes” means any and all existing and future renewable resource 
attributes, emissions credits and other environmentally related attributes that arise from, 
result from, are created by or are attributable to the generation, production, purchase or 
sale of Energy from the Project. Renewable Attributes do not include (a) any Energy, 
capacity, reliability or other power attributes from the Project, (b) Tax Attributes or 
(c) emission reduction credits encumbered or used by the Project for compliance with 
local, state or federal operating and/or air quality permits. 

“Renewal Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1. 

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s or any successor thereto, or in the event that there is no 
such successor, a nationally recognized credit rating agency. 

"Scheduling Coordinator" means the Persons designated by Buyer and Other Buyers by 
Notice to Seller as the Persons who are authorized and responsible for (a) scheduling the 
amount of Energy expected to be delivered to the Delivery Point by the Project, 
consistent with the Operating Procedures, during any hour during the Delivery Term and 
(b) acting as the designated account manager for the Green-E Tracking System, or other 
body for the registration, certification, or transfer of Renewable Attributes, for the 
purposes of allocating and distributing Renewable Attributes among the Buyer and the 
Other Buyers (if any), based on Buyer’s Share and each Other Buyer’s Share, as 
applicable. 

“SEC” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 

“Seller” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement. 

“Seller Excuses” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.5(a). 

“Seller Excuse Hours” means the hours Seller is unable to generate or deliver Energy 
due to Seller Excuses. 

16
 



      

 

 

     
 

             
                

               
               

             
               

               
                

  
 

           
              

               
               

                
              

            
             
               

               
              

               
                 
             

          
 

            
 

         
           

           
           

 
              

       
 

             
              

       
 

               
 

           
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

“Seller Sales Damages” means: 

(a) the discounted value (discounted at the Interest Rate) of the positive 
difference, if any, of: (i) all Dollar amounts that Seller would, in the manner set forth 
below, be expected to receive from the sale of the Buyer’s Product under this Agreement 
through the remainder of the Term; plus (ii) all incremental costs over and above those 
that Seller would otherwise incur when delivering the Buyer’s Product to the Delivery 
Point; less (iii) all Dollar amounts Seller reasonably would, in the manner set forth below, 
be expected to receive at then-prevailing market conditions from the sale to a third party 
of the Buyer’s Product that it would have provided to Buyer through the remainder of the 
Term. 

(b) Seller shall calculate the Seller Sales Damages in a Commercially 
Reasonable manner by using the average of market bids or quotations provided by three 
(3) or more bona fide unaffiliated market participants, if available. The average of the 
bids/quotes that were obtained shall be deemed to be the market price. The quotes 
obtained shall be: (i) for a like amount, (ii) of Product from the Project equivalent to 
Buyer’s Product, (iii) at the same or reasonably similar Delivery Point, (iv) for the 
remainder of the Term, and (v) determined in any other Commercially Reasonable 
manner. In no event shall Seller Sales Damages include any penalties, or ratcheted 
demand or similar charges, nor shall Seller be required to utilize or change its utilization 
of its owned or controlled assets or market positions to minimize Buyer's liability. For the 
purposes of this definition, Seller shall not be required to actually resell the Buyer’s 
Product to calculate the Seller Sales Damages as set forth herein. If Seller Sales 
Damages are owed as a result of an Event of Default and the Seller Sales Damages, as 
calculated pursuant to this definition, are a negative number then the Seller Sales 
Damages shall be deemed to equal Zero Dollars ($0.00). 

“Seller’s Delivery Term Security” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.4(a)(ii). 

“Seller’s Interconnection Facilities” means the interconnection facilities, control and 
protective devices and metering and supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) 
facilities required to connect the Project with the Transmission Provider’s Transmission 
System up to, and on Seller’s side of, the Delivery Point. 

“Seller’s Ultimate Parent Company” means the ultimate parent of Seller, which as of the 
Original Effective Date is NextEra Energy, Inc. 

“Settlement Amount” means (a) with respect to a Termination Payment owed to Buyer, 
the Buyer Purchase Damages; or (b) with respect to a Termination Payment owed to 
Seller, the Seller Sales Damages, as applicable. 

“Site” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals as further described in Exhibit I. 

“Solar Project Portfolio” has the meaning set forth in the Recitals. 

17
 



      

 

 

              
            

    
 

          
              

              
            

       
 

             
               

                
             

            
            

                
 

 
              

             
         
            

             
                

      

 
         

 
          

 
          

 
           

    
 

       
            

            
       

 
         

            
  

   
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

“Station Service” means the electric energy required by the Project to power the lights, 
motors, control systems and other auxiliary electrical loads that are necessary for 
operation of the Project. 

“System Emergency” means a condition on the Transmission Provider’s Transmission 
System, at the Project, or on transmission facilities used to deliver Energy from the 
Project to the Delivery Point which condition is likely to result in imminent significant 
disruption of service to the Transmission Provider’s Transmission System customers or is 
imminently likely to endanger life or property. 

“Tax Attributes” means (a) investment tax credits (including any grants or payments in 
lieu thereof) and any other tax deductions or tax benefits under federal, state or other 
Applicable Law available as a result of the ownership and operation of the Project or the 
output generated by the Project (including tax credits, payments in lieu thereof and 
accelerated and/or bonus depreciation); and (b) present or future (whether known or 
unknown) cash payments, grants under Section 1603 of the American Recovery and 
Reinvestment Tax Act of 2009 or outright grants of money relating in any way to the 
Project. 

“Tax Equity Investor” means one or more Project Investor(s) seeking a return that is 
enhanced by tax credits and/or tax depreciation and generally (a) described in Revenue 
Procedures 2001-28 (sale-leaseback (with or without “leverage”)), 2007-65 (flip 
partnership) or 2014-12 (flip partnership and master tenant partnership) as those revenue 
procedures are reasonably applied or analogized to a solar project transaction (as opposed 
to a wind farm or rehabilitated real estate) or (b) contemplated by Section 50(d)(5) of the 
Code, as amended (a pass-through lease). 

“Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1. 

“Termination Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(a). 

“Transmission Delay” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(c)(i). 

“Transmission Provider” means Duke Energy Florida or any successor to the 
Transmission Provider’s Transmission System. 

“Transmission Provider’s Interconnection Facilities” means the interconnection 
facilities, control and protective devices and metering facilities required to connect the 
Transmission Provider’s Transmission System with the Project up to, and on the 
Transmission Provider’s side of, the Delivery Point. 

“Transmission Provider’s Transmission System” means the facilities for the 
transmission of Buyer’s Delivered Energy from the Delivery Point to Buyer’s electric 
delivery system. 

1.2 Interpretation. 

18
 



      

 

 

            

               
      

               

             
  

            
                

  

              
             

            
      

             
          

               

          
  

            
               

          

              
             

      

            
             

        

             
   

               
         

           
          

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

The following rules of construction shall be followed when interpreting this Agreement: 

(a) the gender (or lack of gender) of all words used in this Agreement includes 
the masculine, feminine, and neuter; 

(b) words used or defined in the singular include the plural and vice versa; 

(c) references to Articles and Sections refer to Articles and Sections of this 
Agreement; 

(d) references to Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules refer to the Annexes, Exhibits 
and Schedules attached to this Agreement, each of which is made a part hereof for all 
purposes; 

(e) references to Applicable Laws refer to such Applicable Laws as they may be 
amended from time to time, and references to particular provisions of an Applicable 
Law include any corresponding provisions of any succeeding Applicable Law and any 
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder; 

(f) terms defined in this Agreement are used throughout this Agreement and in 
any Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules hereto as so defined; 

(g) references to money refer to legal currency of the United States of America; 

(h) the words “includes” or “including” shall mean “including without 
limitation;” 

(i) the words “hereof,” “hereby,” “herein,” “hereunder” and similar terms in this 
Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not any particular Article or 
Section in which such words appear, unless otherwise specified; 

(j) all references to a particular entity shall include a reference to such entity’s 
successors and permitted assigns but, if applicable, only if such successors and assigns 
are permitted by this Agreement; 

(k) references to any agreement, document or instrument shall mean a reference 
to such agreement, document or instrument as the same may be amended, modified, 
supplemented or replaced from time to time; 

(l) the word “or” will have the inclusive meaning represented by the phrase 
“and/or;” 

(m) the words “shall” and “will” mean “must”, and shall and will have equal 
force and effect and express an obligation; and 

(n) the words “writing,” “written” and comparable terms refer to printing, 
typing, and other means of reproducing in a visible form. 

19
 



      

 

 

  

 

  
 

              
                
              

                   
               

                  
                

   

  

    

  

              
                

             
                

              
                 

             
               

              
             

              
         

             
                

  

             
             

                 
               

             
              
             

              
     

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

ARTICLE 2
 

TERM
 

2.1 Term. 

This Agreement shall commence on the Original Effective Date and, unless sooner terminated in 
accordance with the terms hereof, continue until the date that is twenty (20) years following the 
Commercial Operation Date (the “Initial Term”). The Initial Term may be extended at the 
option of Buyer for two (2) extension terms of five (5) years each or by one ten (10) year 
extension term (the “Renewal Term(s)”), with no change to the Contract Price, by Notice from 
Buyer to Seller at least one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the expiration of the Initial Term 
or the initial Renewal Term, as applicable. The Initial Term and any Renewal Term(s) are 
collectively (the “Term”). 

ARTICLE 3
 

OBLIGATIONS AND DELIVERIES
 

3.1 Product. 

(a) Seller shall produce, deliver and sell to Buyer Buyer’s Product which is or 
can be produced by or associated with the Project now and in the future (whether known 
or unknown) in accordance with the terms hereof. Seller and Buyer acknowledge that 
except in the case in which Buyer’s Share is or becomes equal to one hundred percent 
(100%), the Buyer’s Product under this Agreement is not intended to be the entire 
Product produced by or relating to the Project and that Seller has or will contract to sell 
the remaining shares of the Product to Other Buyers. Seller acknowledges that Buyer 
does not and shall not incur obligations to the Other Buyers through this Agreement and 
the rights and obligations of this Agreement shall be separate and independent of any 
agreements entered into by Seller with Other Buyers and Other Solar Project Buyers, 
including with regard to Seller’s ability or inability so resell Newly Available Product to 
third parties, except as expressly, specifically set forth herein. 

(b) In the event of availability of Newly Available Product in connection with 
the Project, Seller shall proceed to dispose of such Other Buyer’s Share of the Product as 
follows: 

(i) Seller shall first offer to transfer to Buyer and to each non-defaulting 
Other Buyer(s) a pro rata portion of the Newly Available Product, in accordance 
with each such Person’s share of the Project as set forth in Part I of Exhibit O. 
Any part of such Newly Available Product that is declined by Buyer or any Other 
Buyer(s), shall be reoffered pro rata to Buyer and/or such Other Buyer(s) which 
have accepted in full the first such offer; such reoffering shall be repeated until 
such Newly Available Product has been reallocated in full or until Buyer and/or 
all such Other Buyers have declined to take any portion or additional portion of 
such Newly Available Product. 

20
 



      

 

 

              
            

               
               

      

               
             
               

               
           

               
                

              

      

            
               
             

              
   

             
                

               
              

             
               

             
            

             
            

              
              

    
 

                
             

              
                
                 

                 
              
      

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(ii) If less than all of the Newly Available Product shall be accepted by 
Buyer and/or such Other Buyers, Seller shall offer the remaining Newly Available 
Product to Other Solar Project Buyers on a pro rata basis in accordance with such 
Other Solar Project Buyers’ share of the Solar Project Portfolio as set forth in Part 
II of Exhibit O. 

(c) If less than all of the Newly Available Product shall be accepted by Buyer 
and/or such Other Buyers and/or such Other Solar Project Buyers pursuant to Section 
3.1(b), Seller may sell to a third party the remaining portion of Newly Available Product 
for the remainder of the Term. Upon the conclusion of such reoffering, Seller shall 
provide Buyer with an amended Exhibit O reflecting the revised percentages 
constituting Buyer’s Share and each Other Buyer’s Share, as well as the share of each 
such Person in the Solar Project Portfolio. Such amended Exhibit O will be deemed to 
replace the exhibit attached to this Agreement as Exhibit O prior to such amendment. 

3.2 Purchase and Sale. 

(a) Unless specifically excused by the terms of this Agreement, during the 
Delivery Term Seller shall produce at the Project, sell and deliver, or cause to be 
delivered, and Buyer shall purchase and receive, or cause to be received, Buyer’s 
Product, and Buyer shall pay Seller for Buyer’s Product in accordance with the terms 
hereof. 

(b) For and in consideration of Buyer entering into this Agreement, and in 
addition to the agreement by Buyer and Seller to purchase and sell Buyer’s Product on 
the terms and conditions set forth herein, Seller will transfer to Buyer, and Buyer will 
receive from Seller, all right, title, and interest in and to all Buyer’s Renewable 
Attributes and Buyer’s Facility Attributes, whether now existing or acquired by Seller or 
that hereafter come into existence or are acquired by Seller during the Term, for all 
Buyer’s Delivered Energy. Seller agrees to transfer and make such Buyer’s Renewable 
Attributes and Buyer’s Facility Attributes available to Buyer immediately to the fullest 
extent allowed by Applicable Law upon Seller’s production or acquisition of the Buyer’s 
Renewable Attributes and Buyer’s Facility Attributes. Seller shall not assign, transfer, 
convey, encumber, sell or otherwise dispose of all or any portion of such Buyer’s 
Renewable Attributes and Buyer’s Facility Attributes to any Person other than Buyer. 

3.3 Contract Price. 

Buyer shall pay Seller the Contract Price for each MWh of Buyer’s Delivered Energy. Buyer and 
Seller acknowledge and agree that the consideration for the transfer of Buyer’s Renewable 
Attributes and Buyer’s Facility Attributes is contained within Contract Price paid for the Buyer’s 
Product. In the event that during any Contract Year Seller produces and makes an Excess Energy 
Delivery to the Delivery Point, within thirty (30) days after the end of such Contract Year, Seller 
shall credit Buyer by an amount such that in respect of all such Excess Energy Delivery, Buyer 
effectively paid the Excess Energy Rate for such Excess Energy Delivery pursuant to the 
settlement process described in Section 3.19. 

21
 



      

 

 

   
 

                
              
               
                 

                  
            

              

    

             
                

             
            

    

               
                

              
      

              
           
      

     

             
                

                 
                
                

               
              

               
             

                
             

        

             
               

             
   

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

3.4 Project Capacity. 

The “Project Capacity” is the full generation capacity of the Project net of all Station Service 
and net of losses, including transformation or transmission losses, to the Delivery Point, which 
shall be 74.5 MW AC as of the Commercial Operation Date. Throughout the Delivery Term, 
Seller shall sell and deliver Buyer’s Share of the Project Capacity solely to Buyer, except as may 
be permitted under this Agreement in the case of an Event of Default of Buyer or during a 
Curtailment Period, Planned Outage or Maintenance Outage, Forced Outage or Force Majeure 
Event where Buyer is prevented from accepting delivery of Buyer’s Share of the Energy. 

3.5 Performance Excuses. 

(a) The obligation of Seller to deliver Buyer’s Delivered Energy to the Delivery 
Point shall be excused only (i) during periods of a Force Majeure Event, (ii) by Buyer’s 
unexcused failure to perform its obligation to receive Buyer’s Delivered Energy at the 
Delivery Point, (iii) during Curtailment Periods and (iv) during Planned Outages and 
Maintenance Outages (“Seller Excuses”). 

(b) The obligation of Buyer to receive and pay for Buyer’s Share of the Energy 
shall be excused only (i) during periods of a Force Majeure Event, (ii) by Seller’s failure 
to perform its obligations to generate and deliver Energy to the Delivery Point, or 
(iii) during Curtailment Periods (“Buyer Excuses”). 

(c) Except for a failure resulting from a 
Curtailment Period, the failure of electric trans
performance with respect to either Party. 

Force 
mission 

Majeure Event 
service shall 

or 
not 

during 
excuse 

a 

3.6 Buyer’s Right to Curtail. 

(a) The Scheduling Coordinator may curtail, or require Seller to curtail, all or 
part of the Energy from the Project at any time for any reason, including Buyer Excuses. 
In the event that the curtailment does not arise out of Buyer Excuses, for any such period 
and to the full extent the Project is otherwise available (taking into account any partial or 
full outage), Buyer shall be responsible for and shall pay Seller for Buyer’s Share of the 
Energy Not Received at the Delivery Point as a result of the curtailment directed by 
Scheduling Coordinator at the Contract Price for the amount of Buyer’s Share of Energy 
Not Received as determined and calculated by Seller and agreed to by Buyer in a 
Commercially Reasonable manner. In the event that Buyer requests Seller to curtail all 
or part of the Energy the Project is capable of generating, Seller shall curtail the 
generation of such Energy as soon as reasonably possible after receiving, and otherwise 
in accordance with, Notice from Buyer. 

(b) Seller shall include in a monthly invoice delivered to Buyer pursuant to 
Section 8.1 the amounts, if any, owed by Buyer pursuant to Section 3.6(a) and a 
description, in reasonable detail, of the calculation of Buyer’s Share of Energy Not 
Received. 

22
 



      

 

 

   

                 
             
               

               
              

               
        

            
             

              

            
           

                
               

              
            

            
                

          

            
    

           
      

               
              

           

            
           

             
             
               

         

            
    

           
      

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

3.7 Replacement Energy.
 

(a) Subject to clauses (b) and (c) of this Section 3.7, in the event of a Planned 
Outage, Maintenance Outage, Forced Outage, or an outage in connection with a Force 
Majeure Event or any other Seller Excuse, during the period of such outage, Buyer (i) 
has the right to purchase replacement energy as necessary and (ii) shall be relieved from 
the obligation to receive and purchase, or cause to be received and purchased, Buyer’s 
Share of the Energy at the Delivery Point; provided, that Seller shall have no obligation 
to reimburse Buyer for any such replacement energy. 

(b) In connection with any outage for which Seller delivers written Notice 
(including by e-mail) to Buyer stating that Seller anticipates such outage will continue 
for forty-eight (48) hours or more, and Seller has delivered a Plan to Buyer: 

(i) Buyer may, upon written Notice to Seller, Collateral Agent or Tax 
Equity Investor(s) (as applicable), purchase replacement energy for a period of 
time equal to the lesser of (A) the remaining period of time outlined in such Plan, 
or (B) seven (7) days; provided, for the avoidance of doubt, that if the Plan 
provides a timeline greater than seven (7) days to resume the delivery of Energy 
to the Delivery Point, Buyer may continue to purchase replacement energy upon 
written Notice to Seller, Collateral Agent or Tax Equity Investor (as applicable) 
on a rolling basis until the date on which delivery of Energy to the Delivery Point 
is anticipated to resume, as specified in the Plan; 

(ii) Buyer shall not be obligated to purchase or receive Delivered Energy 
during such period; and 

(iii) Seller, Collateral Agent or Tax Equity Investor(s) (as applicable) shall 
provide regular Plan updates to Buyer. 

(c) In connection with any outage that is not a Planned Outage or a Maintenance 
Outage and for which Seller fails to deliver written Notice (including by e-mail) to 
Buyer within twenty-four (24) hours after the occurrence of such outage. 

(i) Buyer may, upon written Notice to Seller, Collateral Agent or Tax 
Equity Investor(s) (as applicable), purchase replacement energy for a period of 
time equal to seven (7) days, and Buyer may continue to purchase replacement 
energy upon written Notice to Seller or Collateral Agent (as applicable) on a 
rolling basis until the date on which delivery of Energy to the Delivery Point is 
anticipated to resume, as specified in a Plan; 

(ii) Buyer shall not be obligated to purchase or receive Delivered Energy 
during such period; and 

(iii) Seller, Collateral Agent or Tax Equity Investor(s) (as applicable) shall 
provide regular Plan updates to Buyer. 

23
 



      

 

 

      

             
              

            

             
                
               

             
        

              
                

              
                

               
                

                
           

            
              

            
             

              
          

              
              

            

   

           
          

             
             

           
              

         
        
              
          

            
                
               

         

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

3.8 Offsets, Allowances and Renewable Attributes.
 

(a) Buyer shall be entitled to Buyer’s Renewable Attributes and Buyer’s Facility 
Attributes. Buyer shall not be entitled to any Renewable Attributes or Facility Attributes 
resulting from Delivered Energy which Buyer does not purchase under this Agreement. 

(b) Seller shall transfer and assign to Buyer all Buyer’s Renewable Attributes. 
On or before the tenth (10th) day following the end of each Month, Seller shall complete 
and provide to Buyer the bill of sale for Buyer’s Renewable Attributes in the form 
attached hereto as Exhibit M, together with Seller’s monthly invoice to Buyer for 
Buyer’s Product issued in accordance with Section 8.1. 

(c) Seller shall be entitled to all (i) Tax Attributes, and (ii) any Renewable 
Attributes that the Buyer is not entitled to pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.8(a). 
Buyer acknowledges that Seller has the right to sell any Renewable Attributes to which 
Seller is entitled pursuant to this Section 3.8(c) to any Person other than Buyer at any 
rate and upon any terms and conditions that Seller may determine in its sole discretion 
without liability to Buyer hereunder. Buyer shall have no claim, right or interest in such 
Renewable Attributes that Seller has the right to sell under this Section 3.8(c) or in any 
amount that Seller realized from the sale of such Renewable Attributes. 

(d) Seller shall bear all risks, financial and otherwise throughout the Term, 
associated with Seller's or the Project’s eligibility to receive any Tax Attributes, or to 
qualify for accelerated or bonus depreciation for Seller's accounting, reporting or tax 
purposes. The obligations of the Parties hereunder, including those obligations set forth 
herein regarding the sale, purchase and price for and Seller's obligation to generate and 
deliver Buyer’s Delivered Energy, Buyer’s Renewable Attributes, and Buyer’s Facility 
Attributes, shall be effective regardless of whether the generation of Product or sale and 
delivery of any Delivered Energy from the Project is eligible for, or receives Tax 
Attributes or to qualify for accelerated or bonus depreciation during the Term. 

3.9 Transmission. 

(a) Seller shall be responsible for presenting to and receiving Transmission 
Provider approval of the Project interconnection requirements and transmission facilities 
so that Seller can perform its Product deliveries hereunder in accordance with applicable 
Transmission Provider requirements. Seller shall be responsible for all costs to design, 
equip, construct and maintain the interconnection facilities necessary to deliver Energy 
from the Project to the Point of Interconnection. Seller shall be responsible for receiving 
Network Resource Interconnection Service from the Transmission Provider in 
accordance with the Transmission Provider’s Large Generator Interconnection 
Procedures. Subject to Section 4.2, Buyer shall be responsible for arranging for all 
transmission services required to effectuate Buyer’s purchase of Buyer’s Product, 
including obtaining firm transmission service or delivery to the wholesale and retail 
power customers of Buyer, in an amount of capacity equal to the Buyer's Share of the 
Project Capacity, and shall be responsible for the payment of any charges related to such 
transmission services hereunder, including charges for transmission or wheeling 

24
 



      

 

 

         
              
               

             
          

            
               

                
            
              

          
 

  
 

             
            

           
    

    
 

           

              
              
               

              
               

              
           

   

   

             
             

            
               

             
    

            
            
        

    

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

services, ancillary services, control area services, congestion charges, transaction 
charges and line losses. The Parties acknowledge that the Contract Price does not 
include charges for such transmission services, all of which shall be paid by Buyer. 

(b) In the event that the Transmission Provider or any other properly authorized 
Person exercising control over the Transmission Provider’s Interconnection Facilities or 
the Transmission Provider’s Transmission System takes any action or orders Seller or 
Buyer to take any action that affects Buyer’s ability to take delivery of Energy hereunder 
not caused by or resulting from Seller's act or omission, a Curtailment Period or a Force 
Majeure Event, Buyer shall use its Commercially Reasonable Efforts to attempt to 
mitigate the adverse effects of such action(s) on Buyer’s ability to take delivery of 
Energy hereunder; including redispatching its generation resources other than the 
Project. 

3.10 Scheduling. 

Scheduling Coordinator shall be responsible for the scheduling of all Delivered Energy during 
the Delivery Term, including arranging any Open Access Same Time Information Systems 
(OASIS), tagging, transmission scheduling or similar protocols with the Transmission Provider 
or any other Persons. 

3.11 Operating Procedures. 

Seller and Buyer will endeavor to develop written operating procedures (“Operating 

Procedures”) not less than sixty (60) days before the scheduled Initial Energy Delivery Date, 
which Operating Procedures shall only be effective if made by mutual written agreement of 
Seller and Buyer. The Parties agree that the Operating Procedures they will endeavor to 
establish will cover the protocol under which the Parties will perform their respective obligations 
under this Agreement and will include procedures concerning the following: (1) the method of 
day-to-day communications; (2) key personnel lists for Seller and Buyer; and (3) reporting of 
scheduled maintenance, Maintenance Outages, Planned Outages and Forced Outages of the 
Project. 

3.12 Regulatory Approvals. 

(a) Buyer shall apply for and shall diligently pursue a reservation of network 
transmission service that secures a firm delivery path for the Buyer’s Delivered Energy 
from the Delivery Point to and over the Transmission Provider’s Transmission System, 
in an amount of capacity equal to Buyer's Share of the Project Capacity, with such 
application being submitted not later than ten (10) Business Days following the Original 
Effective Date. 

(b) Following execution of this Agreement by both Parties, each Party shall 
promptly seek to obtain all Governmental Approvals and other licenses, permits and 
approvals necessary to perform its obligations hereunder. 

3.13 Standards of Care. 

25
 



      

 

 

           
            
           

     

           
           

         

            
             

         
        

   

            
             

            
           

             
              

                
             

           
             

             
          

               
              
              

            
            

              
             

              
                 

   

             
            

            
                

               
               

            
            

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(a) Seller shall comply with all requirements of Applicable Law, Governmental 
Approvals and NERC relating to the Project (including those related to construction, 
ownership, interconnection and/or operation of the Project and production and delivery 
of Buyer’s Product). 

(b) As applicable, each Party shall perform all generation, scheduling and 
transmission services in compliance with all applicable operating policies, criteria, rules, 
guidelines, tariffs and protocols of Prudent Operating Practices. 

(c) Seller agrees to comply with all (i) NERC reliability requirements, including 
all such reliability requirements for generator owners and generator operators, and (ii) all 
applicable requirements regarding interconnection of the Project, including the 
requirements of the interconnected Transmission Provider. 

3.14 Outage Notification. 

(a) Seller shall schedule Planned Outages for the Project in accordance with 
Prudent Operating Practices and with the prior written consent of Buyer, which consent 
may not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. The Parties acknowledge 
that in all circumstances, Prudent Operating Practices shall dictate when Planned 
Outages should occur. Seller shall Notify Buyer of its proposed Planned Outage 
schedule for the Project for the following calendar year by submitting a written Planned 
Outage schedule no later than August 1st of each year during the Delivery Term. The 
Planned Outage schedule is subject to Buyer’s approval, which approval may not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Buyer shall promptly respond within 
five (5) Business Days with its approval or with reasonable modifications to the 
proposed Planned Outage schedule and Seller shall use its best efforts in accordance 
with Prudent Operating Practices to accommodate Buyer’s requested modifications and 
deliver the final schedule to Buyer. Seller shall contact and confirm by Notice to Buyer 
with any requested changes to the Planned Outage schedule if Seller believes the Project 
must be shut down to conduct maintenance that cannot be delayed until the next 
scheduled Planned Outage consistent with Prudent Operating Practices. Seller shall not 
change its Planned Outage schedule without Buyer’s approval, not to be unreasonably 
withheld, conditioned or delayed. Seller shall use its best efforts in accordance with 
Prudent Operating Practices not to schedule Planned Outages during the period of April 
1st through October 31st of the Delivery Term. Seller shall not substitute Energy from 
any other source for the output of the Project during a Planned Outage or at any other 
time. 

(b) In addition to Planned Outages, Seller shall promptly inform Buyer of any 
Forced Outage lasting for more than sixty (60) consecutive minutes. Such information 
shall be communicated by electronic mail to Buyer's designated personnel and describe 
the nature of the Forced Outage, the beginning date and time of such Forced Outage, the 
expected end date and time of such Forced Outage, the amount of Energy that Seller 
expects will be delivered at the Delivery Point during such Forced Outage, and any other 
information reasonably requested by Buyer. With respect to any such Forced Outage, 
Seller shall communicate and inform Buyer and thereafter provide Buyer with such 

26
 



      

 

 

            
  

             
             

                
             

              
          

             
           

              
              

               
               

                 
            

             
               

              
               

              
              

              
          

            
              

             
              

    

            
             

            
  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Notice by any reasonable means requested by Buyer, including by telephone or 
electronic mail. 

(c) If Seller reasonably determines that it is necessary to schedule a Maintenance 
Outage, Seller shall Notify Buyer of the proposed Maintenance Outage as soon as 
practicable but in any event at least five (5) days before the outage begins (or such 
shorter period to which Buyer may reasonably consent), in order to optimize the 
Delivered Energy from the Project. Upon such Notice, the Parties shall plan the 
Maintenance Outage to mutually accommodate the reasonable requirements of Seller 
and the service obligations of Buyer; provided, however, that Seller shall take all 
reasonable measures consistent with Prudent Operating Practices to not schedule any 
Maintenance Outage during the weekday day light hours during the period of April 1st 

through October 31st of the Delivery Term. Notice of a proposed Maintenance Outage 
shall include the expected start date and time of the outage, the amount of generation 
capacity of the Project that will not be available, and the expected completion date and 
time of the outage. Seller shall give Buyer Notice of the Maintenance Outage as soon as 
practicable after Seller determines that the Maintenance Outage is necessary. Buyer 
shall promptly respond to such Notice and may request reasonable modifications in the 
schedule for the outage. Seller shall use all reasonable efforts to comply with any 
request to modify the schedule for a Maintenance Outage, provided that such change has 
no substantial impact on Seller. Seller shall Notify Buyer of any subsequent changes in 
generation capacity available to Buyer as a result of such Maintenance Outage or any 
changes in the Maintenance Outage completion date and time. As soon as practicable, 
any notifications given orally shall be confirmed in Notices. Seller shall take all 
reasonable measures consistent with Prudent Operating Practices to minimize the 
frequency and duration of Maintenance Outages. Seller may schedule a Maintenance 
Outage at any time and without the requirement to Notify Buyer in advance during 
conditions of low solar insolation, but Seller shall Notify Buyer of the commencement 
of the Maintenance Outage if such Maintenance Outage is expected to exist for more 
than four (4) hours. 

(d) The Parties acknowledge and agree that the estimated Project Quantities set 
forth on Exhibit D (as such Exhibit may be amended in accordance with 
Section 3.19(g)) does not take into account Planned Outages, Maintenance Outages, and 
Forced Outages. 

27
 



      

 

 

      

             
              

        
         
        

            
              

              
 

              
             

           
             

            
            
               

            
            

     

              
              

            
           

              
             

             
           

            
 

               
               

             
               

               
        

             
              

              
               
         

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

3.15 Operations Logs and Access Rights.
 

(a) Seller shall maintain a complete and accurate log of all material operations 
and maintenance information on a daily basis. Such log shall include information on 
power production, solar insolation, efficiency, availability, maintenance performed, 
Maintenance Outages, Planned Outages, Forced Outages, results of inspections, 
manufacturer recommended services, replacements, electrical characteristics of the 
generators, control settings or adjustments of equipment and protective devices. Seller 
shall maintain this information for at least two (2) years and shall provide this 
information electronically in an agreed format to Buyer within five (5) days of Buyer’s 
request. 

(b) Buyer, its authorized agents, and employees shall have the right of ingress to 
and egress from the Site and Project during normal business hours upon reasonable 
advance Notice and for any purposes reasonably connected with this Agreement; 
provided, that Buyer shall observe all applicable Project safety rules that Seller has 
communicated to Buyer; and provided further that Buyer, subject to and without 
waiving its rights to sovereign immunity under Florida Statutes, indemnify Seller for 
damage to property or injury to persons to the extent caused by the negligent or 
wrongful act or omission of Buyer's authorized agents or employees while such 
authorized individuals are at the Site or the Project. 

3.16 Availability; Energy Production Forecasting. 

(a) Seller shall provide Buyer with forecasts of the delivery of Energy under this 
Agreement as described below. Such forecasts shall include the updated status of all 
Project equipment that may impact availability and production of Product, and other 
information reasonably requested by Buyer. Seller shall use Commercially Reasonable 
Efforts to forecast daily by 5:00 a.m. the hourly delivery of Energy under this 
Agreement accurately and to transmit such information in the format agreed by the 
Parties consistent with the Operating Procedures. Buyer and Seller shall agree upon 
reasonable changes to the requirements and procedures set forth below from time-to
time, as necessary to accommodate changes to operating and scheduling procedures of 
Buyer. 

(b) No later than: (i) the earlier of January 15th preceding the first Contract Year 
or forty-five (45) Days prior to the commencement of the first Contract Year; and (ii) 
January 15th of each calendar year for every subsequent Contract Year, Seller shall 
provide to Buyer a non-binding forecast of the hourly delivery of Energy at the Delivery 
Point under this Agreement for an average day in each month of the following calendar 
year in a form agreed by the Parties. 

(c) Ten (10) Business Days before the commencement of the first Contract Year, 
and thereafter ten (10) Business Days before the beginning of each month during the 
Delivery Term, Seller shall provide to Buyer a non-binding forecast of the hourly energy 
deliveries of Energy to the Delivery Point under this Agreement for each day of the 
following month in a form agreed by the Parties. 

28
 



      

 

 

               
             

                
               

               
              

              
               

    

   

              
             

             
           

               

            
         

            

         

      

            

          
             

           
            

          
   

             
              

              
             

              
              

             
        

            
           

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(d) No later than 5:00 a.m. of each day of each Contract Year, Seller shall 
provide Buyer a non-binding forecast of hourly Energy deliveries at the Delivery Point 
under this Agreement for the remainder of such day and the following seven (7) days in 
a form reasonably acceptable to Buyer. Each such Notice shall clearly identify, for each 
hour, Seller’s forecast of all deliveries of Energy pursuant to this Agreement. In the 
event that Seller foresees that actual deliveries of Energy under this Agreement for any 
hour will be materially different than a forecast previously provided for such day, Seller 
shall, as soon as reasonably possible, provide Notice to Buyer of such change and an 
updated forecast. 

3.17 Weather Station. 

(a) No later than sixty (60) Days prior to the Commercial Operation Date, Seller, 
at its own expense, shall install and maintain at least one stand-alone meteorological 
station at the Site to monitor, measure, communicate and report the meteorological data 
required under Section 3.17(b). Seller shall maintain and replace the meteorological 
station as necessary to provide accurate data with respect to the location of the Project. 

(b) Upon Commercial Operation, and continuing through the end of the Delivery 
Term, Seller shall record and maintain the following data: 

(i) real and reactive power production by the Project for each hour; 

(ii) changes in operating status, outages and maintenance events; 

(iii)any unusual conditions found during inspections; 

(iv)any significant events related to the operation of the Project; and 

(v) one (1) minute and hourly time-averaged measurements from data 
samples at ten (10) seconds or greater frequency for the following parameters at 
the Project: total global horizontal irradiance, total global radiation within the 
plane of the array, air temperature, relative humidity, wind direction and speed, 
precipitation, barometric pressure, back of module surface temperature, and other 
pertinent meteorological conditions. 

(c) Buyer shall have real-time access to the required meteorological data at a 
frequency not to exceed every five (5) minutes. Seller shall provide Buyer a report 
within thirty (30) days after the end of each month that provides the foregoing 
information for such month as well as any other additional information that Buyer 
reasonably requests regarding conditions at the Site and the operation of the Project that 
is collected and maintained by Seller in the ordinary course of Project operations. 

(d) Seller shall make available to Buyer all data from any weather monitoring 
portals Seller elects to install at the Site. 

(e) Subject to procedures agreed upon in the Operating Procedures, Buyer shall 
have the right to install equipment and associated communication infrastructure to 

29
 



      

 

 

          
 

  
 

               
  

 

              
           

          
           

             
              
            

          
  

 

        
        

         
           

           
 

 

         
   

           
             

           
           

               
             

 

           
          

           
        

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

enable Buyer to monitor, measure and communicate pertinent operation and weather
 
data. 

3.18 Change of Law. 

Buyer shall be responsible for Changes of Law which impact Buyer, and Seller shall be 
responsible for Changes of Law which impact Seller. 

3.19 Contract Quantity, Guaranteed Energy Production and Excess Energy. 

(a) The quantity of Buyer’s Delivered Energy that Seller expects to be able to 
deliver to Buyer during any Contract Year (without consideration for Planned Outages, 
Maintenance Outages, Curtailment Periods or other Seller Excuses) is the Contract 
Quantity, where “Contract Quantity” means Buyer's Share of the Project Quantity in 
Exhibit D, as such Exhibit may be amended in accordance with this Section 3.19(g). 
Throughout the Delivery Term, Seller shall be required to deliver to Buyer no less than 
Guaranteed Energy Production (as defined below) in the two (2) prior consecutive 
Contract Years during the Delivery Term (“Performance Measurement Period”) in 
accordance with the following formula, expressed as a percentage: 

Measurement Period Performance Percentage = (Buyer’s Delivered Energy 
during Performance Measurement Period / (Contract Quantity during 
Performance Measurement Period x (Hours in Performance Measurement Period 
– Seller Excuse Hours in Performance Measurement Period) / Hours in 
Performance Measurement Period, 

A sample calculation of Measurement Period Performance Percentage is set forth 
in Exhibit A. 

(b) Guaranteed Energy Production (“GEP”) means a Measurement Period 
Performance Percentage of 

(c) If Seller has a Measurement Period Performance Percentage below 
(“GEP Failure”), then within forty-five (45) days after the last day of the 

Performance Measurement Period, Seller shall Notify Buyer of such failure. If the 

. 

Measurement Period Performance Percentage is equal to or greater than 
Seller may cure the GEP Failure by paying Buyer within ten (10) Business Days 

after such Notice (the “Cure Payment Period”) GEP Damages as described by the 
following formula: 

GEP Damages = Dollar-per-MWh Rate x ( x (Contract Quantity during 
Performance Measurement Period x (Hours in Performance Measurement Period – 
Seller Excuse Hours in Performance Measurement Period) / Hours in Performance 
Measurement Period)) – Buyer’s Delivered Energy during Performance 
Measurement Period. 

30
 



      

 

 

            
       

            
               

              
 

 

           
          

         
            

 

 
 

            
           
            

            
             

              
 

           
              

            
 

           
            

             
                 

             
               

               
  

  
 

               
               

               
                

                  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

A sample calculation of the GEP Damages is set forth in Exhibit A. 

(“Excess Energy Delivery”), then within forty-five (45) 
days after the last day of the Performance Measurement Period, Seller shall Notify 
Buyer of such Excess Energy Delivery. The Seller shall credit the Buyer within ten (10) 
Business Days after such Notice an Excess Energy Credit as described by the following 
formula: 

(d) If Seller has a Measurement Period Performance Percentage greater than 

Excess Energy Credit = x Dollar-per-MWh Rate x Buyer’s Delivered 
Energy during Performance Measurement Period – ( x Contract Quantity
 
during Performance Measurement Period x (Hours in Performance Measurement 
Period – Seller Excuse Hours in Performance Measurement Period)) / Hours in 
Performance Measurement Period 

A sample calculation of the Excess Energy Credit is set forth in Exhibit A. 

(e) The Parties agree that the damages sustained by Buyer associated with 
Seller’s failure to achieve the Guaranteed Energy Production requirement would be 
difficult or impossible to determine, or that obtaining an adequate remedy would be 
unreasonably time consuming or expensive and the GEP Damages are a reasonable 
approximation of damages sustained by Buyer and therefore agree that Seller shall pay 
the GEP Damages to Buyer as liquidated damages. In no event shall Buyer be obligated 
to pay GEP Damages. 

or does meet such threshold but does not pay the GEP Damages within 
the Cure Payment Period, then Buyer may, at its option, declare an Event of Default 
within ninety (90) days following the Cure Payment Period. 

(f) If Seller has a Measurement Period Performance Percentage below 

(g) Within thirty (30) days after the Commercial Operation Date, Seller shall 
provide Buyer with an amended Exhibit D reflecting the revised Product Quantities 
reflecting the as-built Site layout. Such revised Product Quantities shall not exceed +/
5% of the Product Quantities set forth in Exhibit D as of the Effective Date of this 
Agreement unless by mutual agreement of the Parties. Such amended Exhibit D will be 
deemed to replace the exhibit attached to this Agreement as Exhibit D prior to such 
amendment. If the Parties are unable to agree on the revised Exhibit D, then either Party 
may submit the disagreement for dispute resolution as provided in this Agreement. 

3.20 Signage.  

Seller shall install, at its own expense but subject to Buyer's approval, signage at the Site that 
informs the public of Buyer’s involvement with the Project as a purchaser of Product. The 
Parties shall work in good faith to determine the appropriate location and specifications of such 
signage, but in no event shall such signage be less visible or informative than that which Seller 
provides for itself at the Site. The Parties shall also work in good faith to jointly plan and 

31
 



      

 

 

              
            

                 
                   

                 
              

             
       

  

    

   
 

       

           
          

        

             
              

            
           

               
          
  

          
           

          

          
             

   

           
        

              
             

           
            

             
           
            

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

execute all public communications and events related to the Project including any press release, 
groundbreaking or other ceremony, and ongoing media or other public announcements during 
the Term. All Persons attending events at the Site shall sign Seller's waiver of liability or shall 
not be allowed access to the Site and the Project. Buyer may provide or install, at its own 
expense and in a manner that does not interfere with the normal operation of the Project, displays 
or other materials that support public education regarding the Project. Seller shall use 
Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cooperate with Buyer to ensure the timely installation and 
display and maintenance of such materials. 

ARTICLE 4
 

PROJECT DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION
 

4.1 Project Development. 

Seller, at no cost to Buyer, shall: 

(a) Design and construct, permit, finance, commission, start-up and test the 
Project, including directly assigned interconnection facility cost but excluding Network 
Upgrades except as provided in Section 4.2. 

(b) Acquire all rights, title, entitlements and/or interests in the Site sufficient for 
Seller to be able to construct, operate and maintain the Project on the Site. 

(c) Perform or cause to be performed all due diligence inspection, evaluation, 
testing and investigation activities relating to the viability of the Project. 

(d) Perform or cause to be performed all studies and pay all fees, obtain all 
necessary approvals and execute all necessary agreements with the Transmission 
Provider. 

(e) Acquire all Governmental Approvals and other approvals, consents and 
authorizations necessary for the construction, operation, and maintenance of the Project 
and production, delivery and sale of Buyer’s Product. 

(f) Complete all environmental impact studies necessary for the construction, 
operation, and maintenance of the Project and production, delivery and sale of Buyer’s 
Product. 

(g) At Buyer’s request, provide to Buyer Seller’s electrical specifications and 
design and construction drawings pertaining to the Project. 

(h) Within fifteen (15) days after the last day of each month until the 
Commercial Operation Date, provide to Buyer a monthly progress report and agree to 
regularly scheduled meetings between representatives of Buyer and Seller to review 
such reports and discuss Seller’s development and construction progress. Seller shall 
provide access to Buyer, its authorized agents, employees and inspectors for purpose of 
inspecting the Project’s construction site or on-site Seller data and information 
pertaining to the Project during normal business hours upon reasonable advance Notice. 

32
 



      

 

 

            
            

            
            

                 
          

            
 

               
     

                   
              
             

   

            
  

             
                  

              
            

 

          
           

            
          

        
           

           
              

            
            

               
             
                 
          
               

            
            

           
           

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(i) Seller will make all Commercially Reasonable Efforts to achieve timely the 
interim milestones for Project construction as set forth in Exhibit J (“Interim 

Milestones”). The Interim Milestones are Seller's best estimate of the schedule for 
construction and installation of the Project and, except as expressly set forth herein, the 
failure of Seller to meet any such Interim Milestone will not itself be a breach of this 
Agreement. Seller shall provide monthly status reports on development activity relative 
to the Interim Milestones, including any actual or anticipated delays and efforts to 
mitigate any such delay. 

(j) In addition to the Daily Delay Damages referred to in Sections 4.4 and 6.1, 
Seller shall: (i) pay to Buyer the Milestone Daily Delay Damages for each day or portion 
of a day that Seller does not achieve a milestone set forth in the first two (2) rows of 
Exhibit K by the date corresponding to such milestone in Exhibit K; provided, that 
Seller’s liability to Buyer in connection with delays in achieving each such milestone 
shall in no event exceed Buyer’s Share of
  (“Milestone 

Daily Delay Damages Cap”), and (ii) develop a remedial plan to complete development 
and construction of the Project by the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date. 

(k) Each Party agrees and acknowledges that (i) the damages that Buyer would 
incur due to Seller’s delay in achieving a milestone set forth in the first two (2) rows of 
Exhibit K would be difficult or impossible to predict with certainty and (ii) the 
Milestone Daily Delay Damages are an appropriate approximation of such damages for 
the Project. 

4.2 Network Upgrades. 

(a) Seller shall be responsible for submitting the necessary generator 
interconnection requests and causing the necessary transmission studies to be performed 
to determine whether Network Upgrades are required to interconnect the Project with 
the Transmission Provider’s Transmission System in accordance with the Large 
Generator Interconnection Agreement and Transmission Provider’s Large Generator 
Interconnection Procedures. To the extent Network Upgrades are necessary, Seller shall 
coordinate with Transmission Provider to cause the Network Upgrades to be 
constructed. Buyer may incur or reimburse Seller for costs incurred by Seller for the 
Network Upgrade Costs pursuant to Section 4.2(b), and if Buyer elects to reimburse 
Seller, Seller shall invoice Buyer for Buyer’s Share of all incurred Network Upgrade 
Costs. If Buyer elects to incur directly the Network Upgrade Costs or to cause a third 
party to incur such Network Upgrade Costs, then Seller shall assign and transfer to 
Buyer any rights or interests of Seller in and to a refund of such Network Upgrade Costs 
which Seller may have under the Large Generator Interconnection Agreement, and 
Buyer may thereafter reassign such rights and interests in and to a refund to any person, 
in Buyer’s sole discretion. 

(b) After Seller receives the facilities studies and estimate of Network Upgrade 
Costs from the Transmission Provider and from owners of any affected systems, and 
prior to initiating Network Upgrade construction, Seller shall provide to Buyer the 
studies, the estimated Network Upgrades Costs, and a copy of the Large Generator 

33
 



      

 

 

           
              

            
           

             
              

               
               
             
              
                

              
             

               
                

           
        

    

             
            

      

            
             

                
               

             
          

           
            

  

           
               

            
          

         
         

           
           

           
            

            

  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Interconnection Agreement, including any description of the reimbursement or crediting 
process for Network Upgrade Costs to review and approve prior to Buyer incurring the 
Network Upgrade Costs or reimbursing Seller for Seller’s funding of the Network 
Upgrade Costs. If the Network Upgrade Costs exceed Ten Million Dollars 
($10,000,000) or Buyer is not satisfied with the reimbursement or crediting process for 
the Network Upgrade Costs and Buyer decides not to pay the Network Upgrades Costs, 
then Buyer shall Notify Seller within three (3) Business Days of its decision and Seller 
shall have the right exercisable by Notice to Buyer sent within five (5) Business Days 
after receipt of Buyer’s Notice to assume responsibility to pay the Network Upgrade 
Costs for the Project and obtain the credit from the Transmission Provider. In such 
event, Buyer shall not be required to incur or reimburse Seller for any costs of the 
Network Upgrades. If Seller does not give Notice to Buyer of Seller’s intention to 
assume responsibility to pay the Network Upgrade Costs, either Party may terminate this 
Agreement by Notice to the other Party without further liability. If Buyer incurs or pays 
for all or part of the Network Upgrade Costs for the Project and Seller terminates this 
Agreement, then Seller shall reimburse Buyer for such Network Upgrades Costs 
incurred by Buyer, as described in Section 6.1(c). 

4.3 Guaranteed Commercial Operation. 

(a) Seller shall cause the Project to achieve the Commercial Operation Date by 
the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date, as such date may be extended in 
accordance with Section 4.3(c). 

(b) If Seller believes that the requirements for Commercial Operation have been 
satisfied and fulfilled, Seller shall present to Buyer, an independent engineer's report, the 
form of which is attached as Exhibit L, verifying that each of the conditions set forth 
therein has been satisfied or waived in writing by both Parties. The date identified in 
such report as the day Commercial Operation was achieved shall be the Commercial 
Operation Date in the absence of manifest error. 

(c) Permitted Extensions to the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date are as 
follows, provided that the Permitted Extensions shall not exceed one hundred eighty 
(180) days: 

(i) The Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date may be extended on a 
day for day basis for a cumulative period equal to no more than one hundred 
eighty (180) days if from the Effective Date Seller has used Commercially 
Reasonable Efforts to have the Project physically interconnected to the 
Transmission Provider’s Transmission System and to complete all Electric 
Interconnection Upgrades, if any, but such Electric Interconnection Upgrades 
cannot be completed thirty (30) days prior to the Guaranteed Commercial 
Operation Date. Seller shall provide Buyer Notice of such occurrence promptly 
upon the determination that such physical interconnection or upgrades cannot be 
completed timely in accordance with the Interim Milestones schedule set forth in 
Exhibit J, and Seller shall work diligently to resolve the delay (“Transmission 

Delay”); 

34
 



      

 

 

           
               

            
          
           

           
             

 

          
               

          
            

            
 

          
         

            
 

            
             
            

 

             
             

             
              

              
             

                
          

               
            

          
          

  

             
            
              

  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(ii) The Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date may be extended on a 
day for day basis for a cumulative period equal to no more than one hundred 
eighty (180) days if from the Effective Date Seller has used Commercially 
Reasonable Efforts to obtain the Governmental Approvals necessary for the 
construction and operation of the Project, but is unable to obtain such 
Governmental Approvals by the deadline date therefor in the Interim Milestones 
schedule set forth in Exhibit J, and Seller has worked diligently to resolve the 
delay (“Permitting Delay”); and 

(iii)The Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date may be extended on a 
day for day basis for a cumulative period equal to no more than one hundred 
eighty (180) days for Force Majeure Events (“Force Majeure Extension”); 
provided, that Seller works diligently to resolve the effect of the Force Majeure 
Event and provides evidence of its efforts promptly to Buyer upon Buyer’s 
written request. 

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Seller claims more than one Permitted 
Extension under Section 4.3(c), such extensions cannot cumulatively exceed one 
hundred eighty (180) days and all Permitted Extensions taken shall be concurrent, rather 
than cumulative, during any overlapping days.  

(e) If Seller claims a Permitted Extension, Seller shall provide prompt Notice to 
Buyer of the occurrence of the event causing delay and the anticipated delay impact, 
which Notice must clearly identify the Permitted Extension being claimed and include 
information necessary for Buyer to verify the length and qualification of the extension. 

4.4 Project Cure Period and Delay Damages. 

(a) Seller shall cause the Project to achieve the Commercial Operation Date by 
the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date. If the Commercial Operation Date has not 
been achieved prior to the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date after giving effect to 
Permitted Extensions (up to one hundred eighty (180) days), then if Seller does not pay 
Buyer the Daily Delay Damages within thirty (30) days after receipt of Buyer’s invoice 
therefor, Buyer shall be entitled to draw upon the Project Development Security for 
liquidated damages equal to Daily Delay Damages for each day or portion of a day that 
the Commercial Operation Date occurs after the Guaranteed Commercial Operation 
Date (after giving effect to Permitted Extensions) for up to an additional two hundred 
forty (240) days (“Project Cure Period”). The Daily Delay Damages payable to Buyer 
for the Project shall not exceed Buyer's Share of 

(“Daily Delay Damages Cap”). For the avoidance of doubt the 
Permitted Extensions and the Project Cure Period are sequential. 

(b) Each Party agrees and acknowledges that (A) the damages that Buyer would 
incur due to Seller’s delay in achieving the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date 
would be difficult or impossible to predict with certainty and (B) the Daily Delay 
Damages are an appropriate approximation of such damages. 

35
 



      

 

 

             
                
               

              

  

   

   
 

            
           

             
              

               
                

               
              

               
             

                
             

                
         

    

               
              

               
              

              
   

               
                

              
              

             
             
               

                
                   

               
                

               
            

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(c) If the Project has not achieved Commercial Operation by the date upon 
which Seller has paid to Buyer the Delay Damages Cap, such failure shall be a Seller 
Event of Default and Buyer shall have the right to terminate this Agreement within sixty 
(60) days of such date upon ten (10) days’ prior Notice to Seller. 

ARTICLE 5
 

METERING AND MEASUREMENT
 

5.1 Metering System. 

Seller shall ensure the Metering System is designed, located, constructed, installed, owned, 
operated, tested, calibrated and maintained in accordance with the Large Generator 
Interconnection Agreement and Prudent Operating Practices in order to measure and record the 
amount of Delivered Energy. The meters shall be revenue meters of a mutually acceptable 
accuracy range and type and measure Delivered Energy in kilowatt hours. Seller shall be 
responsible for the cost of all metering that will be installed, owned, operated and maintained by 
Seller for the purpose of determining the amount of Delivered Energy. None of Buyer, Buyer's 
Affiliates or the employees, subcontractors or contractors of any of them shall make adjustments 
to the Metering System without the written consent of Seller, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Buyer, may, at its own cost, install additional 
meters or other such facilities, equipment or devices on Buyer's side of the Delivery Point as 
Buyer deems necessary or appropriate to monitor the measurements of the Metering System; 
provided, however, that in all cases Seller will be entitled to base its invoiced amounts for 
Buyer’s Product solely by reference to the Metering System. 

5.2 Inspection and Adjustment. 

(a) Seller shall inspect and test all meters at such times as will conform to 
Prudent Operating Practices, but not less often than every two (2) Contract Years. Seller 
shall be responsible for all costs and expenses incurred by Seller for such inspection and 
testing. Upon reasonable written request to Seller, Buyer may request, at its own 
expense, inspection or testing of any such meters more frequently than once every two 
(2) Contract Years. 

(b) If any seal securing the meters is found broken, if the Metering System fails 
to register, or if the measurement made by a metering device is found upon testing to 
vary by more than one percent (1.0%) from the measurement made by the standard 
meter used in the test, an adjustment shall be made correcting all measurements of 
Delivered Energy made by the Metering System during: (i) the actual period when 
inaccurate measurements were made by the Metering System, if that period can be 
determined to the mutual satisfaction of the Parties; or (ii) if such actual period cannot 
be determined to the mutual satisfaction of the Parties, the last three (3) months of the 
second half of the period from the date of the last test of the Metering System to the date 
such failure is discovered or such test is made (“Adjustment Period”). If the Parties are 
unable to agree on the amount of the adjustment to be applied to the Adjustment Period, 
the amount of the adjustment shall be determined: (A) by correcting the error if the 
percentage of error is ascertainable by calibration, tests or mathematical calculation; or 

36
 



      

 

 

               
              

             
             

             
      

              
           

       

  

   

   

             
             

            
              

              
         

                 
          

             
            

             
              

    

             
               

            
      

             
           

            
             

   

              
          

              
             
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(B) if not so ascertainable, by estimating on the basis of deliveries made under similar 
conditions during the period since the last test. Within thirty (30) Days after the 
determination of the amount of any adjustment, Buyer shall pay Seller any additional 
amounts then due for Buyer’s Delivered Energy during the Adjustment Period or Buyer 
shall be entitled to a credit against any subsequent payments for Buyer’s Delivered 
Energy, as the case may be. 

(c) Buyer and its representatives shall be entitled to be present at any test, 
inspection, maintenance, adjustments and replacement of any part of the Metering 
System relating to obligations under this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 6
 

EARLY TERMINATION
 

6.1 Early Termination. 

(a) In addition to applicable termination rights under Sections 7.2 and 16.1, this 
Agreement may be terminated prior to the expiration of the Term as follows: 

(i) By Seller if a Large Generator Interconnection Agreement in form and 
substance satisfactory to Seller, in its sole discretion, is not executed on or before 
January 2, 20203, provided that in each case Seller shall give Buyer Notice of 
such termination within fifteen (15) Days after such date; 

(ii) By Seller if Buyer has not, on or before May 1, 20203, and at its sole 
cost and expense, secured adequate transmission access and firm transmission 
service in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement and as required for 
Buyer to accept all Buyer’s Delivered Energy in accordance with this Agreement 
on terms and conditions satisfactory to Buyer in its sole discretion, provided that 
in each case Seller shall give Buyer Notice of such termination within fifteen (15) 
Days after such date; 

(iii)By Seller in the event that Seller has not obtained the necessary fee, 
leasehold or other title to or interest in the Site on or before November 20, 
202018, provided that Seller shall give Buyer Notice of such termination within 
fifteen (15) Days after such date; 

(iv)By Seller in the event that Seller has not obtained all Governmental 
Approvals necessary to construct and operate the Project in the manner 
contemplated by this Agreement, on or before October 20, 202019, provided that 
Seller shall give Buyer Notice of such termination within fifteen (15) Days after 
such date; 

(v) By Seller if all approvals of its management and board of directors (or 
equivalent governing body) required for the execution, delivery and performance 
of this Agreement have not been granted by May 30, 201821; provided that Seller 
shall give Buyer Notice of such termination within fifteen (15) Days after such 
date; 

37
 



      

 

 

            
             

            
            

        

             
              

              
                
           

              
            
         

               
           

             
                 

           

  

   

    
 

       

                
      

             
             
     

             
             

             

           
             

              
             

              
            
             
             

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(vi)By Buyer, if after giving effect to Permitted Extensions and the 
payment of Daily Delay Damages payments up to the Daily Delay Damages Cap, 
the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date has not been obtained on or before 
August 234trdh, 20214; provided that Buyer shall give Seller Notice of such 
termination within fifteen (15) Days after such date; 

(b) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in the event 
of termination pursuant to this Section 6.1, the Parties shall be released and discharged 
from any obligations arising or accruing hereunder from and after the date of such 
termination and shall not incur any additional liability to each other as a result of such 
termination, provided, however, that such termination shall not discharge or relieve 
either Party from any obligation that has accrued prior to such termination or any 
indemnity obligations under ARTICLE 12 or the provisions of ARTICLE 14, which 
provisions shall survive any termination of this Agreement. 

(c) In the event that Buyer has incurred, or caused a third party to incur, 
unreimbursed Network Upgrade Costs, upon any Seller's termination of this Agreement 
or termination by Buyer, Seller shall reimburse Buyer for such Network Upgrades Costs 
incurred by Buyer, or a third party on behalf of Buyer, within thirty (30) days of receipt 
of Buyer’s invoice therefor, with interest accrued at the Interest Rate. 

ARTICLE 7
 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT
 

7.1 Events of Default. 

An “Event of Default” shall mean, 

(a) with respect to a Party that is subject to the Event of Default the occurrence 
of any of the following: 

(i) the failure by such Party to make, when due, any payment required 
pursuant to this Agreement and such failure is not remedied within ten (10) 
Business Days after Notice thereof; 

(ii) any representation or warranty made by such Party herein is false or 
misleading in any material respect when made or when deemed made or repeated, 
and such default is not remedied within thirty (30) days after Notice thereof; 

(iii)the failure by such Party to perform any material covenant or 
obligation set forth in this Agreement (except to the extent constituting a separate 
Event of Default) and such failure is not remedied within thirty (30) days after 
Notice thereof; provided, however, that if such failure is not reasonably capable of 
being remedied within the thirty (30) day cure period, such Party shall have such 
additional time (not exceeding an additional ninety (90) days) as is reasonably 
necessary to remedy such failure, so long as such Party promptly commences and 
diligently pursues such remedy and provides a Plan to the other Party which 

38
 



      

 

 

               
 

      

             
          

            
                 

          
             

          
               

           

              
         

           
              

      

              
            

        

            
         
              

  

     

              
              

   

              
              

   

           
           

             
         

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

outlines the actions that will be taken to cure the default and the proposed cure 
timeline. 

(iv)such Party becomes Bankrupt; 

(v) such Party assigns this Agreement or any of its rights or obligations 
hereunder other than in compliance with Section 15.1; 

(vi)such Party consolidates or amalgamates with, or merges with or into, 
or transfers all or substantially all of its assets to, another entity and, at the time of 
such consolidation, amalgamation, merger or transfer, the resulting, surviving or 
transferee entity fails to assume in writing acceptable to Buyer all the obligations 
of such Party under this Agreement (including posting applicable Performance 
Assurances) to which it or its predecessor was a party by operation of law or 
pursuant to an agreement reasonably satisfactory to the other Party; or 

(b) with respect to Seller as the Party causing an Event of Default (the 
“Defaulting Party”), the occurrence of any of the following: 

(i) Seller fails to satisfy the Performance Assurance requirements set forth 
in Section 10.4, as applicable, in each case within five (5) Business Days after 
receipt of Notice of such failure; 

(ii) if at any time, Seller delivers or attempts to deliver to Buyer hereunder 
any energy, renewable attributes, or facility attributes that were not generated by 
or are not associated with the Project; 

(iii)the failure by Seller to achieve the Commercial Operation Date by the 
Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date, after giving effect to Permitted 
Extensions, if any, and payment of Daily Delay Damages up to the Daily Delay 
Damages Cap. 

(iv)Seller Abandons the Project. 

(v) Buyer is unable to acquire the Project and occupy, possess and use the 
Site and the Project free and clear of all Liens through exercise of Buyer's 
Purchase Option. 

(vi)the failure by Seller to pay GEP Damages due to Buyer pursuant to 
Section 3.19 within the Cure Payment Period set forth in Section 3.19(f), if GEP 
Damages are applicable. 

(vii) the failure by Seller to achieve the Guaranteed Energy Production 
requirement as set forth in Section 3.19(f), in any Contract Year. 

(viii) if Seller sells or delivers or attempts to sell or deliver Buyer’s 
Delivered Energy and/or Buyer’s Renewable Attributes and Buyer’s Facility 

39
 



      

 

 

           
    

       
 

                 
               

       

               
                 

            

        

             
               
             

    

             
            

           
              

      

          

            
        

           
 

    

          
             

       

   

            
              

            
         

          
           

            

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Attributes to any Person other than Buyer except as expressly, specifically 
permitted under this Agreement. 

7.2 Remedies; Declaration of Early Termination Date. 

If an Event of Default with respect to a Defaulting Party shall have occurred and be continuing, 
the other Party (“Non-Defaulting Party”) shall, as it sole and exclusive remedy, have the right 
to one or more of the following: 

(a) send Notice, designating a day, no earlier than the day such Notice is 
deemed to be received and no later than twenty (20) days after such Notice is deemed to 
be received, as an early termination date of this Agreement (“Early Termination 

Date”) on which the following shall apply: 

(i) if Seller is the Non-Defaulting Party, (A) collect damages if any Event 
of Default arose at any time prior to the commencement of the Delivery Term, or 
(B) collect the Termination Payment if any Event of Default arose during the 
Delivery Term; and 

(ii) if Buyer is the Non-Defaulting Party, (A) exercise its right pursuant to 
Section 10.4 to draw upon and retain Performance Assurance and any Milestone 
Daily Delay Damages, if applicable, prior to commencement of the Delivery 
Term, or (B) collect GEP Damages and the Termination Payment if any Event of 
Default arose during the Delivery Term. 

(b) As to either Party as the Non-Defaulting Party: 

(i) accelerate all amounts owing between the Parties and end the Delivery 
Term effective as of the Early Termination Date; 

(ii) withhold 
Agreement; 

any payments due to the Defaulting Party under this 

(iii) suspend performance; and 

(iv) without duplication of Section 7.2(a)(ii)(A), exercise its rights 
pursuant to Section 10.4 to draw upon and retain Performance Assurance (if any) 
that is in place at that time. 

7.3 Termination Payment. 

(a) The “Termination Payment” shall be the Settlement Amounts plus any or 
all other amounts due to the Non-Defaulting Party as of the Early Termination Date 
netted into a single amount. The Settlement Amount shall not include consequential, 
incidental, punitive, exemplary, indirect or business interruption damages (excluding 
replacement costs); provided, however, that any lost Renewable Attributes, Buyer’s 
Facility Attributes or Buyer’s Renewable Attributes (as applicable) shall be deemed 
direct damages covered by this Agreement. Without prejudice to the Non-Defaulting 

40
 



      

 

 

             
            

             
             

             
           

             
            

               
              
            

 

             
         

          
          

            
            

   

           
              

             
           

              
           
             

        

          
           

               
             

           
                

            
        

              
        

           
           

            
               

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Party’s duty to mitigate, the Non-Defaulting Party shall not have to enter into 
replacement transactions to establish a Settlement Amount. Each Party agrees and 
acknowledges that (i) the actual damages that the Non-Defaulting Party would incur in 
connection with the termination of this Agreement would be difficult or impossible to 
predict with certainty, (ii) Termination Payment described in this Section 7.3 is a 
reasonable and appropriate approximation of such damages, and (iii) the Termination 
Payment is the exclusive remedy of the Non-Defaulting Party in connection with a 
termination of this Agreement occurring during the Delivery Term but shall not 
otherwise act to limit any of the Non-Defaulting Party’s rights or remedies in respect of 
obligations and liabilities that are incurred prior to the Early Termination Date and such 
obligations and liabilities are not included in the calculation of the Termination 
Payment. 

(b) With respect to the calculation of the Buyer Purchase Damages for purposes 
of determining the Termination Payment owed to Buyer: 

(i) Buyer shall provide Seller Notice containing the Buyer Purchase 
Damages calculations, including the supporting data such as associated charges 
and other relevant assumptions used to calculate the Buyer Purchase Damages, to 
the degree Buyer deems pertinent within sixty (60) days after the Early 
Termination Date. 

(ii) Upon receipt of Buyer’s calculation of the Buyer Purchase Damages, 
if Seller disputes such calculation, in whole or in part, Seller shall, within fifteen 
(15) Business Days following its receipt of such Notice, provide to Buyer a 
detailed written explanation of the basis for such dispute; provided, however, 
Seller can only dispute the calculation based on a failure as to the material 
assumptions used in preparation of the Buyer Purchase Damages. Buyer shall 
nevertheless be entitled during the pendency of any dispute to draw the entire 
amount due from the Seller’s Performance Assurance. 

(iii)Any dispute with regard to Buyer Purchase Damage calculation shall 
be pursued through the dispute resolution process of ARTICLE 18. Upon 
resolution of the dispute (A) any amount owed by Seller to Buyer in addition to 
the amount drawn on Seller's Performance Security shall be paid by Seller to 
Buyer within thirty (30) Business Days following such resolution with interest 
accrued at the Interest Rate, or (B) any amount required to be returned to Seller by 
Buyer shall be paid within thirty (30) Business Days following such resolution 
along with interest accrued at the Interest Rate. 

(c) With respect to the calculation of the Seller Sales Damages for purposes of 
determining the Termination Payment owed to Seller: 

(i) Seller shall provide Buyer Notice containing the Seller Sales Damages 
calculations, including the supporting data such as associated charges and other 
relevant assumptions used to calculate the Seller Sales Damages to the degree 
Seller deems pertinent within sixty (60) days after the Early Termination Date. 

41
 



      

 

 

            
             

             
           

              
              

   

           
             

              
              

 

       
 

                
               

               
              

               
               
      

       
 

            
                 

            
               

           

      
 

              
                 

               

  
 

               
        

  

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(ii) Upon receipt of Seller’s calculation of the Seller Sales Damages, if 
Buyer disputes such calculation, in whole or in part, Buyer shall, within fifteen 
(15) Business Days following its receipt of such Notice, provide to Seller a 
detailed written explanation of the basis for such dispute; provided, however, 
Buyer can only dispute the calculation based on a failure as to the material 
assumptions and the sufficiency of the data used in preparation of the Seller Sales 
Damages. 

(iii)Any dispute with regard to the Seller Sales Damages calculation shall 
be pursued through the dispute resolution process set forth in ARTICLE 18. 
Upon resolution of the dispute, any payment required from one Party to the other 
shall be made by the owing Party within thirty (30) Business Days following such 
resolution. 

7.4 Notice of Payment of Termination Payment. 

Subject to Sections 7.3(b) and 7.3(c), as soon as practicable after a designation of the Early 
Termination Date, Notice shall be given by the Non-Defaulting Party to the Defaulting Party of 
the amount of the Termination Payment and whether the Termination Payment is due to the Non-
Defaulting Party. The Notice shall include a written statement explaining in reasonable detail 
the calculation of such amount and the sources for such calculation. The Termination Payment 
shall be made to the Non-Defaulting Party, as applicable, within ten (10) Business Days after 
such Notice is effective. 

7.5 Disputes with Respect to Termination Payment. 

If the Defaulting Party disputes the Non-Defaulting Party’s calculation of the Termination 
Payment, in whole or in part, the Defaulting Party shall, within five (5) Business Days of receipt 
of the Non-Defaulting Party’s calculation of the Termination Payment, provide to the Non-
Defaulting Party a detailed written explanation of the basis for such dispute. Disputes regarding 
the Termination Payment shall be determined in accordance with ARTICLE 18. 

7.6 Rights and Remedies Are Cumulative. 

Except where liquidated damages are provided as the exclusive remedy for a specific failure, 
breach or default, the rights and remedies of a Party pursuant to this ARTICLE 7 shall be 
cumulative and in addition to the rights of the Parties otherwise provided in this Agreement. 

7.7 Mitigation. 

Any Non-Defaulting Party shall be obligated to mitigate its damages resulting from any Event of 
Default of the other Party under this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 8
 

PAYMENT
 

42
 



      

 

 

    

               
            

              
             

           
            

             
                

                 
                 

              
             

               
               

                  
    

                
            

              
                

     

      
 

                 
              

                
                 

                
                  
                 

                
                

              
             

             
                 
                 

                 
              

                  
                 

              
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

8.1 Billing and Payment. 

(a) On or about the tenth (10th) day of each month beginning with the month 
following the Initial Energy Delivery Date and every month thereafter, and continuing 
through and including the first month following the end of the Delivery Term, Seller 
shall provide to Buyer an invoice covering the Buyer’s Product provided in the 
preceding month determined in accordance with ARTICLE 5 (which may include 
preceding months), with all component charges and unit prices identified and all 
calculations used to arrive at invoiced amounts described in reasonable detail. Buyer 
shall pay the undisputed amount of such invoices on or before thirty (30) days after date 
of the invoice to the account designated by Seller. If either the invoice date or payment 
date is not a Business Day, then such invoice or payment shall be provided on the next 
following Business Day. Each Party will make payments by electronic funds transfer, or 
by other mutually agreeable method(s), to the account designated by the other Party. 
Any undisputed amounts not paid by the due date will be deemed delinquent and will 
accrue interest at the Interest Rate, such interest to be calculated from and including the 
due date to but excluding the date the delinquent amount is paid in full. Invoices may be 
sent by electronic mail. 

(b) On or before the tenth (10th) day following the end of each month during the 
Delivery Term, Seller will document the production of Buyer’s Renewable Attributes by 
delivering with each invoice to Buyer a bill of sale and attestation for Buyer’s 
Renewable Attributes produced by the Project. The form of bill of sale and attestation is 
set forth as Exhibit M. 

8.2 Disputes and Adjustments of Invoices. 

A Party may, in good faith, dispute the correctness of any invoice or any adjustment to an 
invoice, rendered under this Agreement or adjust any invoice for any arithmetic or computational 
error within twelve (12) months after the date the invoice, or adjustment to an invoice, was 
rendered. In the event an invoice or portion thereof, or any other claim or adjustment arising 
hereunder, is disputed, payment of the undisputed portion of the invoice shall be required to be 
made when due. Any invoice dispute or invoice adjustment shall be in writing and shall state the 
basis for the dispute or adjustment. Payment of the disputed amount shall not be required until 
the dispute is resolved. Upon resolution of the dispute, any required payment shall be made 
within two (2) Business Days of such resolution along with interest accrued at the Interest Rate 
from and including the original due date to but excluding the date paid. Inadvertent 
overpayments shall be returned upon request or deducted by the Party receiving such 
overpayment from subsequent payments, with interest accrued at the Interest Rate from and 
including the date of such overpayment to but excluding the date repaid or deducted by the Party 
receiving such overpayment. Any dispute with respect to an invoice is waived if the other Party 
is not Notified in accordance with this Section 8.2 within twelve (12) months after the invoice is 
rendered or subsequently adjusted, except to the extent any misinformation was from a third 
party which is not an Affiliate of any Party and such third party corrects its information after the 
twelve-month period. If an invoice is not rendered within twelve (12) months after the close of 
the month during which performance occurred, the right to payment for such performance is 
waived. 

43
 



      

 

 

 
  

  

    
 

                    
                 

                
                   

                
      

             
               
               

          

              
                 
                

                
              
           

             
               

                
          

            
             

                 
            

                   
               

             
             

            
           

       

             
              
              
             

             

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

ARTICLE 9
 

PURCHASE OPTION
 

9.1 Buyer Purchase Option. 

So long as an Event of Default by Buyer has not occurred and is continuing at the end of the 
Initial Term or the first Renewal Term, Seller grants to Buyer an option to purchase the Project 
in accordance with this Section 9.1 (the “Purchase Option,” subject to the last paragraph of this 
Section 9.1) for a purchase price equal to the greater of (a) the Fair Market Value of the Project 
or (b) the applicable “Minimum Purchase Price” set forth in Exhibit E (such greater amount, the 
“Option Price”), as follows: 

(a) To exercise the Purchase Option, Buyer shall, not less than one hundred 
eighty (180) days prior to the end of the then-current Term of the Agreement, provide 
written Notice to Seller of Buyer’s intent to exercise the Purchase Option (the date on 
which Seller receives such Notice, the “Notice Date”). 

(b) Within thirty (30) days after the Notice Date, Seller shall specify the Option 
Price by written Notice to Buyer, and Buyer shall then have a period of thirty (30) days 
after receipt of such Notice either (i) to confirm or retract its decision to exercise the 
Purchase Option, or (ii) if the Option Price specified by Seller is equal to the Fair 
Market Value of the Project, to disagree with Seller’s determination of such Fair Market 
Value, in each case, by written Notice to Seller. 

(c) If Buyer disagrees with Seller’s determination of such Fair Market Value (to 
the extent in excess of the applicable “Minimum Purchase Price” set forth in Exhibit E), 
it shall so Notify Seller in writing, and the Parties shall determine the Fair Market Value 
of the Project in accordance with Section 9.2. 

(d) Upon final determination of the Option Price (including any determination of 
the Fair Market Value pursuant to Section 9.2), and before the applicable “Purchase 
Date” set forth in Exhibit E (or such other date as the Parties may mutually agree in 
writing): (i) the Parties shall promptly execute all definitive agreements necessary to 
cause title to the Project to pass to Buyer, free and clear of any Liens, subject only to the 
Liens of Project Investors which Buyer elects to assume; and (ii) Buyer shall pay the 
Option Price to Seller in immediately available funds and in accordance with any 
previous written instructions delivered to Buyer by Seller or any Project Investors, as 
applicable, for payments under this Agreement. Buyer shall also execute such 
documents reasonably necessary for Buyer to accept, assume and perform all then-
existing agreements relating to the Project. 

(e) Each Party shall bear its respective fees, costs and expenses incurred in 
connection with such Purchase Option transaction. In the event that the Purchase Option 
transaction closes prior to the applicable “Purchase Date” set forth in Exhibit E, this 
Agreement shall terminate automatically. In the event Buyer retracts its intent to 
exercise the Purchase Option, or does not timely confirm the Purchase Option in 

44
 



      

 

 

                
                

          

               
                

     

      

                  
                

             
               

              
              
                

               
                 

                
                 
                  

                  
                 

  

     

  
 

             
             

     
 

              
             

                
              

                
                  

                 
              

                
                  

                
                 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

accordance with this ARTICLE 9, in each case, prior to the end of the Term, the 
provisions of the Agreement shall continue in full force and effect as if Buyer had not 
Notified Seller of its intent to exercise the Purchase Option. 

Irrespective of Buyer’s Share, Buyer’s Purchase Option is limited to an option to purchase 100% 
of the Project, which option may be exercised solely by Buyer or in conjunction with Other 
Buyers or any other Person(s). 

9.2 Determination of Fair Market Value. 

If the Option Price indicated by Seller in accordance with Section 9.1 is equal to the Fair Market 
Value of the Project and Buyer disagrees with such stated Fair Market Value in accordance with 
Section 9.1, then the Parties shall mutually select an independent appraiser with relevant 
experience and expertise; provided, that if the Parties cannot agree on the selection of such 
independent appraiser within thirty (30) days of Seller’s receipt of Buyer’s written Notice that 
Buyer disagrees with Seller’s determination of the Fair Market Value, then each Party shall 
select an appraiser, and the two (2) appraisers so selected shall appoint a third appraiser, which 
appraiser shall perform the appraisal described in this Section 9.2. The Parties shall cooperate 
to cause the appraiser to act reasonably and in good faith to determine the Fair Market Value 
and to support such determination in a written opinion delivered to the Parties within thirty (30) 
days of the initial request for appraisal. The valuation made by the appraiser shall be binding 
upon the Parties in the absence of fraud or manifest error. Upon Buyer’s receipt of such written 
opinion, Buyer shall then have a period of thirty (30) days to confirm or retract its decision to 
exercise the Purchase Option. The costs of the appraisal shall be borne equally by the Parties. 

ARTICLE 10
 

INSURANCE, CREDIT AND COLLATERAL REQUIREMENTS
 

10.1 Insurance. 

In connection with Seller’s performance of its duties and obligations under this Agreement, 
during the Delivery Term, Seller shall maintain insurance in accordance with Exhibit H. 

10.2 Grant of Security Interest. 

To secure its obligations under this Agreement and to the extent Seller delivers Performance 
Assurance hereunder, Seller hereby grants to Buyer a present and continuing first priority 
security interest in, and lien on (and right of setoff against), and assignment of, such Performance 
Assurance and all cash collateral and cash equivalent collateral and any and all proceeds 
resulting therefrom or the liquidation thereof, whether now or hereafter held by, on behalf of, or 
for the benefit of, Buyer, and each Party agrees to take such action as the other Party reasonably 
requires in order to perfect the Buyer’s first-priority security interest in, and lien on (and right of 
setoff against), such collateral and any and all proceeds resulting therefrom or from the 
liquidation thereof. Upon or any time after the occurrence and during the continuation of an 
Event of Default by Seller or an Early Termination Date as a result thereof, in addition to its 
other rights and remedies hereunder, Buyer may do any one or more of the following: 
(a) exercise any of the rights and remedies of a secured party with respect to all Performance 

45
 



      

 

 

  
               

                
                 

                
                 

               
              

             
 

   
 

               
                 

                
                 

          
               

                 
               

 

              
             

 

           
   

           
           

      
            
          

      
            

            
            

    
  

           
    

            
           

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Assurance, including any such rights and remedies under law then in effect; (b) exercise its rights 
of setoff against such collateral and any and all proceeds resulting therefrom or from the 
liquidation thereof; (c) draw on any outstanding Letter of Credit issued for its benefit; and (d) 
liquidate all or any portion of any Performance Assurance then held by or for the benefit of 
Buyer free from any claim or right of any nature whatsoever of Seller or other Person, including 
any equity or right of purchase or redemption by Seller. Buyer shall apply the proceeds of the 
collateral realized upon the exercise of any such rights or remedies to reduce the Seller’s 
obligations under the Agreement (Seller remaining liable for any amounts owing to Buyer after 
such application), subject to Buyer’s obligation to return any surplus proceeds remaining after 
such obligations are satisfied in full, if applicable. 

10.3 Seller Financial Statements. 

If requested by Buyer the Seller shall deliver within one hundred twenty (120) days following 
the end of each fiscal year of Seller’s Ultimate Parent Company: (i) a copy of Seller’s Ultimate 
Parent Company’s annual report or 10K report, and (ii) within sixty (60) days after the end of 
each of its first three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year, a copy of such Seller’s Ultimate Parent 
Company’s quarterly report containing unaudited consolidated financial statements for such 
fiscal quarter, in each case unless otherwise publicly available. If any such statements shall not 
be available on a timely basis due to a delay in preparation or certification, such delay shall not 
be an Event of Default so long as the Seller diligently pursues the preparation, certification and 
delivery of the statements. 

10.4 Seller’s Performance Assurance. 

(a) Seller agrees to deliver to Buyer collateral to secure its obligations under this 
Agreement, which Seller shall maintain in full force and effect for the period posted 
with Buyer, as follows: 

(i) Performance Assurance in the amount of Buyer’s Share of 
(“Project Development 

Security”) without replenishment within five (5) Business Days following the 
Original Effective Date of this Agreement until Seller posts Seller’s Delivery 
Term Security; provided, however, that (A) Seller’s maximum aggregate 
obligation to Buyer with respect to the Project Development Security under this 
Agreement shall in no event exceed Buyer’s Share of 

, and (B) Seller’s maximum aggregate obligation 
to Buyer with respect to the Project Development Security under this Agreement
 
and to the Other Buyer(s) with respect to the “Project Development Security”
 
under and as defined in the applicable power purchase agreements between Seller
 
and the Other Buyers in connection with this Project shall in no event exceed 

; 

(ii) Performance Assurance in the amount of Buyer’s Share of 
(“Seller’s Delivery Term 

Security”) from the Commercial Operation Date until the end of the Term;
 
provided, that Seller may elect to apply the Project Development Security toward
 

46
 



      

 

 

           
       

           
          

      
             
             

           
             

            
             
           

             
           

               
             

            
   

             
              

              
           

              
             
          

     

           
             

            
          
                 
           

   
              

            
          

               
            

             
           

           

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

. 

, and (B) Seller’s maximum aggregate obligation 
to Buyer with respect to the Performance Assurance under this Agreement and to 
the Other Buyer(s) with respect to the “the Performance Assurance” under and as 
defined in the applicable power purchase agreements between Seller and the 
Other exceed event no shall in Project this with connection in Buyers 

Seller’s Delivery Term Security. Seller’s Delivery Term Security shall be subject 
to replenishment; provided, however, that (A) Seller’s maximum aggregate 
obligation to Buyer under this Agreement with respect to the Performance 
Assurance shall in no event exceed Buyer’s Share of 

(b) If, after the Commercial Operation Date, no amounts are due and owing to 
Buyer under this Agreement, then Seller shall no longer be required to maintain the 
Project Development Security, and Buyer shall return to Seller the Project Development 
Security, less the amounts drawn from a cash deposit or Letter of Credit, if applicable, in 
accordance with Section 10.4(c). The Project Development Security (or portion thereof) 
due to Seller shall be returned to Seller within five (5) Business Days after Seller’s 
provision of Seller’s Delivery Term Security unless, with respect to cash held as Project 
Development Security, Seller elects by Notice to Buyer to apply the Project 
Development Security toward Seller’s Delivery Term Security.  

(c) Any amounts owed by Seller to Buyer under this Agreement (other than 
disputed amounts) and not satisfied within thirty (30) Days of becoming due and owing 
may be satisfied by Buyer on a draw on Seller's Performance Assurance. In addition, 
upon termination, Buyer shall have the right to draw upon Seller’s Performance 
Assurance for any undisputed amounts owed to Buyer under this Agreement if not paid 
when due pursuant to Section 8.1. Subject to the maximum aggregate obligation set 
forth in Section 10.4(a)(ii), Seller’s Delivery Term Security shall be subject to 
replenishment within five (5) days after any draw thereon by Buyer. 

(d) Buyer shall deposit Seller's Performance Assurance in a Qualified Institution; 
provided that, interest on cash held as Project Development Security shall be retained by 
Buyer until Seller posts Seller’s Delivery Term Security. Upon Seller’s posting of 
Seller’s Delivery Term Security, all accrued interest on the Project Development 
Security shall be transferred to Seller in the form of cash by wire transfer to the bank 
account specified by Seller. After Seller posts Seller’s Delivery Term Security, Buyer 
shall transfer (as described in the preceding sentence) on or before each Interest Payment 
Date the amount of interest due to Seller for Seller’s Delivery Term Security. Buyer 
does not guaranty any particular rate of interest. 

(e) If, during the Term, there shall occur a Downgrade Event in respect of 
Seller’s Guarantor, then Seller shall deliver to Buyer replacement Performance 
Assurance in the form of a Letter of Credit, cash or a replacement Guaranty from a 
different Guarantor (meeting the requirements set forth in the definition thereof and 
acceptable to Buyer, such acceptance not to be unreasonably withheld) in lieu thereof in 
an amount equal to the then applicable amount of Performance Assurance; provided, 
however, that Seller shall only be required to maintain such replacement Performance 

47
 



      

 

 

              
            

          
               

              
             

             
              

             
 

             
                

                  
                  

                   
                 

               
               

                  
        

     
 

               
   

               
               

               
           

                 
                
            

               
                

 

          
               

              
              

          
               

            
         

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Assurance for so long as (1) the Credit Rating of Seller’s original Guarantor remains 
below Investment Grade, or (2) no Ratings Agency rates Seller’s original Guarantor. 

(f) Seller’s obligation to maintain the applicable Performance Assurance shall 
terminate upon the occurrence of the following: (i) the Term of the Agreement has 
ended, or the Agreement has been terminated pursuant to Section 7.2, as applicable; and 
(ii) all payment obligations of each Party arising under this Agreement, the Termination 
Payment, indemnification payments or other damages are paid in full. Upon the 
occurrence of the foregoing, Buyer shall promptly return to Seller the unused portion of 
the applicable Performance Assurance, if any, including the payment of any interest due 
thereon. 

(g) Any Letter of Credit provided by Seller pursuant to this Agreement must 
provide, among other things, that the Buyer is entitled to draw the full amount of such 
Letter of Credit if: (i) the Letter of Credit has not been renewed or replaced within thirty 
(30) days prior to the expiration date of the Letter of Credit; or (ii) the issuer of the 
Letter of Credit fails to maintain a credit rating of at least A- from S&P or a credit rating 
of at least A3 from Moody’s and the Party required to provide the Letter of Credit and 
Seller has failed, within ten (10) Business Days after receipt of Notice thereof by Buyer 
to replace such Letter of Credit with another Letter of Credit, in a form reasonably 
acceptable to the issuer of the Letter of Credit and Buyer. Costs of a Letter of Credit 
provided by Seller shall be borne by Seller. 

10.5 Buyer’s Performance Assurance 

Buyer agrees to deliver to Seller collateral to secure its obligations under this Agreement under 
the following circumstances: 

(a) If, during the Term, there shall occur a Buyer Downgrade Event in respect of 
Buyer, then Buyer shall deliver to Seller Performance Assurance in the form of a Letter 
of Credit or cash in an amount equal to the then applicable amount of Buyer’s 
Performance Assurance; provided, however, that Buyer shall only be required to 
maintain its Performance Assurance in the form of a Letter of Credit or cash for so long 
as Buyer’s Credit Ratings remain below the lower of (i) Investment Grade, or (ii) that of 
the Seller or, if applicable the Seller’s Guarantor. Buyer’s Performance Assurance shall 
be subject to replenishment within five (5) days after any draw thereon by Seller after 
the failure of Buyer to pay the undisputed amount of any amount invoiced by Seller to 
Buyer. 

(b) Buyer’s obligation to maintain the applicable Performance Assurance shall 
terminate upon the occurrence of the following: (i) the Term of the Agreement has 
ended, or the Agreement has been terminated pursuant to Section 7.2, as applicable; (ii) 
Buyer has achieved the requisite Credit Rating, and (iii) all payment obligations of each 
Party arising under this Agreement, Termination Payment, indemnification payments or 
other damages are paid in full. Upon the occurrence of the foregoing, Seller shall 
promptly return to Buyer the unused portion of the applicable Performance Assurance, 
including the payment of any interest due thereon. 

48
 



      

 

 

             
                

                  
                  

                   
                
               

                
                

      

  

    

    

              
  

             
       

            
            

               
            

       

           
            

              
         

           

            
           
            

 

             
             

      

                 
               

           
            

    

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(c) Any Letter of Credit provided by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement must 
provide, among other things, that the Seller is entitled to draw the full amount of such 
Letter of Credit if: (i) the Letter of Credit has not been renewed or replaced within thirty 
(30) days prior to the expiration date of the Letter of Credit; or (ii) the issuer of the 
Letter of Credit fails or ceases to maintain a credit rating of at least A- from S&P or a 
credit rating of at least A3 from Moody’s and Buyer has failed, within ten (10) Business 
Days after receipt of Notice thereof by Seller to replace such Letter of Credit with 
another Letter of Credit, in a form reasonably acceptable to the issuer of the Letter of 
Credit and Seller. Costs of a Letter of Credit provided by Buyer as Buyer's Performance 
Assurance shall be borne by Buyer. 

ARTICLE 11
 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS
 

11.1 Representations and Warranties. 

(a) On the Original Effective Date, each Party represents and warrants to the other 
Party that: 

(i) it is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the 
laws of the jurisdiction of its formation; 

(ii) it has or will obtain in accordance herewith (i) all Governmental 
Approvals necessary for it to perform its obligations under this Agreement, and 
(ii) all Governmental Approvals and rights, title and interest in and to the Site and 
as otherwise necessary to construct, operate and maintain the Project and related 
interconnection facilities in the case of Seller; 

(iii) the execution, delivery and performance of and consummation of the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement is within its powers, have been duly 
authorized by all necessary action and do not violate any of the terms and 
conditions in its governing documents, any Governmental Approvals, any 
contracts to which it is a party or any Applicable Law; 

(iv) this Agreement and each other document executed and delivered in 
accordance with this Agreement constitutes a legally valid and binding obligation 
enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to any Equitable 
Defenses; 

(v) it is not Bankrupt and there are no proceedings pending or being 
contemplated by it or, to its knowledge, threatened against it which would result 
in it being or becoming Bankrupt; 

(vi) except as may be set forth in its reports filed with the SEC, there is 
not pending or, to its knowledge, threatened against it or any of its Affiliates any 
legal proceedings that could reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect 
its ability to perform its obligations under and consummation of the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement; 

49
 



      

 

 

             
              

          
    

             
             

               
              

            
       

             
                

          

              
      

   
 

       

              
          

              
            

       

              
               

             

              
         

   

     

            
          

           
            
         

  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(vii) no Event of Default with respect to it has occurred and is 
continuing and no such event or circumstance would occur as a result of its 
entering into or performing its obligations under and the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement; 

(viii) it is acting for its own account, has made its own independent 
decision to enter into this Agreement and as to whether this Agreement is 
appropriate or proper for it based upon its own judgment, is not relying upon the 
advice or recommendations of the other Party in so doing, and is capable of 
assessing the merits of and understanding, and understands and accepts, the terms, 
conditions and risks of this Agreement; and 

(ix) it has entered into this Agreement in connection with the conduct of 
its business and it has the capacity or the ability to make or deliver or take 
delivery of the Buyer’s Product as provided in this Agreement. 

(b) On the Original Effective Date, Seller represents and warrants that it is an 
Affiliate of NextEra Florida Renewables, LLC. 

11.2 General Covenants. 

Each Party covenants that throughout the Term: 

(a) it shall continue to be duly organized, validly existing and in good standing 
under the Applicable Laws of the jurisdiction of its formation; 

(b) it shall maintain (or obtain from time to time as required, including through 
renewal, as applicable) all Governmental Approvals necessary for it to legally perform 
its obligations under this Agreement; 

(c) it shall perform its obligations under this Agreement in a manner that does 
not violate any of the terms and conditions in its governing documents, any contracts to 
which it is a party or any Applicable Law or Governmental Approval; and 

(d) it shall not dispute its status as a “forward contract merchant” within the 
meaning of the United States Bankruptcy Code. 

11.3 Seller Covenants. 

(a) Seller covenants as follows: 

(i) from the date hereof through the expiration or termination of this 
Agreement, Seller shall comply with this Agreement and Applicable Laws; 

(ii) from the Initial Energy Delivery Date through the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement, the Project shall be operated and maintained in 
accordance with this Agreement, Applicable Laws, and Prudent Operating 
Practices; 

50
 



      

 

 

           
            

         

            
               

               
            

                
             

               
             

              
              

               
              

              
           

              
                

            
             

              
              

             
 

            
               

           
          

 
   

 

        

            
            

 

           
               

               
               

        

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(iii)throughout the Term that it, or its permitted successors or assigns, 
shall maintain ownership of a fee, easement, long-term leasehold interest, or other 
similar asset ownership interest in the Project; and 

(iv)except as expressly provided for in this Agreement, Seller will not 
grant, create, confer, assign, transfer or convey any right, title or interest in or to 
the Project in favor of any third party which is not terminable without cost or 
expense to Buyer upon exercise by Buyer of the Buyer's Purchase Option. 

(b) Seller represents and covenants that it has not sold and will not in the future 
sell or attempt to sell, convey, transfer or encumber any of Buyer’s Renewable 
Attributes or Buyer’s Facility Attributes or any right, title or interest in or to Buyer’s 
Renewable Attributes or Buyer’s Facility Attributes to any Person other than Buyer. 
Seller shall not report to any Person that any of Buyer’s Renewable Attributes or 
Buyer’s Facility Attributes are owned by or belong to any Person other than Buyer. 
Buyer may, at its own risk and expense, report to any Person that Buyer’s Renewable 
Attributes and Buyer’s Facility Attributes are owned by and belong to it. At Buyer’s 
request, the Parties shall execute and deliver such documents and instruments as may be 
reasonably required to effect recognition and transfer of Buyer’s Renewable Attributes 
and Buyer’s Facility Attributes to Buyer. Except with regard to the execution and 
delivery of bills of sales and attestations similar to Exhibit M, Buyer shall bear the costs, 
fees and expenses associated with preparing and executing any such documents and 
instruments. Seller shall reasonably cooperate in any registration by Buyer of the Project 
(at Buyer’s cost) in the renewable portfolio standard or equivalent program in any state 
and program in which Buyer may wish to register or maintained registered the Project 
by providing copies of all such information as Buyer reasonably requires for such 
registration 

(c) Seller represents that, as of the Commercial Operation Date and continuing 
through through the end of the Term of this Agreement, the Project shall satisfy the 
criteria for qualifying small power production facilities under the Public Utility 
Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 and 18 C.F.R. § 292.204. 

11.4 Buyer’s Covenants. 

Buyer covenants or affirms as follows: 

(a) Buyer covenants that from the date hereof through the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement, Buyer shall comply with this Agreement and Applicable 
Laws. 

(b) Buyer covenants that Buyer’s obligations under this Agreement shall qualify 
as operating expenses which enjoy first priority payment at all times under any and all 
bond or other ordinances or indentures to which Buyer is a party relating to electric 
utility operations and shall be included as part of the rate calculations required by any 
rate-related debt covenants to which Buyer is bound. 

51
 



      

 

 

             
            

            
           

      

            
            

            
            

              
               

                 
               

            
            

           

  

     

      
 

                  
                  

               

    
 

              
             

             
            

                 
                

          
                  
               
               
                   

                
                

              
   

    
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(c) Buyer affirms that it elected to commence negotiations with Seller for the 
generation, sale and delivery of solar energy, renewable attributes and facility attributes 
from the Project pursuant to a competitive solicitation after determining that Seller's 
proposal was the most favorable alternative meeting Buyer’s procurement criteria and 
requirements for solar energy and capacity. 

(d) Buyer covenants that from the date hereof through the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement, Buyer shall (i) establish and maintain FMPA Solar 
Project Participant payment obligations pursuant to the FMPA Solar Project Power Sales 
Contracts at amounts sufficient to meet FMPA’s costs and liabilities lawfully owed 
under this Agreement; (ii) deliver written Notice to Seller of (A) any defaults occurring 
under any FMPA Solar Project Power Sales Contract that are not cured by the applicable 
cure period and (B) any changes to the list of FMPA Solar Project Participants set forth 
in Exhibit P; and (iii) not agree to any amendment, modification or alteration of any 
FMPA Solar Project Power Sales Contract that would materially adversely affect the 
FMPA Solar Project Participant Covenants without the prior written consent of Seller, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. 

ARTICLE 12
 

TITLE, RISK OF LOSS, INDEMNITIES
 

12.1 Title and Risk of Loss. 

Title to and risk of loss related to Buyer’s Product shall transfer from Seller to Buyer at the 
Delivery Point. Seller warrants that it will deliver to Buyer Buyer’s Product free and clear of all 
Liens therein or thereto by any Person arising prior to or at the Delivery Point. 

12.2 Indemnities by Seller. 

Seller shall release, indemnify, defend, and hold harmless, on an After-Tax Basis, Buyer, its 
Affiliates, and its and their directors, officers, employees, agents, and representatives against and 
from any and all actions, suits, losses, costs, damages, injuries, liabilities, claims, demands, 
penalties and interest, including reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees (“Claims”) resulting from, 
or arising out of or in any way connected with (a) any event, circumstance, act, or incident 
relating to the Buyer’s Product delivered under this Agreement up to and at the Delivery Point, 
(b) Seller’s development, permitting, construction, ownership, operation and/or maintenance of 
the Project, (c) the failure by Seller or the failure of the Project to comply with Applicable Laws, 
(d) any Governmental Charges for which Seller is responsible hereunder, or (e) any Liens against 
the Buyer’s Product delivered hereunder made by, under, or through Seller, in all cases including 
any Claim for or on account of injury, bodily or otherwise, to or death of persons, or for damage 
to or destruction of property belonging to Buyer, Seller, or third parties, caused by the negligence 
of Seller excepting only such Claim to the extent caused by the willful misconduct or gross 
negligence of Buyer, its Affiliates, and its and their directors, officers, employees, agents, and 
representatives. 

12.3 Indemnities by Buyer. 

52
 



      

 

 

                
             

            
                  

               
                

              
                  

                
                 
              

     

  

  

  
 

               
                 

              
    

   
 

               

              

               

                   

                 

                  

            

               

             

             

               

              

                   

   

  

  

   

           
            

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

To the fullest extent permitted under Florida law, subject to and without waiving its rights to 
sovereign immunity under Florida Statutes, Buyer shall release, indemnify and hold harmless, on 
an After-Tax Basis, Seller and its directors, officers, employees, agents, and representatives 
against and from any and all Claims resulting from, or arising out of or in any way connected 
with (a) any event, circumstance, act, or incident relating to the Buyer’s Product received by 
Buyer under this Agreement after the Delivery Point, (b) the failure by Buyer to comply with 
Applicable Laws, or (c) any Governmental Charges for which Buyer is responsible hereunder, in 
all cases including any Claim for or on account of injury, bodily or otherwise, to or death of 
persons, or for damage to or destruction of property belonging to Buyer, Seller or third parties 
caused by the negligence of Buyer, excepting only such Claims to the extent caused by the 
willful misconduct or gross negligence of Seller, its Affiliates, and its and their directors, 
officers, employees, agents, and representatives. 

ARTICLE 13
 

GOVERNMENTAL CHARGES
 

13.1 Cooperation. 

Each Party shall use reasonable efforts to implement the provisions of and to administer this 
Agreement in accordance with the intent of the Parties to minimize all taxes, so long as neither 
Party incurs any cost, expense, risk, obligation or liability or is otherwise materially adversely 
affected by such efforts. 

13.2 Governmental Charges. 

Seller shall pay or cause to be paid all taxes imposed by any Governmental Authority 

(“Governmental Charges”) on or with respect to the Buyer’s Product or the transaction under 

this Agreement arising prior to the Delivery Point, including ad valorem taxes and other taxes 

attributable to the Project, land, land rights or interests in land for the Project. Buyer shall pay or 

cause to be paid all Governmental Charges on or with respect to the Buyer’s Product or the 

transaction under this Agreement at and after the Delivery Point. If Seller is required by Law or 

regulation to remit or pay Governmental Charges which are Buyer’s responsibility hereunder, 

Buyer shall promptly reimburse Seller for such Governmental Charges. If Buyer is required by 

Applicable Law or regulation to remit or pay Governmental Charges which are Seller’s 

responsibility hereunder, Buyer may deduct such amounts from payments to Seller with respect 

to payments under the Agreement; if Buyer elects not to deduct such amounts from Seller’s 

payments, Seller shall promptly reimburse Buyer for such amounts upon request. Nothing shall 

obligate or cause a Party to pay or be liable to pay any Governmental Charges for which it is 

exempt under law. 

ARTICLE 14
 

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION
 

14.1 Confidential Information. 

(a) The Parties acknowledge that Seller asserts that this Agreement contains 
trade secret information. The Parties have and will develop certain information, 

53
 



      

 

 

          
            

         
           

            
          

           
   

          
             

           

          
         
         

                
      

         
         

       

            
            

              
        

             

           
             
              
           

           
     

           
              

            
            

           
         

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

processes, know-how, techniques and procedures concerning the Project that they 
consider confidential and proprietary (together with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, the “Confidential Information”). Notwithstanding the confidential and 
proprietary nature of such Confidential Information, the Parties (each, the “Disclosing 

Party”) may make such Confidential Information available to the other (each, a 
“Receiving Party”) subject to the provisions of this Section 14.1. 

(b) Upon receiving or learning of Confidential Information, the Receiving Party 
shall: 

(i) Treat such Confidential Information as confidential and use reasonable 
care not to divulge such Confidential Information to any third party except as 
required by law, subject to the restrictions set forth below; 

(ii) Restrict access to such Confidential Information to only those 
employees, subcontractors, suppliers, vendors, and advisors whose access is 
reasonably necessary for the development, construction, operation or maintenance 
of the Project and for the purposes of this Agreement who shall be bound by the 
terms of this Section 14.1; 

(iii)Use such Confidential Information 
developing the Project and for purposes 
administering and enforcing this Agreement; and 

of 
solely 

imple
for 

ment
the 

ing, 
purpose 
performing, 

of 

(iv)Upon the termination of this Agreement, destroy or return any such 
Confidential Information in written or other tangible form and any copies thereof; 
provided, however, the Buyer shall be entitled to keep on record copy of such 
information as required by Florida law. 

(c) The restrictions of this Section 14.1 do not apply to: 

(i) Release of this Agreement to any Governmental Authority required for 
obtaining any approval or making any filing pursuant to Sections 3.12 or 4.2, 
provided that each Party agrees to cooperate in good faith with the other to 
maintain the confidentiality of the provisions of this Agreement by redacting 
and/or requesting confidential treatment with all filings to the extent appropriate 
and permitted by Applicable Law; 

(ii) Information which is, or becomes, publicly known or available other 
than through the action of the Receiving Party in violation of this Agreement; 

(iii)Information which is in the possession of the Receiving Party prior to 
receipt from the Disclosing Party or which is independently developed by the 
Receiving Party, provided that the Person or Persons developing such information 
have not had access to any Confidential Information; 

54
 



      

 

 

             
            

          

            
           

          
           

             
             

             
          

         
             

              
               

            

             
             
              

            
              

             
            

               
             

             
               

        

              
              

  

  

 

     

               
             
             

               
     

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(iv)Information which is received from a third party which is not known 
(after due inquiry) by Receiving Party to be prohibited from disclosing such 
information pursuant to a contractual, fiduciary or legal obligation; and 

(v) Information which is, in the reasonable written opinion of counsel of 
the Receiving Party, required to be disclosed pursuant to Applicable Law 
(including any Florida Public Records Law (Chapter 119, Florida Statutes) 
request); provided, however, that the Receiving Party, prior to such disclosure, 
shall provide reasonable advance Notice to the Disclosing Party of the time and 
scope of the intended disclosure in order to provide the Disclosing Party an 
opportunity to obtain a protective order or otherwise seek to prevent, limit the 
scope of, or impose conditions upon such disclosure. 

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller may disclose Confidential Information 
to the Project Investors and any other financial institutions expressing an interest in 
providing equity or debt financing or refinancing and/or credit support to Seller, and the 
agent or trustee of any of them, provided that they agree to comply with the 
requirements and limitations on disclosure and use of Confidential Information. 

(e) Neither Party shall issue any press or publicity release or otherwise release, 
distribute or disseminate any information, with the intent that such information will be 
published (other than information that is, in the reasonable written opinion of counsel to 
the Disclosing Party, required to be distributed or disseminated pursuant to Applicable 
Law, provided that the Disclosing Party has given Notice to, and an opportunity to 
prevent disclosure by, the other Party as provided in Section 14.1(c)(v)), concerning this 
Agreement or the participation of the other Party in the transactions contemplated 
hereby without the prior written approval of the other Party, which approval will not be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed. This provision shall not prevent the Parties from 
releasing information which is required to be disclosed in order to obtain permits, 
licenses, releases and other approvals relating to the Project or as are necessary in order 
to fulfill such Party’s obligations under this Agreement. 

(f) The obligations of the Parties under this Section 14.1 shall remain in full 
force and effect for three (3) years following the expiration or termination of this 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE 15
 

ASSIGNMENT
 

15.1 Successors and Assigns; Assignment. 

(a) This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the 
Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns. This Agreement and a 
Party's rights, obligations and interests shall not be assigned or transferred by either 
Party without the prior written consent of the other Party, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. 

55
 



      

 

 

            
             

           
        

            
           

        

             
             

            
     

             
              

         
              

            
             

    

             
        

            
              

               
          

            
              

                
                 

            
           

              
            

              
          

               
            

           

               
               

                

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, no consent shall be required for the following 
assignment if the assignee has demonstrated experience and ability and a level of 
creditworthiness to perform and assume obligations under other agreements similar to 
this Agreement with the other Persons: 

(i) Any collateral assignment of this Agreement by Seller to any senior 
lien Project Investors as collateral security for Seller's obligations under the 
financing documents entered into with such Project Investors; 

(ii) Any assignment by the Project Investors to a third party in connection 
with a foreclosure of the Project Investor's mortgage and lien on the Project; 

(iii)Any assignment or transfer of this Agreement by Seller to an Affiliate 
of Seller and the Guarantor; 

(iv)Any assignment or transfer of this Agreement by Seller to a Person 
succeeding to all or substantially all of the assets of Seller, provided that such 
Person’s creditworthiness and the creditworthiness of any provider of 
Performance Assurance is equal to or better than that of Seller, there is an 
assignment and assumption agreement among all Parties and the assignee and the 
Performance Assurance in place at such time is replaced by equal or better 
security by assignee; and 

(v) Any assignment or transfer of this Agreement by Buyer to any Other 
Buyer or to any Other Solar Project Buyer. 

(c) An assignee shall be afforded no additional rights, interests or remedies 
beyond those specifically granted to the assignor in this Agreement. The Party seeking 
to assign or transfer this Agreement shall be solely responsible for paying all costs and 
expenses, including attorney’s and advisor fees of any such assignment. 

(d) Buyer acknowledges that upon an event of default under any financing 
documents relating to the Project, subject to receipt by Buyer of Notice, and further 
subject to rights of Other Buyers, any of the Project Investors may (but shall not be 
obligated to) assume, or cause its designee or a new lessee or buyer of the Project with 
demonstrated experience and ability and a level of creditworthiness to perform and 
assume obligations under other renewable energy power purchase agreements similar to 
this Agreement, to assume, all of the interests, rights and obligations of Seller thereafter 
arising under this Agreement; provided, that, regardless of whether any such Project 
Investor or its designee assumes all of the interests, rights and obligations of Seller 
thereafter arising under this Agreement, the Performance Assurance and security 
required to be posted by Seller is replaced by the assignee and Buyer’s interests, rights, 
remedies, benefits, privileges, and obligations under this Agreement will remain in full 
force and effect, including the right to terminate this Agreement. 

(e) If the rights and interests of Seller in this Agreement shall be assumed, sold 
or transferred as herein provided, and the assuming party shall agree in writing to be 
bound by and to assume, the terms and conditions hereof and any and all obligations to 

56
 



      

 

 

              
              
            

             
             

               
               
             

            
             

               
              
              

               
     

    

            
               

            
      

           
              
             

                
               
             

      

            
               
   

             
              

             
              

             
          

             
             

               
            

        

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Buyer arising or accruing hereunder from and after the date of such assumption, then 
Seller shall be released and discharged from the terms and conditions hereof except with 
respect to obligations arising prior to the assignment, and each such obligation 
hereunder from and after such date except with respect to obligations and covenants 
which survive expiration or early termination, but not any obligation or liability owned, 
accrued, incurred, or relating to the period prior to the date of such assumption, and 
Buyer shall continue this Agreement with the assuming party as if such Person had been 
named as Seller under this Agreement; provided, however, that if any such Person 
assumes this Agreement as provided herein, Buyer acknowledges and agrees that such 
Persons shall not be personally liable for the performance of such obligations hereunder 
except to the extent of the required Performance Assurance and the total interest of the 
Project Investors in the Project. Notwithstanding any such assumption by any of the 
Project Investors or a designee thereof, Seller shall not be released and discharged from 
and shall remain liable for any and all obligations to Buyer arising or accruing hereunder 
prior to such assumption. 

15.2 Collateral Assignment. 

(a) Seller, without approval of Buyer, may, by security, charge or otherwise 
encumber its entire interest under this Agreement in favor of a Project Investor for the 
purposes of financing the development, construction and/or operation of the Project and 
the Seller’s Interconnection Facilities. 

(b) Promptly after making such encumbrance, Seller shall deliver Notice to 
Buyer in writing of the name, address, and telephone and facsimile numbers of each 
Project Investor to which Seller’s interest under this Agreement has been encumbered. 
Such Notice shall also include the name of the single representative of (i) the Tax Equity 
Investors (if any) and/or (ii) the other Project Investors, if any, which may be the 
Collateral Agent or another representative or both, to whom all written and telephonic 
communications may be addressed by Buyer. 

(c) After giving Buyer such initial Notice, Seller shall promptly give Buyer 
Notice of any change in the information provided in the initial Notice or any revised 
Notice. 

(d) If Seller intends to encumber its interest under this Agreement as permitted 
by this Section 15.2, the Parties shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to enter into 
a mutually acceptable consent agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit N-1. Buyer 
shall, upon a commercially reasonable request by Seller or a Project Investor and at 
Seller’s sole expense, cooperate reasonably to execute, or arrange for the delivery of, 
those normal, reasonable and customary certificates, opinions and other documents 
(including estoppel certificates related to a tax equity financing substantially in the form 
of Exhibit N-2) and to provide such other normal and customary representations and 
warranties, as may be necessary in connection with a financing of the Project that Buyer 
reasonably determines do not affect any of Buyer’s rights, benefits, risks, burdens, 
liabilities or obligations under this Agreement. 

57
 



      

 

 

  

  

     
 

                  
                

                
               

              
               

                
                

                
              
              

              
                

                  
                  

                 
                   

                
                

               
             

             
              

               
               

                   
                

               
                

               
               

                
              

    

  

   

    
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

ARTICLE 16
 

FORCE MAJEURE
 

16.1 Force Majeure Events. 

To the extent either Party is prevented by a Force Majeure Event from carrying out, in whole or 
part, its obligations under this Agreement and such Party gives Notice and details of the Force 
Majeure Event to the other Party as detailed below, then, the Party impacted by the Force 
Majeure Event shall be excused from the performance of its obligations for the period during 
which its performance is impacted. As soon as practicable after commencement of a Force 
Majeure Event, the non-performing Party shall provide the other Party with oral notice of the 
Force Majeure Event, and within two (2) weeks of the commencement of a Force Majeure Event, 
the non-performing Party shall provide the other Party with Notice in the form of a letter 
describing in detail the particulars of the occurrence giving rise to the Force Majeure Event claim 
and the anticipated impact on the non-performing Party's ability to perform its obligations and 
the non-performing Party's Plan to resume full performance of the obligations impacted by the 
Force Majeure Event. Seller shall not without the prior written consent of Buyer substitute 
Buyer’s Product from any other source for the output of the Project during an outage resulting 
from a Force Majeure Event. The suspension of performance due to a claim of a Force Majeure 
Event must be of no greater scope and of no longer duration than is required by the Force 
Majeure Event. Buyer shall not be required to make any payments for any Buyer’s Product that 
Seller fails to schedule, deliver or provide as a result of a Force Majeure Event during the term of 
such Force Majeure Event. This Agreement may be terminated by either Party with no further 
obligation to the other Party if such Force Majeure Event prevents the performance of a material 
portion of the obligations hereunder and such Force Majeure Event is not resolved and full 
performance resumed within one hundred eighty (180) days after the commencement of such 
Force Majeure Event; provided, however, if the Force Majeure Event occurs after the 
Commercial Operation Date and Seller is the non-performing Party, Seller shall have up to 
ninety (90) days following such Force Majeure Event to obtain a report from an independent, 
third party engineer stating whether the Project is capable of being repaired or replaced within 
fifteen (15) additional months or less from the date of the report and provide Buyer a copy of the 
engineer’s report, at no cost to Buyer. If such engineer’s report concludes that the Project is 
capable of being repaired or replaced within such fifteen (15) month period and Seller undertakes 
and continues such repair or replacement with due diligence, then Buyer shall not have the right 
to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 16.1 until the expiration of the period 
deemed necessary by the engineer’s report (not to exceed fifteen (15) months), after which time, 
Buyer may terminate this Agreement by Notice to Seller unless the Project has been repaired or 
replaced, as applicable, and the Seller has resumed and is satisfying its performance obligations 
under this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 17
 

LIMITATIONS ON LIABILITY
 

17.1 Disclaimer of Warranties. 

58
 



      

 

 

           
           

     

    
 

          
          

          
          

            
            

           
            

           
        

        
          
           

           
          

          
             

          
         

        
        

       

  

  

     
 

                  
               

              
                 

                
              

   

              
           

               
              

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXCEPT AS SET FORTH HEREIN, THERE IS NO WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY 
OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AND ANY AND ALL IMPLIED 
WARRANTIES ARE DISCLAIMED. 

17.2 Limitations on Liability. 

THE PARTIES CONFIRM THAT THE EXPRESS REMEDIES PROVIDED IN THIS 
AGREEMENT SATISFY THE ESSENTIAL PURPOSES HEREOF. FOR BREACH OF ANY 
PROVISION FOR WHICH AN EXPRESS REMEDY IS PROVIDED, SUCH EXPRESS 
REMEDY SHALL BE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY, THE OBLIGOR’S 
LIABILITY SHALL BE LIMITED AS SET FORTH IN SUCH PROVISION AND ALL 
OTHER REMEDIES OR DAMAGES AT LAW OR IN EQUITY ARE WAIVED, UNLESS 
THE PROVISION IN QUESTION PROVIDES THAT THE EXPRESS REMEDIES ARE IN 
ADDITION TO OTHER REMEDIES THAT MAY BE AVAILABLE. A PARTY'S REMEDY 
OR MEASURE OF DAMAGES WILL BE ACTUAL DAMAGES. NEITHER PARTY SHALL 
BE LIABLE FOR CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY OR 
INDIRECT DAMAGES, LOST PROFITS OR OTHER BUSINESS INTERRUPTION 
DAMAGES, BY STATUTE, IN TORT OR CONTRACT, UNDER ANY INDEMNITY 
PROVISION OR OTHERWISE. UNLESS EXPRESSLY HEREIN PROVIDED, IT IS THE 
INTENT OF THE PARTIES THAT THE LIMITATIONS HEREIN IMPOSED ON REMEDIES 
BE WITHOUT REGARD TO THE CAUSE OR CAUSES RELATED THERETO, 
INCLUDING THE NEGLIGENCE OF ANY PARTY, WHETHER SUCH NEGLIGENCE BE 
SOLE, JOINT OR CONCURRENT, OR ACTIVE OR PASSIVE. TO THE EXTENT ANY 
DAMAGES REQUIRED TO BE PAID HEREUNDER ARE LIQUIDATED, THE PARTIES 
ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE DAMAGES ARE DIFFICULT OR IMPOSSIBLE TO 
DETERMINE, OR OTHERWISE OBTAINING AN ADEQUATE REMEDY IS 
INCONVENIENT AND THE DAMAGES CALCULATED HEREUNDER CONSTITUTE A 
REASONABLE APPROXIMATION OF THE HARM OR LOSS. 

ARTICLE 18
 

DISPUTE RESOLUTION
 

18.1 Intent of the Parties 

Except as provided in the next sentence, the sole procedure to resolve any claim arising out of or 
relating to this Agreement (a “Dispute”) is the dispute resolution procedure set forth in this 
ARTICLE 18. Either Party may seek a preliminary injunction or other provisional judicial 
remedy at any time if such action is necessary to prevent irreparable harm or preserve the status 
quo, in which case both Parties nonetheless will continue to pursue resolution of the Dispute by 
means of the dispute resolution procedure set forth in this ARTICLE 18. 

18.2 Management Negotiations 

(a) The Parties will attempt in good faith to resolve any Dispute by prompt 
negotiations between each Party’s authorized representative designated in writing as a 
representative of the Party (each a “Manager”). Either Manager may, by Notice to the 
other Party, request a meeting to initiate settlement negotiations to be held within ten 

59
 



      

 

 

               
                

             
             
             

             
              

       

             
              

                
             
        

           
              

              
             

  

               
                

              
               
                 

           

      
 

               
                 

               
            

            
           

             
                

             
               

    

  

  

  
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(10) Business Days of the other Party’s receipt of such request, at a mutually agreed 
time and place (either in person or telephonically). If the matter is not resolved within 
fifteen (15) Business Days of their first meeting (“Initial Negotiation End Date”), the 
Managers shall refer the matter to the designated senior officers of their respective 
companies that have authority to settle the Dispute (“Executives”). Within five (5) 
Business Days of the Initial Negotiation End Date (“Referral Date”), each Party shall 
provide one another Notice confirming the referral and identifying the name and title of 
the Executive who will represent the Party. 

(b) Within five (5) Business Days of the Referral Date, the Executives shall 
establish a mutually acceptable location and date, which date shall not be greater than 
thirty (30) days from the Referral Date, to meet. After the initial meeting date, the 
Executives shall meet, as often as they reasonably deem necessary, to exchange relevant 
information and to attempt to resolve the Dispute. 

(c) All communication and writing exchanged between the Parties in connection 
with these settlement negotiations shall be confidential and shall not be used or referred 
to in any subsequent binding adjudicatory process between the Parties. The Parties shall 
bear their respective costs, expenses and fees relating to the activities under this 
Section 18.2. 

(d) If the matter is not resolved within forty-five (45) days of the Referral Date, 
or if the Party receiving the Notice to meet, pursuant to Section 18.2(a) above, refuses or 
does not meet within the ten (10) Business Day period specified in Section 18.2(a) 
above, and subject to Sections 17.2, 20.7 and 20.8 of this Agreement, either Party may 
pursue all remedies available to it at law or in equity. Venue for any action or 
proceeding shall be state and federal courts in Orange County, Florida. 

18.3 Specific Performance and Injunctive Relief. 

Each Party shall be entitled to seek a decree compelling specific performance with respect to, 
and shall be entitled, without the necessity of filing any bond, to seek the restraint by injunction 
of, any actual or threatened breach of any non-monetary material obligation of the other Party 
under this Agreement, including with respect to disclosure or misuse of Confidential 
Information, audit rights, access to facilities, access to information, data and documents, 
emergencies, imminent harm to persons or property of impermissible transactions; provided, 
that, the right to specific performance explicitly excludes Seller's obligation to construct the 
Project. The Parties in any action for specific performance or restraint by injunction agree that 
they shall each request that all expenses incurred in such proceeding, including reasonable 
counsel fees, be apportioned in the final decision based upon the respective merits of the 
positions of the Parties. 

ARTICLE 19
 

NOTICES
 

19.1 Notices. 

60
 



      

 

 

               
               

               
              

               
                  

              
                

                  
                   

                 
                

                
              

                
                
              

             
   

 
       

         
      
        
         
      
      
 

         
      
        
           
      
     
 
 

         
      
      

   
     
     
 
 

        
       

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Whenever this Agreement requires or permits delivery of a “Notice” (or requires a Party to 
“Notify”), the Party with such right or obligation shall provide a written communication in the 
manner specified in herein and to the addresses set forth below; provided, however, that Notices 
of outages or other scheduling or dispatch information or requests, shall be provided in 
accordance with the terms set forth in the relevant section of this Agreement or procedure 
developed by the Parties. Invoices may be sent by facsimile or e-mail. A Notice sent by 
facsimile transmission or e-mail will be recognized and shall be deemed received on the 
Business Day on which such Notice was transmitted if received before 5:00 p.m. (and if received 
after 5:00 p.m., on the next Business Day) and a Notice of overnight mail or courier shall be 
deemed to have been received two (2) Business Days after it was sent or such earlier time as is 
confirmed by the receiving Party. Each Party shall provide Notice to the other Party of the 
persons authorized to nominate and/or agree to a schedule or dispatch order for the delivery or 
acceptance of Buyer’s Product or make other Notices on behalf of such Party and specify the 
scope of their individual authority and responsibilities, and may change its designation of such 
persons from time to time in its sole discretion by providing Notice. The Parties acknowledge 
and agree that in the event that Buyer receives conflicting Notices from the Collateral Agent and 
the Tax Equity Investor(s)’s representative named under Section 15.2 (if and as applicable), the 
Notice from the Collateral Agent shall supersede that from the Tax Equity Investor(s)’ 
representative. 

If to Seller: POINSETT SOLAR, LLC 

c/o NextEra Florida Renewables, LLC 
700 Universe Boulevard 
Juno Beach, FL 33408 
Attn: Director, Business Management (South Region) 
Telephone: 561-304-5912 
Email: Charles.Lande@nee.com 

With a copy to:	 NextEra Florida Renewables, LLC 
700 Universe Boulevard 
Juno Beach, FL 33408 
Attn: Mitchell Ross, Vice President & General Counsel 
Telephone: 561-691-7126 
Email: Mitch.ross@nee.com 

If to Buyer:	 Florida Municipal Power Agency 
Chief Operating Officer 
8553 Commodity Circle 
Orlando, FL 32819 
Telephone: 407-355-7767 
Email: frankken.ruttergaffney@fmpa.com 

With a copy to:	 Florida Municipal Power Agency 
Office of General Counsel 

61
 



      

 

 

    
   

      
    

     
      
     
     

  

 

     
 

                  
               

               
              

                  
          

               
             

                 
                

             
                

               
              

              

           
     

  
 

                 
                

              
              

               
               

               
                 

                
               

   

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

P.O. Box 3209, 
Tallahassee, FL 32315-3209 
2061 Delta Way, Ste 2, 
Tallahassee, Florida 32303-4240 
Telephone: 850-297-2011 
Facsimile: 850-297-2014 
Email: jody.finklea@fmpa.com 

Dan.ohagan@fmpa.com 

ARTICLE 20
 

MISCELLANEOUS
 

20.1 Effectiveness of Agreement; Survival. 

This Agreement shall be in full force and effect, enforceable and binding in all respects as of the 
Original Effective Date until the conclusion of the Term or earlier termination pursuant to the 
terms of this Agreement; provided, however, that this Agreement shall remain in effect until (a) 
the Parties have fulfilled all obligations under this Agreement, including payment in full of 
amounts due for the Buyer’s Product delivered or not delivered prior to the end of the Term, the 
Termination Payment, indemnification payments or other damages (whether directly or 
indirectly such as through set-off or netting) and (b) the undrawn portion of the Project 
Development Security or Delivery Term Security, as applicable, is released and/or returned as 
applicable (if any is due). All indemnity rights shall survive the termination or expiration of this 
Agreement for the longer of twelve (12) months or the expiration of the statute of limitations 
period of the claim underlying the indemnity obligation. Notwithstanding any provisions herein 
to the contrary, the obligations set forth in the following articles and sections shall survive (in 
full force) the expiration of termination of this Agreement: Sections 12.2 and 12.3 until the 
applicable statute of limitation lapses, 14.1 regarding confidentiality, for a period of two (2) 
years, 20.2 (Audits), 20.7 (Governing Law), 20.8 (Waiver of Trial by Jury), 20.9 (Attorney’s 

Fees) and 20.11 (Project Members); ARTICLE 1 (Definitions and Interpretation), and 
ARTICLE 17 (Limitations on Liability). 

20.2 Audits. 

Each Party has the right, at its sole expense and during normal working hours, to examine the 
records of the other Party to the extent reasonably necessary to verify the accuracy of any 
statement, charge or computation made pursuant to this Agreement. If any such examination 
reveals any inaccuracy in any statement, the necessary adjustments in such statement and the 
payments thereof will be made promptly and shall bear interest calculated at the Interest Rate 
from the date the overpayment or underpayment was made until paid; provided, however, that no 
adjustment for any statement or payment will be made unless objection to the accuracy thereof 
was made prior to the lapse of twelve (12) months from the rendition thereof, and thereafter any 
objection shall be deemed waived except to the extent any misinformation was from a third party 
not affiliated with any Party and such third party corrects its information after such twelve (12)
month period. 

62
 



      

 

 

    
 

               
              

      

    
 

                 
                 

                   
               

                  
     

   
 

                   
                 

             
             

    

                
               

               
                  

               
                

      

     
 

           
          

           
            

          
          

        
 

         
            

             
          

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

20.3 Amendments. 

Except as provided in Sections 3.1(b) and 3.19(g), this Agreement shall not be modified nor 
amended unless such modification or amendment shall be in writing and signed by authorized 
representatives of both Parties. 

20.4 Waivers. 

Failure to enforce any right or obligation by any Party with respect to any matter arising in 
connection with this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver as to that matter nor to any other 
matter. Any waiver by any Party of its rights with respect to a breach or default under this 
Agreement or with respect to any other matters arising in connection with this Agreement must 
be in writing. Such waiver shall not be deemed a waiver with respect to any subsequent breach 
or default or other matter. 

20.5 Severability. 

If any of the terms of this Agreement are finally held or determined to be invalid, illegal or void, 
all other terms of the Agreement shall remain in effect; provided that the Parties shall enter into 
negotiations concerning the terms affected by such decision for the purpose of achieving 
conformity with requirements of any Applicable Law and the intent of the Parties. 

20.6 Standard of Review. 

Absent the agreement of the Parties to the proposed change, the standard of review for changes 
to this Agreement proposed by a Party, a Person or the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 
acting sua sponte shall be the “public interest” application of the “just and reasonable” standard 
of review set forth in United Gas Pipe Line Co. v. Mobile Gas Service Corp., 350 U.S. 332 
(1956) and Federal Power Commission v. Sierra Pacific Power Co., 350 U.S. 348 (1956), as 
clarified by Morgan Stanley Capital Group, Inc. v. Public Util. Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish, 554 
U.S. 527 (2008) (the “Mobile-Sierra” doctrine). 

20.7 Governing Law. 

THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND DUTIES OF THE PARTIES HEREUNDER 
SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED, ENFORCED AND PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, WITHOUT REGARD 
TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW. THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE VENUE FOR 
ANY DISPUTE, CLAIM OR CONTROVERSY RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT SHALL 
BE THE STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS IN ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA. 

20.8 Waiver of Trial by Jury. 

EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND 
INTENTIONALLY WAIVES THE RIGHT EITHER OF THEM MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL 
BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION BASED HEREON, OR ARISING OUT OF, 
UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT AND ANY AGREEMENT 

63
 



      

 

 

         
         

             
         

   
 

                 
              

             
              

    
 

               
               
               

                 
                   

 

   
 

                
                 

               
                

               
               
           

                  
             

                
                   

              

   
 

               
              

                  
                  
   

   
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

CONTEMPLATED TO BE EXECUTED IN CONJUNCTION HEREWITH, OR ANY 
COURSE OF CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING, STATEMENTS (WHETHER VERBAL 
OR WRITTEN) OR ACTIONS OF ANY PARTY HERETO. THIS PROVISION IS A 
MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR THE PARTIES ENTERING INTO THIS AGREEMENT. 

20.9 Attorneys’ Fees. 

In any proceeding brought to enforce this Agreement or because of the breach by any Party of 
any covenant or condition herein contained, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to reasonable 
attorneys’ fees (including reasonably allocated fees of in-house counsel) in addition to court 
costs and any and all other costs of the proceeding recoverable in said action. 

20.10 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. 

Except indemnitees, a Project Investor party to a consent to assignment among the Parties, and 
Other Buyers and Other Solar Project Buyers with respect to their priority right to purchase 
Newly Available Product, this Agreement is intended solely for the benefit of the Parties hereto 
and nothing contained herein shall be construed to create any duty to, or standard of care with 
reference to, or any liability to, or any benefit for, any Person not a Party to this Agreement. 

20.11 Project Members. 

This Agreement is an obligation of Buyer only, and all costs and liabilities of Buyer hereunder 
are payable solely from the revenues and funds of the FMPA Solar Project. No liability or 
obligation under this Agreement shall inure to or bind any of the funds, accounts, monies, 
property, instruments, or rights of Buyer generally, of any individual member of Buyer, or of any 
other “project” of Buyer as contemplated in the Interlocal Agreement. Buyer shall enforce the 
provisions of the FMPA Solar Project Power Sales Contracts and duly perform its covenants and 
agreements thereunder; provided, however, that notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement 
to the contrary, in the event of the failure of an FMPA Solar Project Participant to observe the 
FMPA Solar Project Participant Covenants, such failure shall be considered a Downgrade Event 
(without limiting ARTICLE 7) and the sole and exclusive remedy of Seller for such failure shall 
be the delivery by Buyer to Seller of Performance Assurance in the form of a Letter of Credit or 
cash in an amount equal to the then applicable amount of Buyer’s Performance Assurance. 

20.12 No Agency. 

This Agreement is not intended, and shall not be construed, to create any association, joint 
venture, agency relationship or partnership between the Parties or to impose any such obligation 
or liability upon either Party. Neither Party shall have any right, power or authority to enter into 
any agreement or undertaking for, or act as or be an agent or representative of, or otherwise bind, 
the other Party. 

20.13 Cooperation. 

64
 



      

 

 

              
                 

                
              

                
 

    
 

                
            
                

            
                 
               

  

   
 

               
                 
               

             

     
 

           
               
 

   
 

             
        

  
 

                
            

 
        

      

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

The Parties acknowledge that they are entering into a long-term arrangement in which the 
cooperation of both of them will be required. If, during the Term, changes in the operations, 
facilities or methods of either Party will materially benefit a Party without detriment to the other 
Party, the Parties commit to each other to make Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cooperate 
and assist each other in making such change on terms and conditions mutually agreed by the 
Parties. 

20.14 Further Assurances. 

Upon the receipt of a written request from the other Party, each Party shall execute such 
additional documents, instruments and assurances and take such additional actions as are 
reasonably necessary and desirable to carry out the terms and intent hereof. Neither Party shall 
unreasonably withhold, condition or delay its compliance with any reasonable request made 
pursuant to this Section 20.14. No Party shall be required to take any action or execute any 
document under this Section 20.14 that would negatively change that Party's risk or benefit under 
this Agreement. 

20.15 Captions; Construction. 

All indexes, titles, subject headings, section titles, and similar items are provided for the purpose 
of reference and convenience and are not intended to affect the meaning of the content or scope 
of this Agreement. Any term and provision of this Agreement shall be construed simply 
according to its fair meaning and not strictly for or against any Party. 

20.16 Entire Agreement. 

This Agreement shall supersede all other prior and contemporaneous understandings or 
agreements, both written and oral, between the Parties relating to the subject matter of this 
Agreement. 

20.17 Forward Contract. 

The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement constitutes a “forward contract” within 
the meaning of the United States Bankruptcy Code. 

20.18 Counterparts. 

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and 
all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK – 

SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

65
 



      

 

 

             
        

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

    
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties have executed this Agreement in the manner appropriate 
to each on the date set forth above. 

POINSETT SOLAR, LLC FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY 

By:_______________________________ By:___________________________________ 

Name:_____________________________ Name:________________________________ 

Title:______________________________ Title:_________________________________ 

66
 



      

 

 

 

 

 

  

                
 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 

               
              
           

 
 

   

  

 

   

   
 

      

 

     
 

                  

 

                  

 

 

           
 

 

  

 

   

   

 

   

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT A
 

SAMPLE CALCULATIONS
 

I. Summary of Terms and Sample Values: 

(Note: The results of the formulas contained in this Exhibit A are derived from precise values 
without regard to rounding which is used to show interim results for ease of presentation.) 

Project Quantity (E1y) means the total estimated Energy production of the Project for a Contract 
Year. 

For this example E1y is  MWh for each Contract Year 

Delivered Energy (DE) means the Energy delivered to the Delivery Point net of all electrical 
losses associated with the transmission or transformation (from direct current to AC) of the 
Energy to the Delivery Point, including, if applicable, any losses between the Metering System 
and the Delivery Point. 

For this example DE is  MWh for each Contract Year in a shortfall scenario 

For this example DE is  MWh for each Contract Year in an excess energy scenario 

Buyer’s Share; for this example % 

Contract Quantity (CEb,1y) means Buyer’s Share of the Project Quantity. 

For this example Eb,1y is % x  = MWh in each Contract Year 

Buyer’s Delivered Energy (DEb) means Buyer’s Share of the Delivered Energy. 

For this example DEb is % x = MWh in each Contract Year in a shortfall 

scenario
 

For this example DEb is % x = MWh in each Contract Year in an excess 

energy scenario 

Performance Measurement Period (2y) means the two prior consecutive Contract Years 
during the Delivery Term. 

Contract Quantity during Performance Measurement Period (CEb,2y) 

For this example CEb,2y is 2 x  MWh =  MWh 

Buyer’s Delivered Energy during Performance Measurement Period (DEb,2y) 

For this example DEb,2y is 2 x  MWh =  MWh in a shortfall scenario 

A-1
 



      

 

 

   

 

  

   

 

  

             
 

 

  

 

    

         
          

            
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

For this example DEb,2y is 2 x  MWh = MWh in an excess energy scenario 

Dollar-per-MWh Rate (R) means $  per MWh of Delivered Energy.
 

Hours in Performance Measurement Period (h) 

For this example h is 2 x 8,760 = 17,520 

Seller Excuse Hours in Performance Measurement Period (he) means the hours Seller is 
unable to generate or deliver Energy due to Seller Excuses. 

For this example he is 

II. Sample Calculation of Measurement Period Performance Percentage: 

Measurement Period Performance Percentage = Buyer’s Delivered Energy during 
Performance Measurement Period / (Contract Quantity during Performance Measurement Period 
x (Hours in Performance Measurement Period – Seller Excuse Hours in Performance 
Measurement Period) / Hours in Performance Measurement Period), expressed as a percentage. 

�Eb,2y 
CEb,2y × (ℎ − ℎe)ℎ 

0 MWℎ × ( − )

 MWℎ
 MWℎ ×

 MWℎ


 MWℎ
�

A-2
 



      

 

 

 

 

 

  

           
          

           
         

 

 

�  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

            
         

          
           

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Expressed as a percentage 

% 

III. Sample Calculation of GEP Damages: 

GEP Damages = Dollar-per-MWh Rate x (0.8 x (Contract Quantity during 
Performance Measurement Period x (Hours in Performance Measurement Period – 
Seller Excuse Hours in Performance Measurement Period) / Hours in Performance 
Measurement Period) – Buyer’s Delivered Energy during Performance Measurement 
Period) 

(ℎ − ℎe)� × � × CEb,2y × ℎ − Eb,2y� 

) −$ /MWℎ × � ×  MWℎ × ( −  MWℎ� 

$ /MWℎ × ( ×  MWℎ × −  MWℎ) 

$ /MWℎ × (  MWℎ −  MWℎ) 

IV. Sample Calculation of Excess Energy Credit: 

Excess Energy Credit = x Dollar-per-MWh Rate x (Buyer’s Delivered Energy 
during Performance Measurement Period – x Contract Quantity during 
Performance Measurement Period x (Hours in Performance Measurement Period – 
Seller Excuse Hours in Performance Measurement Period) / Hours in Performance 
Measurement Period) 

$ /MWℎ × (  MWℎ) 

$ 

A-3
 



      

 

 

 

�  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

)� 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(ℎ − ℎe)× � × � Eb,2y − × CEb,2y × �ℎ 

× $ /MWℎ −× �  MWℎ − × × ( 

$ )/MWℎ × (  MWℎ − × × 

$ )/MWℎ × (  MWℎ − × × 

$ /MWℎ × (  MWℎ − MWℎ) 

$ /MWℎ ×  MWℎ 

$ 

A-4
 



      

 

 

  

   

 
                

              
        

 
         

 
       

 
        

 
              

 

 
         

 
     

 
       

 
   

 

                   
               

           
              

    

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT B
 

DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT
 

Seller intends to build, own and operate Project with a nameplate capacity rating of the Project 
Capacity. The Project will be located in Osceola County. The Project will generate electrical 
power that will be sold wholesale. 

As presently planned, the Project will consist of: 

· Photovoltaic solar modules and power inverters 

· Electrical transformation equipment located at the Project 

· An underground and/or aboveground electric cable collection system to carry electricity to the 
substation
 

· An underground and/or aboveground fiber-optic data collection system
 

· Permanent meteorological (“MET”) tower(s)
 

· A temporary construction lay down area
 

· Maintenance/field office(s)
 

Nothing in this Agreement or Exhibit B is intended to either (i) limit the right of Seller to make 
any changes to the Project consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement it 
determines to undertake consistent with Applicable Law, Governmental Approvals and Prudent 
Operating Practices, or (ii) grant any rights to Buyer regarding the description, nature or 
components of the Project. 

B-1
 



      

 

 

  

 
       

 

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT C 

DESCRIPTION OF DELIVERY POINT AND ONE-LINE DIAGRAM
 

C-1
 



      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 
 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT D
 

PROJECT QUANTITY
 

Period Project Quantity (MWh) 

Jul-Dec 
2023Jul-Dec 

2020 

20242021 

20252022 

20262023 

20272024 

20282025 

20292026 

20302027 

20312028 

20322029 

20332030 

20342031 

20352032 

20362033 

20372034 

20382035 

20392036 

20402037 

20412038 

20422039 

Jan-Jun 
20432040 

2041 

2042 

2043 

2044 

2045 

2046 

2047 

2048 

2049 

Jan-Jun 2050 

D-1
 



      

 

 

 

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

D-2
 



      

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

    

  

 
 

 
 
 

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT E
 

PURCHASE OPTION
 

Purchase Date 

Minimum 

Purchase 

Price 

Last day of the Initial Term $ 

Last day of first Renewal Term $ 

. 


E-1
 



      

 

 

  

   

 

            
            

  
 

 

 
         

         
           

           
 

             
          

 
            

             
            

          
 

             
               

             
               

              
 

             
            

              
           

 
              

              
            
             
            

   
 

      
 

                
           
           

         

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT F
 

FORM OF GUARANTY
 

THIS GUARANTY (this “Guaranty”), dated as of _____, ____ (the “Effective Date”), 
is made by [NEXTERA ENERGY CAPITAL HOLDINGS, INC.] (“Guarantor”), in favor of 
[____________________________] (“Counterparty”). 

RECITALS: 

A.	 WHEREAS, Counterparty and Guarantor’s indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary [INSERT 
NEXTERA ENERGY PROJECT COMPANY] (“Obligor”), have entered into, or 
concurrently herewith are entering into, that certain Renewable Energy Power Purchase 
Agreement dated as of ______________ __, 2018 (together, the “Agreement”); and 

B.	 WHEREAS, Guarantor will directly or indirectly benefit from the transaction to be 
entered into between Obligor and Counterparty pursuant to the Agreement. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and as an inducement 
for Counterparty’s execution, delivery and performance of the Agreement, and for other good 
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, 
Guarantor hereby agrees for the benefit of Counterparty as follows: 

1. GUARANTY. Subject to the terms and provisions hereof, Guarantor hereby absolutely 
and irrevocably guarantees the timely payment when due of all obligations owing by Obligor to 
Counterparty arising pursuant to the Agreement on or after the Effective Date (the 
“Obligations”). This Guaranty shall constitute a guarantee of payment and not of collection. 
The liability of Guarantor under this Guaranty shall be subject to the following limitations: 

(a)	 Notwithstanding anything herein or in the Agreement to the contrary, the maximum 
aggregate obligation and liability of Guarantor under this Guaranty, and the maximum 
recovery from Guarantor under this Guaranty, shall in no event exceed [spell out the 
dollar amount] U.S. Dollars (U.S. $ __________) (the “Maximum Recovery Amount”). 

(b)	 The obligation and liability of Guarantor under this Guaranty is specifically limited to 
payments expressly required to be made under the Agreement, as well as costs of 
collection and enforcement of this Guaranty (including attorney’s fees) to the extent 
reasonably and actually incurred by the Counterparty (subject in all instances, to the 
limitations imposed by the Maximum Recovery Amount as specified in Section 1(a) 
above). 

2.	 DEMANDS AND PAYMENT. 

(a)	 If Obligor fails to pay any Obligation to Counterparty when such Obligation is due and 
owing under the Agreement (an “Overdue Obligation”), Counterparty may present a 
written demand to Guarantor calling for Guarantor’s payment of such Overdue 
Obligation pursuant to this Guaranty (a “Payment Demand”). 

F-1
 



      

 

 

 
           

           
          

            
            

            
             

            
             

        
 

             
              

             
              
            

              
             

               
         

 
          

 
                 

               
       

 
                

             
          

 
             

            
            

           
    

 
            

                
              

                 
    

 
              

             

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

(b)	 Guarantor’s obligation hereunder to pay any particular Overdue Obligation(s) to 
Counterparty is conditioned upon Guarantor’s receipt of a Payment Demand from 
Counterparty satisfying the following requirements: (i) such Payment Demand must 
identify the specific Overdue Obligation(s) covered by such demand, the specific date(s) 
upon which such Overdue Obligation(s) became due and owing under the Agreement, 
and the specific provision(s) of the Agreement pursuant to which such Overdue 
Obligation(s) became due and owing; (ii) such Payment Demand must be delivered to 
Guarantor in accordance with Section 9 below; and (iii) the specific Overdue 
Obligation(s) addressed by such Payment Demand must remain due and unpaid at the 
time of such delivery to Guarantor. 

(c)	 After issuing a Payment Demand in accordance with the requirements specified in 
Section 2(b) above, Counterparty shall not be required to issue any further notices or 
make any further demands with respect to the Overdue Obligation(s) specified in that 
Payment Demand, and Guarantor shall be required to make payment with respect to the 
Overdue Obligation(s) specified in that Payment Demand within five (5) Business Days 
after Guarantor receives such demand. As used herein, the term “Business Day” shall 
mean all weekdays (i.e., Monday through Friday) other than any weekdays during which 
commercial banks or financial institutions are authorized to be closed to the public in the 
State of Florida or the State of New York. 

3.	 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. Guarantor represents and warrants that: 

(a)	 it is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of 
Florida and has the corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and carry out the 
terms and provisions of the Guaranty; 

(b)	 no authorization, approval, consent or order of, or registration or filing with, any court or 
other governmental body having jurisdiction over Guarantor is required on the part of 
Guarantor for the execution and delivery of this Guaranty; and 

(c)	 this Guaranty constitutes a valid and legally binding agreement of Guarantor, enforceable 
against Guarantor in accordance with the terms hereof, except as the enforceability 
thereof may be limited by the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by 
general principles of equity. 

4. RESERVATION OF CERTAIN DEFENSES. Guarantor reserves to itself all rights, 
setoffs, counterclaims and other defenses to which Obligor is or may be entitled arising from or 
out of the Agreement, except for defenses (if any) based upon the bankruptcy, insolvency, 
dissolution or liquidation of Obligor or any lack of power or authority of Obligor to enter into 
and/or perform the Agreement. 

5. AMENDMENT OF GUARANTY. No term or provision of this Guaranty shall be 
amended, modified, altered, waived or supplemented except in a writing signed by Guarantor 

F-2
 



      

 

 

            
             

    
 

              
    

 
               

             
                

            
               
 

 
                

                  
           

                
         

 
              

           
              

             
                

             
     

 
             
                     

                 
                

 
           

              
               

              
              

         
 

            
            
               

               
              

                 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

and Counterparty; provided, however, that an amendment to this Guaranty increasing the 
Maximum Recovery Amount and/or extending the termination date of this Guaranty may be 
executed solely by Guarantor. 

6. WAIVERS AND CONSENTS. Subject to and in accordance with the terms and 
provisions of this Guaranty: 

(a)	 Except as required in Section 2 above, Guarantor hereby waives (i) notice of acceptance 
of this Guaranty; (ii) presentment and demand concerning the liabilities of Guarantor; and 
(iii) any right to require that any action or proceeding be brought against Obligor or any 
other person, or to require that Counterparty seek enforcement of any performance 
against Obligor or any other person, prior to any action against Guarantor under the terms 
hereof. 

(b)	 No delay by Counterparty in the exercise of (or failure by Counterparty to exercise) any 
rights hereunder shall operate as a waiver of such rights, a waiver of any other rights or a 
release of Guarantor from its obligations hereunder (with the understanding, however, 
that the foregoing shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver by Guarantor of any rights 
or defenses which Obligor may have under the Agreement. 

(c)	 Without notice to or the consent of Guarantor, and without impairing or releasing 
Guarantor’s obligations under this Guaranty, Counterparty may: (i) change the manner, 
place or terms for payment of all or any of the Obligations (including renewals, 
extensions or other alterations of the Obligations); (ii) release Obligor or any person 
(other than Guarantor) from liability for payment of all or any of the Obligations; or (iii) 
receive, substitute, surrender, exchange or release any collateral or other security for any 
or all of the Obligations. 

7. REINSTATEMENT. Guarantor agrees that this Guaranty shall continue to be effective 
or shall be reinstated, as the case may be, if all or any part of any payment made hereunder is at 
any time avoided or rescinded or must otherwise be restored or repaid by Counterparty as a result 
of the bankruptcy or insolvency of Obligor, all as though such payments had not been made. 

8. TERMINATION. This Guaranty and the Guarantor’s obligations hereunder will 
terminate automatically and immediately upon the earlier of (i) the termination or expiration of 
the Agreement and (ii) [need fixed termination date – term of Agreement plus six months]; 
provided, however, that no such termination shall affect Guarantor's liability with respect to any 
Obligations arising under any Transactions entered into prior to the time the termination is 
effective, which Obligations shall remain subject to this Guaranty. 

9. NOTICE. Any Payment Demand, notice, request, instruction, correspondence or other 
document to be given hereunder (herein collectively called “Notice”) by Counterparty to 
Guarantor, or by Guarantor to Counterparty, as applicable, shall be in writing and may be 
delivered either by (i) U.S. certified mail with postage prepaid and return receipt requested, or 
(ii) recognized nationwide courier service with delivery receipt requested, in either case to be 
delivered to the following address (or to such other U.S. address as may be specified via Notice 

F-3
 



      

 

 

              
     

 

     

     
   
    
      

 
 
 

   
 

          
   

           
   

 
                 

             

            

         
 

                
              

                
                

             
 

    
 

                
                

 
              

               
            

               
              

                
     

 
            

           
     

 
                 

             
               
            

         

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

provided by Guarantor or Counterparty, as applicable, to the other in accordance with the 
requirements of this Section 9): 

TO GUARANTOR: * TO COUNTERPARTY: 

NextEra Energy Capital Holdings, Inc. 
700 Universe Blvd. 
Juno Beach, Florida 33408 
Attn: Treasurer 

__________________ 
__________________ 
__________________ 
Attn: _________ 

[Tel: (561) 694-6204 - for use in connection 
with courier deliveries] 

[Tel: (___) ___-___ - for use in connection 
with courier deliveries] 

*	 (NOTE: Copies of any Notices to Guarantor under this Guaranty shall also be sent via 

facsimile to ATTN: Contracts Group, Legal, Fax No. (561) 625-7504 and ATTN: Credit 

Department, Fax No. (561) 625-7642. However, such facsimile transmissions shall not 

be deemed effective for delivery purposes under this Guaranty.) 

Any Notice given in accordance with this Section 9 will (i) if delivered during the recipient's 
normal business hours on any given Business Day, be deemed received by the designated 
recipient on such date, and (ii) if not delivered during the recipient's normal business hours on 
any given Business Day, be deemed received by the designated recipient at the start of the 
recipient's normal business hours on the next Business Day after such delivery. 

10.	 MISCELLANEOUS. 

(a)	 This Guaranty shall in all respects be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the 
law of the State of Florida, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws thereunder. 

(b)	 This Guaranty shall be binding upon Guarantor and its successors and permitted assigns 
and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by Counterparty and its successors and 
permitted assigns and shall be binding regardless of whether Counterparty and Obligor 
enter into amendments to the Agreement. Guarantor may not assign this Guaranty in part 
or in whole without the prior written consent of Counterparty. Counterparty may not 
assign its rights or benefits under this Guaranty in part or in whole without the prior 
written consent of Guarantor. 

(c)	 This Guaranty embodies the entire agreement and understanding between Guarantor and 
Counterparty and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings relating to the 
subject matter hereof. 

(d)	 The headings in this Guaranty are for purposes of reference only, and shall not affect the 
meaning hereof. Words importing the singular number hereunder shall include the plural 
number and vice versa, and any pronouns used herein shall be deemed to cover all 
genders. The term "person" as used herein means any individual, corporation, 
partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, association, joint-stock company, 

F-4
 



      

 

 

           
 

 
             

                
          

             
        

 
             

              
               

              
                

                
               
          

              
                  

             
                 

              
 

         
      

           
            

         
        
          

          
       

 
 

            
         

 
    

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

trust, unincorporated association, or government (or any agency or political subdivision 
thereof). 

(e)	 Wherever possible, any provision in this Guaranty which is prohibited or unenforceable 
in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective only to the extent of such 
prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and 
any such prohibition or unenforceability in any one jurisdiction shall not invalidate or 
render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction. 

(f)	 Counterparty (by its acceptance of this Guaranty) and Guarantor each hereby irrevocably: 
(i) consents and submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court 
for the Middle District of Florida, or if that court does not have subject matter 
jurisdiction, to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Circuit Court in and for Orange County, 
Florida (without prejudice to the right of any party to remove to the United States District 
Court for the Middle District of Florida) for the purposes of any suit, action or other 
proceeding arising out of this Guaranty or the subject matter hereof or any of the 
transactions contemplated hereby brought by Counterparty, Guarantor or their respective 
successors or assigns; and (ii) waives (to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law) 
and agrees not to assert any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the 
above-named courts, that the suit, action or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient 
forum, that the venue of the suit, action or proceeding is improper or that this Guaranty or 
the subject matter hereof may not be enforced in or by such court. 

(g)	 COUNTERPARTY (BY ITS ACCEPTANCE OF THIS GUARANTY) AND 
GUARANTOR EACH HEREBY IRREVOCABLY, INTENTIONALLY AND 
VOLUNTARILY WAIVES THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO 
ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING BASED ON, OR ARISING OUT OF, UNDER OR IN 
CONNECTION WITH, THIS GUARANTY OR THE AGREEMENT, OR ANY 
COURSE OF CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING, STATEMENTS (WHETHER 
VERBAL OR WRITTEN) OR ACTIONS OF ANY PERSON RELATING HERETO 
OR THERETO. THIS PROVISION IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT TO 
GUARANTOR’S EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS GUARANTY. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Guarantor has executed this Guaranty on _____________, 20__, 
but it is effective as of the Effective Date 

NEXTERA ENERGY CAPITAL HOLDINGS, 
INC. 

By:___________________________________ 
Name:_________________________________ 
Title:__________________________________ 

F-5
 



      

 

 

  

     

 

       

    
   

 

  
 
    

 
           
 

 
 

               
                 

               
           

 
                   

       
 

                 
             

        
 

                    
                  

                   
                 

                
             

                  
               

                 
                 

               
                  

                 
        

  
                 

               
                    

                    
                  

                   
                

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT G
 

FORM OF LETTER OF CREDIT
 

[ISSUING BANK] IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT 

DATE OF ISSUANCE: 

[Date of issuance] 

[BENEFICIARY] (“Beneficiary”)
 
[Address]
 

Attention: [Contact Person]
 

Re: [ISSUING BANK] Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No.________ 

Messrs/Mesdames: 

We hereby establish in favor of Beneficiary (sometimes alternatively referred to herein as “you”) this 
Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No. _______ (the “Letter of Credit”) for the account of [Entity] [--
Address ---] and [Entity] [--- Address ---] (“Account Parties”), effective immediately and expiring on the 
date determined as specified in numbered paragraphs 5 and 6 below. 

We have been informed that this Letter of Credit is issued pursuant to the terms of that certain [describe 

the underlying agreement which requires this LC]. 

1. Stated Amount. The maximum amount available for drawing by you under this Letter of Credit 
shall be [written dollar amount] United States Dollars (US$[dollar amount]) (such maximum amount 
referred to as the “Stated Amount”). 

2. Drawings. A drawing hereunder may be made by you on any Business Day on or prior to the 
date this Letter of Credit expires by delivering to [ISSUING BANK], at any time during its business hours 
on such Business Day, at [bank address] (or at such other address as may be designated by written notice 
delivered to you as contemplated by numbered paragraph 9 hereof), a copy of this Letter of Credit 
together with (i) a Draw Certificate executed by an authorized person substantially in the form of 
Attachment A hereto (the “Draw Certificate”), appropriately completed and signed by your authorized 
officer (signing as such) and (ii) your draft substantially in the form of Attachment B hereto (the “Draft”), 
appropriately completed and signed by your authorized officer (signed as such). Partial drawings and 
multiple presentations may be made under this Letter of Credit. Draw Certificates and Drafts under this 
Letter of Credit may be presented by Beneficiary by means of facsimile or original documents sent by 
overnight delivery or courier to [ISSUING BANK] at our address set forth above, Attention: ___________ 
(or at such other address as may be designated by written notice delivered to you as contemplated by 
numbered paragraph 9 below). In the event of a presentation by facsimile transmission, the original of 
such documents need not be sent to us. 

3. Time and Method for Payment. We hereby agree to honor a drawing hereunder made in 
compliance with this Letter of Credit by transferring in immediately available funds the amount specified 
in the Draft delivered to us in connection with such drawing to such account at such bank in the United 
States as you may specify in your Draw Certificate. If the Draw Certificate is presented to us at such 
address by 12:00 noon, [_______] time on any Business Day, payment will be made not later than our 
close of business on third succeeding business day and if such Draw Certificate is so presented to us after 
12:00 noon, [_______] time on any Business Day, payment will be made on the fourth succeeding 

G-1
 



      

 

 

                
              

 
                 

                  
                 

                 
                   

               
 

                  
                 

                  
 

                
                 

               
                    

                   
                  

          
 

                 
                   
    

 
              

             
        
             

             
     

 
                   

                     
                     

                 
                   

            
 

         
 

                
                

              
                  

                
 

 

     
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Business Day. In clarification, we agree to honor the Draw Certificate as specified in the preceding 
sentences, without regard to the truth or falsity of the assertions made therein. 

4. Non-Conforming Demands. If a demand for payment made by you hereunder does not, in any 
instance, conform to the terms and conditions of this Letter of Credit, we shall give you prompt notice 
that the demand for payment was not effectuated in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 
Letter of Credit, stating the reasons therefor and that we will upon your instructions hold any documents 
at your disposal or return the same to you. Upon being notified that the demand for payment was not 
effectuated in conformity with this Letter of Credit, you may correct any such non-conforming demand. 

5. Expiration. This Letter of Credit shall automatically expire at the close of business on the date 
on which we receive a Cancellation Certificate in the form of Attachment C hereto executed by your 
authorized officer and sent along with the original of this Letter of Credit and all amendments (if any). 

6. Initial Period and Automatic Rollover. The initial period of this Letter of Credit shall 
terminate on [one year from the issuance date] (the “Initial Expiration Date”). The Letter of Credit 
shall be automatically extended without amendment for one (1) year periods from the Initial Expiration 
Date or any future expiration date, unless at least sixty (60) days prior to any such expiration date we send 
you notice by registered mail or courier at your address first shown (or such other address as may be 
designated by you as contemplated by numbered paragraph 9) that we elect not to consider this Letter of 
Credit extended for any such additional one year period. 

7. Business Day. As used herein, “Business Day” shall mean any day on which commercial banks 
are not authorized or required to close in the State of New York, and inter-bank payments can be effected 
on the Fedwire system. 

8. Governing Law. THIS LETTER OF CREDIT IS GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, AND, EXCEPT AS 
OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY STATED HEREIN, TO THE INTERNATIONAL STANDBY 
PRACTICES, ICC PUBLICATION NO. 590 (THE “ISP98”), AND IN THE EVENT OF ANY 
CONFLICT, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA WILL CONTROL, WITHOUT REGARD TO 
PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICT OF LAWS. 

9. Notices. All communications to you in respect of this Letter of Credit shall be in writing and 
shall be delivered to the address first shown for you above or such other address as may from time to time 
be designated by you in a written notice to us. All documents to be presented to us hereunder and all 
other communications to us in respect of this Letter of Credit, which other communications shall be in 
writing, shall be delivered to the address for us indicated above, or such other address as may from time 
to time be designated by us in a written notice to you. 

10. Irrevocability. This Letter of Credit is irrevocable. 

11. Complete Agreement. This Letter of Credit sets forth in full our undertaking, and such 
undertaking shall not in any way be modified, amended, amplified or limited by reference to any 
document, instrument or agreement referred to herein, except for the ISP98 and Attachment A, 
Attachment B and Attachment C hereto and the notices referred to herein and any such reference shall not 
be deemed to incorporate herein by reference any document, instrument or agreement except as set forth 
above. 

* * * 

G-2
 



      

 

 

 

  
____________________________  

   

  
 

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

SINCERELY, 

[ISSUING BANK]
 

By: ________________________
 

Title: _______________________
 

Address:
 

G-3
 



      

 

 

  

   

 
            

               
        

         
          

            
    

         
              
             

              

           
            
             

          
           

          
             

         
             

          
          

               
        

          
             
       

         
             

      

             
              

                  
               

              
             

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT H
 

SELLER INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS
 

Before the Commercial Operation Date, Seller shall procure and maintain the following 
minimum insurance, with insurers rated “A-” VII or higher by A.M. Best’s Key Rating Guide, 
that are licensed to do business in Florida: 

(a) Workers’ Compensation Insurance for statutory obligations imposed by 
applicable laws, including, where applicable, the Alternate Employer Endorsement, the 
United States Longshoremen’s and Harbor Workers’ Act, the Maritime Coverage and the 
Jones Act; 

(b) Employers’ Liability Insurance, including Occupational Disease, shall be 
provided with a limit of (i) One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for bodily injury per 
accident, (ii) One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for bodily injury by disease per policy, 
and (iii) One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) for bodily injury by disease per employee; 

(c) Business Automobile Liability Insurance which shall apply to all owned, 
non-owned, leased, and hired automobiles with a limit of One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) combined single limit per accident for bodily injury and property damage; 

(d) Commercial General Liability Insurance which shall apply to liability 
arising out of premises, operations, bodily injury, property damage, products and 
completed operations and liability insured under and insured contract (contractual 
liability), with a limit of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence, Two Million 
Dollars ($2,000,000) aggregate. The products and completed operations coverage 
insurance shall be provided for the duration of any applicable warranty period; 

(e) Excess Liability Insurance which shall apply to Employers Liability, 
Commercial General Liability and Business Automobile Liability Insurance, required in 
(b), (c), and (d) above, with a limit of Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) per occurrence 
and Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) aggregate; 

(f) Upon commencement of construction of the Project, Builder's Risk 
Insurance with limits of insurance written on a probable maximum loss basis, including 
sublimits for wind, earthquakes and flood exposure; 

(g) Following the Commercial Operation Date, All-Risk Property Insurance 
with limits of insurance written on a probable maximum loss basis, including sublimits 
for wind, earthquake, and flood exposures. 

Except for Workers’ Compensation Insurance, Buyer shall be endorsed as an additional insured 
on Seller’s insurance policies required to be maintained under the Agreement and such policies 
shall provide for a waiver of subrogation in favor of Buyer. All policies of insurance required to 
be maintained by Seller hereunder shall provide for a severability of interests clause and include 
a provision that Sellers’s insurance policies are to be primary and non-contributory to any 
insurance that may be maintained by or on behalf of Buyer. 

H-1
 



      

 

 

                 
                   

                 
              

              
                 

               
     

            
               
               

                
              

             
             

               
      

             
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

In the event that any policy furnished by Seller provides for coverage on a “claims made” basis, 
the retroactive date of the policy shall be the same as the effective date of the Agreement, or such 
other date, as to protect the interest of Buyer. Furthermore, for all policies furnished on a 
“claims made” basis, Seller’s providing of such coverage shall survive the termination of the 
Agreement and the expiration of any applicable warranty period, until the expiration of the 
maximum statutory period of limitations in the State of Florida for actions based in contract or in 
tort. If coverage is on “occurrence” basis, Seller shall maintain such insurance during the entire 
term of the Agreement. 

Following execution of this Agreement and annually thereafter, Seller shall promptly provide 
evidence of the minimum insurance coverage required under the Agreement in the form of an 
ACORD certificate or other certificate of insurance. If any of the required insurance is cancelled 
or non-renewed, Seller shall within thirty (30) days provide written notice to Buyer and file a 
new certificate of insurance with Buyer, demonstrating that the required insurance coverage to be 
maintained hereunder has been extended or replaced. Neither Seller’s failure to provide 
evidence of minimum coverage of insurance following Buyer’s request, nor Buyer’s decision to 
not make such request, shall release Seller from its obligation to maintain the minimum coverage 
provided for in this Schedule 11. 

Seller shall be responsible for covering all deductibles associated with the foregoing insurance 
coverage. 

H-2
 



      

 

 

  

   

 

 
 
 

 
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT I
 

SITE DESCRCRIPTION; MAP
 

I-1
 



      

 

 

  

   

 

   

    

    

  

   

    

       

  
 

   

         

   
    

 
 

        

    
     

    
   

 
 

   

     

    
 

     
 

 

   
     

    
  

 

   

    
       

      
 

  
 

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT J
 

INTERIM MILESTONE SCHEDULE
 

Anticipated Date 

(as of the Effective 

Date and subject to 

extensions as 

permitted in the 

Agreement) Milestone Section 

May 30, 201218 Seller Management Approval 6.1(a)(v) 

November 20, 
201820 

Site Control 6.1(a)(iii) 

October 20, 201290 Receipt of all Governmental Approvals 6.1(a)(iv) 

January 2, 20230 
Large Generator Interconnection Agreement 

execution 
6.1(a)(i) 

February 15, 20203 Initial Energy Delivery Date 3.3 

May 30, 20203 (but 
in any event not later 
than thirty (30) days 

prior to the 
Guaranteed 
Commercial 

Operation Date) 

Electric Interconnection Upgrades Complete 4.3(c)(i) 

June 30, 20203, 
Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date 

4.3, 
6.1(a)(vi) 

December 27, 20203 
Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date with 

180 days Permitted Extensions 
4.3, 4.4, 

6.1(a)(vi) 

August 243, 20214 

Outside guaranteed commercial operation 
date (which accounts for 180 days Permitted 
Extensions, plus the 240-day Project Cure 
Period 

4.3, 4.4, 
6.1(a)(vi) 

J-1
 



      

 

 

 

  

    

 

    

   

   
   
   

 

 

       

    
     

  
  

  

   
 

  
 

 

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT K
 

MILESTONES WITH DELAY DAMAGES
 

Date Milestone Section 

May 30, 202219 

Florida Department of 
Environmental Protection 
Environmental Resource Permit 
Received 

4.1(j) 

January 1, 20203 Start of Construction 4.1(j) 

June 30, 20203, 
as such date may be 

extended in 
accordance with 
Section 4.3(c). 

Guaranteed Commercial Operation 
Date 

4.3, 4.4, 
6.1(a)(vi) 

K-1
 



      

 

 

  

    

       
            
          

               
              

              
    

 
              

 
 

               
            

 
             

     
 

               
              

          
 

                
             

     
 

             
             

          
           

 
             

         
 

             
          

 
    

________________________________  
   

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT L
 

CERTIFICATE – COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS
 

This certification ("Certification") is delivered by ________________________________ 
("Seller") to ________________________ ("Buyer") in accordance with the terms of that certain 
Amended and Restated Renewable Energy Power Purchase Agreement dated _____________ 
("Agreement"), as amended from time to time, by and between Seller and Buyer. All capitalized 
terms used in this Certification but not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective 
meanings assigned to such terms in the Agreement. Seller hereby certifies and represents to 
Buyer the following: 

a)	 The Project and all equipment and systems comprising the Project have been fully
 
commissioned.
 

b)	 The Plant has demonstrated that it can safely and continuously produce and deliver the 
“Project Capacity” of 74.5MWac to the Delivery Point. [Refer to Attachment A] 

c)	 Seller has delivered to Buyer the Delivery Term Security required under Section
 
10.4(a)(ii). [Refer to Attachment B]
 

d)	 Seller has installed all equipment needed to enable telemetering of the Energy from the 
Project to the Delivery Point, as may be necessary pursuant to the Large Generator 
Interconnection Agreement, and such equipment, if needed, is fully operational. 

e)	 Seller has delivered to Buyer a report with the results of start-up and performance testing 
conducted by Seller to demonstrate the attainment of commercial operation status of the 
Project. [Refer to Attachment A] 

f)	 Seller has received all local, state and federal Governmental Approvals and other 
approvals, consents and authorizations as may be required by Applicable Law for the 
construction, interconnection, operation and maintenance of the Project and generation, 
delivery and sale of Buyer’s Product hereunder. [Refer to Attachment C] 

g)	 Seller has obtained and submitted to Buyer Certificates of insurance evidencing the 
coverage required by Exhibit H. [Refer to Attachment D] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Officer's Certificate on behalf of 
the Company as of the ___ day of ___________, 201__. 

___________ PROJECT, LLC 

__________, Vice President 

L-1
 



      

 

 

  

    

        

             
            

          
            

            
              

              
              

              
               

           

      

      

    

   

      

   

       

   

       

      

        

               

              
               

     

             
    

              
             

  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT M 

REC BILL OF SALE 

BUYER’S RENEWABLE ATTRIBUTES ATTESTATION AND BILL OF SALE 

In accordance with the terms and conditions of that certain Amended and Restated 
Renewable Energy Power Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”) made the _____ day of 
__________, 2018, by and between FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY, a 
governmental joint action agency organized and existing under Florida law (“Buyer”) and 
POINSETT SOLAR, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Seller”), Seller hereby sells, 
transfers and delivers to Buyer all Buyer’s Renewable Attributes produced by or associated with 
the Buyer’s Delivered Energy, including but not limited to all renewable energy credits, green 
tags, environmental attributes and reporting rights, in the amount of one __________ for each 
megawatt hour of Buyer’s Delivered Energy during the Operation Period set forth below. 
Capitalized terms used in this Buyer’s Renewable Attributes Attestation and Bill of Sale and not 
otherwise defined shall have the meaning set forth in the Agreement. 

Project name and location: ____________ 

Fuel Type: Photovoltaic - Solar 

Capacity (MWAC): __________ 

Operational Date: _____________ 

Energy Admin. ID no.: ________ 

Operation Period: 

Dates: From __ to ____ ________ 

MWh: ______ 

Buyer’s Share of Project Quantity (%): _______________ 

Renewable Attributes Sold to Buyer: _______________ 

Seller further attests, warrants and represents as follows: 

i) to the best of its knowledge, the information provided herein is true and correct; 

ii) the sale, transfer and delivery by Seller to Buyer of Buyer’s Renewable Attributes 
which are the subject hereof is the one and only sale, transfer and delivery of 
Buyer’s Renewable Attributes referenced herein; 

iii) the Buyer’s Delivered Energy during the period indicated above 
amount indicated above; 

was in the 

iv) Seller has at all times complied with the requirements of Applicable Law with 
respect to the operation of the Project and the generation of Buyer’s Renewable 
Attributes; and 

M-1
 



      

 

 

             
        

            
              

                

    

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

v)	 to the best of Seller's knowledge, the Buyer’s Renewable Attributes have been 
generated by the Project and sold by Seller. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Buyer’s Renewable Attributes Attestation and Bill of Sale 
confirms, in accordance with the Agreement, the transfer from Seller to Buyer of Buyer’s 
Renewable Attributes as set forth above, and has been executed on the date set forth below. 

Seller's Contact Person: [________________________________]
 

SELLER
 

By ______________________
 

Name ______________________
 

Its ______________________
 

Date: ______________________
 

M-2
 



      

 

 

  

   

     
    

    

             
              

             
           

             
               

                 
             

              
              

          
 

             
             

             

           
              

           
           

              
    

              
             

               
                   
            

           
              

             
              

        

               
         

              
             

             

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT N-1 

CONSENT TO ASSIGNMENT 

FORM OF CONSENT AND AGREEMENT 
([NAME OF CONTRACTING PARTY]) 

([NAME OF ASSIGNED AGREEMENT]) 

This CONSENT AND AGREEMENT (this “Consent”), dated as of ___________, 20[ ], 
is executed by and among [NAME OF CONTRACTING PARTY], a [legal form of Contracting 
Party] organized under the laws of the State of [________] (the “Contracting Party”), 
[__________], a [___________] (the “Project Owner”), and [_____________], as collateral 
agent (in such capacity, together with its successors and permitted assigns, the “Collateral 
Agent”) for various financial institutions named from time to time as Lenders under the Credit 
Agreement (as defined below) and any other parties (or any of their agents) who hold any other 
secured indebtedness permitted to be incurred under the Credit Agreement (the Collateral Agent 
and all such parties collectively, the “Secured Parties”). Capitalized terms used in this Consent 
and not otherwise defined shall have the meaning set forth in the Assigned Agreement. 

A. The Project Owner owns, operates and maintains [_________________] (the 
“Project”). 

B. The Contracting Party and the Project Owner have entered into the agreement 
specified in Schedule I hereto (as further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified 
from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof, the “Assigned Agreement”). 

C. [_________________] (the “Borrower”), the Project Owner, the other affiliates of 
the Borrower as Guarantors, various financial institutions named therein from time to time as 
Lenders,[_________________] , as the Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, have entered 
into a Credit Agreement, dated as of [________________](as amended, modified or 
supplemented from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”), providing for the extension of the 
credit facilities described therein. 

D. As security for the payment and performance by the Project Owner of its 
obligations under the Credit Agreement and the other Financing Documents (as defined below) 
and for other obligations owing to the Secured Parties, the Project Owner has assigned as 
collateral all of its right, title and interest in, to and under, and granted a security interest in, the 
Assigned Agreement to the Collateral Agent pursuant to the Assignment and Security 
Agreement, dated as of [_____________________] between the Project Owner and the 
Collateral Agent (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in 
accordance with the terms thereof, the "Security Agreement", and, together with the Credit 
Agreement and any other financing documents relating to the issuance of promissory notes under 
the Credit Agreement (the “Notes”), the “Financing Documents”). 

E. It is a requirement under the Credit Agreement that the Project Owner cause the 
Contracting Party to execute and deliver this Consent. 

NOW, THEREFORE as an inducement for Lenders to make the Loans, and for other 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, 
and intending to be legally bound, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows: 

N-1-1
 



      

 

 

           
                  

               
             

           
        

              
            

      

           
                 

                
        

             
                

              
              

                 
             

               
              

                   
 

    

              
               

                
              

               
               

                
               

                
               

             
               

              
              

              
            

                                                 
                     

                  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

1. Consent to Assignment. The Contracting Party hereby acknowledges and consents 
to the pledge and collateral assignment of all right, title and interest of the Project Owner in, to 
and under (but not its obligations, liabilities or duties with respect to) the Assigned Agreement 
by the Project Owner to the Collateral Agent pursuant to the Security Agreement. 

2. Representations and Warranties. The Contracting Party represents and warrants as 
follows as of the date of this Consent: 

(a) No Amendments. [Except as described in Schedule I hereto,] there are no 
amendments, modifications or supplements (whether by waiver, consent or otherwise) to the 
Assigned Agreement, either oral or written. 

(b) No Previous Assignments. The Contracting Party affirms that it has 
received no notice of any assignment relating to the right, title and interest of the Project Owner 
in, to and under the Assigned Agreement other than the pledge and collateral assignment to the 
Collateral Agent referred to in Section 1 above. 

(c) No Termination Event; No Disputes. After giving effect to the pledge and 
collateral assignment referred to in Section 1, and after giving effect to the consent to such 
pledge and collateral assignment by the Contracting Party herein, there exists no event or 
condition (a “Termination Event”) that would, either immediately or with the passage of time 
or giving of notice, or both, entitle either the Project Owner or the Contracting Party to terminate 
the Assigned Agreement or suspend the performance of its obligations under the Assigned 
Agreement. [Except as set forth on Schedule III hereto,] there are no unresolved disputes 
between the parties under the Assigned Agreement. All amounts due under the Assigned 
Agreement as of the date hereof have been paid in full [, except as set forth on Schedule III 
hereto]. 

3. Right to Cure. 

(a) From and after the date hereof and unless and until the Contracting Party 
shall have received written notice from the Collateral Agent that the lien of the Security 
Agreement has been released in full, the Collateral Agent shall have the right, but not the 
obligation, following an “event of default” or “default” (or any other similar event however 
defined) by the Project Owner under the Assigned Agreement, in the manner and within the 
times prescribed therein, to pay all sums due under the Assigned Agreement by the Project 
Owner and to perform any other act, duty or obligation required of the Project Owner thereunder 
as described in Section 3(c) below; provided, that no such payment or performance shall be 
construed as an assumption by the Collateral Agent or any other Secured Party of any covenants, 
agreements or obligations of the Project Owner under or in respect of the Assigned Agreement. 

(b) The Contracting Party agrees that it will not (i) terminate the Assigned 
Agreement [(other than pursuant to Section __ of the Assigned Agreement)]2 or (ii) suspend the 
performance of any of its obligations under the Assigned Agreement which can be performed 
notwithstanding the event of default or default without copying the Collateral Agent on any 
notice to the Project Owner required under the Assigned Agreement for Contracting Party to 
terminate the Assigned Agreement or suspend performance thereunder [(other than a termination 

Insert applicable provision, if any, of the Assigned Agreement giving the Contracting Party a right to terminate 

the Assigned Agreement other than upon a default or other event or condition curable by the Project Owner. 

N-1-2
 

2 



      

 

 

               
               

                    
     

             
                 

               
             

               
                

                 
                 

                 
               

                  
              

                
             

              
                
               

             
              

              
                

            
                

                 
                

                 
 

              
               
               
                

  

             
                

                                                 
                     

                  

                     

                  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

pursuant to Section __ of the Assigned Agreement)] 3 and providing the Collateral Agent the 
opportunity to cure as provided below. The Contracting Party further agrees that it will not 
assign the Assigned Agreement without copying the Collateral Agent as set forth in in Section [ 
] of the Assigned Agreement. 

(c) If a Termination Event shall occur [(other than a termination pursuant to 
Section __ of the Assigned Agreement)]4 , and the Contracting Party shall then be entitled to and 
shall desire to terminate the Assigned Agreement or suspend the performance of any of its 
obligations under the Assigned Agreement, the Contracting Party shall, prior to exercising such 
remedies or taking any other action with respect to such Termination Event, give written notice 
to the Collateral Agent of such Termination Event. If the Collateral Agent elects to exercise its 
right to cure as herein provided, it shall (i) give written notice to the Contracting Party that 
Collateral Agent intends to cure the Termination Event and (ii) have a period of thirty (30) days 
after receipt by it of notice from the Contracting Party referred to in the preceding sentence in 
which to cure the Termination Event specified in such notice if such Termination Event consists 
of a payment default, or if such Termination Event is an event other than a failure to pay 
amounts due and owing by the Project Owner (a “Non-monetary Event”) the Collateral Agent 
shall have one hundred twenty (120) days to cure such Termination Event so long as the 
Collateral Agent has commenced and is diligently pursuing appropriate action to cure such 
Termination Event and Collateral Agent has provided a Plan to the Contracting Party which 
outlines the actions that will be taken to cure the Non-monetary Event and includes the proposed 
timeline to cure the Non-monetary Event; provided, however, that (i) if possession of the Project 
is necessary to cure such Non-monetary Event and the Collateral Agent has commenced 
foreclosure proceedings, the Collateral Agent will be allowed a reasonable time to complete such 
proceedings, and (ii) if the Collateral Agent is prohibited from curing any such Non-monetary 
Event by any process, stay or injunction issued by any governmental authority or pursuant to any 
bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding or other similar proceeding involving the Project Owner, 
then the time periods specified herein for curing a Termination Event shall be extended for the 
period of such prohibition. The Contracting Party shall be entitled to rely, and shall be fully 
protected in relying, upon any notice by Collateral Agent of its intent to cure a Termination 
Event in good faith believed by Contracting Party to be genuine and correct and to have been 
signed. 

(d) Any curing of or attempt to cure any Termination Event shall not be 
construed as an assumption by the Collateral Agent or the other Secured Parties of any 
covenants, agreements or obligations of the Project Owner under or in respect of the Assigned 
Agreement or a relinquishment by Contract Party of any right or remedy in respect of the 
Assigned Agreement. 

(e) In connection with any outage for which (i) the Collateral Agent delivers 
written Notice (which such Notice may consist of an e-mail) to Buyer stating that the Collateral 

3 Insert applicable provision, if any, of the Assigned Agreement giving the Contracting Party a right to terminate 

the Assigned Agreement other than upon a default or other event or condition curable by the Project Owner. 
4 Insert applicable provision, if any, of the Assigned Agreement giving the Contracting Party a right to terminate 

the Assigned Agreement other than upon a default or other event or condition curable by the Project Owner. 

N-1-3
 



      

 

 

               
        

          
                 

                
                 

             
                
             

            
    

           

                
                

         

            
              

             
                

               

             
  

           
   

         
              
            

              
              
               

                
            

            

           
             

                
              

                 
              
               

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Agent anticipates such outage will continue for forty-eight (48) hours or more, and (ii) the 
Collateral Agent has delivered a Plan to Buyer: 

(i) Buyer may, upon written Notice to Collateral Agent, purchase 
replacement energy for a period of time equal to the lesser of (A) the remaining period of 
time outlined in such Plan, or (B) seven (7) days; provided, for the avoidance of doubt, 
that if the Plan provides a timeline greater than seven (7) days to resume the delivery of 
Energy to the Delivery Point, Buyer may continue to purchase replacement energy upon 
written Notice to Collateral Agent on a rolling basis until the date on which delivery of 
Energy to the Delivery Point will resume, as specified in the Plan; 

(ii) Buyer shall not be obligated to purchase or receive Delivered Energy 
during such period; and 

(iii) the Collateral Agent shall provide regular Plan updates to Buyer. 

(f) In connection with any outage that is not a Planned Outage or a Maintenance 
Outage and for which Seller fails to deliver written Notice (including by e-mail) to Buyer within 
twenty-four (24) hours after the occurrence of such outage 

(i) Buyer may, upon written Notice to Seller or Collateral Agent (as 
applicable), purchase replacement energy for a period of time equal to seven (7) days, 
and Buyer may continue to purchase replacement energy upon written Notice to Seller 
or Collateral Agent (as applicable) on a rolling basis until the date on which delivery of 
Energy to the Delivery Point is anticipated to resume, as specified in a Plan; 

(ii) Buyer shall not be obligated to purchase or receive Energy during such 
period; and 

(iii) Seller or 
updates to Buyer. 

Collateral Agent (as applicable) shall provide regular Plan 

4. 
Agreement to 

Replacement Agreements. 
the contrary, in the event 

Notwithstanding any provision in 
the Assigned Agreement is rejected 

the 
or 

Assigned 
otherwise 

terminated as a result of any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar proceedings 
affecting the Project Owner, at the Collateral Agent’s request, the Contracting Party will, within 
sixty (60) days after presentation by Collateral Agent of the proposed designee and agreement, 
enter into a new agreement with the Collateral Agent or the Collateral Agent’s qualified designee 
for the remainder of the originally scheduled term of the Assigned Agreement, effective as of the 
date of such rejection, with the same Project Owner Performance Assurance, covenants, 
agreements, terms, provisions and limitations as are contained in the Assigned Agreement. 

5. Substitute Owner. The Contracting Party acknowledges that in connection with 
the exercise of remedies following a default under the Financing Documents, the Collateral 
Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) assume, or cause any qualified purchaser at any 
foreclosure sale or any qualified assignee or transferee under any instrument of assignment or 
transfer in lieu of foreclosure to assume, all of the interests, rights, duties and obligations of the 
Project Owner thereafter arising under the Assigned Agreement. If the interest of the Project 
Owner in the Assigned Agreement shall be assumed, sold or transferred as provided above, the 

N-1-4
 



      

 

 

                
                 
               

             
              

                  
               

                
               

                 
                 

              
               

           

             
              

                   
                

               
             

       

           
             
                 

             
               

              
              
               

               
               

             
     

             
 

                  
                

                
                 

              
               
              

     

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

assuming party shall agree in writing with Contracting Party and Collateral Agent to be bound by 
and to assume the terms and conditions of the Assigned Agreement and any and all obligations to 
the Contracting Party arising or accruing thereunder from and after the date of such assumption, 
shall provide Performance Assurance consistent with the terms of the Assigned Agreement, and 
the Contracting Party shall continue to perform its obligations under the Assigned Agreement in 
favor of the assuming party as if such party had thereafter been named as the “Seller” under the 
Assigned Agreement; provided that if the Collateral Agent or its designee (or any entity acting 
on behalf of the Collateral Agent, the Collateral Agent’s designee or any of the other Secured 
Parties) assumes the Assigned Agreement as provided above, it shall not be personally liable for 
the performance of the obligations thereunder except to the extent of all of its right, title and 
interest in and to the Project and the amount of Performance Assurance. For purposes of this 
ARTICLE 5, a “qualified” purchaser or assignee or transferee shall be one which Contracting 
Party and Collateral Agent agree has the technical skill and financial wherewithal to operate and 
maintain the Project in the same manner as the Project Owner. 

6. Payments. The Contracting Party shall make all payments due to the Project 
Owner under the Assigned Agreement directly into the account specified on Schedule II hereto, 
or to such other person or account as shall be specified from time to time by the Collateral Agent 
to the Contracting Party in writing. All parties hereto agree that each payment by the 
Contracting Party as specified in the preceding sentence of amounts due to the Project Owner 
from the Contracting Party under the Assigned Agreement shall satisfy the Contracting Party’s 
corresponding payment obligation under the Assigned Agreement. 

7. No Amendments. The Contracting Party acknowledges that the Project Owner 
and Collateral Agent have informed Contracting Party that the Financing Documents restrict the 
right of the Project Owner to amend or modify the Assigned Agreement, or to waive or provide 
consents with respect to certain provisions of the Assigned Agreement, unless certain conditions 
specified in the Financing Documents are met. The Contracting Party shall not without the prior 
written consent of the Collateral Agent, materially amend or modify the Assigned Agreement, or 
accept any waiver or consent with respect to certain provisions of the Assigned Agreement, 
unless the Contracting Party has received from the Project Owner a copy of a certificate 
delivered by the Project Owner to the Collateral Agent to the effect that such amendment, 
modification, waiver or consent has been made in accordance with the terms and conditions of 
the Financing Documents, which may in certain circumstances require the prior written consent 
of the Collateral Agent thereto. 

8. Additional Provisions. [To be specified if necessary to clarify the Assigned 
Agreement.] 

9. Notices. Notice to any party hereto shall be in writing and shall be deemed to be 
delivered on the earlier of: (a) the date of personal delivery, (b) postage prepaid, registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, or sent by express courier, in each case addressed to such 
party at the address indicated below (or at such other address as such party may have theretofore 
specified by written notice delivered in accordance herewith), upon delivery or refusal to accept 
delivery, or (c) if transmitted by facsimile, the date when sent and facsimile confirmation is 
received; provided that any facsimile communication shall be followed promptly by a hard copy 
original thereof by express courier: 

N-1-5
 



      

 

 

    
                                           
                                     
                                      
                                       
 

      
        
        
        
 

      
        
        

               
                  

             
                

               
 

              
              

             
                

  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

The Collateral Agent: [________________________] 
[ ] 
Attn: [ ] 
Telephone No.: [ ] 
Facsimile No.: [ ] 

The Project Owner:
 

The Contracting Party:
 

10. Successors and Assigns. This Consent shall be binding upon and shall inure to the 
benefit of the successors and assigns of the Contracting Party, and shall inure to the benefit of the 
Collateral Agent, the other Secured Parties, the Project Owner and their respective successors, 
transferees and assigns. No assignment of this Consent by a party hereto shall be effective 
without the prior consent of the other parties hereto, which consent shall not be unreasonably 
withheld. 

11. Counterparts. This Consent may be executed in one or more counterparts with the 
same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument. 

12. Governing Law. This Consent shall be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Florida, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws. 

N-1-6
 



      

 

 

            
             

 
    

   
  
  

 
   

   
  
  
 

   
    

 
 

   
  
  
  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused their duly authorized officers 
to execute and deliver this Consent as of the date first written above. 

[NAME OF CONTRACTING PARTY] 
By: 

Name: 
Title: 

[________________________]
 
as Collateral Agent
 
By:
 

Name:
 
Title:
 

Acknowledged and Agreed: 
[NAME OF PROJECT OWNER] 

By: 
Name: 
Title: 

N-1-7
 



      

 

 

  
  

 
  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Assigned Agreement
 
Schedule I
 

N-1-8
 



      

 

 

 
  

  
  

 
              

      
  
  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Schedule II 
Payment Instructions 

(Section 6) 

All payments due to the Project Owner pursuant to the Assigned Agreement shall be 
made to [INSERT REVENUE ACCOUNT INFORMATION]. 

N-1-9
 



      

 

 

 
  

        
  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

[Schedule III] 
[Amounts Due and Unpaid under the Assigned Agreement 

(Section 2(c))] 

N-1-10
 



      

 

 

  

  

    

     
 

          
          

              
            

             
               

            
               
              

   

 

            
                

           

 

               
             

           
                

        
 

              
               

           
 

 

              
       

 

                
           

              
             

             
          

              
           

          
          

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT N-2
 

ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE
 

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
 

(Effective Date: [20__])
 

POINSETT SOLAR, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Seller”), and 
FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY, a governmental joint action agency organized 
and existing under Florida law (“Buyer”), are parties to that certain Amended and Restated 
Renewable Energy Power Purchase Agreement, dated as of ________________ as it may 
have been amended and modified (the “Agreement”). Capitalized terms used but not 
otherwise defined herein have the same meaning given such terms in the Agreement. Buyer 
acknowledges that [name of tax equity Investor(s)] (the “Investor(s)”) has requested an 
estoppel certificate in connection with the close of the purchase by the Investor(s) of [one 
hundred] percent ([100]%) of the non-managing Class B equity interest in the Seller effective 
the date hereof. 

The undersigned, a duly authorized representative of Buyer, does hereby certify and 
with respect to Section 5 hereof, covenant to Investor(s) as of the date of this Estoppel 
Certificate set forth above the following with respect to the Agreement: 

1.	 No Event of Default with respect to Buyer, nor, to the knowledge of Buyer, 
Seller has occurred and is continuing under the Agreement, and there are no 
defaults or unsatisfied conditions presently existing (or which would exist after 
the passage of time and/or giving of notice) that would allow the Seller or, to the 
knowledge of Buyer, Buyer to terminate the Agreement. 

2.	 There exists no event or condition that would, either immediately or with the 
passage of time and/or giving of notice, allow the Seller or, to the knowledge of 
Buyer, Buyer to suspend the performance of its obligations under the 
Agreement. 

3.	 Each representation or warranty made or given by Buyer in Section 11.1 of 
the Agreement is complete, true and correct. 

4.	 As of the date hereof, (i) with respect to Buyer, the Agreement is in full 
force and effect and has not been assigned, amended, supplemented or 
modified by Buyer, (ii) with respect to Seller, to the knowledge of Buyer, the 
Agreement is in full force and effect and has not been assigned, amended, 
supplemented or modified by Seller, (iii) there are no pending or to the 
knowledge of Buyer, threatened disputes or legal proceedings between Buyer 
and the Seller, (iv) there is no pending or, to the knowledge of Buyer, 
threatened action or proceeding involving or relating to Buyer before any 
court, tribunal, governmental authority or arbitrator the adverse outcome of 
which would materially affect the legality, validity or enforceability of 

N-2-1
 



      

 

 

            
          

           
             

                
             

   
 

            
               

              
           

             
    

 

                
               

            
              
      

 

             
             

 

                 
              
               

               
                

                
                 

             
           

              
             
          
             
          

            
             
           

          
           

               

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

the Agreement, (v) Buyer does not have knowledge of any event, act, 
circumstance or condition constituting a Force Majeure Event under the 
Agreement that would relieve Buyer from the performance of its obligations 
under the Agreement, and (vi) all undisputed amounts due from Seller under 
the Agreement as of the date hereof have been paid in full and to the knowledge 
of Buyer the Seller owes no indemnity payments or other amounts to Buyer 
under the Agreement. 

5.	 The execution, delivery and performance by Buyer of this Estoppel Certificate 
have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of Buyer and do 
not require any approval or consent of any other person or entity and do 
not violate any provision of any law, regulation, order, judgment, injunction 
or similar matters or breach any agreement presently in effect with respect to 
or binding on Buyer. 

(a) Buyer agrees to send copies of all Notices of all Events of Default of Seller 
sent to Seller (and copies of any notices sent by Buyer to Seller related to 
Buyer’s exercise of its termination rights) to the Investor designated by the 
Investors to receive notice at the address set forth on Exhibit A hereto by 
overnight carrier, mail, fax or email. 

(b) Buyer agrees that it will not terminate the Agreement without first sending 
the Investor notice and opportunity to cure as provided in this Section 5. 

(c) If an Investor elects to exercise its right to cure an Event of Default by Seller 
under the Agreement as provided in this Section 5, it shall (i) give written 
notice to the Buyer and Other Buyers that Investor intends to cure the Event of 
Default and (ii) have a period beginning on the date the cure period for such 
Event of Default for the Seller expires and ending on the later of (A) thirty (30) 
days if such Event of Default consists of a payment default or (B) if such Event 
of Default is an event other than a failure to pay amounts due and owing by the 
Seller (a “Non-monetary Event”), one hundred twenty (120) days so long as the 
Investor has commenced and is diligently pursuing appropriate action to cure 
such Event of Default and Investor has provided a Plan to the Buyer which 
outlines the actions that will be taken to cure the Non-monetary Event and 
includes the proposed timeline to cure the Non-monetary Event; provided, 
however, that (x) if possession of the Project is necessary to cure such Non-
monetary Event and the Investor has commenced foreclosure proceedings, the 
Investor will be allowed a reasonable time to complete such proceedings, and 
(y) if the Investor is prohibited from curing any such Non-monetary Event by 
any process, stay or injunction issued by any governmental authority or 
pursuant to any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding or other similar 
proceeding involving the Seller, then the time periods specified herein for 
curing an Event of Default shall be extended for the period of such prohibition. 

N-2-2
 



      

 

 

               
               

            

 

              
            

                
           

               

         
               

               
               

              
            

               
    

           
     

           

               
              

          

           
             

           
               
             

     

           
     

         

                 
             
         

 

          
 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

The Buyer shall be entitled to rely, and shall be fully protected in relying, upon 
any notice by Investor, including with respect to its intent to cure an Event of 
Default in good faith believed by Buyer to be genuine and correct. 

(d) In connection with any outage of the Project for which (i) the Investor(s) 
delivers written Notice (which such Notice may consist of an e-mail provided 
that it is confirmed by overnight delivery of a copy of such Notice to Buyer) to 
Buyer stating that the Investor(s) anticipates such outage will continue for forty-
eight (48) hours or more, and (ii) the Investor(s) has delivered a Plan to Buyer: 

A. Buyer may, upon written Notice to Investor(s), purchase 
replacement energy for a period of time equal to the lesser of (A) the remaining 
period of time outlined in such Plan, or (B) seven (7) days; provided, for the 
avoidance of doubt, that if the Plan provides a timeline greater than seven (7) days 
to resume the delivery of Energy to the Delivery Point, Buyer may continue to 
purchase replacement energy upon written Notice to Investor(s) on a rolling basis 
until the date on which delivery of Energy to the Delivery Point will resume, as 
specified in the Plan. 

B. Buyer shall not be obligated to purchase or receive Delivered 
Energy during such period; and 

C. the Investor(s) shall provide regular Plan updates to Buyer. 

(e) In connection with any outage that is not a Planned Outage or a Maintenance 
Outage and for which Seller or Investor fails to deliver written Notice to Buyer 
within twenty-four (24) hours after the occurrence of such outage: 

(iv) Buyer may, upon written Notice to Seller or Investor (as 
applicable), purchase replacement energy for a period of time equal to seven (7) 
days, and Buyer may continue to purchase replacement energy upon written 
Notice to Seller or Investor (as applicable) on a rolling basis until the date on 
which delivery of Energy to the Delivery Point is anticipated to resume, as 
specified in a Plan; 

(v) Buyer shall not be obligated to purchase or receive Delivered 
Energy during such period; and 

(vi) Investor shall provide regular Plan updates to Buyer. 

(f) Any curing of or attempt to cure any Event of Default shall not be construed 
as an assumption by any Investor of any covenants, agreements or obligations of 
the Seller under or in respect of the Agreement. 

6. Buyer confirms that the Commercial Operation Date has occurred. 

N-2-3
 



      

 

 

               
              

 
 

              
     

 

              
           

              
             

             
             

 
 
 

   

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

7.	 Buyer acknowledges that as of the date hereof, Buyer has not provided a Notice 
to Seller of Buyer’s intent to exercise the Purchase Option to Seller that is 
pending. 

8.	 As of the date hereof, the Performance Assurance provided by Seller has not 
been drawn upon by Buyer. 

9.	 Buyer acknowledges and agrees that solely on the basis of the truth, accuracy 
and completeness of written certification provided by Seller and delivered to 
Buyer, each of the Investor(s) (i) is a “Project Investor” as defined in the 
Agreement, (ii) has all rights of a “Project Investor” as defined in the 
Agreement and (iii) Buyer’s consent is not required for a direct or indirect 
transfer of the non-managing Class B equity interest in the Seller to the 
Investor(s). 

[Signature page follows] 

N-2-4
 



      

 

 

              
           

 
 

    

 
 

  
  

 
  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Buyer has caused this Estoppel Certificate to be executed by its 
undersigned authorized officer as of the date first set forth above. 

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY 

By: _____________________________
 
Name:
 
Title:
 

N-2-5
 



      

 

 

  

    

 

                
  

 
  
 
   

  
 
 

         
 

  

 

   

  

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

Exhibit A 

INVESTOR ADDRESS FOR NOTICES 

Buyer shall send notices under this Estoppel Certificate to the address of the single Investor 
identified below. 

[Investor Name]
 
[Address]
 
[Attention: ________, Position]
 
[Email Address]
 

With a copy to the other Investor identified below: 

[Investor Name]
 

[Address]
 

[Attention: ________, Position]
 

[Email Address]
 

N-2-6
 



      

 

 

  

      

          

   

  
 

   

  

  

   

 
  

  
 

    

 

             

 

    

   
 

   

  

  
   

 

   

  

  
  

   

  

  
   

     

 
  

  
  

  
   

   

 
  

  
  

   
  

  
 

   

 

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT O
 

OTHER BUYERS; OTHER SOLAR PROJECT BUYERS
 

Part I. Buyer’s Share; Other Buyers; Other Buyer’s Share
 

Buyer and Other 

Buyers (as 
applicable) 

Buyer’s Share 

and Other 

Buyer’s Share 

(as applicable) 

FMPA All-
Requirements Power 

Supply Project 
23.49% 

FMPA Solar Project 76.51% 

Part II. Other Solar Project Buyers; Each Other Solar Project Buyer’s Share
 

Project 

Buyer or Other Solar 

Project Buyer (as 
applicable) 

Buyer or Other 

Solar Project 

Buyer (as 
applicable) Share of 

Project 

Buyer or Other 

Solar Project 

Buyer (as 
applicable) Share 

of the Solar 

Project Portfolio 

FMPA Solar Project 76.51% 25.51% 

“Poinsett” Project 
in Osceola County 

FMPA All-
Requirements Power 

Supply Project 
23.49% 7.83% 

OUC 45.64% 15.21% 

“Holopaw Project” 
in Osceola County 

FMPA All-
Requirements Power 

Supply Project 
54.36% 18.12% 

“Taylor Creek” 
Project in 

Orange County 
OUC 100.00% 33.33% 

O-1
 



      

 

 

 

 

  

    

 

 

 

      

      

    

       

     

     

PROPRIETARY CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION; TRADE SECRET 

EXHIBIT P
 

FMPA SOLAR PROJECT PARTICIPANTS
 

• The City of Alachua, Florida 

• The City of Bartow, Florida 

• Homestead Public Services 

• The City of Lake Worth Utilities 

• The City of Wauchula 

• Winter Park Electric Utility 

P-1
 



 

 

 

 
 

 

  

 

       

 

               

              

              

                

             

 

             

                

            

 

              

 

                

    

                  

                

              

            

  

                  

        

                 

             

             

           

  

                

               

  

               

                 

             

               

             

                

               

               

           

   

ATTACHMENT B 

FMPA PROCESS FOR DETERMINING ALLOCABLE A&G COSTS 

FMPA uses a process to determine the Administrative and General Costs (A&G Costs) that will 

be incurred to effectively manage its non-ARP power supply projects. FMPA’s Board approves 

the process and the allocations to power supply project participants when the Board approves 

each annual power supply project budget. The process is subject to annual review and approval 

by the Board, and thus, may change from time to time. 

The following describes the power supply project A&G cost determination process for the 

FY2018 Budget and provides an example of how A&G costs will be allocated to Solar Project 

and ARP Solar Participants, starting with the FY2020 budget: 

1) Staff determines the FMPA positions that are essential to effective management of the 

Projects; 

2) Staff determines the percent time each position spends serving the needs of each the 

Projects and the ARP; 

3)	 The allocable cost of each position to each of the Projects is the percent time this 

position spends serving the needs of each the Projects determined in 2) multiplied by the 

current mid-point of the salary range of the position as maintained by FMPA’s Human 

Resources Department and approved by the Board, and multiplied by FMPA’s overhead 

adder percentage; 

4)	 The total A&G allocated to each Project is the sum of the allocable costs of each position 

essential to effective management of the Project; 

5)	 The total A&G allocated to the Solar Project will not exceed 100% of the cost associated 

with the single highest cost non-executive level FMPA position essential to the effective 

management of the Projects, and annual increases in total A&G allocated shall be 

commensurate with annual salary increases of such highest costs non-executive level 

FMPA position; 

6)	 Once the annual A&G costs to be allocated to the Solar Project and ARP Solar 

Participants is determined, the amount is divided by 12 to arrive at the monthly allocable 

A&G costs. 

7)	 For Solar Project and ARP Solar Participants, the monthly allocable A&G costs will be 

divided by the total amount of the solar energy received by the Solar Project and the ARP 

Solar Participants for the billing month to determine a monthly allocable A&G rate 

($/MWh). Each Solar Project and ARP Solar Participant pays this rate times the amount 

of solar energy each Participant received during the billing month. 

8)	 The table below is an example of the calculation of annual and monthly allocable A&G 

costs to each power supply project and the Solar Project and the ARP Solar Participants 

for the FY2020 Budget using cost data and the process approved for the FY2018 Budget. 

This allocation process is subject to Board approval each year. 

B-1
 



 

 

 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

        

 

 

  

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

  

  

      Example A&G Allocation for FY2020 Budget 

Position FYE2018 Mid Point Salary ARP STN Tri-City STN 2 St Lucie Solar 

General Manager $200,000 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 2% 

Admin Asst. $56,456 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 2% 

Director of Engineering $191,969 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 2% 

Engineer $117,722 19% 19% 19% 19% 19% 5% 

Engineering Assistant $56,456 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 2% 

Director of Finance $191,969 18% 18% 18% 18% 18% 10% 

Mgr. Contracts Compliance $132,777 18% 18% 18% 18% 18% 10% 

Accountant III $92,539 18% 18% 18% 18% 18% 10% 

Accounting Clerk $43,833 18% 18% 18% 18% 18% 10% 

Payroll Clerk PT $28,228 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 2% 

Total $1,111,949 $209,858 $209,858 $209,858 $209,858 $209,858 $62,660 

Overhead Adder 95.10% 95.10% 95.10% 95.10% 95.10% 95.10% 95.10% 

Annual Allocable A&G $2,169,412 $409,433 $409,433 $409,433 $409,433 $409,433 $122,250 

Monthly Allocable A&G $180,784 $34,119 $34,119 $34,119 $34,119 $34,119 $10,187 

B-2
 



 

 

 

 
 

 

  

   

                   
                   

                   
                   
                    

                 
           

 

ATTACHMENT C 

WORKING CAPITAL ALLOWANCE 

In order to provide for working capital for the Solar Project, and to provide for the Solar Project’s ability 
to pay Seller in the event that of non-payment by one or more Project Participants, the Solar Project shall 
maintain a line of credit in the principal amount of $250,000, or other financial instrument or cash on hand 
as determined by the Solar Project Committee (“Line of Credit”). The Line of Credit will be obtained at 
the time solar energy starts to be provided under the Solar PPA and will remain in place for the remaining 
term of this Power Sales Contract. Working capital expenses, including payment of interest on any amounts 
drawn on the Line of Credit, shall constitute Project Related Costs. 

C-1
 



 

 

 

 
 

 

  

    

                

                 

               

               

                

                 

                 

 

      

       

     

      

       

         

         

Attachment D 

Project Development Fund Costs 

As of the Effective Date of this Agreement, FMPA has incurred $134,347 in Project Development Fund 

costs. No additional Project Development Fund costs shall be incurred after the Effective Date. 

The amount of Project Development Fund costs allocable to Project Participants shall be calculated by 

dividing the total balance of Development Fund Costs incurred for solar development by the total 

expected energy production allocated to the Solar Project and ARP solar participants over the first 20 

years of the Solar Project PPA and the power purchase agreement entered into between the ARP solar 

participants and Seller. The resulting dollar per MWh cost shall be allocated as a Project Related Cost. 

Project Development Fund Cost Units Value 

Total Development Fund Expenditure $ 134,347 

Participant Capacity MW-AC 115 

Est. Annual Capacity Factor % 28% 

Est. Annual Project Energy MWh 282,072 

20 Year Buy down Per Year $ 6,717 

20 Year Buy down Per MWh $/MWh 0.0238 

D-1
 



 

 

 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

    

  

 

   

         
 

  

     

     

     

       

     

      

   

 

     

   
     
    

   
   

   
     
    

   
   
   

 

   
    

    
   

   

     
    

   
    
    

   

SCHEDULE 1 

SCHEDULE OF PROJECT PARTICIPANTS 

Name of Project Participant Solar Entitlement Share (MW) Solar 
Entitlement 
Share (%) 

City of Alachua 9 15.789% 

City of Bartow 13 22.807% 

Homestead Public Services 10 17.544% 

City of Lake Worth Utilities 10 17.544% 

City of Wauchula 5 8.772% 

Winter Park Electric Utility 10 17.544% 

Total 57 100% 

Notice Information of Project Participants 

City of Alachua 
City of Alachua, City Manager 
P.O. Box 9 
Alachua, FL 32616 
Tel: (386) 418-6100 

City of Bartow 
City of Bartow, City Manager 
450 N. Wilson Ave. 
Bartow, Florida 33831 
Tel: (863) 534-3883 
Fax: (863) 519-3883 

Homestead Public Services 
George Gretas, City Manager 
The City of Homestead 
100 Civic Court 
Homestead, FL 33033 

City of Lake Worth Utilities 
City of Lake Worth 
Electric Utilities Director 
1900 2nd Avenue North 
Lake Worth, FL 33461 
Tel: (561) 586-1670 

Schedule 1 -1
 



 

 

 

   
 

    
    
    

    
    

 

   
    

    
   

   
   

 

    
    

    
    

    

 

With a copy to: 
City of Lake Worth 
Attn: City Attorney 
7 N. Dixie Highway 
Lake Worth, FL 33460 

City of Wauchula 
Terry Atchley, City Manager 
126 S 7th Ave. 
Wauchula, FL 33873 
Tel: (863) 773-3535 
Fax: (863) 773-0773 

Winter Park Electric Utility 
City of Winter Park 
Randy Knight, City Manager 
401 South Park Avenue 
Winter Park, FL 32789-4386 

Schedule 1 -2
 



EXECUTIVE BRIEF 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

 
AGENDA DATE: March 3, 2020  DEPARTMENT: Electric Utility 

 

TITLE:  

First Addendum Cost Increase and Second Addendum to the Master Services Agreement with 
Level One LLC  

 
SUMMARY: 
The Master Services Agreement First Addendum and Second Addendum provide authorization 
to Level One LLC to continue the provision of processing, printing and mailing of paper bills from 
April 1, 2019 to April 1, 2021.  

 

BACKGROUND AND JUSTIFICATION: 
On April 1, 2014 after conducting a competitive solicitation process, the City entered into a 5-
year Master Services Agreement with Level One LLC for processing, printing and mailing of 
paper bills. The Agreement provided two (2) additional one (1) year renewal options after the 
initial 5-year term. On April 1, 2019, the City Manager approved the first year renewal via the 
First Addendum on an emergency basis due to the last minute realization that the Agreement 
was going to expire. The First Addendum have been brought forward to the City Commission 
for ratification and was approved by the City Commission on April 30, 2019. While reviewing the 
second year renewal option, the City realized that additional funds would be required for printing, 
mailing and postage for FY20 and is requesting approval for the additional $110,000 for this 
fiscal year.   
 
The Second Addendum is to exercise the second and final renewal option under the Agreement.  
 
The total remaining anticipated cost for the First Addendum and the Second Addendum (for 
Fiscal Years 2020-2021) is not to exceed $210,000. 

MOTION: 

Move to approve / disapprove the First Addendum cost increase and Second Addendum to the 
Master Services Agreement with Level One LLC in an amount not to exceed $210,000 for Fiscal 
Years 2020-2021. 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

Fiscal Impact Analysis 
First Addendum  
Second Addendum 
Level One LLC Master Services Agreement 
 

 
  



 

 

FISCAL IMPACT ANALYSIS 

 

A. Five Year Summary of Fiscal Impact: 

 
Fiscal Years 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 
 
Capital Expenditures 0 0 0 0 0 
Operating Expenditures $110,000 $100,000 0 0 0 
External Revenues 0 0 0 0 0 
Program Income 0 0 0 0 0 
In-kind Match  0 0 0 0 0 
 
Net Fiscal Impact $110,000 $100,000 0 0 0 
 
No. of Addn’l Full-Time 
Employee Positions 0 0 0 0 0 

 

B. Recommended Sources of Funds/Summary of Fiscal Impact: 

The FY 2020 budgeted amount is $150,000: hence the request for additional funds in the amount of 
$50,000: by a budget amendment. 

 
Account 
Number 

Account 
Description 

Project 
Number 

FY20 Budget Budget 
Amendment 

Agenda 
Expenditure 

Balance 
 

401-1240-
513.34-50 

Other 
Contract 
servs 

 $150,000 $50,000 -$110,000 $ 

 

C. Department Fiscal Review: Edward Liberty, Electric Utility Director  





SECOND ADDENDUM TO UTILITY BILLING PROCESSING, PRINTING, AND
MAILING SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND ADDENDUM TO THE AGREEMENT ("Second Addendum") is entered

into as of the 
-- 

day of._,2020, by and between the City of Lake Worth Beach,

a Florida municipal corporation ("City") and Level One, LLC, a corporation authorized to do

business in the State of Florida ("Provider").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, on or about April 2,2014, the City and Provider entered an agreement for
the Provider to provide processing, printing and mailing of paper communication services for the

City (the "Agreement"); and,

WHEREAS, the Agreement had an initial five (5) year term with two (2) one year renewal

options consistent with the Request for Proposal (RFP No. 12-13-206) for the needed services; and

WHEREAS, the City and Provider renewed the Agreement on April 2, 2019, and extended

the termination date to April I,2020 by amendment to the Agreement (the "First Addendum");
and

WHEREAS, the City and Provider wish to amend the Agreement to renew the Agreement

for one additional year with all other terms, conditions and pricing remaining the same.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, the

sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged by each party hereto, the City and the Provider agree

to amend the Agreement, as follows:

1. Recitals. The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by

reference.

2. Term of Agreement. The parties agree that the term of the Agreement is hereby

extended to April 1,2027

3. Amount Not To Exceed. The maximum amount not to exceed for this Amendment

is $200,000.00 (Two Hundred Thousand Dollars).

4. Scrutinized Companics.

4.1. Provider certifies that it and its subcontractors are not on the Scrutinized

Companies that Boycott Israel List and are not engaged in the boycott of Israel. Pursuant to

section 287.135, Florida Statutes, the City may irnmediately terminate the Agreement at its sole

option ifthe Provider or any of its subcontractors are found to have submitted a false certification;

oi if the Provider or any of its subcontractors, are placed on the Scrutinized Companies that

Boycott Israel l,ist or is engaged in the boycott of Israel during the term of the Agreement.

Page 1 of3



4.2. If the Agreement is for one million dollars or more, the Provider certifies that it
and its subcontractors are also not on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List,

Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, or engaged in

business operations in Cuba or Syria as identified in Section 287.135, Florida Statutes. Pursuant

to Section 287.135, the Cify may immediately terminate the Agreement at its sole option if the

Provider, or any of its subcontractors are found to have submitted a false certification; or if the

Provider or any of its subcontractors are placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in

Sudan List, or Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List,

or are or have been engaged with business operations in Cuba or Syria during the term of the

Agreement.

4.3. The Provider agrees to observe the above requirements for applicable subcontracts

entered into for the performance of work under the Agreement.

4.4. The Provider agrees that the certifications in this section shall be effective and

relied upon by the City for the term of the Agreement, including any and all renewals.

4.5. The Provider agrees that if it or any of its subcontractors' status changes in regards

to any certification herein, the Provider shall immediately noti$r the City of the same'

4.6. As provided in Subsection 287.135(8), Florida Statutes, if federal law ceases to

authorize the above-stated contracting prohibitions then they shall become inoperative.

5. Entire Contract. The City and the Provider agree that the Agreement, the First

Addendum and this Second Addendum set forth the entire Agreement between the parties, and

that there are no promises or understandings other than those stated herein. None ofthe provisions,

terms and conditions contained in the Agreement, the First Addendum and this Second Addendum

may be added to, modified, superseded or otherwise altered, except by written instrument executed

by the parties hereto. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement, as amended, remain in full
force and effect.

6. Counterparts. This Second Addendum may be simultaneously executed in

several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one

and the same instrument. Either or both parties may sign this Second Addendum via facsimile or

email and such signature is as valid as the original signature of such party.

REST OF'PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY
SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS

Page 2 of3



IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have made and executed this Second

Addendum to the Utility Billing Processing, Printing, and Mailing Services Agreement on the

day and year first above written.

CITY OF LAKE WORTH BEACH, FLORIDA

ATTEST:

By: By:
Deborah M. Andrea, City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND
LEGAL SUFFICIENCY:

Pam Triolo, Mayor

By: U/-rc- By: ?^";
Glen J. Torcivia, City Attorney Bruce T. Miller, Financial Services Director

PROVIDER: LEVEL ONE' LLC.

By:

fCorporate Seall Print Name

APPROVED FOR FINANCIAL
SUFFICIENCY

/*r,Title:

STATE OF V
COUNTY OF

was acknowledged before me this 7+h of
by who was physically present, as

One, LLC, which is authorized to do business in the State of Florida, and who is personally

The

known to me or who has produced the following
identification.

AS

Notary Public
Name e5

My commission : l)ec . lG, )t.>4
Cornmmwcalth of Pennsylvanla' ilotary Seal

IARYEILEII LESS' NotarY Public

Cheltlr County

ly Commision ExPirer Dec 16, 2023

Commlrslon Number 1295281

Page 3 of3












































	Top
	A. Lake Worth Middle School update by Principal Mike Williams
	B. Neighborhood Planning Program Presentation
	Neighborhood staff report
	Presentation
	Neighborhood Plan Template

	A. January 28 EU minutes
	012820 EU Minutes

	B. Feb 4 RM minutes
	020420 RM Minutes

	A. Board & Secure services agreement
	Anchors Service Agreement staff report
	Anchors Service Agreement

	B. CDBG Amendment 001
	CDBG staff report
	Resolution
	Amendment 001

	C. Arbor Day Proclamation
	Arbor Day proclamation

	D. Proclamation declaring April 19-25, 2020 as National Volunteer Week
	Volunteer Week proclamation

	E. Proclamation for Pride month
	Pride Month proclamation

	F. Fiscal year 2019 Invoices
	FY2019 Invoices staff report
	Pending Invoices

	G. Amendment #2 to the contract with GT Supplies for Fleet Services
	GT Supplies staff report
	Amendment #2

	H. Ratification - The Mid
	The Mid staff report
	Second Amendment

	A. Cultural Arts Overlay Zone Ordinance-2nd reading
	Cultural Arts Overlay Ordinance staff report
	Ordinance 2020-02 - revised

	A. Ordinance adopting City Seal
	City Seal Ordinance staff report
	Ordinance 2020-03

	1) FMPA
	FMPA staff report
	March 6, 2018 Commission minutes
	Revised Solar Project Power Sales Contract

	2) Addendum to Agreement with Level One LLC
	Level One staff report
	First Addendum
	Second Addendum
	Master Services Agreement

	Bottom

